
Meeting of:  COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON 

Date//Time:  Tuesday, May 28, 2019 @ 7:00 p.m.   

Location:  Council Chambers (2nd Floor of Public Safety Building) 

   321 South Fourth Street, Stoughton, Wisconsin 

Members: Mayor Tim Swadley, Matt Bartlett, Sid Boersma, Phil Caravello, Ozzie Doom, 

Ben Heili, Regina Hirsch, Greg Jenson, Jean Ligocki,  Tom Majewski, Lisa 

Reeves, Timothy Riley, and Brett Schumacher  

ATTENTION COUNCIL MEMBERS: TWO-THIRDS OF MEMBERS NEEDED FOR A QUORUM 

(EIGHT). The Council may only conduct business when a quorum is present. If you are unable to attend 

the meeting, please notify the City Clerk’s office via telephone (608)873-6677 or via email 

hlicht@ci.stoughton.wi.us  

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

1. Roll Call, Communications, and Presentations:  

 

2. Minutes and Reports: 

Finance Committee (4/23/19); Utilities (4/15/19); Public Safety (4/24/19)  

 

 

3. Public Comment Period:  

 

 

4. CONSENT AGENDA 

A. May 14, 2019 Council Minutes 

B. R-73-2019- Resolution Authorizing and directing the proper City official (s) to issue Operator 

Licenses  

C. Stoughton Utilities Past  Due List Report; Stoughton Utilities March 2019 Financial Summary; 

Stoughton Utilities Mary 2019 Statistical Report 

 

OLD BUSINESS 

 

5. O-14-2019- Amending Chapter 70-180 of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code; relating to No 

Parking 3:00 a.m. to 5:00 a.m. by creating subsection 4 (Public Safety approved 5-0 on April 24, 

2019)         SECOND READING  

 

6. O-15-2019-Amending Chapter 70-176 (78) of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code; relating 

to parking restrictions on Hoel Avenue (Public Safety approved 5-0 on April 24, 2019)   

         SECOND READING 

 

7. O-16 -2019-Amending Chapter 70-176 (79) of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code; relating 

to parking restrictions on Otteson Drive between Hoel Avenue and Jens Court (Public Safety 

approved 5-0 on April 24, 2019)     SECOND READING 

 

OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA 
Notice is hereby given that Common Council of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, will hold a 

regular or special meeting as indicated on the date and at the time and location given below. 

  

 

mailto:hlicht@ci.stoughton.wi.us


 

8. O-17-2019-Amending Chapter 70-176 of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code; Creating Sub 

Section (77) relating to parking restrictions on the west side of Hults Road (Public Safety 

approved 5-0 on April 24, 2019)      SECOND READING 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

9. R-74 -2019- Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to acknowledge the 

receipt of the 2018 City of Stoughton Audit (Finance Committee meets May 28, 2019)    

 

10. R-75-2019-Authorizing and directing the proper City official (s) to acknowledge the 

receipt of the Stoughton Utilities 2018 Audit Report and Management Letter (Utilities 

approved 5-0 on May 20, 2019) 

 

11. PUBLIC HEARING: Public Input related to an amendment to the City of Stoughton 

Comprehensive Plan for the Kettle Park West development area 

 

12. Discussion and possible action regarding the 2020 Budget Schedule (Finance approved 

5-0 on May 14, 2019)  

 

13. R-76-2019- Authorizing and directing the proper City Official(s) to enter into an 

agreement with Archive Social for social media archiving (Finance Committee approved 

5-0 on May 14, 2019)  

 

14. R-77-2019- Authorizing the City of Stoughton Director of Finance/Comptroller to act on 

the behalf of the City of Stoughton to accept the 2019 Section 5310 Grant in the amount 

of $29,600 and move forward with the process of purchasing an additional accessible van 

for the shared-ride taxi program (Finance Committee meets May 28, 2019)  

 

15. O-19-2019-Amending Section 64-9 of the Stoughton Municipal Code relating to 

excavations or obstructions within the public right-of-way  FIRST READING  

 

16. R-78-2019-Approving an application form and permit form for Permits to Excavate in 

the Public Right-of-Way  

 

17.  R-79-2019-Authorizing and directing the proper City Official(s) to approve a policy 

regarding attending meetings via remote access (CACP approved February 5, 2019)  

 

18. R-80-2019- Ordering a Special Election for Aldermanic District 4  

 

ADJOURNMENT 

Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate 

aids and services. For information or to request such assistance, please call the City Hall at (608) 873-6677.By: 

Mayor Tim Swadley, Council President Tom Majewski  
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CITY OF STOUGHTON FINANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES  


APRIL 23, 2019 @ 6:00 PM  


COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 321 S FOURTH STREET, STOUGHTON, WI  


 


Present: 


Greg Jenson, Lisa Reeves, Ozzie Doom, Brett Schumacher, and Mayor Swadley 


 


Others Present: 


Finance Director Friedl, Clerk Licht, Planning Director Scheel, Parks & Rec Director Glynn and 


Sid Boersma 


 


Call to Order: 


Friedl called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.  


 


Finance Committee Election of Chair 


Jenson nominated Schumacher as Chair of the Finance Committee.  There were no other 


nominations. Schumacher was elected to serve as the chair on a vote of 5-0.  


 


Finance Committee Election of Vice Chair 


Reeves nominated Jenson to serve as the Vice-Chair of the Finance Committee. There were no 


other nominations. Jenson was elected to serve as the vice-chair on a vote of 5-0.  


 


Set Meeting Dates and Times 


The Finance committee will continue to meet at 6:00 p.m. on the 2nd and 4th Tuesdays of the 


month in the Council Chambers.  


 


Communications 


 City and Utilities final audits should come in later this week. The auditors will 


present to the committee and council in May.  


 


Reports: the following reports were entered into the record.  


 March 2019 General Fund Financial Results 


 Contingency Report 


 March 2019 Treasurer’s Report 


 


OLD BUSINESS 


 


 None 


 


NEW BUSINESS 


 


Approval of the April 9, 2019 Finance Committee Minutes 


Motion by Reeves, second by Jenson to approve the April 9, 2019 minutes. Motion carried 5-


0. 


 


Discussion and possible action Authorizing the submittal of an award application for the 







Public Works Garage Site property by the Director of Finance/Comptroller for WAM 


Contractor Services 


Motion by Reeves, second by Jenson to recommend that the council approve the submittal of 


an award application for the Public Works Garage Site property by the Director of 


Finance/Comptroller for WAM Contractor Services. Motion carried 5-0. 


 


Discussion and possible action regarding hiring GRG Playscapes to provide the Natural 


Adventure Playground at Criddle Park at a cost not to exceed $45,000 


Motion by Reeves, second by Doom to recommend the hiring of GRG Playscapes to provide 


the Natural Adventure Playground at Criddle Park at a cost not to exceed $45,000. Motion 


carried 5-0. 


 


City of Stoughton Finance Overview 


Director Friedl presented the financial overview which highlighted financial statements, 


budgets, CIP planning and debt.  


 


FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS  
Purchasing Policy revisions 


Continuing Debt Disclosure Policy creation 


 


Adjournment  
Motion by Reeves, second by Jenson to adjourn at 6:57 p.m. Motion carried 5-0.  







PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE MINUTES 


Wednesday, April 24, 2019 


Hall of Fame Room, City Hall  


Present: 


Greg Jenson, Tim Riley, Ozzie Doom, Jean Ligocki, Mayor Tim Swadley, Police Chief Greg Leck and City 


Clerk Holly Licht  


Guests:  


Teressa Pellet  


Call to Order:  


Clerk Holly Licht called the meeting to order at 6:03 p.m.  


Appointment of Chair and Vice-Chair 


Riley nominated Jenson to serve as the chair of the committee. There were no other nominations. On a 


unanimous vote, Jenson was elected Chair of the Public Safety Committee.  


Jenson nominated Riley to serve as the vice-chair of the committee. There were no other nominations. 


On a unanimous vote, Riley was elected Vice-Chair of the Public Safety Committee.  


Communications 


Teressa Pellet of the Stoughton Wellness Coalition gave the committee an update of their efforts, 


including the med drop this Saturday.   


Clerk Licht and Chief Leck gave an overview of liquor license procedures and the renewal process. Chief 


Leck highlighted the alcohol compliance checks which have improved significantly in the last year.   


Approval of the March 27, 2019 Public Safety Committee Minutes 


Motion by Riley, second by Doom to approve the minutes. Motion carried 5-0. Riley noted there were a 


couple of spelling errors that will be corrected. 


Discussion and possible action regarding amending Section 70-176 to create sub section (77) to 


prohibit parking on the west side of Hults Road 


Chief Leck explained that this was a request from a business on Hults Road. He said he spoke to all 3 


businesses on the street and there were no concerns from any the businesses.   


Motion by Ligocki, second by Riley to recommend that council approve. Motion carried 5-0. 


Discussion and possible action regarding Amending Section 70-180 to create Sub Section (4) No person 


shall park, stop, or leave standing any vehicle between the hours of 3:00 a.m. and 5:00 a.m. in the 


Municipal parking lot at the northeast corner of E. Main Street and Forrest Street. 


Chief Leck noted that this is the lot at the McFarland State Bank Building. He added that this came as a 


request from the City to prevent overnight parking in the City lot to allow for plowing, etc.  


Motion by Ligocki, second by Doom to recommend that council approve. Motion carried 5-0.  


Discussion and possible action regarding Amending Section 70-176 to create Sub Section (78) 


Prohibiting Parking on the west side of Hoel Avenue 103 feet north of Valberg Drive. 







Chief Leck noted that this came as a request from the post office as they will be installing community 


mailboxes at this location.  


Motion by Ligocki, second by Riley to recommend council approve. Motion carried 5-0. 


Discussion and possible action regarding Amending Section 70-176 to create Sub Section (79) 


Prohibiting Parking on the north side of Otteson between Hoel Avenue and Jens Court. 


Leck said that this was also a request by the post office. He sees no issues.  


Motion by Doom, second by Ligocki to recommend that council approve. Motion carried 5-0. 


Discussion and possible action regarding approving an operator license for Samantha Jordan 


Chief Leck withdrew his recommendation for denial.  


Adjournment 


Motion by Riley, second by Ligocki to adjourn at 6:55 p.m. Motion carried 5-0.  


 


Respectfully Submitted,  


Holly Licht, City Clerk  


 


 


 


 





		01-Finance Committee Minutes 04-23-2019.pdf

		02-April 24, 2019 PSC Minutes.pdf






 
City of Stoughton, 207 S Forrest Street, Stoughton WI  53589 


 
 


RESOLUTION FROM THE UTILTIES COMMITTEE TO THE  


STOUGHTON COMMON COUNCIL 
 
Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to acknowledge receipt of the Stoughton Utilities 


2018 Audit Report and Management Letter. 


 
Committee Action: 


 
Utilities Committee recommended Common Council approval 5-0 


 
Fiscal Impact: None 


 
File Number: 


 
R-75 -2019 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
May 28, 2019 


The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows: 


WHEREAS, Baker Tilly Virchow Krause LLP has prepared the Stoughton Utilities Audit Report and 


Management Letter for 2018, and 


WHEREAS, the Stoughton Utilities Committee met on May 20, 2019 to consider, approve, and 


recommend the approval of the Stoughton Utilities Audit Report and Management letter for 2018 and the 


adoption of the corresponding resolution, and recommend approval to the Stoughton Common Council, 


now therefore  


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the proper city official(s) be 


hereby authorized and directed to acknowledge the receipt of the Stoughton Utilities Audit Report and 


Management Letter for 2018. 


Council Action: ☐ Adopted ☐ Failed Vote:  


Mayoral Action: ☐ Accept ☐ Veto   


    


Mayor Tim Swadley  Date  


Council Action:  ☐ Override Vote:  
 







Madison, WI 53707-7398


Ten Terrace Court


Stoughton Utilities


Report to the Utilities Committee


May 20, 2019


Presented By:


Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP


P.O. Box 7398


Megan Cahill, CPA, Senior Accountant


Note: Actual data was derived from current and prior years audited financial statements


800 362 7301


Jodi Dobson, CPA, Partner







Electric (000's kWhs) 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018


Residential 64,316         63,093         69,348         63,176         66,822         
General Service 17,294         17,069         14,157         16,248         16,448         
Small Power 16,725         15,539         13,291         15,612         16,708         
Large Power 11,014         9,524           10,164         12,310         12,399         
Industrial 31,232         31,431         31,257         30,905         31,702         
Street Lighting 994              937              735              770              727              


Total 141,575       137,593       138,952       139,021       144,806       


Water (000's gallons) 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018


Residential 234,669       206,473       206,657       202,150       199,362       
Commercial 59,411         51,253         53,304         54,306         54,232         
Multifamily 26,012         25,561         25,465         28,762         29,205         
Industrial 170,804       179,961       179,746       174,238       157,411       
Public Authority 5,777           6,336           5,304           4,976           4,806           
Interdepartmental 606              773              533              432              404              


Total 497,279       470,357       471,009       464,864       445,420       


Wastewater (000's gallons) 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018


Residential 207,008       204,935       230,659       201,168       198,733       
Commercial 57,041         48,780         50,898         51,364         50,705         
Multifamily 26,012         25,561         25,465         26,228         29,216         
Industrial 35,629         29,639         26,567         23,241         22,687         
Public Authority 4,448           4,191           3,554           3,544           4,087           
Interdepartmental 45                44                50                48                68                


Total 330,183       313,150       337,193       305,593       305,496       


What it means….


Stoughton Utilities


Historical Consumption Data


Electric usage is impacted by weather, growth and conservation.  As power costs have risen and conservation 
has become more common, balancing reliable service and affordable rates becomes more difficult.


The general water industry trend has been a decline in usage over the last five years.  General usage was higher 
in 2014 due to the hot, dry summer.


Wastewater treated tends to follow water usage, with the exception of industrial customers. 







Electric kWh's (000) Sold


Water Gallons (000) Sold


Wastewater Gallons (000) Billed


Stoughton Utilities
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Electric 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018


Average Net Rate Base 12,247,906$      12,261,226$      12,074,572$     12,158,175$    14,014,445$      


Authorized Return 6.50% 5.10% 5.10% 5.00% 5.00%


Authorized Operating Return 796,114$           625,323$           615,803$          607,909$         700,722$           


Actual Operating Income - Regulatory Basis 647,833$           569,058$           597,291$          785,048$         709,336$           


Actual Return 5.29% 4.64% 4.95% 6.46% 5.06%


Difference (148,281)$         (56,265)$            (18,512)$           177,139$         8,614$               


Water 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018


Average Net Rate Based 7,924,809$        8,435,003$        9,201,577$       9,956,227$      10,271,417$      


Authorized Return 6.50% 6.50% 5.25% 5.25% 5.00%


Authorized Operating Return 515,113$           548,275$           483,083$          522,702$         513,571$           


Actual Operating Income - Regulatory Basis 187,072$           236,548$           318,087$          320,159$         401,277$           


Actual Return 2.36% 2.80% 3.46% 3.22% 3.91%


Difference (328,041)$         (311,727)$          (164,996)$         (202,543)$        (112,294)$          


Stoughton Utilities


Rate of Return







What it means...


Stoughton Utilities


Rate of return is a key indicator of financial results in any regulated utility like your electric and water utilities. Any growth in plant requires that rates 
cover the cost of providing service or the utility will weaken financially in the long run. Current electric rates were put into effect in April 2017 and are 
designed to earn a 5% rate of return. Current water rates were put in effect in October 2018 and are designed to earn a 5% rate of return. 


It is important to point out that the operating income reported here will not match what is reported in the financial statements due to PSCW 
ratemaking rules.
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Electric 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018


Operating Revenues 15,603,989$  15,057,025$  15,116,204$  15,249,623$  15,136,031$  
Investment Income 80,893           101,749         92,308           92,681           104,218         
Less: O & M Expenses (13,770,271)   (13,261,410)   (13,329,607)   (13,257,421)   (13,060,056)   


Computed Net Earnings 1,914,611$    1,897,364$    1,878,905$    2,084,883$    2,180,193$    


Subsequent Year Revenue
    Bond Debt Service 649,338         649,338         775,948         756,513         756,513         
Coverage Factor 1.30               1.30               1.30               1.30               1.30               


Required Net Earnings 844,139$       844,139$       1,008,732$    983,467$       983,467$       


Difference 1,070,472$    1,053,225$    870,173$       1,101,416$    1,196,726$    


Coverage 2.95               2.92               2.42               2.76               2.88               


Water 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018


Operating Revenues 1,750,961$    1,784,416$    2,001,124$    2,071,229$    2,121,101$    
Investment Income 2,118             8,609             25,029           22,208           18,984           
Less: O & M Expenses (924,261)        (885,770)        (1,012,205)     (1,049,770)     (969,181)        


Computed Net Earnings 828,818$       907,255$       1,013,948$    1,043,667$    1,170,904$    


Subsequent Year Revenue
    Bond Debt Service 244,677         244,677         375,312         375,312         375,312         
Coverage Factor 1.30               1.30               1.30               1.30               1.30               


Required Net Earnings 318,080$       318,080$       487,906$       487,906$       487,906$       


Difference 510,738$       589,175$       526,042$       555,761$       682,998$       


Coverage 3.39               3.71               2.70               2.78               3.12               


Wastewater 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018


Operating Revenues 2,050,885$    2,037,835$    2,036,002$    2,051,313$    2,055,876$    
Investment Income 11,559           9,863             2,485             33,367           29,344           
Less: O & M Expenses (944,780)        (1,042,161)     (1,020,298)     (1,012,657)     (959,399)        


Computed Net Earnings 1,117,664$    1,005,537$    1,018,189$    1,072,023$    1,125,821$    


Subsequent Year Revenue
    Bond Debt Service 527,838         544,459         544,307         544,152         543,992         
Coverage Factor 1.10               1.10               1.10               1.10               1.10               


Required Net Earnings 580,622$       598,905$       598,738$       598,567$       598,391$       


Difference 537,042$       406,632$       419,451$       473,456$       527,430$       


Coverage 2.12               1.85               1.87               1.97               2.07               


Stoughton Utilities


Debt Coverage







What it means….


Stoughton Utilities


The bond resolutions require that earnings from the system be greater than 1.30 times the highest 
annual debt service of the bonds for each electric and water and 1.10 times for wastewater.
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Electric 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018


Funding Benchmark
Estimated Monthly Revenues 1,300,332$  1,254,752$  1,259,684$  1,270,802$  1,261,336$  


Actual Unrestricted Funds on Hand* 6,467,876$  7,171,440$  7,632,166$  7,473,871$  6,264,701$  


Months billings on Hand 4.97             5.72             6.06             5.88             4.97             


Water 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018


Funding Benchmark
Estimated Monthly Revenues 145,913$     148,701$     166,760$     172,602$     176,758$     


Actual Unrestricted Funds on Hand* 511,345$     399,959$     837,821$     578,210$     614,480$     


Months billings on Hand 3.50             2.69             5.02             3.35             3.48             


Wastewater 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018


Funding Benchmark
Estimated Monthly Revenues 170,907$     169,820$     169,667$     170,943$     171,323$     


Actual Unrestricted Funds on Hand* 1,147,355$  1,483,009$  1,454,592$  1,486,585$  1,660,992$  


Months billings on Hand 6.71             8.73             8.57             8.70             9.70             


* - Includes internally restricted funds


What it means….


Stoughton Utilities


Unrestricted Cash Reserves


A utility should maintain funds to cover its operations in a normal business operation cycle (i.e. quarterly, monthly) plus a 
contingency.  In addition, utilities should have available an amount equal to one year's capital improvements.  The target 
generally is 3 months revenue.  These funding levels facilitate budgeting since there will be less concern for business 
cycle fluctuations.


This shows that the utility has historically had ample cash reserves for operations.







Stoughton Utilities
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Electric 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018


Net Investment in Capital Assets 9,349,914$    9,740,384$   9,860,679$   10,853,462$ 12,982,855$ 


Net Property, Plant, and Equipment 14,350,749    14,249,247   14,402,176   16,602,295   18,104,407   


Net Plant Funded by Equity 65% 68% 68% 65% 72%


Net Plant Funded by Debt 35% 32% 32% 35% 28%


Water 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018


Net Investment in Capital Assets 10,820,680$  11,601,469$ 12,041,652$ 12,776,352$ 13,542,020$ 


Net Property, Plant, and Equipment 12,747,318    13,898,850   15,281,587   15,849,145   16,239,333   


Net Plant Funded by Equity 85% 94% 94% 94% 94%


Net Plant Funded by Debt 15% 6% 6% 6% 6%


Wastewater 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018


Net Investment in Capital Assets 12,236,966$  12,303,350$ 13,249,638$ 13,569,801$ 14,035,881$ 


Net Property, Plant, and Equipment 17,931,136    18,211,980   18,723,878   18,596,768   18,604,146   


Net Plant Funded by Equity 68% 68% 71% 73% 75%


Net Plant Funded by Debt 32% 32% 29% 27% 25%


What it means….


Stoughton Utilities


Capital Investment


Obtaining financing for capital improvements is normally a necessity for capital intensive utilities.  Management should keep 
their related debt to a manageable level as this allows you to be less aggressive seeking rate relief and provides more options 
to address unanticipated expenses.


The utility industry generally targets 50% or more equity and 50% or less debt.
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DRAFT STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, May 20, 2019 – 5:00 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI 
Page No.  2 


Selection of the Utilities Committee Date and Time:  Following discussion, the committee chose to designate 


the monthly meeting date to remain the Monday after the first regularly scheduled meeting of the Stoughton 


Common Council, and the meeting time to be set as 5:30 p.m. 


Status of the Utilities Committee recommendation(s) to the Stoughton Common Council:  Stoughton 


Utilities staff presented and discussed the following items from the Stoughton Utilities Committee that were 


approved and/or placed on file by the Stoughton Common Council: 


Consent Agenda: 


1. Minutes of the March 26, 2019 Regular Utilities Committee Meeting 


2. Stoughton Utilities March Payments Due List Report 


3. Stoughton Utilities February Financial Summary 


4. Stoughton Utilities February Statistical Report 


A brief discussion was held regarding the tax-stabilization dividend payment that was approved by the committee 


at its April 2019 meeting. 


Stoughton Utilities 2018 Audit Reports and Management Letter:  Vice-Chair Swadley introduced Ms. Megan 


Cahill from Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP, who presented the Stoughton Utilities 2018 Audit Reports and 


Management Letter.  Discussion followed.   


Motion by Jenson, the motion seconded by Ackerman, to approve the Stoughton Utilities 2018 audit reports and 


management letter and recommend the Stoughton Common Council approve the audit reports and management 


letter, and adopt the accompanying resolution at their May 28, 2019 meeting.  The motion carried 5 to 0. 


Stoughton Utilities Data Sharing and Non-Disclosure Agreement for Proprietary and Confidential 


Mapping Information:  Stoughton Utilities staff shared that from time to time, Stoughton Utilities shares our 


mapping data with a variety of entities.  These requests typically come from developers, or their contractors or 


engineers.  The information requested is typically general in detail and limited to small areas, and presents little 


security concern.  Staff presented a proposed Sharing and Non-Disclosure Agreement for Proprietary and 


Confidential Mapping Information, as well as an associated fee schedule.   


Motion by Heili, the motion seconded by Jenson, to approve the Stoughton Utilities Data Sharing and Non-


Disclosure Agreement for Proprietary and Confidential Mapping Information.  Discussion followed.  The motion 


carried unanimously 5 to 0. 


Anticipated Annual Fund Transfers to the City of Stoughton:   


Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed the following anticipated transfers to the City of Stoughton in 


2019: 


Payment in lieu of taxes     $855,940 


Tax-Stabilization Dividends     $27,902 


Rent: Stoughton Utilities Administration Building  $103,187 


Administration Charges     $64,000 


Police Department Emergency Contact Service  $9,000 


Stormwater Management Fee     $9,325 
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600 South Fourth Street P.O. Box 383 


Stoughton, WI  53589-0383 


Serving Electric, Water & Wastewater Since 1886 


  


Date:   
  


May 14, 2019 


To:    
  


Stoughton Utilities Committee  


From:   Jamin T. Friedl, CPA 


Stoughton Utilities Finance Manager 


Jill M. Weiss, P.E.  


    
  


Stoughton Utilities Director  


Subject:  Stoughton Utilities 2018 Audit Reports and Management Letter  


Ms. Megan Cahill of Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP is scheduled to present the Stoughton Utilities 


audit reports and management letter.  Enclosed in the packet are the following documents for the 


Committee’s review: 


1. Audit Report to the Utilities Committee (presentation handout) 


2. Communication to Those Charged Wither Governance and Management 


3. Financial Statements Including Independent Auditors’ Report 


We are requesting that the Utilities Committee accept the Stoughton Utilities 2018 audit report and 


management letter, and recommend the acceptance of the audit report and the management letter and the 


adoption of the corresponding resolution to the Stoughton Common Council.   
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INTERNAL CONTROL COMMENTS 


 
 COMPLETE SEGREGATION OF DUTIES NOT FEASIBLE 
 
A properly designed system of internal control includes adequate staffing as well as policies and 
procedures to properly segregate duties. This includes systems that are designed to limit the access or 
control of any one individual to your government’s assets or accounting records, and to achieve a higher 
likelihood that errors or irregularities in the utility’s accounting processes would be discovered by your 
staff in a timely manner.  
 
At this time, due to staffing and financial limitations, the utility does not have proper internal controls in 
place to achieve ideal segregation of duties. As a result, errors or irregularities could occur as part of the 
financial process that may not be discovered by the utility.  
 
Procedures, designed to improve controls, have been established by management including: 
 


> Authorization of official depository. 


> Review and acceptance of the audit report and management letter. 


> Authorization of capital expenditures. 


> Approval of annual budgets. 


> Cross training of personnel and rotation of duties entailing custody of certain liquid assets. 
 
These procedures are helpful in assuring that management is knowledgeable of and involved with the 
day-to-day system operations. 
 
There are also key controls, which are listed below, that are not currently in place at the utility related to 
significant transaction cycles. These key controls are important in reducing the risk of errors or 
irregularities in the utility’s accounting processes.  
 


> Complete segregation of billing and receipting for miscellaneous services. 
 
Although we would like to see additional layers of internal review we understand that the size of the 
organization limits the ability to accomplish this and that management has segregated transactions from 
reconciliations.  
 
Since these key controls are not currently in place, errors or irregularities could occur as part of the 
financial process that may not be discovered by the utility. Our review of internal control disclosed a 
control deficiency in that segregation of duties is not feasible due to the limited number of staff in the 
office. For example, many reconciliations are prepared by a person who is also involved in the day-to-day 
transactions. Although we do not feel this is a material weakness or significant deficiency we do believe it 
is important that the Committee is aware of this fact. 
 
This situation necessitates an increased amount of management involvement in the day-to-day operation 
of the system. This is not unusual in utilities of your size, but management should continue to be aware of 
this condition and realize that the concentration of duties and responsibilities in a limited number of 
individuals is not desirable from a control point of view. 
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INFORMATIONAL POINTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 


 
UPCOMING LEASE STANDARD 


 
In June 2017, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued new guidance to establish 
a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the 
right to use an underlying asset. This standard is effective for fiscal years ending on or after December 
31, 2020. Statement No. 87, Leases, requires recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases 
that were previously classified as operating leases and recognize as inflows of resources or outflow of 
resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. 
 
Under the new standard, a lease is defined as a contract that conveys control of the right to use another 
entity’s nonfinancial asset (underlying asset) as specified in the contract for a period of time in an 
exchange or exchange-like transaction. Control is defined by 1) the right to obtain the present service 
capacity from the use of the underlying asset and 2) the right to determine the nature and manner of use 
of the underlying asset. Any contract that meets this definition should be accounted for under the lease 
guidance, unless specifically excluded in this statement. Leases include contracts that, although not 
explicitly identified as leases, meet the above definition of a lease. 
 
The following are contract exclusions and exceptions from applying lease accounting: 


> Intangible assets (mineral rights, patents, software, copyrights) 


> Biological assets (including timber, living plants, and living animals) 


> Service concession arrangements (See GASB Statement 60) 


> Assets financed with outstanding conduit debt unless both the asset and conduit debt are 
reported by lessor 


> Supply contracts (such as power purchase agreements that do not convey control of the right to 
use the underlying power generating facility) 


> Inventory 


> Short-term leases – with a maximum possible term of 12 months or less 


> Leases that transfer ownership and do not contain termination options 


> Leases of assets that are investments  


> Certain regulated leases (e.g., airport-airline agreements) 
 
We recommend the utilities review this standard and start planning how this will affect your financial 
reporting. An inventory of all contracts that might meet the definition of a lease should be started. The 
contract listing should include key terms of the contracts such as: 


> Description of contract 


> Underlying asset  


> Contract term  


> Options for extensions and terminations  


> Service components, if any 


> Dollar amount of lease  
 
In addition, the utilities should begin to establish a lease policy to address the treatment of common lease 
types, including a dollar threshold for each lease. We are available to discuss this further and help you 
develop an action plan.  







  


 


OTHER COMMUNICATIONS TO THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
 


  







  


3 


 
TWO WAY COMMUNICATION REGARDING YOUR AUDIT  


 
As part of our audit of your financial statements, we are providing communications to you throughout the 
audit process. Auditing requirements provide for two-way communication and are important in assisting 
the auditor and you with more information relevant to the audit. 
 
As this past audit is concluded, we use what we have learned to begin the planning process for next 
year’s audit. It is important that you understand the following points about the scope and timing of our 
next audit: 
 


a. We address the significant risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, through 
our detailed audit procedures. 


b. We will obtain an understanding of the five components of internal control sufficient to assess the 
risk of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to error or fraud, and to 
design the nature, timing, and extent of further audit procedures. We will obtain a sufficient 
understanding by performing risk assessment procedures to evaluate the design of controls 
relevant to an audit of financial statements and to determine whether they have been 
implemented. We will use such knowledge to:  
 
> Identify types of potential misstatements. 


> Consider factors that affect the risks of material misstatement. 


> Design tests of controls, when applicable, and substantive procedures. 
 
We will not express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or 
compliance with laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts or grant programs.  


c. The concept of materiality recognizes that some matters, either individually or in the aggregate, 
are important for fair presentation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles while other matters are not important. In performing the audit, we are 
concerned with matters that, either individually or in the aggregate, could be material to the 
financial statements. Our responsibility is to plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance that material misstatements, whether caused by errors or fraud, are detected. 


 
We are very interested in your views regarding certain matters. Those matters are listed here: 


 
a. We typically will communicate with your top level of management unless you tell us otherwise. 


b. We understand that the utilities committee has the responsibility to oversee the strategic direction 
of your organization, as well as the overall accountability of the entity. Management has the 
responsibility for achieving the objectives of the entity. 


c. We need to know your views about your organization’s objectives and strategies, and the related 
business risks that may result in material misstatements. 


d. Which matters do you consider warrant particular attention during the audit, and are there any 
areas where you request additional procedures to be undertaken? 


e. Have you had any significant communications with regulators or grantor agencies? 


f. Are there other matters that you believe are relevant to the audit of the financial statements? 
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TWO WAY COMMUNICATION REGARDING YOUR AUDIT (cont.) 


 
Also, is there anything that we need to know about the attitudes, awareness, and actions of the utilities 
concerning: 
 


a. The utilities’ internal control and its importance in the entity, including how those charged with 
governance oversee the effectiveness of internal control? 


b. The detection or the possibility of fraud? 
 
We also need to know if you have taken actions in response to developments in financial reporting, laws, 
accounting standards, governance practices, or other related matters, or in response to previous 
communications with us. 
 
With regard to the timing of our audit, here is some general information. If necessary, we may do 
preliminary financial audit work during the months of November or December. Our final financial fieldwork 
is scheduled during January to best coincide with your readiness and report deadlines. After fieldwork, we 
wrap up our financial audit procedures at our office and may issue drafts of our report for your review. 
Final copies of our report and other communications are issued after approval by your staff. This is 
typically 6-10 weeks after final fieldwork, but may vary depending on a number of factors.  
 
Keep in mind that while this communication may assist us with planning the scope and timing of the audit, 
it does not change the auditor’s sole responsibility to determine the overall audit strategy and the audit 
plan, including the nature, timing, and extent of procedures necessary to obtain sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence. 
 
We realize that you may have questions on what this all means, or wish to provide other feedback. We 
welcome the opportunity to hear from you. 
 







  


 


REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS BY THE AUDITOR TO THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
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To Stoughton Utilities Committee 
Stoughton Utilities 
Stoughton, Wisconsin 


Thank you for using Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP as your auditor. We have completed our audit of the 
financial statements of Stoughton Utilities for the year ended December 31, 2018, and have issued our report 
thereon dated April 29, 2019. This letter presents communications required by our professional standards. 


OUR RESPONSIBILITY UNDER AUDITING STANDARDS GENERALLY ACCEPTED 
  IN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 


The objective of a financial statement audit is the expression of an opinion on the financial statements. We 
conducted the audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. These standards require that we plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable, rather than 
absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements prepared by management with your oversight 
are free of material misstatement, whether caused by error or fraud. Our audits included examining, on a 
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation. Our audits do not relieve management or the Utilities Committee of their 
responsibilities. 


As part of the audits we obtained an understanding of the entity and its environment, including internal 
control, sufficient to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements and to design the 
nature, timing and extent of further audit procedures. The audit was not designed to provide assurance on 
internal control or to identify deficiencies in internal control. 


OTHER INFORMATION IN DOCUMENTS CONTAINING AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 


Our responsibility does not extend beyond the audited financial statements identified in this report. We do 
not have any obligation to and have not performed any procedures to corroborate other information 
contained in client prepared documents, such as official statements related to debt issues. 


PLANNED SCOPE AND TIMING OF THE AUDIT 


We performed the audits according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to you in our city 
wide letter about planning matters. 


QUALITATIVE ASPECTS OF THE ENTITY’S SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRACTICES 


Accounting Policies 


Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. In accordance with the 
terms of our engagement letter, we will advise management about the appropriateness of accounting policies 
and their application. The significant accounting policies used by the utilities are described in Note 1 to the 
financial statements. As described in Note 1, the utilities change accounting policies related to capitalized 
interest by adopting GASB 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction Period in 
2018. We noted no transactions entered into by the Stoughton Utilities during the year that were both significant 
and unusual, and of which, under professional standards, we are required to inform you, or transactions for 
which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. 


Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP trading as Baker Tilly is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members 
of which are separate and independent legal entities. © 2018 Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP
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 QUALITATIVE ASPECTS OF THE ENTITY’S SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRACTICES (cont.) 
 
  Accounting Estimates 


Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based 
on management's knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future 
events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial 
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those 
expected. The most sensitive estimate affecting the financial statements were the accrual of compensated 
absence, the fair value of the ATC investment, and the net pension liability and related deferrals. We have 
reviewed managements’ assumptions and methodologies for these estimates in determining they are 
reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.  
 
  Financial Statement Disclosures 


The disclosures in the notes to the financial statements are neutral, consistent, and clear. 
 
 DIFFICULTIES ENCOUNTERED IN PERFORMING THE AUDIT 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing our audit. 
 
 CORRECTED AND UNCORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS 
 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the audit, 
other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. The utilities 
have one uncorrected financial statement misstatement due to not implementing GASB Statement No. 75, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. The summary of 
uncorrected financial statement misstatements for each fund is attached to this letter. Management has 
determined that their effects are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements 
taken as a whole.  
 
 DISAGREEMENTS WITH MANAGEMENT 
 
For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, 
whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter that 
could be significant to the financial statements or the auditors’ report. We are pleased to report that no such 
disagreements arose during the course of our audits. 
 
 CONSULTATIONS WITH OTHER INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters. If a consultation involves application of an accounting principle to the governmental unit’s financial 
statements or a determination of the type of auditors’ opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our 
professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has 
all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 
 
 MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATIONS 
 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter. These representations follow this required communication. 
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 INDEPENDENCE  
 
We are not aware of any relationships between Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP and the Stoughton Utilities 
that, in our professional judgment, may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence. 
 
Relating to our audit of the financial statements of Stoughton Utilities for the year ended December 31, 2018, 
Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP hereby confirms that we are, in our professional judgment, independent with 
respect to the Stoughton Utilities in accordance with the Code of Professional Conduct issued by the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. We provided no services to the Stoughton Utilities other than audit 
services provided in connection with the audit of the current year’s financial statements and the following 
nonaudit services which in our judgement do not impair our independence. 
 


> Financial statement preparation assistance 
 


 OTHER AUDIT FINDINGS OR ISSUES 
 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the utilities’ auditors. However, these discussions 
occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a condition to our 
retention. 
 
 OTHER MATTERS 
 
We applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the 
financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing 
the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, 
the financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the financial statements. We did 
not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI. 
 
With respect to the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, we made certain 
inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to 
determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate 
and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled the 
supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to 
the financial statements themselves. 
 
 RESTRICTIONS ON USE 
 
This information is intended solely for the use of the Utilities Committee and management and is not intended to 
be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
We welcome the opportunity to discuss the information included in this letter and any other matters. Thank you 
for allowing us to serve you. 
 


 
Madison, Wisconsin 
April 29, 2019 
 







 


 


MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATIONS 
 
  



























 


 


SUMMARY OF UNCORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS 
 
 







Total Total Change in


Current Noncurrent Total Assets/ Current Noncurrent Total Liabilities/ Net Position/ Total Expenses/ Net Position/


Assets Assets Deferred Outflows Liabilities Liabilities Deferred Inflows Fund Balances Revenues Expenditures Fund Balances


Water -           -                1,885                     -               -                (46,917)                45,032               -                 45,032            45,032               


Wastewater -           -                1,953                     -               -                (48,623)                46,670               -                 46,670            46,670               


Electric -           -                5,654                     -               -                (140,750)              135,095             -                 135,095          135,095             


The uncorrected misstatement noted above for all three funds relates to the implementation of GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits
Other Than Pensions.


Stoughton Utilities


SUMMARY OF UNCORRECTED FINANCIAL STATEMENT MISSTATEMENTS


December 31, 2018


Financial Statements Effect -


Debit (Credit) to Financial Statement Total
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT


To the Utilities Committee
Stoughton Utilities
Stoughton, Wisconsin


Report on the Financial Statements


We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Stoughton Utilities, enterprise funds of the City of
Stoughton, Wisconsin, as of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related notes to the
financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.


Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements


Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.


Auditors’ Responsibility


Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our
audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.


An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Stoughton Utilities' preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Stoughton Utilities'
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.


We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.


Opinions


In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Stoughton Utilities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the respective changes in financial
position and cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.


1


Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP trading as Baker Tilly is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members 
of which are separate and independent legal entities. © 2018 Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP







Emphasis of Matters


As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the Stoughton Utilities enterprise funds and do not
purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, as of December
31, 2018 and 2017 and the respective changes in financial position, or cash flows thereof for the years then
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinions
are not modified with respect to this matter.


Other Matters


Required Supplementary Information


Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the required supplementary
information as listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the financial statements. Such
information, although not a part of the financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the financial statements. We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 


 Supplementary Information


Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements as a whole. The
supplemental information as listed in the table of contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is
not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial
statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplemental information is fairly stated in all
material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 


Madison, Wisconsin
April 29, 2019
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The management of the Stoughton Utilities (utilities) offers all persons interested in the financial 


position of the utilities an objective, easy to read overview and analysis of the utilities’ financial 


performance during the years ending December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. You are invited to read 


this narrative in conjunction with the utilities’ financial statements. 


 


FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 


 


ELECTRIC: 


 


• Electric operating revenues decreased by 0.7% in 2018 which was offset by a 1.9% 


decrease in purchase power costs. Total operating income in 2018 was $967,812, a 


$5,366, or 0.6%, decrease from the prior year. 


 


• The electric division’s net position increased by $810,125 from the prior year. 


 


• $3.8 million of net plant was placed in service in 2018. The majority of the new plant was 


for a new substation constructed to improve reliability and meet future demand needs.  


 


WATER: 


• Operating income increased $114,720, or 19.9%, in 2018 despite gallons sold decreasing 


by 3.78%. This was due to the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin approving a 


$241,302 annual increase in operating revenues, which was in effect for 3 months of 2018.  


     


• The water division’s net position increased by $639,546 from the prior year. $404,385 of 


the increase was due to capital contributions. 


 


WASTEWATER: 


 


• $805,526 of net capital asset additions were partially financed by $321,665 in capital 


contributions. 


 


• Operating income increased by $48,282, or 21.2% from the prior year. $43,719 of the 


increase was due to decreased operating expenses.   


 


• The wastewater division’s net position increased by $503,926 from the prior year. 
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 


 


The utilities are self-supporting entities and separate enterprise funds of the City of Stoughton 


(city). The utilities provide electric, water, and wastewater service to properties within the city and 


also provides electric service to the following Townships: Dunkirk, Dunn, Pleasant Springs, Porter and 


Rutland.  


 


The water and electric utilities are managed by a Utilities Committee and operate under service 


rules and rates that are established by the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin (PSCW). The 


accounting records are maintained in accordance with the Uniform System of Accounts prescribed 


by the PSCW, and in accordance with the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.  


 


The Utilities Committee also manages the wastewater utility.  The Utilities Committee and the 


Common Council establish rates and service rules. Accounting records are maintained in 


accordance with the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. 


 


This annual report consists of two parts: Management’s Discussion and Analysis, and the basic 


financial statements, including the independent auditor’s report. 


 


An analysis of the utilities’ financial position begins with a review of the Statement of Net Position, 


and the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position. These two statements 


report the utilities’ net position and changes therein. The utilities’ net position – ‘the difference 


between assets and liabilities’ is key to measuring the financial health of the utilities. Over time, 


increases or decreases in the net position value are an indicator of whether the overall financial 


position is improving or deteriorating. However, it should be noted that the financial position may 


also be affected by other non-financial factors, including economic conditions, customer growth, 


climate conditions and new regulations. 


 


 


UTILITY FINANCIAL ANALYSIS  


 


The Statement of Net Position includes all of the utilities’ assets and liabilities and provides 


information about the nature and amount of investments in resources and the obligations to 


creditors. This statement provides the basis for evaluating the capital structure and assessing the 


liquidity and financial flexibility of the utilities.  


 


A summary of the utilities’ Statements of Net Position is presented below in Tables 1 through 3. 
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UTILITY FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (cont.) 


 
Table 1 


Condensed Statement of Net Position – Electric Utility 
 


 
 


In 2018, the electric utility net position increased $810,125, an increase of 4.0%. In 2017, the 


electric utility net position increased $666,942, an increase of 3.4%. The larger increase in 2018 


compared to 2017 is mainly due to increased capital contributions. 


 


Capital assets have grown by approximately $3.5 million, 24.1%, from 2016 to 2018. A majority of 


the capital outlay was due to the construction of a new substation and the purchase of related 


equipment. Long-term borrowing decreased $1.2 million during this time period. Thus, the capital 


additions were mostly financed with cash and investments on hand. 
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UTILITY FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (cont.) 


 


Table 2 
Condensed Statement of Net Position – Water Utility 


 
 


In 2018, the water utility net position increased $639,546 vs $357,610 in 2017. The additional 


increase in net position was mainly due to increased operating income and additional capital 


contributions.  


 


Long-term borrowing from 2018 to 2016 has been reduced by $743,092 while capital assets have 


increased by $957,746 during the same time period. This represents a significant investment of 


cash in capital additions and debt repayment. 
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UTILITY FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (cont.) 


 


Table 3 
Condensed Statements of Net Position – Wastewater Utility 


 


 
 


The wastewater net position increased $503,926 in 2018 and $350,106 in 2017. The increase was 


partially caused by capital contributions of $321,665 in 2018 and $224,299 in 2017. Capital assets 


decreased by $0.1 million and long-term borrowing decreased $0.9 million from 2016 to 2018.  


 


The restricted portion of net position includes accounts that are limited by bond covenants. Listed 


below are restricted assets: 
 


 Redemption   –  Used for debt service payments. 


 Reserve    – Used for any deficiencies in the redemption account. 


 Depreciation  –  Used to restore deficiencies in the redemption and reserve accounts, and for 


funding plant replacements. 


 Construction –  Bond issue proceeds used only for the restricted construction project(s).  


 Replacement –  Used for plant replacement. 


 Pension         –  Used to fund employee benefits. 


  


The specific nature or source of these changes becomes more evident in the Statement of 


Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position as shown in Tables 4 through 6.  
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UTILITY FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (cont.) 


 


The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position provides an indication of the 


utilities’ financial health. 
 


Table 4 
Condensed Statement of Revenues, 


Expenses and Changes in Net Position - 
Electric Utility 
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UTILITY FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (cont.) 


 


Table 5 
Condensed Statement of Revenues, 


Expenses and Changes in Net Position - 
Water Utility 
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UTILITY FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (cont.) 


 


Table 6 
Condensed Statement of Revenues, 


Expenses and Changes in Net Position - 
Wastewater Utility 
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UTILITY FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (cont.) 


 


 
 


Electric sales decreased by 0.7% in 2018. The decrease is mainly due to charging less per kWh 


sold in 2018 compared to 2017 as a result of lower purchased power costs.   
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UTILITY FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (cont.) 


 


 
 


     Sales increased by $44,279 or 2.18% in 2018. A rate increase occurred on October 1, 2018, which 


was designed to increase revenues by $241,300 on annual basis. 
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UTILITY FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (cont.) 


      


 
 


Wastewater sales were mostly flat from 2018 to 2017 with a $1,313 decrease. This was due to 


treatment gallons sold decreasing by 0.5% from 2018 to 2017. 
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UTILITY FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (cont.) 


 


The Statement of Cash Flows reports the cash provided and used by operating activities, as well 


as other cash sources such as investment income and cash payments for repayment of bonds and 


capital additions. 


 


Table 7 
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows  


Electric Utility 


 
 


The decrease in cash and cash equivalents in 2018 and 2017 is mainly the result of capital expenditures 


exceeding cash flows from normal operating activities. The new West substation was completed during 


this time period.  


 


The electric utility’s goal is to maintain unrestricted cash and cash equivalent balances to cover a 


minimum of 6 months of average electric sales.  
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UTILITY FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (cont.) 


 
Table 8 


Condensed Statements of Cash Flows - 
Water Utility 


 
 


The water utility experienced a small increase in cash and cash equivalents in 2018 due to 


increased operating cash flow. 


 


The water utility experienced a decrease in cash and cash equivalents in 2017 resulting mainly 


from capital expenditures exceeding cash flows from normal operating activities. 
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UTILITY FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (cont.) 


 


Table 9 
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows - 


Wastewater Utility 
 


 
 


The utility experienced an increase in cash and cash equivalents in 2018 and 2017 resulting 


mainly from cash received from prepaid special assessments. 
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UTILITY FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (cont.) 


 


Table 10 
Capital Assets – Electric Utility 
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UTILITY FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (cont.) 


 


Table 11 
Capital Assets – Water Utility 
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UTILITY FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (cont.) 


 
Table 12 


Capital Assets – Wastewater Utility 
 


 
 


LONG-TERM DEBT 


 


As of December 31, 2018, the electric utility had total mortgage revenue bond debt outstanding of 


$5,030,000 payable from and secured by a pledge of income and revenue to be derived from the 


operation of the electric utility. These issues were issued for electric system improvements, the 


construction of new substation, an east substation transformer, and costs associated with the 


implementation of automated meter reading (AMR). 


 


As of December 31, 2018, the water utility had total mortgage revenue bond debt outstanding of 


$2,302,332 payable from and secured by a pledge of income and revenue to be derived from the 


operation of the water utility and $372,000 of general obligation bonds. These issues were 


primarily for additions and improvements to the water system, street improvement projects, AMR 


implementation and a new tower.  


 


The wastewater utility had $4,320,265 of clean water fund loans and $248,000 of general 


obligation bonds outstanding as of December 31, 2018. These bonds were issued for a sewer 


main extension to 5 customers, a series of wastewater treatment plant upgrade and expansion 


projects, and an electrical upgrade in 2014.  


 


Tables of separate bond issues are included in note 7 of this audit report. 
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CONTACTING UTILITY MANAGEMENT 


 
This financial report is designed to provide our customers, investors and creditors with a general 


overview of the utilities’ finances. If you have questions about this report, or need additional 


financial information, contact Jamin Friedl, CPA, Director of Finance, City of Stoughton, 381 E 


Main St, Stoughton, WI  53589. 


 


General information relating to the Stoughton Utilities can be found at the utilities’ web site at 


www.stoughtonutilities.com.   
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STOUGHTON ELECTRIC UTILITY


STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017


ASSETS 2018 2017
CURRENT ASSETS


Cash and investments $ 5,612,885 $ 6,786,544
Interest receivable 19,412 23,727
Restricted Assets


Redemption account 497,953 503,126
Customer accounts receivable 1,411,609 1,520,616
Other accounts receivable 96,206 239,188
Due from municipality 7,274 10,182
Materials and supplies 206,300 153,499
Prepayments 8,861 8,402
Current portion of advance 43,646 41,375


Total Current Assets 7,904,146 9,286,659


NONCURRENT ASSETS
Restricted Assets


Reserve account 460,722 649,338
Depreciation account 25,000 25,000
Net pension asset 210,998 -


Other Assets
Electric plant and maintenance reserve account 518,953 510,846
Sick leave reserve account 132,863 176,481
Preliminary survey and investigation 18,647 -
Advances to other funds 252,442 296,088
Investment in ATC 416,294 389,457
Property held for future use 229,097 352,664
Non-utility property, net 6,974 10,633


Capital Assets
Plant in service 33,058,190 29,180,881
Accumulated depreciation (15,391,673) (15,289,472)
Construction work in progress 208,793 2,358,222


Total Noncurrent Assets 20,147,300 18,660,138


Total Assets 28,051,446 27,946,797


DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows related to pension 379,474 405,146
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LIABILITIES 2018 2017
CURRENT LIABILITIES


Accounts payable $ 899,665 $ 1,217,494
Due to municipality 496,317 459,897
Customer deposits 125,435 119,724
Accrued wages 7,504 6,685
Accrued interest 3,672 2,751
Accrued liabilities 84,163 107,880
Commitment to community 22,086 21,114
Current Liabilities Payable from Restricted Assets


Current portion of revenue bonds 620,000 610,000
Accrued interest 28,879 31,928


   Total Current Liabilities 2,287,721 2,577,473


NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Revenue bonds 4,410,000 5,030,000
Unamortized debt premium 91,552 108,833
Accrued sick leave 132,863 176,481
Customer advances for construction 62,383 28,641
Net pension liability - 52,947


Total Noncurrent Liabilities 4,696,798 5,396,902


Total Liabilities 6,984,519 7,974,375


DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to pension 428,593 169,885


NET POSITION 
Net investment in capital assets 12,982,855 10,853,462
Restricted for:
   Debt service 954,796 1,145,536
   Pension 210,998 -
Unrestricted 6,869,159 8,208,685


TOTAL NET POSITION $ 21,017,808 $ 20,207,683


See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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STOUGHTON ELECTRIC UTILITY


STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


2018 2017
OPERATING REVENUES


Sales of electricity $ 14,996,029 $ 15,106,586
Other 140,002 143,037


Total Operating Revenues 15,136,031 15,249,623


OPERATING EXPENSES
Operation and maintenance 13,060,056 13,257,421
Depreciation 1,108,163 1,019,024


Total Operating Expenses 14,168,219 14,276,445


OPERATING INCOME 967,812 973,178


NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment income 104,218 92,681
Interest expense (120,579) (128,148)
Amortization of premium 17,280 22,739
Miscellaneous revenues (expenses) 2,827 (10,342)
Other income (expense) 19,067 4,011


Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 22,813 (19,059)


Income Before Contributions and Transfers 990,625 954,119


CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS 280,064 120,147
TRANSFER IN (OUT) (27,975) (12,698)
TRANSFERS - TAX EQUIVALENT (432,589) (394,626)


CHANGE IN NET POSITION 810,125 666,942


NET POSITION - Beginning of Year 20,207,683 19,540,741


NET POSITION - END OF YEAR $ 21,017,808 $ 20,207,683


See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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STOUGHTON ELECTRIC UTILITY


STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


2018 2017
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES


Received from customers $ 15,109,693 $ 15,132,657
Received for street lighting 112,941 133,097
Paid to suppliers for goods and services (12,371,601) (12,503,353)
Paid to employees for operating payroll (766,572) (784,281)


Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities 2,084,461 1,978,120


CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Paid to municipality for tax equivalent (394,626) (376,785)
Received from municipality principal on Wisconsin Retirement


UAAL liability
41,375 39,190


Received from municipality interest on Wisconsin Retirement
UAAL liability


10,124 11,300


Transfers to other funds (27,975) (12,698)
Net Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities (371,102) (338,993)


CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING
ACTIVITIES


Acquisition and construction of capital assets (2,852,965) (3,081,826)
Capital contributions received 397,782 156,998
Debt retired (610,000) (610,000)
Interest paid (122,707) (166,122)


Net Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing
Activities


(3,187,890) (3,700,950)


CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investments purchased (456,292) (466,567)
Investments sold and matured 604,190 704,983
Dividends/(Investment) in ATC 17,216 21,520
Investment income 90,085 79,824


Net Cash Flows From Investing Activities 255,199 339,760


Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (1,219,332) (1,722,063)


CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of Year 4,946,611 6,668,674


CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR $ 3,727,279 $ 4,946,611


NONCASH CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES


ATC earnings allocated $ 9,618 $ 6,831


Unrealized gain (loss) on investments $ (35,729) $ (21,302)


Capital contribution $ 5,747 $ 6,384
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2018 2017
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH


FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income $ 967,812 $ 973,178
Nonoperating revenue (expense) 25,552 990
Noncash items in operating income


Depreciation 1,108,163 1,019,024
Depreciation charged to clearing and other utilities 63,900 46,140


Changes in assets and liabilities
Customer accounts receivable 109,007 6,245
Other accounts receivable (56,575) (9,871)
Due from other funds 2,908 5,107
Materials and supplies (52,801) 9,795
Prepayments (459) (5,126)
Pension related deferrals and liabilities 20,435 69,004
Accounts payable (42,105) (138,180)
Due to other funds (1,543) (20,498)
Customer deposits 5,711 13,660
Accrued sick leave (43,618) 4,670
Other current liabilities (22,898) 9,519
Commitment to community 972 (5,537)


NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ 2,084,461 $ 1,978,120


RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS TO
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION ACCOUNTS


Cash and investments $ 5,612,885 $ 6,786,544
Redemption account 497,953 503,126
Reserve account 460,722 649,338
Depreciation account 25,000 25,000
Electric plant and maintenance reserve account 518,953 510,846
Sick leave reserve account 132,863 176,481


Total Cash and Investments 7,248,376 8,651,335
Less:  Noncash equivalents (3,521,097) (3,704,724)


CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $ 3,727,279 $ 4,946,611


See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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STOUGHTON WATER UTILITY


STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017


ASSETS 2018 2017
CURRENT ASSETS


Cash and investments $ 348,735 $ 292,435
Interest receivable 1,247 1,271
Restricted Assets


Redemption account 219,171 262,397
Customer accounts receivable 235,358 216,487
Other accounts receivable 3,778 5,356
Due from municipality 39,866 238,930
Materials and supplies 39,203 41,401
Prepayments 7,845 2,692
Current portion of special assessments 29,026 29,026


Total Current Assets 924,229 1,089,995


NONCURRENT ASSETS
Restricted Assets


Reserve account 252,000 244,677
Depreciation account 25,000 25,000
Net pension asset 70,127 -


Other Assets
Water plant and maintenance reserve account 189,499 186,538
Sick leave reserve account 76,246 99,237
Preliminary survey and investigation 24,798 9,245
Special assessments receivable 174,155 203,181
Non-utility property, net 22,078 26,358


Capital Assets
Plant in service 23,710,621 22,953,615
Accumulated depreciation (7,499,746) (7,110,163)
Construction work in progress 28,458 5,693


Total Noncurrent Assets 17,073,236 16,643,381


Total Assets 17,997,465 17,733,376


DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows related to pension 127,795 136,127
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LIABILITIES 2018 2017
CURRENT LIABILITIES


Accounts payable $ 14,298 $ 41,086
Due to municipality 425,078 446,538
Accrued wages 9,142 10,503
Accrued interest 1,913 2,168
Current portion of general obligation debt 51,000 51,000
Current Liabilities Payable from Restricted Assets


Current portion of revenue bonds 314,173 318,415
Accrued interest 7,006 7,615


   Total Current Liabilities 822,610 877,325


NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
General obligation debt 321,000 372,000
Revenue bonds 1,988,159 2,302,332
Unamortized debt premium 22,981 29,046
Accrued sick leave 76,246 99,237
Net pension liability - 21,314


Total Noncurrent Liabilities 2,408,386 2,823,929


Total Liabilities 3,230,996 3,701,254


DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to pension 143,740 57,271


NET POSITION 
Net investment in capital assets 13,542,020 12,776,352
Restricted for:
   Debt service 489,165 524,459
   Pension 70,127 -
Unrestricted 649,212 810,167


TOTAL NET POSITION $ 14,750,524 $ 14,110,978


See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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STOUGHTON WATER UTILITY


STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


2018 2017
OPERATING REVENUES


Sales of water $ 2,073,990 $ 2,029,711
Other 47,111 41,518


Total Operating Revenues 2,121,101 2,071,229


OPERATING EXPENSES
Operation and maintenance 969,181 1,049,770
Depreciation 460,342 444,601


Total Operating Expenses 1,429,523 1,494,371


OPERATING INCOME 691,578 576,858


NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment income 18,984 22,208
Interest expense (51,176) (55,856)
Amortization of premium 6,065 6,592
Miscellaneous expenses (4,280) (4,280)
Miscellaneous revenues 3,601 -


Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) (26,806) (31,336)


Income Before Contributions 664,772 545,522


CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS 386,101 236,136
CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS - MUNICIPAL 18,284 -
TRANSFER IN (OUT) (6,260) (3,743)
TRANSFERS - TAX EQUIVALENT (423,351) (420,305)


CHANGE IN NET POSITION 639,546 357,610


NET POSITION - Beginning of Year 14,110,978 13,753,368


NET POSITION - END OF YEAR $ 14,750,524 $ 14,110,978


See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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STOUGHTON WATER UTILITY


STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


2018 2017
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES


Received from customers $ 2,130,556 $ 2,077,982
Paid to suppliers for goods and services (648,177) (643,222)
Paid to employees for operating payroll (381,881) (388,217)


Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities 1,100,498 1,046,543


CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Paid to municipality for tax equivalent (420,305) (387,855)
Transfers to other funds (6,260) (3,743)


Net Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities (426,565) (391,598)


CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING
ACTIVITIES


Acquisition and construction of capital assets (516,872) (833,246)
Capital contributions received 18,284 58,921
Special assessments received 236,757 65,134
Debt retired (369,415) (373,677)
Interest paid (52,040) (56,726)


Net Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing
Activities


(683,286) (1,139,594)


CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investments purchased - (194,506)
Investments sold and matured 2,113 212,292
Investment income 27,206 21,080


Net Cash Flows From Investing Activities 29,319 38,866


Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 19,966 (445,783)


CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of Year 633,433 1,079,216


CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR $ 653,399 $ 633,433


NONCASH CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES


Capital contributions $ 386,101 $ 210,787


Unrealized gain (loss) on investments $ (17,486) $ (14,322)
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2018 2017
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH


FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income $ 691,578 $ 576,858
Nonoperating revenue (expense) 3,601 -
Noncash items in operating income


Depreciation 460,342 444,601
Depreciation charged to clearing and other utilities 28,826 28,133


Changes in assets and liabilities
Customer accounts receivable (18,871) (17,660)
Other accounts receivable 1,578 (507)
Due from other funds 621 3,087
Materials and supplies 2,198 (6,589)
Prepayments (5,153) (1,864)
Pension related deferrals and liabilities 3,360 34,913
Accounts payable (18,724) (39,891)
Due to other funds (24,506) 10,824
Accrued wages (1,361) 1,988
Accrued sick leave (22,991) 12,650


NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ 1,100,498 $ 1,046,543


RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS TO
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION ACCOUNTS


Cash and investments $ 348,735 $ 292,435
Redemption account 219,171 262,397
Reserve account 252,000 244,677
Depreciation account 25,000 25,000
Water plant and maintenance reserve account 189,499 186,538
Sick leave reserve account 76,246 99,237


Total Cash and Investments 1,110,651 1,110,284
Less:  Noncash equivalents (457,252) (476,851)


CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $ 653,399 $ 633,433


See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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STOUGHTON WASTEWATER UTILITY


STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017


ASSETS 2018 2017
CURRENT ASSETS


Cash and investments $ 1,569,653 $ 1,361,952
Interest receivable 5,876 4,229
Restricted Assets


Redemption account 313,374 333,597
Customer accounts receivable 202,132 210,313
Other accounts receivable 16,721 8,865
Due from municipality 27,760 164,633
Prepayments 3,572 3,363
Current portion of special assessments 19,905 19,905


Total Current Assets 2,158,993 2,106,857


NONCURRENT ASSETS
Restricted Assets


Depreciation account 33,283 33,283
Replacement account 1,148,645 1,134,247
Net pension asset 72,762 -


Other Assets
Sick leave reserve account 91,339 124,633
Preliminary survey and investigation 26,492 10,093
Special assessments receivable 119,431 139,336


Capital Assets
Plant in service 30,338,077 29,532,551
Accumulated depreciation (11,793,102) (10,994,875)
Construction work in progress 59,171 59,092


Total Noncurrent Assets 20,096,098 20,038,360


Total Assets 22,255,091 22,145,217


DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows related to pension 134,712 151,361
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LIABILITIES 2018 2017
CURRENT LIABILITIES


Accounts payable $ 38,772 $ 15,513
Due to municipality 26,927 20,147
Accrued wages 12,034 13,728
Accrued interest 1,275 1,445
Current portion of general obligation debt 34,000 34,000
Current Liabilities Payable from Restricted Assets


Current portion of revenue bonds 436,321 424,703
Accrued interest 18,939 20,876


   Total Current Liabilities 568,268 530,412


NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
General obligation debt 214,000 248,000
Revenue bonds 3,883,944 4,320,264
Accrued sick leave 91,338 124,633
Net pension liability - 22,833


Total Noncurrent Liabilities 4,189,282 4,715,730


Total Liabilities 4,757,550 5,246,142


DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to pension 143,137 65,246


NET POSITION 
Net investment in capital assets 14,035,881 13,569,801
Restricted for:
   Debt service 327,718 346,004
   Equipment replacement 1,148,645 1,134,247
   Pension 72,762 -
Unrestricted 1,904,110 1,935,138


TOTAL NET POSITION $ 17,489,116 $ 16,985,190


See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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STOUGHTON WASTEWATER UTILITY


STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


2018 2017
OPERATING REVENUES


Treatment charges $ 1,971,095 $ 1,972,408
Other 84,781 78,905


Total Operating Revenues 2,055,876 2,051,313


OPERATING EXPENSES
Operation and maintenance 959,399 1,012,657
Depreciation 820,778 811,239


Total Operating Expenses 1,780,177 1,823,896


OPERATING INCOME 275,699 227,417


NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment income 29,344 33,367
Interest expense (122,782) (134,977)


Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) (93,438) (101,610)


Income Before Contributions 182,261 125,807


CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS 321,665 224,299


CHANGE IN NET POSITION 503,926 350,106


NET POSITION - Beginning of Year 16,985,190 16,635,084


NET POSITION - END OF YEAR $ 17,489,116 $ 16,985,190


See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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STOUGHTON WASTEWATER UTILITY


STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


2018 2017
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES


Received from customers $ 2,056,987 $ 2,041,099
Paid to suppliers for goods and services (608,225) (622,707)
Paid to employees for operating payroll (381,881) (396,063)


Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities 1,066,881 1,022,329


CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING
ACTIVITIES


Acquisition and construction of capital assets (522,517) (492,428)
Capital contributions received 24,120 28,998
Special assessments received 162,362 44,666
Debt retired (458,702) (447,396)
Interest paid (124,889) (137,032)


Net Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing
Activities


(919,626) (1,003,192)


CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investments purchased (230,805) (240,466)
Investments sold and matured 218,872 242,360
Investment income 64,590 50,644


Net Cash Flows From Investing Activities 52,657 52,538


Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 199,912 71,675


CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of Year 2,105,399 2,033,724


CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR $ 2,305,311 $ 2,105,399


NONCASH CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES


Unrealized gain (loss) on investments $ (43,263) $ (31,954)


Capital Contributions $ 297,545 $ 201,042
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2018 2017
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH


FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income $ 275,699 $ 227,417
Noncash items in operating income


Depreciation 820,778 811,239
Changes in assets and liabilities


Customer accounts receivable 8,181 (4,749)
Other accounts receivable (7,856) (7,888)
Due to / from other funds (17,439) 13,497
Prepayments (209) (2,328)
Pension related deferrals and assets (1,055) 35,665
Accounts payable 23,771 (52,094)
Accrued sick leave (33,295) 3,723
Other current liabilities (1,694) (2,153)


NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ 1,066,881 $ 1,022,329


RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS TO
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION ACCOUNTS


Cash and investments $ 1,569,653 $ 1,361,952
Redemption account 313,374 333,597
Depreciation account 33,283 33,283
Replacement account 1,148,645 1,134,247
Sick leave reserve account 91,339 124,633


Total Cash and Investments 3,156,294 2,987,712
Less:  Noncash equivalents (850,983) (882,313)


CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $ 2,305,311 $ 2,105,399


See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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STOUGHTON UTILITIES


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES


The financial statements of Stoughton Utilities (utilities) have been prepared in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America as applied to enterprise funds of
governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-
setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. 


The significant accounting principles and policies utilized by the utilities are described below.
   


REPORTING ENTITY


The utilities are separate enterprise funds of the City of Stoughton (municipality). The utilities are
managed by a utilities committee. The utilities provide electric, water, and wastewater service to properties
within the municipality. The utilities also provide electric service to the Townships of Dunkirk, Dunn,
Pleasant Springs, Porter and Rutland.


The electric and water utilities operate under service rules and rates established by the Public Service
Commission of Wisconsin (PSCW). The wastewater utility operates under rules and rates established by
the  utilities committee. The utilities are also regulated by the Wisconsin Department of Natural
Resources.


MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION


The utilities are presented as enterprise funds of the municipality. Enterprise funds are used to account for
operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business or where the governing
body has decided that the determination of revenues earned, costs incurred, and net income is necessary
for management accountability.


The financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual
basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and
expenses are recorded when the liability is incurred or economic asset used. Revenues, expenses, gains,
losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized
when the exchange takes place. 


In June 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 89 - Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End
of a Construction Period. This statement establishes requirements for interest cost incurred before the
end of a construction period. The utilities adopted this statement effective January 1, 2018.


Preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.


ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND


NET POSITION


Deposits and Investments


For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash, and cash equivalents have original maturities of three
months or less from the date of acquisition.


36







STOUGHTON UTILITIES


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND


NET POSITION (cont.)


Deposits and Investments (cont.)


Investment of the utilities' funds are restricted by state statutes. Investments are limited to:


> Time deposits in any credit union, bank, savings bank or trust company.
> Bonds or securities of any county, city, drainage district, technical college district, village, town, or


school district of the state. Also, bonds issued by a local exposition district, local professional
baseball park district, local professional football stadium district, local cultural arts district the
University of Wisconsin Hospitals and Clinics Authority, or the Wisconsin Aerospace Authority.


> Bonds or securities issued or guaranteed by the federal government.
> The local government investment pool.
> Any security maturing in seven years or less and having the highest or second highest rating


category of a nationally recognized rating agency.
> Securities of an open end management investment company or investment trust, subject to various


conditions and investment options.
> Repurchase agreements with public depositories, with certain conditions.


The utilities have adopted an investment policy. That policy follows the state statute for allowable
investments.  


Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties. Fair values are based on methods and inputs as outlined in
Note 2. No investments are reported at amortized cost. Adjustments necessary to record investments at
fair value are recorded in the operating statement as increases or decreases in investment income.
Market values may have changed significantly after year end.


Receivables/Payables


Transactions between the utilities and other funds of the municipality that are representative of
lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at year end are referred to as advances to/from other funds.
All other outstanding balances between the utilities and other funds of the municipality are reported as due
to/from other funds.


The utilities have the right under Wisconsin statutes to place delinquent electric, water, and wastewater
bills on the tax roll for collection. As such, no allowance for uncollectible customer accounts is considered
necessary.


Materials and Supplies 


Materials and supplies are generally used for construction, operation, and maintenance work, not for
resale. They are valued at the lower of cost or market utilizing the average cost method and charged to
construction or expense when used.
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STOUGHTON UTILITIES


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND


NET POSITION (cont.)


Restricted Assets


Mandatory segregations of assets are presented as restricted assets. Such segregations are required by
bond agreements and other external parties. Current liabilities payable from these restricted assets are so
classified. 


Investment in American Transmission Company (ATC)


The electric utility is a member of ATC. ATC was formed by approximately 25 utilities to plan, construct,
maintain, monitor and own electric transmission facilities in Wisconsin. The utility owns less than 1/2 of
1% of ATC.


The investment earns dividends quarterly, some of which is paid in cash and some of which is required to
be reinvested. From time to time, the utility has the option to contribute additional funds to maintain their
proportionate share of ownership. The investment is valued at net asset value per share which is equal to
the original cost plus additional contributions and reinvested dividends and approximates fair value. 


Sick Leave Reserve Account


Upon retirement, these funds are used for insurance coverage for utility employees.


Plant and Maintenance Reserve Account


These accounts are utilized to segregate funds for the future repairs and replacements of electric and
water utility capital assets as designated by the committee.


Special Assessments Receivable   


This account represents the balances of special assessments levied against property owners for
infrastructure improvements. The balances are receivable over various time periods with interest accrued
annually. 


Property Held for Future Use


In the prior year the electric utility held land with the intent of it being used for the site of a future
substation. The remaining land in the current year is held for future use.


Non-Utility Property


Electric utility non-utility property consists of the city dam with a balance of $84,212 and leasehold rental
property with a balance of $91,458 at December 31, 2018 and 2017.  Water utility non-utility property
consists of a park shelter with a balance of $107,000 at December 31, 2018 and 2017.  The costs are
being amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful life.
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STOUGHTON UTILITIES


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND


NET POSITION (cont.)


     Capital Assets


Capital assets are generally defined by the utilities as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than
$1,500 and an estimated useful life in excess of one year.


Capital assets of the utilities are recorded at cost or the estimated acquisition value at the time of
contribution to the utilities. Major outlays for utility plant are capitalized as projects are constructed. Capital
assets in service are depreciated or amortized using the straight-line method over the following useful
lives:


Years
Electric Plant


Transmission 33
Distribution 25 - 54
General 5 - 30


Water Plant
Source of supply 34
Pumping 23 - 31
Water treatment 30 - 31
Transmission and distribution 18 - 77
General 4 - 34


Wastewater Plant
Collecting system 100
Collecting system pumping 25 - 50
Treatment and disposal 15 - 40
General 5 - 20


Pensions


For purposes of measuring the net pension liability (asset), deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pension, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position
of the Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS) and additions to/deductions from WRS' fiduciary net position
have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by WRS. For this purpose, benefit
payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in
accordance with the benefit terms, investments are reported at fair value.


Deferred Outflow of Resources


A deferred outflow of resources represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period
and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense) until that future time.
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STOUGHTON UTILITIES


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND


NET POSITION (cont.)


Accrued Vacation and Sick Leave


Under terms of employment, employees are granted sick leave and vacations in varying amounts. Only
benefits considered to be vested are disclosed in these statements. Vested vacation and sick leave pay is
accrued when earned in the financial statements. The liability is liquidated from general operating
revenues of the utilities. 


Customer Advances for Construction


The balance represents fees collected for future capital improvements. The fees may be refundable based
on rules filed with the PSCW or statutory requirements. 


   Commitment to Community


The electric utility charges fees to all customers as required by the 1999 Energy Reliability Act and 2006
Act 141. Revenues generated from the fees are used to fund energy conservation and low-income energy
assistance ("Commitment to Community") programs. The utility is acting as an agent administering the
program so net collections and expenditures/remittances associated with the program are recorded as a
current liability on the statements of net position. 


Customer Deposits 


This account represents amounts deposited with the utilities by customers as security for payment of bills.


Accrued Liabilities


The balance represents collections of various payroll and sales taxes due to the state and federal
government.


Long-Term Obligations


Long-term debt and other obligations are reported as utility liabilities. Bond premiums and discounts, are
amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective interest method. Gains or losses on prior
refundings are amortized over the remaining life of the old debt or the life of the new debt, whichever is
shorter. The balance at year end for premiums and discounts is shown as an increase or decrease in the
liability section of the statement of net position. 


Deferred Inflows of Resources


A deferred inflow of resources represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and
therefore will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that future time.
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STOUGHTON UTILITIES


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


REVENUES AND EXPENSES


The utilities distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues
and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection
with the utility's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the utilities are charges
to customers for sales and services. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales
and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.


Charges for Services


Billings are rendered and recorded monthly based on metered usage. The utilities do accrue revenues
beyond billing dates. 


Current electric rates were approved by the PSCW on April 1, 2017. The rates are designed to provide a
5% return on rate base. 


Current water rates were approved by the PSCW effective May 1, 2016. The rates are designed to earn a
5.25% return on rate base.


Current wastewater rates were approved by the utilities committee effective January 1, 2015. 


  Capital Contributions


Cash and capital assets are contributed to the utilities from customers, the municipality, or external
parties. The value of property contributed to the utilities are reported as revenue on the statements of
revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. 


Transfers


Transfers include the payment in lieu of taxes to the municipality and other operating transfers.


EFFECT OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ON CURRENT PERIOD FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


GASB has approved GASB Statement No. 83, Certain Asset Retirement Obligations, Statement No. 84,
Fiduciary Activities, Statement No. 87, Leases, Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt,
Including Direct Borrowings and Direct Placements, Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost
Incurred before the End of a Construction Period, and Statement No. 90, Majority Equity Interests - an
amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 61. When they become effective, application of these
standards may restate portions of these financial statements. 


COMPARATIVE DATA


Certain amounts presented in the prior year data may have been reclassified in order to be consistent with
the current year's presentation. 
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STOUGHTON UTILITIES


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS


Carrying Value as of
December 31,


2018 2017 Risks


Checking or savings $ 5,655,199 $ 6,586,033 Custodial credit risk
Local government investment pool 1,030,498 1,099,120 Credit and interest rate risks
Certificates of deposit - nonnegotiable 741,907 979,216 Custodial credit risk


Certificates of deposit - negotiable 1,898,241 1,659,029


Custodial credit, credit,
concentration and interest
rate risks


State and local bonds 991,945 1,021,945


Custodial credit, credit,
concentration and interest
rate risks


U.S. agency securities - explicitly
guaranteed 247,840 375,451


Custodial credit and interest
rate risks


U.S. agency securities - implicitly
guaranteed 948,941 1,027,787


Custodial credit, credit,
concentration and interest
rate risks


Petty cash 750 750


Totals $ 11,515,321 $ 12,749,331


Deposits in each local and area bank are insured by the FDIC in the amount of $250,000 for time and
savings accounts (including NOW accounts) and $250,000 for demand deposit accounts (interest bearing
and noninterest bearing). In addition, if deposits are held in an institution outside of the state in which the
government is located, insured amounts are further limited to a total of $250,000 for the combined amount
of all deposit accounts.


Bank accounts are also insured by the State Deposit Guarantee Fund (SDGF) in the amount of $400,000.


The utilities may also maintain separate cash and investment accounts at the same financial institutions
utilized by the municipality. Federal depository insurance and the SDGF apply to all municipal accounts,
and accordingly, the amount of insured funds is not determinable for the utilities alone. Therefore,
coverage for the utilities may be reduced. Investment income on commingled investments of the entire
municipality is allocated based on average investment balances. 


$500,000 of the utilities' investments have coverage from the Securities Investor Protection Corporation
(SIPC). 


In addition, the utilities have collateral or depository insurance agreements in the amount of $6,596,256
and $5,062,722 at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.


The Wisconsin Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) is part of the State Investment Fund (SIF), and
is managed by the State of Wisconsin Investment Board. The SIF is not registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, but operates under the statutory authority of Wisconsin Chapter 25. The SIF
reports the fair value of its underlying assets annually. Participants in the LGIP have the right to withdraw
their funds in total on one day's notice. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the fair value of the LGIP's
assets were substantially equal to the utilities' share.
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STOUGHTON UTILITIES


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (cont.)


The utilities categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by
generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure
the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2
inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant  unobservable inputs. 


The utilities value the fair value measurement using the market approach.


December 31, 2018


Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total


U.S. agency securities $ - $ 1,196,781 $ - $ 1,196,781
Certificates of deposit - negotiable - 1,898,241 - 1,898,241
State and local bonds - 991,945 - 991,945


Total $ - $ 4,086,967 $ - $ 4,086,967


December 31, 2017


Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total


U.S. agency securities $ - $ 1,403,238 $ - $ 1,403,238
Certificates of deposit - negotiable - 1,659,029 - 1,659,029
State and local bonds - 1,021,945 - 1,021,945


Total $ - $ 4,084,212 $ - $ 4,084,212


The investment in ATC is measured at the net asset value (NAV) per share of ownership. As of December
31, 2018 and 2017 the fair value of the investment was $416,294 and $389,457, respectively. ATC was
formed by approximately 25 utilities to plan, construct, maintain, monitor and own electric transmission
facilities in Wisconsin. The utility elected to receive an investment in ATC at its inception rather than
directly sell its transmission facilities. The utility owns less than 1/2 of 1 percent of ATC. The utility has no
unfunded commitment at year end. The investment in ATC can only be redeemed by ATC or another
existing member. 


Custodial Credit Risk


Deposits


Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a financial institution failure, the utilities' deposits may
not be returned to the utilities.
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STOUGHTON UTILITIES


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (cont.)


Custodial Credit Risk (cont.)


Deposits (cont.)


The utilities maintain certain deposits in the same institutions as the municipality. The following is a
summary of the utilities' total deposit balances at these institutions.


2018 2017
Bank Carrying Bank Carrying


Balance Value Balance Value


Wells Fargo $ 4,700,989 $ 4,099,149 $ 5,143,549 $ 4,359,801
Wells Fargo Brokerage 928 928 928 928
Associated Bank 1,513,233 1,531,733 2,152,445 2,216,945
Wisconsin Investment Services


Cooperative 765,296 765,296 987,575 987,575


Totals $ 6,980,446 $ 6,397,106 $ 8,284,497 $ 7,565,249


The utilities' investment policy does not address this risk.


Investments


For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the
utilities will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the
possession of an outside party.


As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 the utilities' investments were exposed to custodial credit risk as
follows:


Neither Insured nor Registered and Held by Counterparty 2018 2017


U.S. agencies - implicitly guaranteed $ 948,941 $ 1,027,787
U.S. agencies - explicitly guaranteed 247,840 375,451
State and local bonds 991,945 1,021,945
Certificates of deposit - negotiable 1,898,241 1,659,029


Total Neither Insured nor Registered and Held
by Counterparty $ 4,086,967 $ 4,084,212


The utilities' investment policy does not address this risk.
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STOUGHTON UTILITIES


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (cont.)


Credit Risk


Credit risk is the risk an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.


As of December 31, 2018, the utilities' investments were rated as follows:


Investment Type
Standard &


Poors


Moody's
Investors
Services


U.S. agencies - implicitly guaranteed AAA Aaa
State and local bonds AA Aa1 - Aa-2
Certificates of deposit - negotiable AAA - BBB+ Aaa - A1


As of December 31, 2017, the utilities' investments were rated as follows:


Investment Type
Standard &


Poors


Moody's
Investors
Services


U.S. agencies - implicitly guaranteed AAA Aaa
State and local bonds AA Aa1 - Aaa
Certificates of deposit - negotiable AAA - BBB+ Aaa - A1


The utilities held investments in the Local Government Investment Pool which is an external pool that is
not rated.


The utilities' investment policy does not address this risk.


Concentration of Credit Risk


Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government's investment in a
single issuer.


At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the utilities' investment portfolio was concentrated as follows:


Percentage of Portfolio
Issuer Investment Type 2018 2017


FHLMC U.S. agencies - implicitly guaranteed 6.01% 7.45%
FHLB U.S. agencies - implicitly guaranteed 7.66% 7.57%
State of Wisconsin State and local bonds 12.54% 12.82%
Arkansas State State and local bonds 6.84% 6.90%


The utilities' investment policy does not address this risk.
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NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (cont.)


Interest Rate Risk


Interest rate risk is the risk changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment.


As of December 31, 2018, the utilities' investments were as follows:


Maturity (In Years)


Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1 - 3 3 or more


U.S. agencies - implicitly guaranteed $ 948,941 $ - $ - $ 948,941
Certificates of deposit - negotiable 1,898,241 735,620 1,162,621 -
State and local bonds 991,945 - - 991,945
U.S. agencies - explicitly guaranteed 247,840 - - 247,840


Totals $ 4,086,967 $ 735,620 $ 1,162,621 $ 2,188,726


As of December 31, 2017, the utilities' investments were as follows:


Maturity (In Years)


Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1 - 3 3 or more


U.S. agencies - implicitly guaranteed $ 1,027,787 $ - $ - $ 1,027,787
Certificates of deposit - negotiable 1,659,029 244,863 1,414,166 -
State and local bonds 1,021,945 - - 1,021,945
U.S. agencies - explicitly guaranteed 375,451 - - 375,451


Totals $ 4,084,212 $ 244,863 $ 1,414,166 $ 2,425,183


The utilities maintain certain investments commingled with the municipality. The interest rate risk
pertaining specifically to the utilities' resources cannot be determined for those accounts. Please refer to
the municipality's financial statements for information on this risk.


The utilities' investment policy does not address this risk.
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NOTE 3 - INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS


The following is a schedule of interfund balances for the years ending December 31, 2018 and 2017:


2018 2017
Due To Due From Amount Principal Purpose Amount Principal Purpose


Municipality Water  utility $ 423,351 Payment in lieu of
taxes


$ 420,305 Payment in lieu of
taxes


Municipality Water utility 1,727 Operating 26,233 Operating
Electric utility Municipality 7,274 Operating 10,182 Operating
Water utility Municipality 39,866 Operating and


special
assessments


238,930 Operating and
special
assessments


Wastewater
utility


Municipality 27,760 Operating and
special
assessments


164,633 Operating and
special
assessments


Municipality Electric utility 63,728 Stormwater 65,271 Stormwater
Municipality Electric utility 432,589 Payment in lieu of


taxes
394,626 Payment in lieu of


taxes


The following is a schedule of transfer balances for the years ending December 31, 2018 and 2017:


2018 2017
To From Amount Principal Purpose Amount Principal Purpose


Municipality Electric utility $ 27,975 Operating $ 12,698 Operating
Municipality Electric utility 432,589 Payment in lieu of


taxes
394,626 Payment in lieu of


taxes
Municipality Water utility 6,260 Operating 3,743 Operating
Municipality Water utility 423,351 Payment in lieu of


taxes
420,305 Payment in lieu of


taxes


NOTE 4 - RESTRICTED ASSETS


Restricted Accounts


Certain proceeds of the utilities' debt, as well as certain resources set aside for their repayment, are
classified as restricted assets on the statement of net position because their use is limited. The following
accounts are reported as restricted assets:


Redemption - Used to segregate resources accumulated for debt service payments 
over the next twelve months. 


Reserve - Used to report resources set aside to make up potential future 
deficiencies in the redemption account.


Depreciation - Used to report resources set aside to fund plant renewals and 
replacement or make up potential future deficiencies in the 
redemption account.
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NOTE 4 - RESTRICTED ASSETS (cont.)


Replacement Account


As a condition of receiving state and federal funds for wastewater plant construction, the utilities have
established an account for replacement of certain mechanical equipment. 


Net Pension Asset


Restricted assets have been reported in connection with the net pension asset balance since this balance
must be used to fund employee benefits.


Restricted Net Position


The following calculation supports the amount of electric restricted net position:


2018 2017
Restricted Assets


Redemption account $ 497,953 $ 503,126
Reserve account 460,722 649,338
Depreciation account 25,000 25,000
Net pension asset 210,998 -


Total Restricted Assets 1,194,673 1,177,464


Current Liabilities Payable From Restricted Assets (28,879) (31,928)


Total Restricted Net Position as Calculated $ 1,165,794 $ 1,145,536


The purpose of the restricted net position is as follows:
2018 2017


    Debt service $ 954,796 $ 1,145,536
    Pension 210,998 -
    


Total Restricted Net Position $ 1,165,794 $ 1,145,536
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NOTE 4 - RESTRICTED ASSETS (cont.)


The following calculation supports the amount of water restricted net position:


2018 2017
Restricted Assets


Redemption account $ 219,171 $ 262,397
Reserve account 252,000 244,677
Depreciation account 25,000 25,000
Net pension asset 70,127 -


Total Restricted Assets 566,298 532,074


Current Liabilities Payable From Restricted Assets (7,006) (7,615)


Total Restricted Net Position as Calculated $ 559,292 $ 524,459


The purpose of the restricted net position is as follows:
2018 2017


    Debt service $ 489,165 $ 524,459
    Pension 70,127 -


Total Restricted Net Position $ 559,292 $ 524,459


The following calculation supports the amount of wastewater restricted net position:


2018 2017
Restricted Assets


Redemption account $ 313,374 $ 333,597
Depreciation account 33,283 33,283
Replacement account 1,148,645 1,134,247
Net pension asset 72,762 -


Total Restricted Assets 1,568,064 1,501,127


Current Liabilities Payable From Restricted Assets (18,939) (20,876)


Total Restricted Net Position as Calculated $ 1,549,125 $ 1,480,251


The purpose of the restricted net position is as follows:
2018 2017


    Debt service $ 327,718 $ 346,004
    Equipment replacement 1,148,645 1,134,247
    Pension 72,762 -


Total Restricted Net Position $ 1,549,125 $ 1,480,251
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NOTE 5 - ADVANCES TO OTHER FUNDS


In December 2011, the Electric Utility provided an advance to the General Fund in the amount of $554,744
for the purpose of full payment of the Wisconsin Retirement System Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability. 
The General Fund will repay the Electric Utility over a period of fourteen years at 3.0% annual interest. 
The amount outstanding at December 31, 2018 is $296,088.


Repayment requirements to maturity follow:


Year Ending
December 31 Principal Interest Total


2019 $ 43,646 $ 8,883 $ 52,529
2020 46,007 7,573 53,580
2021 48,459 6,193 54,652
2022 51,006 4,739 55,745
2023 53,651 3,209 56,860
2024-2025 53,319 1,778 55,097


Totals $ 296,088 $ 32,375 $ 328,463


NOTE 6 - CHANGES IN CAPITAL ASSETS


Electric Utility


A summary of changes in electric capital assets for 2018 follows:


Balance Balance
1/1/18 Increases Decreases 12/31/18


Capital assets, not being depreciated
Land and land rights $ 220,797 $ 123,567 $ - $ 344,364


Capital assets being depreciated
Transmission 15,019 - - 15,019
Distribution 24,837,545 3,894,690 269,056 28,463,179
General 4,107,520 935,946 807,838 4,235,628


Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 28,960,084 4,830,636 1,076,894 32,713,826


Total Capital Assets 29,180,881 4,954,203 1,076,894 33,058,190


Less:  Accumulated depreciation
Transmission (19,366) - - (19,366)
Distribution (12,204,392) (961,439) 275,788 (12,890,043)
General (3,065,714) (210,627) 794,077 (2,482,264)


Total Accumulated
Depreciation (15,289,472) (1,172,066) 1,069,865 (15,391,673)


Construction in progress 2,358,222 - 2,149,429 208,793


Net Capital Assets $ 16,249,631 $ 17,875,310
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NOTE 6 - CHANGES IN CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.)


Electric Utility (cont.)


A summary of changes in electric capital assets for 2017 follows:


Balance Balance
1/1/17 Increases Decreases 12/31/17


Capital assets, not being depreciated
Land and land rights $ 220,797 $ - $ - $ 220,797


Capital assets being depreciated
Transmission 15,019 - - 15,019
Distribution 23,937,651 1,059,041 159,147 24,837,545
General 4,116,527 35,215 44,222 4,107,520


Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 28,069,197 1,094,256 203,369 28,960,084


Total Capital Assets 28,289,994 1,094,256 203,369 29,180,881


Less:  Accumulated depreciation
Transmission (19,366) - - (19,366)
Distribution (11,485,664) (882,648) 163,920 (12,204,392)
General (2,924,851) (154,306) 13,443 (3,065,714)


Total Accumulated
Depreciation (14,429,881) (1,036,954) 177,363 (15,289,472)


Construction in progress 189,399 2,358,222 189,399 2,358,222


Net Capital Assets $ 14,049,512 $ 16,249,631
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NOTE 6 - CHANGES IN CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.)


Water Utility


A summary of changes in water capital assets for 2018 follows:


Balance Balance
1/1/18 Increases Decreases 12/31/18


Capital assets, not being depreciated
Land and land rights $ 430,131 $ - $ - $ 430,131


Capital assets being depreciated
Source of supply 595,730 - - 595,730
Pumping 1,513,266 - - 1,513,266
Water treatment 90,763 - - 90,763
Transmission and distribution 19,477,451 851,053 87,963 20,240,541
General 846,274 - 6,084 840,190


Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 22,523,484 851,053 94,047 23,280,490


Total Capital Assets 22,953,615 851,053 94,047 23,710,621


Less:  Accumulated depreciation
Source of supply (386,989) (17,276) - (404,265)
Pumping (1,272,293) (33,113) - (1,305,406)
Water treatment (89,077) (437) - (89,514)
Transmission and distribution (4,444,314) (365,153) 93,497 (4,715,970)
General (917,490) (73,185) 6,084 (984,591)


Total Accumulated
Depreciation (7,110,163) (489,164) 99,581 (7,499,746)


Construction in progress 5,693 25,557 2,792 28,458


Net Capital Assets $ 15,849,145 $ 16,239,333
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NOTE 6 - CHANGES IN CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.)


Water Utility (cont.)


A summary of changes in water capital assets for 2017 follows:


Balance Balance
1/1/17 Increases Decreases 12/31/17


Capital assets, not being depreciated
Land and land rights $ 430,131 $ - $ - $ 430,131


Capital assets being depreciated
Source of supply 595,730 - - 595,730
Pumping 1,489,440 42,723 18,897 1,513,266
Water treatment 90,763 - - 90,763
Transmission and distribution 18,527,741 1,030,499 80,789 19,477,451
General 845,703 571 - 846,274


Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 21,549,377 1,073,793 99,686 22,523,484


Total Capital Assets 21,979,508 1,073,793 99,686 22,953,615


Less:  Accumulated depreciation
Source of supply (369,713) (17,276) - (386,989)
Pumping (1,258,488) (58,437) 44,632 (1,272,293)
Water treatment (88,640) (437) - (89,077)
Transmission and distribution (4,229,057) (349,150) 133,893 (4,444,314)
General (832,661) (92,139) 7,310 (917,490)


Total Accumulated
Depreciation (6,778,559) (517,439) 185,835 (7,110,163)


Construction in progress 80,638 5,693 80,638 5,693


Net Capital Assets $ 15,281,587 $ 15,849,145
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NOTE 6 - CHANGES IN CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.)


Wastewater Utility


A summary of changes in wastewater capital assets for 2018 follows:


Balance Balance
1/1/18 Increases Decreases 12/31/18


Capital assets being depreciated
Collecting system $ 11,807,679 $ 739,021 $ 1,206 $ 12,545,494
Collecting system pumping 733,519 25,251 7,274 751,496
Treatment and disposal 15,614,022 22,442 4,909 15,631,555
General 1,377,331 32,201 - 1,409,532


Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 29,532,551 818,915 13,389 30,338,077


Less:  Accumulated depreciation (10,994,875) (820,779) 22,552 (11,793,102)


Construction in progress 59,092 59,171 59,092 59,171


Net Capital Assets $ 18,596,768 $ 18,604,146


A summary of changes in wastewater capital assets for 2017 follows:


Balance Balance
1/1/17 Increases Decreases 12/31/17


Capital assets being depreciated
Collecting system $ 11,214,653 $ 603,049 $ 10,023 $ 11,807,679
Collecting system pumping 733,519 - - 733,519
Treatment and disposal 15,554,351 83,696 24,025 15,614,022
General 1,376,617 714 - 1,377,331


Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 28,879,140 687,459 34,048 29,532,551


Less:  Accumulated depreciation (10,250,053) (811,612) 66,790 (10,994,875)


Construction in progress 94,791 59,092 94,791 59,092


Net Capital Assets $ 18,723,878 $ 18,596,768
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NOTE 7 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS


Revenue Bonds - Electric


The following bonds have been issued:


Outstanding
Final Interest Original Amount


Date Purpose Maturity Rate Amount 12/31/18


May 3, 2016 Electric system
improvements, refund
2006 bonds


April 1, 2036 2.00 - 3.00% $ 4,005,000 $ 3,405,000


February 15,
2013


Electric system
improvements


April 1, 2023 2.00 - 2.25 3,170,000 1,625,000


Revenue bonds debt service requirements to maturity follows:


Year Ending
December 31 Principal Interest Total


2019 $ 620,000 $ 109,313 $ 729,313
2020 660,000 96,513 756,513
2021 670,000 82,813 752,813
2022 685,000 68,438 753,438
2023 690,000 53,856 743,856
2024 - 2028 585,000 203,575 788,575
2029 - 2033 670,000 118,950 788,950
2034 - 2036 450,000 20,550 470,550


Totals $ 5,030,000 $ 754,008 $ 5,784,008


All utility revenues net of specified operating expenses are pledged as security of the above revenue
bonds until the bonds are defeased. Principal and interest paid for 2018 and 2017 were $731,613 and
$775,948, respectively. Total customer gross revenues as defined for the same periods were $15,249,831
and $15,342,304. Annual principal and interest payments are expected to require 2% of gross revenues
on average. 


Revenue Bonds - Water


The following bonds have been issued:


Outstanding
Final Interest Original Amount


Date Purpose Maturity Rate Amount 12/31/18


May 3, 2016 Additions and
improvements, refund
2006 bonds


May 1, 2026 1.00 - 2.75% $ 2,520,000 $ 1,935,000


January 27,
2010


Additions and
improvements


May 1, 2029 2.668 575,018 367,332
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NOTE 7 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


Revenue Bonds - Water (cont.)


Revenue bonds debt service requirements to maturity follows:


Year Ending
December 31 Principal Interest Total


2019 $ 314,173 $ 39,867 $ 354,040
2020 339,952 35,360 375,312
2021 335,751 30,325 366,076
2022 326,571 24,994 351,565
2023 352,414 19,128 371,542
2024 - 2028 595,510 33,942 629,452
2029 37,961 506 38,467


Totals $ 2,302,332 $ 184,122 $ 2,486,454


All utility revenues net of specified operating expenses are pledged as security of the above revenue
bonds until the bonds are defeased. Principal and interest paid for 2018 and 2017 were $362,282 and
$370,217, respectively. Total customer gross revenues as defined for the same periods were $2,140,085
and $2,093,437. Annual principal and interest payments are expected to require 11% of gross revenues
on average. 


Revenue Bonds - Wastewater


The following bonds have been issued:


Outstanding
Final Interest Original Amount


Date Purpose Maturity Rate Amount 12/31/18


December
22, 1999


Wastewater interceptor May 1, 2019 3.049% $ 623,465 $ 41,324


July 12,
2000


WWTP improvements May 1, 2020 3.049 1,116,259 144,697


September
10, 2003


WWTP improvements May 1, 2023 2.766 1,670,624 509,864


June 27,
2007


WWTP improvements May 1, 2027 2.475 1,539,762 850,303


November 1,
2014


WWTP improvements May 1, 2034 2.625 3,305,713 2,774,077
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NOTE 7 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


Revenue Bonds - Wastewater (cont.)


Revenue bonds debt service requirements to maturity follows:


Year Ending
December 31 Principal Interest Total


2019 $ 436,321 $ 107,670 $ 543,991
2020 405,676 96,213 501,889
2021 340,971 86,252 427,223
2022 349,931 77,174 427,105
2023 359,126 67,858 426,984
2024 - 2028 1,251,318 231,581 1,482,899
2029 - 2033 967,844 92,272 1,060,116
2034 209,078 2,744 211,822


Totals $ 4,320,265 $ 761,764 $ 5,082,029


All utility revenues net of specified operating expenses are pledged as security of the above revenue
bonds until the bonds are defeased. Principal and interest paid for 2018 and 2017 were $544,152 and
$544,307, respectively. Total customer gross revenues as defined for the same periods were $2,085,220
and $2,084,680. Annual principal and interest payments are expected to require 15% of gross revenues
on average. 


General Obligation Debt  - Water


The following general obligation bonds have been issued:


Outstanding
Final Interest Original Amount


Date Purpose Maturity Rate Amount 12/31/18


July 9, 2015 Additions and
improvements


April 1, 2025 2.00 - 2.25% $ 522,000 $ 372,000


General obligation bonds debt service requirements to maturity follows:


Year Ending
December 31 Principal Interest Total


2019 $ 51,000 $ 7,140 $ 58,140
2020 51,000 6,120 57,120
2021 51,000 5,100 56,100
2022 54,000 4,050 58,050
2023 54,000 2,970 56,970
2024 - 2025 111,000 2,498 113,498


Totals $ 372,000 $ 27,878 $ 399,878
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NOTE 7 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


General Obligation Debt  - Wastewater


The following general obligation bonds have been issued:


Outstanding
Final Interest Original Amount


Date Purpose Maturity Rate Amount 12/31/18


July 9, 2015 Additions and
improvements


April 1, 2025 2.00 - 2.25% $ 348,000 $ 248,000


General obligation bonds debt service requirements to maturity follows:


Year Ending
December 31 Principal Interest Total


2019 $ 34,000 $ 4,760 $ 38,760
2020 34,000 4,080 38,080
2021 34,000 34,000 68,000
2022 36,000 2,700 38,700
2023 36,000 1,980 37,980
2024 - 2025 74,000 1,665 75,665


Totals $ 248,000 $ 49,185 $ 297,185


Long-Term Obligations Summary - Electric


Long-term obligation activity for the year ended December 31, 2018 is as follows:


1/1/18 12/31/18 Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year


Revenue bonds $ 5,640,000 $ - $ 610,000 $ 5,030,000 $ 620,000
Accrued sick leave 176,481 41,555 85,173 132,863 -
Customer advances


for construction 28,641 297,959 264,217 62,383 -
Unamortized premium


on bonds 108,833 - 17,281 91,552 -


Totals $ 5,953,955 $ 339,514 $ 976,671 $ 5,316,798 $ 620,000
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NOTE 7 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


Long-Term Obligations Summary - Electric (cont.)


Long-term obligation activity for the year ended December 31, 2017 is as follows:


1/1/17 12/31/17 Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year


Revenue bonds $ 6,250,000 $ - $ 610,000 $ 5,640,000 $ 610,000
Accrued sick leave 171,811 32,035 27,365 176,481 -
Customer advances


for construction 27,141 93,410 91,910 28,641 -
Unamortized premium


on bonds 131,571 - 22,738 108,833 -


Totals $ 6,580,523 $ 125,445 $ 752,013 $ 5,953,955 $ 610,000


In addition to the liabilities above, information on the net pension liability (asset) is provided in Note 9.


Long-Term Obligations Summary - Water


Long-term obligation activity for the year ended December 31, 2018 is as follows:


1/1/18 12/31/18 Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year


Revenue bonds $ 2,620,747 $ - $ 318,415 $ 2,302,332 $ 314,173
General obligation


debt 423,000 - 51,000 372,000 51,000
Accrued sick leave 99,237 15,111 38,102 76,246 -
Unamortized premium


on bonds 29,046 - 6,065 22,981 -


Totals $ 3,172,030 $ 15,111 $ 413,582 $ 2,773,559 $ 365,173


Long-term obligation activity for the year ended December 31, 2017 is as follows:


1/1/17 12/31/17 Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year


Revenue bonds $ 2,943,424 $ - $ 322,677 $ 2,620,747 $ 318,415
General obligation


debt 474,000 - 51,000 423,000 51,000
Accrued sick leave 86,587 22,612 9,962 99,237 -
Unamortized premium


on bonds 35,638 - 6,592 29,046 -


Totals $ 3,539,649 $ 22,612 $ 390,231 $ 3,172,030 $ 369,415


In addition to the liabilities above, information on the net pension liability (asset) is provided in Note 9.
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NOTE 7 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


Long-Term Obligations Summary - Wastewater


Long-term obligation activity for the year ended December 31, 2018 is as follows:


1/1/18 12/31/18 Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year


Revenue bonds $ 4,744,967 $ - $ 424,702 $ 4,320,265 $ 436,321
General obligation


debt 282,000 - 34,000 248,000 34,000
Accrued sick leave 124,633 18,889 52,184 91,338 -


Totals $ 5,151,600 $ 18,889 $ 510,886 $ 4,659,603 $ 470,321


Long-term obligation activity for the year ended December 31, 2017 is as follows:


1/1/17 12/31/17 Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year


Revenue bonds $ 5,158,363 $ - $ 413,396 $ 4,744,967 $ 424,703
General obligation


debt 316,000 - 34,000 282,000 34,000
Accrued sick leave 120,910 15,492 11,769 124,633 -


Totals $ 5,595,273 $ 15,492 $ 459,165 $ 5,151,600 $ 458,703


In addition to the liabilities above, information on the net pension liability (asset) is provided in Note 9.


Bond Covenant Disclosures


The following information is provided in compliance with the resolution creating the utilities' revenue
bonds:


Insurance


The utilities are exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to, or destruction of
assets, errors and omissions, workers compensation, and health care of its employees. These risks are
covered through the purchase of commercial insurance, with minimal deductibles. Settled claims have not
exceeded coverage in any of the last three years. There were no significant reductions in coverage
compared to the prior year.
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NOTE 7 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


Bond Covenant Disclosures (cont.)


Insurance (cont.)


The utilities are covered under the following insurance policies at December 31, 2018:


Type Coverage Expiration


Automobile $ 15,000,000 CVMIC     Self-Insured 1/1/19
Excess Liability 5,000,000 CVMIC     Self-Insured 1/1/19
Workers Compensation 5,000,000 CVMIC     Self-Insured 1/1/19


1,000,000 CVMIC     Self-Insured 1/1/19
Boiler Insurance 250,000,000 CVMIC     Self-Insured 1/1/19
Property


59,566,800


Wisconsin Local
Property Insurance
Fund 2/1/19


Debt Coverage - Electric 


Under terms of the resolutions providing for the issue of revenue bonds, revenues less operating
expenses excluding depreciation (defined net earnings) must exceed 1.3 times the highest annual debt
service of the bonds. The coverage only includes revenue debt and does not include general obligation or
other debt. The coverage requirement was met in 2018 and 2017 as follows:


2018 2017


Operating revenues $ 15,136,031 $ 15,249,623
Investment income 104,218 92,681
Less:  Operation and maintenance expenses (13,060,056) (13,257,421)


Net Defined Earnings $ 2,180,193 $ 2,084,883


Minimum Required Earnings per Resolution:
Highest annual debt service $ 756,513 $ 756,513


Coverage factor 1.30 1.30


Minimum Required Earnings $ 983,467 $ 983,467


Actual Debt Coverage 2.88 2.76
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NOTE 7 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


Bond Covenant Disclosures (cont.)


Debt Coverage - Water


Under terms of the resolutions providing for the issue of revenue bonds, revenues less operating
expenses excluding depreciation (defined net earnings) must exceed 1.3 times the highest annual debt
service of the bonds. The coverage only includes revenue debt and does not include general obligation or
other debt. The coverage requirement was met in 2018 and 2017 as follows:


2018 2017


Operating revenues $ 2,121,101 $ 2,071,229
Investment income 18,984 22,208
Less:  Operation and maintenance expenses (969,181) (1,049,770)


Net Defined Earnings $ 1,170,904 $ 1,043,667


Minimum Required Earnings per Resolution:
Highest annual debt service $ 375,312 $ 375,312


Coverage factor 1.30 1.30


Minimum Required Earnings $ 487,906 $ 487,906


Actual Debt Coverage 3.12 2.78


Debt Coverage - Wastewater


Under terms of the resolutions providing for the issue of revenue bonds, revenues less operating
expenses excluding depreciation (defined net earnings) must exceed 1.1 times the highest annual debt
service of the bonds. The coverage only includes revenue debt and does not include general obligation or
other debt. The coverage requirement was in 2018 and 2017 as follows:


2018 2017


Operating revenues $ 2,055,876 $ 2,051,313
Investment income 29,344 33,367
Less:  Operation and maintenance expenses (959,399) (1,012,657)


Net Defined Earnings $ 1,125,821 $ 1,072,023


Minimum Required Earnings per Resolution:
Highest annual debt service $ 543,992 $ 544,152


Coverage factor 1.10 1.10


Minimum Required Earnings $ 598,391 $ 598,567


Actual Debt Coverage 2.07 1.97
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NOTE 7 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


Bond Covenant Disclosures (cont.)


Number of Customers and Billed Volumes - Electric


The utility has the following number of customers and billed volumes for 2018 and 2017:


Customers Sales (000 kWh)
2018 2017 2018 2017


Residential 7,766 7,744 66,822 63,176
General 790 829 16,448 16,248
Small power 52 62 16,708 15,612
Large power 10 10 12,399 12,310
Industrial 14 6 31,702 30,905
Street and highway lighting 7 7 727 770


Totals 8,639 8,658 144,806 139,021


Number of Customers and Billed Volumes - Water


The utility has the following number of customers and billed volumes for 2018 and 2017:


Customers Sales (000 gals)
2018 2017 2018 2017


Residential 4,498 4,469 199,362 202,150
Multifamily residential 75 64 29,205 28,762
Commercial 373 375 54,232 54,306
Industrial 25 25 157,411 174,238
Public authority 38 45 4,806 4,976
Interdepartmental 6 6 404 432


Totals 5,015 4,984 445,420 464,864


Number of Customers and Billed Volumes - Wastewater


The utility has the following number of customers and billed volumes for 2018 and 2017:


Customers Sales (000 gals)
2018 2017 2018 2017


Residential 4,487 4,465 198,733 201,168
Multifamily residential 73 64 29,216 26,228
Commercial 355 358 50,705 51,364
Industrial 21 21 22,687 23,241
Public authority 29 32 4,087 3,544
Interdepartmental 1 1 68 48


Totals 4,966 4,941 305,496 305,593


63







STOUGHTON UTILITIES


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


NOTE 7 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


Bond Covenant Disclosures (cont.)


Utility Budget  


The 2018 and 2017 utility budgets were prepared and approved as required by the bond resolutions. 
  


NOTE 8 - NET POSITION 


GASB No. 34 requires the classification of net position into three components - net investment in capital
assets, restricted, and unrestricted. These classifications are defined as follows:


Net investment in capital assets - This component of net position consists of capital assets, including
restricted capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any
bonds, mortgages, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or
improvement of those assets. If there are significant unspent related debt proceeds at year-end, the
portion of the debt attributable to the unspent proceeds are not included in the calculation of net
investment in capital assets. Rather, that portion of the debt is included in the same net position
component as the unspent proceeds.


Restricted - This component of net position consists of constraints placed on net position use through
external constraints imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or
laws or regulations of other governments or constraints imposed by law through constitutional provisions
or enabling legislation.


Unrestricted net position - This component of net position consists of net positions that do not meet the
definition of "restricted" or "net investment in capital assets."


When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the utilities' policy to use
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.


The following calculation supports the electric net investment in capital assets:


2018 2017


Construction work in progress $ 208,793 $ 2,358,222
Plant in service 33,058,190 29,180,881
Accumulated depreciation (15,391,673) (15,289,472)
Property held for future use 229,097 352,664


Sub-Totals 18,104,407 16,602,295


Less:  Capital related debt
Current portion of capital related long-term debt 620,000 610,000
Long-term portion of capital related long-term debt 4,410,000 5,030,000
Unamortized debt premium 91,552 108,833


Sub-Totals 5,121,552 5,748,833


Total Net Investment in Capital Assets $ 12,982,855 $ 10,853,462
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NOTE 8 - NET POSITION (cont.) 


The following calculation supports the water net investment in capital assets:


2018 2017


Construction work in progress $ 28,458 $ 5,693
Plant in service 23,710,621 22,953,615
Accumulated depreciation (7,499,746) (7,110,163)


Sub-Totals 16,239,333 15,849,145


Less:  Capital related debt
Current portion of capital related long-term debt 365,173 369,415
Long-term portion of capital related long-term debt 2,309,159 2,674,332
Unamortized debt premium 22,981 29,046


Sub-Totals 2,697,313 3,072,793


Total Net Investment in Capital Assets $ 13,542,020 $ 12,776,352


The following calculation supports the wastewater net investment in capital assets:


2018 2017


Construction work in progress $ 59,171 $ 59,092
Plant in service 30,338,077 29,532,551
Accumulated depreciation (11,793,102) (10,994,875)


Sub-Totals 18,604,146 18,596,768


Less:  Capital related debt
Current portion of capital related long-term debt 470,321 458,703
Long-term portion of capital related long-term debt 4,097,944 4,568,264


Sub-Totals 4,568,265 5,026,967


Total Net Investment in Capital Assets $ 14,035,881 $ 13,569,801


NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM


General Information About the Pension Plan


Plan description. The WRS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan. WRS
benefits and other plan provisions are established by Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. Benefit terms
may only be modified by the legislature. The retirement system is administered by the Wisconsin
Department of Employee Trust Funds (ETF). The system provides coverage to all eligible State of
Wisconsin, local government and other public employees. All employees, initially employed by a
participating WRS employer on or after July 1, 2011, and expected to work at least 1,200 hours a year
(880 hours for teachers and school district educational support employees) and expected to be employed
for at least one year from employee’s date of hire are eligible to participate in the WRS. 


ETF issues a standalone Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR), which can be bound at http:
//etf.wi.gov/publications/cafr.htm.
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NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)


Vesting. For employees beginning participation on or after January 1, 1990, and no longer actively
employed on or after April 24, 1998, creditable service in each of five years is required for eligibility for a
retirement annuity. Participants employed prior to 1990 and on or after April 24, 1998, and prior to July 1,
2011, are immediately vested. Participants who initially became WRS eligible on or after July 1, 2011,
must have five years of creditable service to be vested. 


Benefits provided. Employees who retire at or after age 65 (54 for protective occupation employees, 62
for elected officials and State executive participants, if hired on or before 12/31/2016) are entitled to
receive an unreduced retirement benefit. The factors influencing the benefit are: (1) final average
earnings, (2) years of creditable service, and (3) a formula factor.


Final average earnings is the average of the participant's three highest years' earnings. Creditable service
is the creditable current and prior service expressed in years or decimal equivalents of partial years for
which a participant receives earnings and makes contributions as required. The formula factor is a
standard percentage based on employment category.


Employees may retire at age 55 (50 for protective occupation employees) and receive reduced benefits.
Employees terminating covered employment before becoming eligible for a retirement benefit may
withdraw their contributions and forfeit all rights to any subsequent benefits. 


The WRS also provides death and disability benefits for employees.


Post-retirement adjustments. The Employee Trust Funds Board may periodically adjust annuity
payments from the retirement system based on annual investment performance in accordance with s.
40.27, Wis. Stat. An increase (or decrease) in annuity payments may result when investment gains
(losses), together with other actuarial experience factors, create a surplus (shortfall) in the reserves, as
determined by the system’s consulting actuary. Annuity increases are not based on cost of living or other
similar factors. For Core annuities, decreases may be applied only to previously granted increases. By
law, Core annuities cannot be reduced to an amount below the original, guaranteed amount (the “floor”)
set at retirement. The Core and Variable annuity adjustments granted during recent years are as follows:


Year
Core Fund
Adjustment


Variable Fund
Adjustment


2008    6.6%    0%
2009 (2.1) (42)
2010 (1.3) 22
2011 (1.2) 11
2012 (7.0) (7)
2013 (9.6) 9
2014 4.7 25
2015 2.9 2
2016 0.5 (5)
2017 2.0 4.0
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NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)


Contributions. Required contributions are determined by an annual actuarial valuation in accordance with
Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The employee required contribution is one-half of the actuarially
determined contribution rate for general category employees, including teachers, and Executives and
Elected Officials. Starting January 1, 2016, the Executives and Elected Officials category merged into the
General Employee category. Required contributions for protective employees are the same rate as
general employees. Employers are required to contribute the remainder of the actuarially determined
contribution rate. The employer may not pay the employee required contribution unless provided for by an
existing collective bargaining agreement. 


The WRS recognized $125,190 and $114,245 in contributions from the utilities during the current and prior
reporting periods, respectively.


Contribution rates as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 are:


2018 2017
Employee Employer Employee Employer


General (including Executives and Elected Officials) 6.7% 6.7% 6.8% 6.8%
Protective with Social Security 6.7% 10.6% 6.8% 10.6%
Protective without Social Security 6.7% 14.9% 6.8% 14.9%


Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions


At December 31, 2018, the utilities reported a liability (asset) of $(353,887) for its proportionate share of
the net pension liability (asset). The net pension liability (asset) was measured as of December 31, 2017,
and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability (asset) was determined by an
actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2016 rolled forward to December 31, 2017. No material changes in
assumptions or benefit terms occurred between the actuarial valuation date and the measurement date.
The utilities’s proportion of the net pension liability (asset) was based on the utilities’s share of
contributions to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all participating employers. At December
31, 2017, the City of Stoughton’s proportion was 0.04873732%, which was an increase of 0.00168697%
from its proportion measured as of December 31, 2016.


At December 31, 2017, the utilities reported a liability (asset) of $97,094 for its proportionate share of the
net pension liability (asset). The net pension liability (asset) was measured as of December 31, 2016, and
the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability (asset) was determined by an actuarial
valuation as of December 31, 2015 rolled forward to December 31, 2016. No material changes in
assumptions or benefit terms occurred between the actuarial valuation date and the measurement date.
The utilities’s proportion of the net pension liability (asset) was based on the utilities’s share of
contributions to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all participating employers. At December
31, 2016, the City of Stoughton’s proportion was 0.04705035%, which was an increase of 0.00107361%
from its proportion measured as of December 31, 2015.


For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the utilities recognized pension expense of $36,725
and $264,772, respectively.
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NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)


At December 31, 2018, the utilities reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the following sources:


Electric Utility Water Utility Wastewater Utility
Deferred


Outflows of
Resources


Deferred
Inflows of


Resources


Deferred
Outflows of
Resources


Deferred
Inflows of


Resources


Deferred
Outflows of
Resources


Deferred
Inflows of


Resources


Differences between expected
and actual experience $ 266,733 $ 114,839 $ 89,508 $ 39,606 $ 92,947 $ 48,106


Changes in assumption 38,178 - 13,168 - 15,992 -
Net differences between project


and actual earnings on pension
plan - 307,882 - 101,986 - 92,734


Changes in proportion and
differences between employer
contributions and proportionate
share of contributions - 5,872 - 2,148 - 2,297


Employer contributions
subsequent to the
measurement date 74,563 - 25,119 - 25,773 -


Total $ 379,474 $ 428,593 $ 127,795 $ 143,740 $ 134,712 $ 143,137


At December 31, 2017, the utilities reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the following sources:


Electric Utility Water Utility Wastewater Utility
Deferred


Outflows of
Resources


Deferred
Inflows of


Resources


Deferred
Outflows of
Resources


Deferred
Inflows of


Resources


Deferred
Outflows of
Resources


Deferred
Inflows of


Resources


Differences between expected
and actual experience $ 19,644 $ 164,337 $ 7,388 $ 55,210 $ 7,809 $ 62,991


Changes in assumption 54,635 - 18,355 - 20,941 -
Net differences between project


and actual earnings on pension
plan 258,607 - 83,986 - 96,079 -


Changes in proportion and
differences between employer
contributions and proportionate
share of contributions - 5,548 - 2,061 - 2,255


Employer contributions
subsequent to the
measurement date 72,260 - 26,398 - 26,532 -


Total $ 405,146 $ 169,885 $ 136,127 $ 57,271 $ 151,361 $ 65,246
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NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)


Deferred outflows related to pension resulting from the WRS Employer’s contributions subsequent to the
measurement date reported in the tables above will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension
liability (asset) in the subsequent year. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pension will be recognized in pension expense as follows:


Electric
Utility Water Utility


Wastewater
Utility


Year Ended December 31


2019 $ 22,772 $ 7,560 $ 6,296
2020 (4,353) (1,446) (1,204)
2021 (81,504) (27,060) (22,536)
2022 (61,152) (20,303) (16,908)
2023 555 185 154
Thereafter - - -


Total $ (123,682) $ (41,064) $ (34,198)


Actuarial assumptions. The total pension liability in the actuarial valuation used in the current and prior
year was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement:


2018 2017


Actuarial valuation date December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015
Measurement date of net pension


liability (asset) December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal Entry Age Normal
Asset valuation method Fair Value Fair Value
Long-term expected rate of return 7.2% 7.2%
Discount rate 7.2% 7.2%
Salary increases


Inflation 3.2% 3.2%
Seniority/Merit 0.2% - 5.6% 0.2% - 5.6%


Mortality Wisconsin 2012 Mortality Table Wisconsin 2012 Mortality Table
Post-retirement adjustments 2.1% 2.1%


* No post-retirement adjustment is guaranteed. Actual adjustments are based on recognized investment return, actuarial experience
and other factors. 2.1% is the assumed annual adjustment based on the investment return assumption and the post-retirement
discount rate.


Actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2016 and 2015 actuarial valuations are based upon an
experience study conducted in 2015 using experience from 2012 – 2014. The total pension liability for
December 31, 2017 and 2016 are based upon a roll-forward of the liability calculated from the
December 31, 2016 and 2015 actuarial valuations, respectively. 
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NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)


Long-term expected return on plan assets. The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan
investments was determined using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected
future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are
developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected
rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation
percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real
rates of return for each major asset class as of December 31, 2018 are summarized in the following table:


Core Fund Asset Class
Current Asset
Allocation %


Long-Term
Expected


Nominal Rate
of Return %


Long-Term
Expected


Real Rate of
Return %


Global Equities    50%    8.2%    5.3%


Fixed Income 24.5 4.2 1.4


Inflation Sensitive Assets 15.5 3.8 1.0


Real Estate 8 6.5 3.6


Private Equity/Debt 8 9.4 6.5


Multi-Asset 4 6.5 3.6


Total Core Fund 110 7.3 4.4


Variable Fund Asset Class


U.S Equities 70 7.5 4.6


International Equities 30 7.8 4.9


Total Variable Fund 100 7.9 5.0


New England Pension Consultants Long-Term U.S. CPI (Inflation) Forecast: 2.75%.
Asset Allocations are managed within established ranges, target percentages may differ from actual
monthly allocations.
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NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)


The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class as of
December 31, 2017 are summarized in the following table:


Core Fund Asset Class
Current Asset
Allocation %


Long-Term
Expected


Nominal Rate
of Return %


Long-Term
Expected


Real Rate of
Return %


Global Equities    50%    8.3%    5.4%


Fixed Income 24.5 4.24 1.4


Inflation Sensitive Assets 15.5 4.3 1.5


Real Estate 8 6.5 3.6


Private Equity/Debt 7 9.4 6.5


Multi-Asset 4 6.6 3.7


Total Core Fund 110 7.4 4.5


Variable Fund Asset Class


U.S Equities 70 7.6 4.7


International Equities 30 8.5 5.6


Total Variable Fund 100 7.9 5.0


New England Pension Consultants Long-Term U.S. CPI (Inflation) Forecast: 2.75%.
Asset Allocations are managed within established ranges, target percentages may differ from actual
monthly allocations.


Single discount rate. A single discount rate of 7.20% was used to measure the total pension liability as of
December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017. This single discount rate was based on the expected rate of
return on pension plan investments of 7.20% and a long-term bond rate of 3.31% in 2018 and 3.78% in
2017. Because of the unique structure of WRS, the 7.20% expected rate of return implies that a dividend
of approximately 2.1% will always be paid. For purposes of the single discount rate, it was assumed that
the dividend would always be paid. The projection of cash flows used to determine this single discount
rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that
employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined
contribution rates and the member rate. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments (including expected
dividends) of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension
liability.
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NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)


Sensitivity of the utilities' proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) to changes in the
discount rate. The following presents the utilities’ proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset)
calculated using the discount rate of 7.20 percent, as well as what the utilities’ proportionate share of the
net pension liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower (6.20 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.20 percent) than the current rate. 


The sensitivity analysis as of December 31, 2018 follows:


1% Decrease
to Discount


Rate (6.20%)


Current
Discount Rate


(7.20%)


1% Increase
to Discount


Rate (8.20%)


Electric Utility's proportionate share of
the net position liability (asset) $ 524,169 $ (210,998) $ (754,948)


Water Utility's proportionate share of
the net position liability (asset) 187,203 (70,127) (269,624)


Wastewater Utility's proportionate
share of the net position liability
(asset) 187,203 (72,762) (269,624)


The sensitivity analysis as of December 31, 2017 follows:


1% Decrease
to Discount


Rate (6.20%)


Current
Discount Rate


(7.20%)


1% Increase
to Discount


Rate (8.20%)


Electric Utility's proportionate share of
the net position liability (asset) $ 696,552 $ 52,947 $ (442,658)


Water Utility's proportionate share of
the net position liability (asset) 280,400 21,314 (178,194)


Wastewater Utility's proportionate
share of the net position liability
(asset) 3,300,383 22,833 (190,893)


Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position
is available in separately issued financial statements available at http://etf.wi.gov/Publications/cafr.htm.


NOTE 10 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES


Long-Term Contracts - WPPI Energy


The electric utility is one of 51 WPPI Energy member municipalities located throughout the States of
Wisconsin, Iowa, and Michigan. On December 1, 1989, each initial WPPI Energy member commenced
purchasing electric service from WPPI Energy under a long-term Power Supply Contract for Participating
Members (long-term contract). Under the long-term contract, WPPI Energy is obligated to provide and
sell, and each member is obligated to take and pay for, the electric power and energy required for the
operation of each member's electric utility. 
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NOTE 10 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (cont.)


Long-Term Contracts - WPPI Energy (cont.)


The long-term contract requires all WPPI Energy members to pay for power and energy requirements
supplied or made available by WPPI Energy at rates sufficient to cover WPPI Energy's revenue
requirement including power supply costs, administrative expenses, and debt service. WPPI Energy's
subsequent year's operating budget and rates are approved annually by its Board of Directors, consisting
of representatives from each member. The members have agreed to charge rates to retail customers
sufficient to meet their WPPI Energy obligations. The long-term contract provides that all payments to
WPPI Energy constitute operating expenses of the utility payable from any operating and maintenance
fund established for that system.


Forty-nine members, representing approximately 98% of WPPI Energy's existing load, have long-term
contracts through December 31, 2055. The remaining two members have long-term contracts through
December 31, 2037.


WPPI Energy's outstanding debt service obligation to be paid by its members through their wholesale
power charges through the remainder of the long-term contract is $342 million as of December 31, 2018.


Claims and Judgments


From time to time, the utilities are party to various pending claims and legal proceedings. Although the
outcome of such matters cannot be forecasted with certainty, it is the opinion of management and the
utilities' legal counsel that the likelihood is remote that any such claims or proceedings will have a material
adverse effect on the utilities' financial position or results of operations.


NOTE 11 - RISK MANAGEMENT


Wisconsin Municipal Insurance Commission (WMIC)
 Cities and Villages Mutual Insurance Company (CVMIC)


                       
The WMIC is an intergovernmental cooperation commission created by contract under Section 66.30 of
the Wisconsin Statutes. It was created in August, 1987 for the purpose of facilitating the organization,
establishment, and capitalization of the CVMIC, and has numerous municipalities as members.


The CVMIC is a municipal mutual insurance company established on September 14, 1987 under Section
611.23 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The CVMIC provides liability insurance coverage to the municipalities
which make up the membership of the WMIC.


The CVMIC is self-insured up to a maximum of $2,000,000 of each insurance risk. Losses paid by CVMIC
plus administrative expenses will be recovered through premiums to the participating pool of
municipalities. The municipality's share of such losses is approximately 1%.


Management of each organization consists of a board of directors or officers comprised of representatives
elected by each of three classes of participants based on population. The municipality does not exercise
any control over the activities of the agencies beyond the election of the officers and board.


Financial statements of WMIC and CVMIC can be obtained directly from CVMIC's offices. 
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NOTE 11 - RISK MANAGEMENT (cont.)


Wisconsin Municipal Insurance Commission (WMIC)
 Cities and Villages Mutual Insurance Company (CVMIC) (cont.)


The municipality shows the general obligation bond that it owes to WMIC in the insurance internal service
fund (governmental activities column of government-wide statement of net position). The transactions of
the organization are not included in these financial statements.
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See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to the required supplementary information.
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Proportionate


Utilities' Share of the Net Plan Fiduciary


Proportion Proportionate Pension Liability (Asset) Net Position


of the Net Share of the as a Percentage as a Percentage


Fiscal Pension Liability Net Pension Covered of Covered of the Total Pension


Year Ending (Asset) - City Liability (Asset) Payroll Payroll Liability (Asset)


12/31/18 0.04873732% (353,887)$           1,841,029$     19.22% 102.93%


12/31/17 0.04705035% 97,094                1,730,985       5.61% 99.12%


12/31/16 0.04597674% 180,579              1,643,602       10.99% 98.20%


12/31/15 0.04486493% (265,441)             1,372,152       19.34% 102.74%


Contributions in


Relation to the Contributions


Contractually Contractually Contribution as a Percentage


Fiscal Required Required Deficiency Covered of Covered


Year Ending Contributions Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll


12/31/18 125,455$           125,455$            -$                    1,872,463$                      6.70%


12/31/17 125,190             125,190              -                      1,841,029                        6.80%


12/31/16 114,245             114,245              -                      1,730,985                        6.60%


12/31/15 111,938             111,938              -                      1,643,602                        6.81%


For the Year Ended December 31, 2017


SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY (ASSET) - 


SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS - WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM


For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


The required supplementary information presented below represents the proportionate information for the 


enterprise funds included in this report.







See independent auditors’ report. 
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NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 


For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 
 


 
 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
 
The amounts determined for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end that occurred 
within the fiscal year. 
 
The Utilities’ are required to present the last ten fiscal years of data; however accounting standards allow 
the presentation of as many years as are available until ten fiscal years are presented. 
 
Changes in benefit terms. There were no changes of benefit terms for any participating employer in the 
Wisconsin Retirement System. 
 
Changes in Assumptions. There were no changes in assumptions. 
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ELECTRIC UTILITY 







STOUGHTON ELECTRIC UTILITY


ELECTRIC UTILITY PLANT
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


Balance Balance
1/1/18 Additions Retirements 12/31/18


TRANSMISSION
Land and land rights $ 1 $ - $ - $ 1
Poles and fixtures 5,035 - - 5,035
Overhead conductors and devices 9,984 - - 9,984


Total Transmission 15,020 - - 15,020


DISTRIBUTION
Land and land rights 220,796 123,567 - 344,363
Structures and improvements 52,834 - - 52,834
Station equipment 4,338,870 2,656,986 77,816 6,918,040
Poles, towers and fixtures 3,422,890 106,794 43,700 3,485,984
Overhead conductors and devices 5,935,993 80,058 91,478 5,924,573
Underground conduit 625,097 174,482 1,234 798,345
Underground conductors and devices 4,057,204 681,442 17,492 4,721,154
Line transformers 3,249,702 55,659 4,421 3,300,940
Services 1,878,979 56,349 5,182 1,930,146
Meters 686,577 20,538 1,339 705,776
Street lighting and signal systems 589,398 62,383 26,394 625,387


Total Distribution 25,058,340 4,018,258 269,056 28,807,542


GENERAL
Structures and improvements 1,656,659 - - 1,656,659
Office furniture and equipment 216,970 - - 216,970
Computer equipment 191,677 - - 191,677
Transportation equipment 284,408 85,474 30,268 339,614
Stores equipment 9,984 - - 9,984
Tools, shop and garage equipment 87,537 - - 87,537
Laboratory equipment 60,822 - - 60,822
Power-operated equipment 1,222,899 463,761 498,117 1,188,543
Communication equipment 371,575 386,710 279,453 478,832
Miscellaneous equipment 4,990 - - 4,990


Total General 4,107,521 935,945 807,838 4,235,628


TOTAL ELECTRIC UTILITY PLANT $29,180,881 $ 4,954,203 $ 1,076,894 $33,058,190
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STOUGHTON ELECTRIC UTILITY


ELECTRIC UTILITY OPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


2018 2017
OPERATING REVENUES


Sales of Electricity
Residential $ 5,214,477 $ 5,156,589
Rural 2,810,526 2,804,789
General service 1,586,188 1,523,131
Large commercial and industrial 1,350,865 1,445,786
Large power 1,101,792 1,107,643
Industrial 2,657,141 2,766,795
Public street and highway lighting 112,941 123,726
Interdepartmental 162,099 178,127


Total Sales of Electricity 14,996,029 15,106,586
Other Operating Revenues


Forfeited discounts 32,444 32,924
Other 107,558 110,113


Total Operating Revenues 15,136,031 15,249,623


OPERATING EXPENSES
Operation and Maintenance


Other Power Supply
Purchased power 11,288,599 11,501,767


Transmission
Operation supervision and engineering 4,794 16,411
Station 44,591 37,670
Overhead lines 44,055 29,364
Underground lines 41,565 30,125


Total Transmission 135,005 113,570
Distribution


Street lighting and signal system 179 -
Meter 7,672 5,577
Miscellaneous 98,322 53,084
Maintenance


Supervision and engineering 3,884 482
Station equipment 25,793 20,544
Overhead lines 184,254 316,183
Underground lines 121,539 75,818
Line transformers 7,331 5,557
Street lighting and signal system 3,852 7,034
Meters 26,577 39,647
     Total Distribution 479,403 523,926


Customer Accounts
Meter reading 4,813 4,627
Customer records and collection 262,305 246,712
Miscellaneous 7,608 8,085


Total Customer Accounts 274,726 259,424
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STOUGHTON ELECTRIC UTILITY


ELECTRIC UTILITY OPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES (cont.)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


2018 2017
OPERATING EXPENSES (cont.)


Operation and Maintenance (cont.)
Administrative and General


Salaries $ 296,197 $ 243,000
Office supplies 54,982 49,340
Outside services employed 33,944 23,734
Property insurance 31,022 31,228
Injuries and damages 36,159 37,740
Employee pensions and benefits 178,432 226,038
Regulatory commission 20 4,887
Miscellaneous 47 1,392
Rents 13,179 11,674
Maintenance 61,972 56,484


Total Administrative and General 705,954 685,517
Taxes 176,369 173,217


Total Operation and Maintenance 13,060,056 13,257,421
Depreciation 1,108,163 1,019,024


Total Operating Expenses 14,168,219 14,276,445


OPERATING INCOME $ 967,812 $ 973,178
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STOUGHTON ELECTRIC UTILITY


RATE OF RETURN - REGULATORY BASIS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


Electric
2018 2017


Utility Financed Plant in Service
Beginning of year $ 25,749,349 $ 24,962,668
End of year 29,363,406 25,749,349


Average 27,556,378 25,356,009


Utility Financed Accumulated Depreciation
Beginning of year (13,559,734) (12,808,857)
End of year (13,549,140) (13,559,734)


Average (13,554,437) (13,184,296)


Materials and Supplies
Beginning of year 153,499 163,294
End of year 206,300 153,499


Average 179,900 158,397


Regulatory Liability
Beginning of year (132,964) (155,124)
End of year (110,804) (132,964)


Average (121,884) (144,044)


Customer Advances for Construction
Beginning of year (28,641) (27,141)
End of year (62,383) (28,641)


Average (45,512) (27,891)


AVERAGE NET RATE BASE $ 14,014,445 $ 12,158,175


OPERATING INCOME - REGULATORY BASIS $ 709,336 $ 785,048


RATE OF RETURN (PERCENT) 5.06 6.46


This schedule is computed based on Public Service Commission of Wisconsin regulatory accounting
which differs from accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America due to GASB
No. 34 as well as PSC order 05-US-105.
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STOUGHTON WATER UTILITY


WATER UTILITY PLANT
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


Balance Balance
1/1/18 Additions Retirements 12/31/18


SOURCE OF SUPPLY
Land and land rights $ 11,635 $ - $ - $ 11,635
Wells and springs 595,730 - - 595,730


Total Source of Supply 607,365 - - 607,365


PUMPING
Structures and improvements 644,611 - - 644,611
Other power production equipment 283,758 - - 283,758
Electric pumping equipment 584,896 - - 584,896


Total Pumping 1,513,265 - - 1,513,265


WATER TREATMENT
Structures and improvements 13,671 - - 13,671
Water treatment equipment 77,092 - - 77,092


Total Water Treatment 90,763 - - 90,763


TRANSMISSION AND DISTRIBUTION
Land and land rights 13,206 - - 13,206
Structures and improvements 1,611 - - 1,611
Distribution reservoirs and standpipes 1,955,851 - - 1,955,851
Transmission and distribution mains 12,356,802 464,527 22,101 12,799,228
Services 2,804,798 194,179 6,456 2,992,521
Meters 812,933 69,620 57,238 825,315
Hydrants 1,550,054 115,788 2,168 1,663,674
Other transmission and distribution plant 4,861 6,939 - 11,800


Total Transmission and Distribution 19,500,116 851,053 87,963 20,263,206


GENERAL
Structures and improvements 412,821 - - 412,821
Office furniture and equipment 63,068 - - 63,068
Computer equipment 55,313 - - 55,313
Transportation equipment 63,006 - 6,084 56,922
Stores equipment 2,187 - - 2,187
Tools, shop and garage equipment 47,309 - - 47,309
Power-operated equipment 102,034 - - 102,034
Communication equipment 37,858 - - 37,858
SCADA equipment 458,421 - - 458,421
Miscellaneous equipment 89 - - 89


Total General 1,242,106 - 6,084 1,236,022


TOTAL WATER UTILITY PLANT $22,953,615 $ 851,053 $ 94,047 $23,710,621


81







STOUGHTON WATER UTILITY


WATER UTILITY OPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


2018 2017
OPERATING REVENUES


Sales of Water
Unmetered $ 1,153 $ -
Metered


Residential 932,753 899,421
Multifamily residential 83,239 74,247
Commercial 173,345 168,601
Industrial 283,369 301,957
Public authorities 21,093 19,310
Interdepartmental 1,798 1,779


Total Metered Sales 1,495,597 1,465,315
Private fire protection 46,711 43,901
Public fire protection 530,529 520,495


Total Sales of Water 2,073,990 2,029,711
Other Operating Revenues


Forfeited discounts 6,597 6,422
Other 40,514 35,096


Total Operating Revenues 2,121,101 2,071,229


OPERATING EXPENSES
Operation and Maintenance


Source of Supply
Maintenance


Wells and springs 138 138
Pumping


Fuel or purchased power for pumping 127,767 135,189
Pumping labor 6,407 2,899
Miscellaneous 214 1,501
Maintenance


Structures and improvements 24,446 24,319
Pumping equipment 12,688 32,733
     Total Pumping 171,522 196,641


Water Treatment
Chemicals 20,249 16,159
Operation labor 61,232 53,737
Maintenance


Structures and improvements 1,044 925
Water treatment equipment 7,711 2,538


     Total Water Treatment 90,236 73,359
Transmission and Distribution


Transmission and distribution lines 13,208 13,769
Meters 27,859 40,099
Customer installations 20,092 -
Miscellaneous 24,720 41,519
Maintenance


Reservoirs and standpipes 46,632 46,829
Mains 64,842 58,419
Services 32,223 35,154
Meters - 1,160
Hydrants 4,902 30,842
Miscellaneous 4,242 2,348
     Total Transmission and Distribution 238,720 270,139
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STOUGHTON WATER UTILITY


WATER UTILITY OPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES (cont.)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


2018 2017
OPERATING EXPENSES (cont.)


Operation and Maintenance (cont.)
Customer Accounts


Meter reading $ 12,934 $ 13,821
Accounting and collecting labor 91,054 94,299


Total Customer Accounts 103,988 108,120
Administrative and General


Salaries 131,177 152,912
Office supplies 15,576 14,259
Outside services employed 42,240 30,927
Property insurance 11,281 11,355
Injuries and damages 13,234 12,540
Employee pensions and benefits 110,951 144,595
Regulatory commission 5,498 -
Miscellaneous 328 319
Rents 5,173 4,245
Maintenance 6,887 8,017


Total Administrative and General 342,345 379,169
Taxes 22,232 22,204


Total Operation and Maintenance 969,181 1,049,770
Depreciation 460,342 444,601


Total Operating Expenses 1,429,523 1,494,371


OPERATING INCOME $ 691,578 $ 576,858
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STOUGHTON WATER UTILITY


RATE OF RETURN - REGULATORY BASIS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


Water
2018 2017


Utility Financed Plant in Service
Beginning of year $ 15,364,439 $ 14,600,959
End of year 15,748,034 15,364,439


Average 15,556,237 14,982,699


Utility Financed Accumulated Depreciation
Beginning of year (5,000,572) (4,786,327)
End of year (5,273,155) (5,000,572)


Average (5,136,864) (4,893,450)


Materials and Supplies
Beginning of year 41,401 34,812
End of year 39,203 41,401


Average 40,302 38,107


Regulatory Liability
Beginning of year (205,372) (239,600)
End of year (171,144) (205,372)


Average (188,258) (222,486)


AVERAGE NET RATE BASE $ 10,271,417 $ 9,904,870


OPERATING INCOME - REGULATORY BASIS $ 401,277 $ 320,157


RATE OF RETURN (PERCENT) 3.91 3.23


This schedule is computed based on Public Service Commission of Wisconsin regulatory accounting
which differs from accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America due to GASB
No. 34 as well as PSC order 05-US-105.
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STOUGHTON WASTEWATER UTILITY


WASTEWATER UTILITY PLANT
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


Balance Balance
1/1/18 Additions Retirements 12/31/18


COLLECTING SYSTEM
Land and land rights $ 100 $ - $ - $ 100
Collecting mains 9,894,550 739,021 1,206 10,632,365
Interceptor mains 1,864,084 - - 1,864,084
Force mains 48,951 - - 48,951


Total Collecting System 11,807,685 739,021 1,206 12,545,500


COLLECTING SYSTEM PUMPING
Structures and improvements 106,238 3,326 - 109,564
Electric pumping equipment 605,881 21,925 7,274 620,532
Other power pumping equipment 21,399 - - 21,399


Total Collecting System Pumping 733,518 25,251 7,274 751,495


TREATMENT AND DISPOSAL
Structures and improvements 5,364,072 - - 5,364,072
Preliminary treatment equipment 1,576,893 - - 1,576,893
Primary treatment equipment 1,150,534 - - 1,150,534
Secondary treatment equipment 529,291 - - 529,291
Advanced treatment equipment 1,930,493 - - 1,930,493
Chlorination equipment 366,162 - - 366,162
Sludge treatment and disposal equipment 3,928,291 22,442 4,909 3,945,824
Plant site piping 690,433 - - 690,433
Flow metering and monitoring equipment 39,033 - - 39,033
Other treatment and disposal equipment 38,818 - - 38,818


Total Treatment and Disposal 15,614,020 22,442 4,909 15,631,553


GENERAL
Structures and improvements 241,646 3,511 - 245,157
Office furniture and equipment 65,614 - - 65,614
Computer equipment 118,386 - - 118,386
Transportation equipment 427,383 - - 427,383
Communication equipment 433,162 26,340 - 459,502
Other general equipment 91,137 2,350 - 93,487


Total General 1,377,328 32,201 - 1,409,529


TOTAL WASTEWATER UTILITY PLANT $29,532,551 $ 818,915 $ 13,389 $30,338,077
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STOUGHTON WASTEWATER UTILITY


WASTEWATER UTILITY OPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017


2018 2017
OPERATING REVENUES


Wastewater Revenues
Residential $ 1,374,695 $ 1,386,580
Commercial 452,154 440,709
Industrial 116,712 121,253
Public authorities 26,929 23,360
Interdepartmental sales 605 506


Total Wastewater Revenues 1,971,095 1,972,408
Other Operating Revenues


Forfeited discounts 4,375 4,499
Miscellaneous 80,406 74,406


Total Operating Revenues 2,055,876 2,051,313


OPERATING EXPENSES
Operation and Maintenance


Operation
Supervision and labor 3,932 149
Power and fuel for pumping 86,783 91,128
Sludge conditioning chemicals 11,175 10,282
Other operating supplies 21,231 33,078


Total Operation 123,121 134,637
Maintenance


Collection system 106,848 96,325
Treatment and disposal plant equipment 122,944 119,171
General plant structures and equipment 71,404 71,232


Total Maintenance 301,196 286,728
Customer Accounts


Accounting and collecting 136,056 146,128
Administrative and General


Salaries 90,105 103,114
Office supplies 31,033 35,383
Outside services employed 24,894 22,584
Insurance 27,712 29,198
Employees pensions and benefits 107,944 140,696
Miscellaneous 19,583 19,300
Rents 68,282 65,214


Total Administrative and General 369,553 415,489
Taxes 29,473 29,675


Total Operation and Maintenance 959,399 1,012,657
Depreciation 820,778 811,239


Total Operating Expenses 1,780,177 1,823,896


OPERATING INCOME $ 275,699 $ 227,417
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City of Stoughton 
Notice of Public Hearing on Comprehensive Plan Amendment 


 
 
Notice is hereby given that the City of Stoughton Common Council will hold a public hearing on 
Tuesday, May 28, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. at the Public Safety Building, Second Floor, 321 S. Fourth 
Street, Stoughton, Wisconsin, 53589. 
 
The public hearing will be held to gather public input related to an amendment to the City of 
Stoughton Comprehensive Plan for the Kettle Park West development area. The Comprehensive 
Plan is a blueprint for the short-range and long-range growth, redevelopment, and preservation of 
the City and will be used by City officials as a policy guide to help make decisions regarding the 
growth and development of the City. The proposal is to amend the City’s existing Comprehensive 
Plan to modify the street and land uses within the Kettle Park West development. 
 
Material can be found on the City’s website http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us under the 
Department of Planning & Development and at the City Planning office located at 207 S. Forrest 
Street. 
 
Written comments on the draft Comprehensive Plan should be submitted to Michael Stacey, Zoning 
Administrator/Assistant Planner at 207 S. Forrest St. Stoughton, WI 53589 or via email to 
mstacey@ci.stoughton.wi.us. All written or electronic comments will be forwarded to the City of 
Stoughton City Council members for their consideration. 
 
Dated this 13th day of May, 2019.   
 


Holly Licht, City Clerk 
 
Publish: 05/16/19 and 05/23/19 
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Rodney,  
 
Here is a brief outline of some of the topics that were brought up during the conversations at the April 
22nd Public Informational Meeting that we feel are germane to the discussion of the Comprehensive Plan 
Amendment relating to the next phase of Kettle Park West.  FDG is continuing to review and expand on 
these topics and is preparing to present information at Monday’s Plan Commission Meeting.   While 
these are all important topics, please remember and recognizing that at the Comprehensive Plan “Level” 
much of the discussion will be more general framework in nature (vision, policy, initiatives, and general 
strategy objectives) and that specific design details will be prepared and reviewed during the zoning and 
land division steps in the development process. 
 


1. The timing and scope of Oak Opening Drive improvements both at the future STH 138 
intersection and as incorporated with the WDOT improvement of the Roby Road x USH 51 
round-about project.   


2. Details and the past years performance of the storm water management system:  CARPCs 
mandated management of the wetland habitat including: periodic inundation, pump down 
timing, max flood elevations, and the general strategy of how system overflow pumping into the 
Jackson Street storm sewer will be coordinated within the City’s storm sewer system. 


3. Character envisioned for the residential neighborhood:  setbacks, bulk requirements, Covenants 
and Restrictions, architectural elements and design. 


4. Design of the street and alley network: City standards, assurance for emergency vehicle 
circulation. 


5. General grading of the site and FDGs strategy for the overall development sequence as KPW 
moves forward. 


6. Parkland dedication and general recreational and open space amenities to be the subject of 
future planning and construction by the City.    


7. Refinement of the general neighborhood land use plan map. 
 
If there are any items that you and the plan commission have identified please forward them to me so 
that we can be prepared to have a meaningful conversation.  Also, please send along any additional 
public comments that the City has received. 
 
Dennis Steinkraus and I are looking forward to Monday’s continued conversation on the KPW Phase 2 
Comprehensive Plan amendment. 
 
Regards, 
 
 
Jim Bricker, AICP 
Senior Planner 
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KETTLE PARK WEST – PHASE II
PLAN DEVELOPMENT AND TIMELINE


2009 – 2011


2011 – 2016


2016 – 2019


• Concept Refinement


• Westside Neighborhood Plan


• Urban Service Area Amendment


• Annexation


• KPW Commercial Center (Series of CSM’s)


• KPW Preliminary Plat


• KPW Final Plat (Senior Housing Lot & Hotel Lot)


• Concept Refinement for Phase II


• Expand Housing Opportunities


• Modify Park Facilities


• Expand Stormwater Management Facilities











Current Plan Proposed Refinement


Single Family 10.3 Acres 31.7 Acres


Conventional (SR-4, SR-5) 42 Units 71 Units


Smaller Lots with Alley (SR-6, PDD) - 81 Units


Low Density Multi-Family 14.6 Acres 6.9 Acres


Duplexes, Townhouses (TR-6, MR-10) 98 Units 43 Units


High Density Multi-Family 14.7 Acres 5.0 Acres


Apartments (MR-24) 231 Units -


Senior Housing 123 Units 100 Units


Total: 39.6 Acres 43.7 Acres


494 Units 295 Units


Comparison of Forecast Housing Units























Public Participation Plan  
Amendment of the City of Stoughton Comprehensive Plan  


and Westside Neighborhood Plan pertaining to the Kettle Park West Neighborhood  


 


SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION  
The City of Stoughton acknowledges that land planning and development is a dynamic process. In 


order to maintain currency with overall general goals, policies and objectives of the adopted 


Comprehensive Plan, adopted sub-area plans pertaining to specific locations in the community may 


need to be created, amended or revised more frequently than the statutory decennial update. A key 


component of the state’s planning legislation is to assure that communities establish opportunities for 


local residents and community stakeholders to engage in community-wide comprehensive planning 


and sub-area planning processes. The City believes public participation will assure that resulting land 


use plans and development guidelines compliment and reflect the community’s vision, goals, and 


values.  


 


SECTION 2: PURPOSE  
Based on Section 66.1001(4)(a), Wisconsin Statutes, the purpose of this Public Participation Plan is 


to outline a procedure and framework for the plan amendment process: to foster opportunities for 


public discussion and communication; to disseminate information; and to engage with the Plan 


Commission and Common Council to evaluate and implement proposed plan amendments.  


 


SECTION 3: CONTEXT  
Planning of the Kettle Park West development started in 2009 and, after extensive public discussion, 


was approved in 2011. Initial phases of the project were implemented between 2011 and 2016 


through the adoption of the Westside Neighborhood Plan (subsequently incorporated into the City 


Comprehensive Plan), amendment of the Stoughton Urban Service Area, annexation, land divisions 


and construction of infrastructure to create the Kettle Park West Commercial Center, and the 


adoption of the Kettle Park West Preliminary Plat in 2016.  


 


In response to dynamic market and economic conditions, the 2017 update to the City Comprehensive 


Plan, and collaborative discussions with City leaders, Forward Development Group LLC (FDG), has 


formulated conceptual revisions to the Westside Neighborhood Plan to address land uses, park land 


dedications, and infrastructure improvements to maintain the viability of the KPW development as it 


progresses into the next phase of implementation. Since the City’s Comprehensive Plan incorporated 


the original vision of KPW as part of the Westside Neighborhood Plan, it is necessary for the City to 


consider and adopt amendments to the Comprehensive Plan to establish consistency between the plan 


and development entitlements (zoning and land division) that will be required for continued 


development of the KPW area.  


 


SECTION 4: APPROVED COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  
Since the City’s Comprehensive Plan incorporated the original vision of KPW as part of the Westside 


Neighborhood Plan, it is necessary for the City to consider and adopt amendments to the 


Comprehensive Plan to establish consistency between the plan and development entitlements (zoning 


and land division) that will be required for continued development of the KPW area. 


 


In 2017 City leaders and Forward Development Group (FDG) began preliminary discussions to 


identify conceptual revisions to the Westside Neighborhood Plan intended to maintain the viability of 


the KPW development as it progresses into the next phase of implementation.  These discussions 







considered the effects of dynamic market and economic conditions, the directives and initiatives 


articulated in the 2017 update to the City Comprehensive Plan, a desire by the City to reduce the 


amount of potential public investment in Tax Increment Financing, and negotiations between the 


City of Stoughton, FDG, Wisconsin Department of Transportation and the Town of Rutland 


pertaining to public street access to State Highway 138, and the interconnection of Oak Opening 


Drive with Deer Point Road, and improvements to the Roby Road and US Highway 51 intersection.  


 


These collaborative discussions outlined the following potential amendments to the Comprehensive 


Plan for consideration:   


 


 Modify the Future Land Use Map to reduce the land area designated for higher density multi-


unit residences in favor of more single family detached housing.  The original plan included 


four large multi-unit buildings.  Providing opportunity for more single family housing is 


more consistent with the 2017 Comprehensive Plan initiative to achieve new residential 


neighborhoods that are predominantly single family homes (minimum of 65% of units).  The 


reduction in total residential units also reduces the demand for parkland.  Conceptual land 


plan scenarios have been reviewed and discussed by the Planning Commission on December 


10, 2018, February 11, 2019 and the Public Participation Plan was discussed on March 11, 


2019.  


 Modify the Future Land Use Map to change the location of the neighborhood park serving 


this area of the City to better serve potential residential neighborhoods that could develop to 


the west of KPW in the future.  The Park & Recreation Committee reviewed and identified 


preferred locations and configurations for KPW park site alternatives December 18, 2018 and 


January 15, 2019.   


 


(Note: Concurrently with the proposed Comprehensive Plan Amendment, FDG has proposed 


rezoning and subdivision to implement a portion of the KPW development that is consistent with the 


existing Comprehensive Plan, satisfies the approval conditions for the Kettle Park West plat, and 


complies with City public works and utility plans and standards. This proposal will create single 


family lots and install street and utility infrastructure supporting the senior housing project (currently 


under construction) and improvements to the street network interconnecting with the Town of 


Rutland and Wis DOT facilities.) 


 


Discussions about updating the Neighborhood plan began in 2017 during negotiations with the DOT 


and Town of Rutland for the Highway 138 access. The original plan included four 65-multi-unit 


complexes. 


 


Based on feedback from the City Council to reduce the potential TIF request and provide more single 


family housing, it was requested to modify portions of the Plan.  This change is a contributing factor 


in the need for the Comprehensive Plan Amendment. The change resulted in less parkland dedication 


which created more lots for the developer to sell, thus a reduced TIF request. The new conceptual 


plan was reviewed by the Planning Commission on December 10, 2018, February 11, 2019 and the 


Public Participation Plan was discussed on March 11, 2019. Staff recommendations were included in 


the discussion. 


 


The Park & Recreation Committee reviewed the new park proposal on December 18, 2018 and 


January 15, 2019. Based on input from the Park & Recreation Committee, the location of the park 







was moved. This change is a contributing factor in the need for the Comprehensive Plan 


Amendment. 


 


Staff also met with Stoughton Utilities regarding easements necessary for installation of public 


improvements. It was suggested Street B and Street C be extended. 


 


Currently if the conditions of the original approval are met, FDG could extend Jackson St. and 


construct Oak Opening to the north of Street A and begin construction on some of the lots north of 


Street A. As mentioned earlier, the Comprehensive Plan Amendment would relocate the park, 


modify street layout and change the zoning on the multi-family land use to single family. The 


amendment to the Plan will help facilitate the parkland dedication associated with Kettle Park Senior 


Living which is anticipated to open in the fall of 2019. 


 


SECTION 5: POLICY GUIDELINES and PROCESS FOR PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
To foster public engagement in the planning process, the following guidelines will be followed by 


the City:  


 The City of Stoughton Plan Commission will provide policy guidance during the preparation 


of the Comprehensive Plan Amendment. The Plan Commission and Common Council will 


meet multiple times during the course of the amendment process and will provide an 


opportunity for public comment at each meeting.  


 All Plan Commission meetings are open to the public and will be publicized in advance in 


accordance with statutory notice requirements. 


 City staff will prepare and disseminate information to the public on the proposed amendment 


by posting documents on the City’s website (www.ci.stoughton.wi.us). Complete printed 


copies and updates throughout the process will be made available for public inspection 


during regular business hours at the Stoughton Public Library.  Social Media posts will 


provide updates as soon as the Social Media policy is implemented. Updates will be shared 


with the Stoughton Courier Hub. 


 The Plan Commission will conduct a public event before the Public Hearing to provide an 


opportunity for interested individuals and organizations to obtain information, interact, and 


provide comment regarding the proposed amendment. The Plan Commission will maintain a 


summary of inquiries and communications received.  


 The Plan Commission will review public comments from the public event and the proposed 


amendment and at their discretion, consider adoption and/or incorporate public comments 


into the plan amendment. The Plan Commission will recommend the Common Council 


conduct a public hearing and consider adoption of the plan amendment as approved by the 


Plan Commission.  


 The Common Council, following a public hearing, announced by a Class 1 notice in the 


City’s Official Newspaper of record, published at least 30-days prior to the public hearing, 


may consider adoption or denial of the plan amendment.  


 


 


 


 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/
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Anticipated Dates: 


Plan Commission Special Meeting / Public Event: April 22, 2019 – Meeting starts with 


Presentation at 6:00 pm 


 Introduce Comprehensive Plan Amendment & Seek Input 


 


Plan Commission Regular Meeting: May 6, 2019 – 6:00 pm 


 Public Comment Period for Comprehensive Plan Amendment 


 Discuss Comments from Public Event 


 


Regular Council: May 28, 2019 – Joint Plan Commission & Council Item 


 Public Hearing on Proposed Plan Amendment 


 


Plan Commission Regular Meeting: June 10, 2019 – 6:00 pm 


 Public Comment Period for Comprehensive Plan Amendment 


 Consider Adoption of Plan Amendment & Recommendation to Council 


 


Common Council: June 11, 2019.   


 Public Comment Period 


 Council accepts proposed plan amendment as the “Public Hearing Draft of the 


Proposed Plan Amendment” and schedules a public hearing per Wis. Statutes.  Public 


Hearing set for July 23, 2019 (Hearing notice published June 20, 2019 


 


Common Council: June 25, 2019 and July 9, 2019 


 Public Comment Period 


 


Common Council: July 23, 2019  


 Public Hearing on Proposed Plan Amendment 


 First Reading of Ordinance on Proposed Plan Amendment 


 


Common Council: August 13, 2019 


 Public Comment Period 


 Second Reading and Adoption of Ordinance on Proposed Plan Amendment 


 


Comp Plan Amendment Effective Date: August 22, 2019 (after publication) 
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TENTATIVE 2020 BUDGET SCHEDULE 


 


CIP 


05/6/19   Worksheets and Instructions Distributed 


06/14/19   Due Date-Worksheets saved to T: Drive 


06/27/19   First CIP/Budget Committee meeting – 6:00 p.m. 


07/25/19   Second CIP/Budget Committee meeting – 6:00 p.m. 


08/27/19   CIP Approved by Council 


BUDGET 


05/6/19   Budget Worksheets and Instructions Distributed 


07/12/19   Budget Worksheets Due 


September   Dept. Meetings with Mayor & Finance 


October 3, 16, 24  Council Budget workshops (Time TBD) 


10/18/19   Public Hearing Notice for Budget Published 


11/12/19   Adopt Budget 


CIP/Budget Committee 


As of 5/23/2019: 
Council President Tom Majewski 
Finance   Brett Schumacher 
Public Works  TBD 
Public Safety  Greg Jenson 
Personnel  TBD  
CA/CP   Jean Ligocki 
Parks & Rec.  Regina Hirsch 








City of Stoughton, 207 S Forrest Street, Stoughton WI  53589 


 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to enter into an agreement with Archive Social for 


social media archiving services 


 
Committee Action: 


 
Finance Approved 5-0 on May 14, 2019 


 
Fiscal Impact:  An amount not to exceed $6,000 from the contingency fund  


 
File Number: 


 
R-76-2019 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
May 28, 2019 


 
WHEREAS, the City has started the process of creating a City social media policy allowing the 


use of City-sponsored social media sites; and  


 


WHEREAS, the posts on all City social media site are subject to open records laws; and  


 


WHEREAS, the City has received estimates from two companies that archive social media 


accounts for public records purposes; and  


 


WHEREAS, Social Arching was the company with the lowest estimate; and now 


  


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the proper city 


official(s) are hereby directed and authorized to enter into an agreement with Social Archiving 


for social media archiving services with costs not to exceed $6,000 for the remainder of 2019.  


 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 
 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     


 







 


 


 
 
CITY OF STOUGHTON 
DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION 
TECHNOLOGY AND MEDIA SERVICES 
321 S. Fourth Street 
Stoughton, WI 53589 
 


 
 
JOHN T. MONTGOMERY 
DIRECTOR 
jmontgomery@ci.stoughton.wi.us 


 


DATE: 10 May 2019 


TO: Jamin Friedl 
 
RE: Social Media Archiving 
 
I am recommending the City of Stoughton move forward with Archive Social to meet our needs in 
archiving the City’s social media presence. 
 
With respect to due diligence there are a handful of companied that do provide this service.  These 
companies were interviewed with consideration to the following: 
 
Cost, fixed or variable 
Data stored within the US 
Data throughput over charges 
Data Stored in native format (no compression) 
Customer service 
 
The two standout companies were Archive Social and Smarsh. 
 
Cost –  
 Archive Social: 
  $4,788/yr with the only variable being 3000/month records.  The annual fee is based on 
an average (not a limit) to the number of changes per month.  If the number of changes average in 
excess of 3000 within a 3 of 5 month period we may wish to consider the next pricing tier. ($599/month 
for 5000 record changes/month.) 
   (Note: the only entity within the State of WI on the higher plan is the Green Bay  
   School District.  Also noted was a review of our current social media accounts  
   reveals an average of 1000 records per month.) 
 Smarsh: 
  Difficult to fully estimate.  The quote provided would calculate to be $5,240 for year 1, 
$4,740 for each additional year.  This also is with the understanding there are only 15 social media 
accounts and 130 web pages.  Their costs are based on the number of social media accounts and the 
number of web pages.  A change in any of these numbers will affect the price. 
 
  







Data Stored in the US: 
 Archive Social – Yes 
 Smarsh – Yes 
 
Data Throughput overages: 
 Archive Social – No 
 Smarsh – No 
 
Data Stored in native Format: 
 Archive Social – Yes 
 Smarsh – Yes 
 
Customer Service: (this is based solely on my calls) 
 Archive Social – very knowledgeable on initial and subsequent calls. All questions answered 
without hesitation and all information was thorough and understandable. 
 Smarsh – spoke initially with sales, pricing questions were not able to be answered.  A second 
call needed to be made the following day for pricing.   Eventually all questions were answered tough 
always with a ‘that depends on the number of connections’. 
 
Please let me know if you have any questions. 







ArchiveSocial


PO Box 3330
Durham, NC  27702 US
(888) 558-6032
invoicing@archivesocial.com
http://archivesocial.com


QUOTE
ADDRESS


City of Stoughton, WI


QUOTE # 5494
DATE 05/10/2019


  


ACTIVITY QTY RATE AMOUNT


Archive - Standard - 399
One month of ArchiveSocial Standard package. 
Archiving of up to 3000 new social media 
records/month (unlimited social media accounts). 
Includes Web Snapshots, website archiving.


12 399.00 4,788.00


 


Formal Quote for 1 year of ArchiveSocial Service


(Standard)


*All quotes and invoices are issued in USD


TOTAL $4,788.00


Accepted By Accepted Date
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Order Form (#Q043096)(Service Account Number: )


Client Information


Services and Fees
Rate per 
Quantity


Minimum 
Quantity


Minimum


 Pro Cloud Plan SMG 10 - Annual $600.00 1 $600.00


        SMG Setup Fee $500.00 1 $500.00


        SMG 10 - Capture & Archive - Annual $140.00 15 $2,100.00


        SMG 10 - Capture & Archive Premium Adj - Annual $28.00 0 $0.00


        Extended Retention Fee - Annual $2.50 0 $0.00


 Archiving Platform Web Archiving - Page Fee - Annual $6.00 1 $6.00


 Archiving Platform Web Archiving - Domain Fee Annual $960.00 1 $960.00


Recurring Subtotal $3,666.00


One-Time Subtotal $ 500.00


Notes Overage above included Capture & Archive quantity is $140 per connection. 


Company Name City of Stoughton, WI


Address 381 E MAIN ST City Stoughton


State WI Zip/Postal Code 53589


Name John Montgomery TitlePrimary Contact
(Authorized User) Phone +1.608.646.0434 Email jmontgomery@ci.stoughton.wi.us


Name John Montgomery TitleTechnical Contact
(if different) Phone +1.608.646.0434 Email jmontgomery@ci.stoughton.wi.us


Name John Montgomery TitleBilling Contact
Phone +1.608.646.0434 Email jmontgomery@ci.stoughton.wi.us


Address 381 E Main St City Stoughton


State WI Zip 53589-1724


Quote Date 05/09/2019 09:09:03 Quote Expiration 06/07/2019


Smarsh Sales Executive Ryan Bakken Term of Agreement 12 Months


Activation Date Upon Grant of Access to Service Import Billing In Arrears


Setup Fee Billing Upon Contract Execution
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Terms & Conditions
On a date following the execution of this Order Form, Smarsh will provide Client with access to the applicable Service (“Activation Date”). Service Descriptions 
are available at www.smarsh.com/legal.  The Services are subject to Smarsh Service Agreement-General Terms located here: 
www.smarsh.com/legal/ServiceAgreement. . The Services purchased by Client are also subject to the following Service Specific Terms:  Professional Cloud 
Service Specific Terms available at: https://www.smarsh.com/legal/SSTProfessionalCloud ; premium Channels Service Specific Terms available at: 
https://www.smarsh.com/legal/SSTMobileChannels ;  Web Archive Services Specific Terms available at: https://www.smarsh.com/legal/SSTWebArchive . 


The Smarsh Service Agreement – General Terms, the Service Specific Terms, and this Order Form are, collectively, the “Agreement.” The Services will auto-
renew pursuant to the terms of the Agreement.


For AT&T Mobility subscribers, your signature below represents your acceptance of the AT&T Wireless Terms and Conditions available at 
www.smarsh.com/legal/ATT as they apply to AT&T messages that are archived by Smarsh.


“Plan Fees” are the Fees charged for access to the Connected Archive. “Capture & Archive Fees” are the Fees that are charged for capture and archive of a 
bundle of Connections within the Connected Archive Service.  “Capture Fees” are the per-Connection Fees that are charged for the capture of Connections by 
the Connected Capture Service. “Professional Services Fees” are the Fees that charged for hourly, monthly, or flat rate professional services. The Platform 
Fees, the Capture & Archive Fees, and the Capture Fees, as applicable, are invoiced on a monthly or annual basis, as specified in this Order Form. Client 
agrees that the Recurring Subtotal above is Client’s minimum commitment during the Term of the Agreement. Smarsh will invoice Client for any usage over the 
minimum commitment at the Overage rate indicated in this Order Form. 


If not priced above, data import and conversion Fees and storage Fees for data from Connected Capture or other capture mechanisms are as follows:


Data Imports $10/GB 


Import Data Conversion fees $3/GB 


External Capture Data Storage – Annual $2.50/GB


Smarsh self-certifies to the EU-U.S. Privacy-Shield. We provide information about our GDPR compliance at www.smarsh.com/legal/GDPR, and a list of Smarsh 
sub-processors is available at www.smarsh.com/legal/subprocessors. 


 


By  _________________________________________________________________________________________________


Name:    _____________________________________   Title:    _______________________________   . Date:                    .



http://www.smarsh.com/legal

http://www.smarsh.com/legal/ATT

http://www.smarsh.com/legal/GDPR

http://www.smarsh.com/legal/subprocessors
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City of Stoughton, 207 S. Forrest St., Stoughton WI  53589 


 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE 


Authorizing the City of Stoughton Director of Finance/Comptroller to act on the behalf of the City 


of Stoughton to accept the 2019 Section 5310 Grant in the amount of $29,600 and move forward 


with the process of purchasing an additional accessible van for the shared-ride taxi program 
  
 


Committee Action: 


 
 


Finance Committee approved  
 
Fiscal Impact: $29,600 Grant Funds; $7,400 CIP 


 
File Number: 


 
R-77-2019 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
May 28, 2019 


 
WHEREAS, The City of Stoughton offers a shared-ride taxi program open to the residents of Stoughton 


through a contract with a private taxi service provider; and 


 


WHEREAS, about 30,000 rides per year are taken on the taxi system, the majority of whom are seniors or 


people with disabilities 
 


WHEREAS, the City of Stoughton currently owns two accessible minivans but is in need of another; and 


 


WHEREAS, the matching funds totaling $7,400 were approved as part of the City of Stoughton’s 2019 


Capital Improvement Plan budget; and 


 


WHEREAS, your Finance Committee met on May 28, 2019 and recommends authorizing the Director of 


Finance/Comptroller to act on the behalf of the City of Stoughton to accept the 2019 Section 5310 Grant 


in the amount of $29,600 and move forward with the process of purchasing an additional accessible van 


for the shared-ride taxi program; and 


 


THE CITY OF STOUGHTON COMMON COUNCIL HEREBY AUTHORIZES the Director of 


Finance/Comptroller to act on the behalf of the City of Stoughton to accept the 2019 Section 5310 Grant 


in the amount of $29,600 and move forward with the process of purchasing an additional accessible van 


for the shared-ride taxi program. 
 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 
 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     
 


 







2019 SECTION 5310 SUBRECIPIENT AGREEMENT  
BETWEEN THE 


 CITY OF MADISON 
 AND  


CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 
This Contract, made by and between City of Stoughton, hereinafter referred to as  “SUBRECIPIENT” and the City of Madison, 
hereinafter referred to as “CITY,” shall become effective upon execution by the Mayor of Madison on behalf of the City. 
 
WHEREAS, CITY is authorized by Title 49 U.S.C Chapter 53 Section 5310 Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals 
with Disabilities Program to apply for and receive Federal grants on behalf of eligible recipients; and 
 
WHEREAS, SUBRECIPIENT has requested funds to assist in financing capital purchases; and 
 
WHEREAS, CITY agrees to pass through financial assistance with funds made available under Section 49 USC 5310 Enhanced 
Mobility of Seniors and individuals with Disabilities Program, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Contract; 
and 
 
In consideration of the reciprocal promises expressed in this Contract, CITY and SUBRECIPIENT agree as follows: 
 


Article I: City of Madison Payment 
 


A. Payment under the terms of this Contract is made pursuant to Title 49 U.S.C Chapter 53 (Section 5310) which 
specify that capital assistance grants may equal 80% of the total capital costs. 


 
CITY agrees to pay SUBRECIPIENT Twenty-Nine Thousand and Six Hundred Dollars ($29,600) or 80% of the 
purchase price, whichever is less, of the items specified in Attachment A, Project Description and Budget.  The 
costs eligible for capital assistance grant payments shall be limited to those specified in Attachment A, Project 
Description and Budget. 
 


B. CITY shall make payment to SUBRECIPIENT upon receipt of invoices prepared by the manufacturer or dealer 
showing the actual costs of the purchased item, i.e., rolling stock. 


 
C. If CITY’s audit establishes that payment to SUBRECIPIENT under the terms of this Contract has exceeded the 


allowable maximum as defined in Article I.B., SUBRECIPIENT shall refund to CITY upon demand a sum 
sufficient to reduce the payment to comply with Article I.B. of this Contract.  


 
D. Consistent with Articles I.B. and notwithstanding other provision of this contract, CITY may reduce the payments 


otherwise due under paragraph B of this article. 
 


Article II: Responsibility of SUBRECIPIENT 
 


A. The purchase of all equipment financed pursuant to this Contract shall be undertaken by SUBRECIPIENT and 
shall be in accordance with applicable State and Federal laws and regulations.  The Master Agreement between 
CITY and the Federal Transit Administration contains all Federally required clauses that should be included in 
this Contract between CITY and SUBRECIPIENT and said Master Agreement is therefore include in this 
Contract by reference.   In addition, SUBRECIPIENT shall comply with all procurement requirements in FTA 
Circular 4220.1F when procuring property and services to be paid for under this Contract. 


 
B. SUBRECIPIENT shall complete all purchases included in this Contract by December 31, 2019.  If 


SUBRECIPIENT fails to complete a given purchase by the date specified, CITY shall take necessary actions to 
withdraw any remaining committed funds in the Contract at that time.  The uncommitted funds may be reassigned 
or surrendered to the federal government. 


 







C. Title to project equipment shall be in the name of the SUBRECIPIENT, subject to the restrictions on use and 
disposition of the project equipment and rolling stock set forth herein.  The City of Madison-Metro Transit shall 
be registered as Lien Holder #1 and copies of title documents must be filed with City of Madison-Metro Transit 
as soon as possible.   


 
D. SUBRECIPIENT may not execute any transfer of title, lease, lien, pledge, mortgage, encumbrance, contract, grant 


anticipation note, alienation, or other obligation that in any way affects the Federal interest in any project  
equipment or rolling stock nor may SUBRECIPIENT obligate itself, in any other manner, to any third party with 
respect to project equipment or rolling stock, unless such transfer of title, lease, lien pledge, mortgage 
encumbrance, contract, grant anticipation note, alienation, or other obligation is expressly authorized in writing 
by CITY; nor may SUBRECIPIENT, by any act or omission, adversely affect the Federal interest or impair 
SUBRECIPIENT’s continuing control over the use of project rolling stock. 


 
E. SUBRECIPIENT agrees that the project equipment and rolling stock shall only be used for the provision of 


transportation service to the general public and rolling stock shall be clearly marked for public use.  
SUBRECIPIENT shall keep satisfactory records with regard to the use of the equipment and rolling stock and 
submit to CITY upon request such information as may be required to assure compliance with this section.  Project 
equipment and rolling stock shall be operated only within the area authorized by the FTA under applicable grant 
statutes and regulations for the duration of its useful life.  If during the useful life, the project equipment and 
rolling stock is not used in this manner or is withdrawn from transportation service, SUBRECIPIENT shall 
immediately notify CITY and request disposition instructions. 


 
F. SUBRECIPIENT shall perform preventive maintenance on the equipment and rolling stock purchased with FTA 


funds, including ADA accessibility equipment, at a level no less than the manufacturer’s recommended 
specifications.  Adequate records of preventive maintenance on each piece of equipment and rolling stock shall 
be maintained by SUBRECIPIENT.  The equipment and rolling stock shall be properly maintained at all times.  
CITY shall have the right to conduct periodic inspections and reviews, for the purpose of confirming that proper 
maintenance policies and procedures are being followed. 


 
G. SUBRECIPIENT shall make available the equipment and rolling stock to CITY upon demand for the purpose of 


an annual verification or other inspections deemed necessary by CITY. 
 


H. SUBRECIPIENT shall immediately notify CITY in all cases where project equipment or rolling stock is used in 
a manner substantially different from that as described in the application.  SUBRECIPIENT shall obtain prior 
written concurrence from CITY for any proposed sale of equipment and rolling stock, title transfer, or lease to 
another agency. 


 
I. SUBRECIPIENT shall maintain in amount and form satisfactory to CITY such insurance or self-insurance 


(including property, personal injury and collision coverage) as will be adequate to cover the current value of 
project equipment and rolling stock throughout the period of required use.   


 
J. CITY reserves the right to require SUBRECIPIENT to restore equipment and rolling stock or pay for damages to 


the equipment and rolling stock as a result of abuse or misuse of such capital items with SUBRECIPIENT’s 
knowledge and consent.  


 
K. CITY reserves the right, and SUBRECIPIENT shall allow CITY, to conduct periodic reviews of 


SUBRECIPIENT to ensure it is in compliance with FTA Circular 4220.1F; 49 CFR, Part 18.37; and 49 CFR 
18.42. 


 
Article III: Records and Audits 


 
A. SUBRECIPIENT shall have a single, organization-wide, financial and compliance audit performed by a qualified 


independent auditor if required to do so under Federal law and regulations.  (See Federal OMB Circular No. A-
133 and the provisions of OMB A-133 Compliance Supplement dated March 2002.) 


 







B. This audit shall be performed in accordance with Federal circular A-133 issued by the Federal Office of 
Management and Budget (OMB), its Compliance supplement, and City of Madison single audit guidelines. 


 
C. SUBRECIPIENT agrees to maintain appropriate accounts and records relating to this transportation project.  Such 


accounts and records will be made available upon request to CITY for inspection and audit purposes. 
 
D. SUBRECIPIENT agrees to provide all reports requested by CITY including, but not limited to, financial 


statements and reports, reports and accounting of services rendered, and any other reports or documents requested. 
Financial and service reports shall be provided according to a schedule (when applicable) to be included in this 
Contract. Any other reports or documents shall be provided within five (5) working days after SUBRECIPIENT 
receives CITY's written requests, unless the parties agree in writing on a longer period. Payroll records and any 
other documents relating to the performance of services under the terms of this Contract shall be retained by 
SUBRECIPIENT for a period of three (3) years after completion of all work under this contract, in order to be 
available for audit by CITY or its designee.  


 
E. SUBRECIPIENT shall maintain intact and readily accessible all data, documents, reports, records, Contracts, and 


supporting materials relating to this Contract during the course of this Contract and for three (3) years after City 
makes final payments and all other pending matters are closed.  SUBRECIPIENT shall permit the authorized 
representations of CITY and/or WisDOT or its designee, as required by USDOT/FTA, and the Comptroller 
General of the United States to inspect all project work, materials, payrolls, and other data, and to audit the books, 
records, and accounts pertaining to this Contract.   


 
F. SUBRECIPIENT further agrees to include in all its contracts and subcontracts hereunder a provision to the effect 


that the contractor and subcontractor agrees to the requirements of the above paragraph.  The term "subcontractor" 
as used in this clause excludes subcontracts or purchase orders for public utility services at rates established for 
uniform applicability to the general public. 


 
G. The periods of access and examination described above, for records which relate to (1) litigation or the settlement 


of claims arising out of the performance of this Contract, and (2) costs and expenses of this Contract as to which 
exception has been taken by the Comptroller General or any of his/her duly authorized representatives, shall 
continue until such appeals, litigation, claims, or exceptions have been dispose of. 


 
Article I V :  Project Management 


 
A.  The Subrecipient agrees that its transit project will be that as described in Attachment A, and will be managed 


and operated in accordance with t h e  Project Management and Recipient Coordination Plan, which is made 
part of this Grant Agreement by reference. Modifications to Attachment A may be p r o p o s e d  by either the 
Subrecipient or Metro Transit. 


 
B. A request by the Subrecipient to modify the transit project from that described in Attachment A must be 


submitted in writing to Metro Transit in a manner prescribed by Metro Transit. 
 
C. If Metro Transit determines that a proposed modification  is a "substantive change" to the initial grant 


application, Metro Transit  shall  prepare  an  amendment   to  this  Grant Agreement   and  forward   it  to  the 
Subrecipient  for  execution.  The Subrecipient shall not implement a proposed "substantive change" to the 2019 
transit project until an appropriate amendment to this Grant Agreement has been executed by both the 
Subecipient and the Metro Transit. 


 
D. If Metro Transit determines that a proposed modification to the 2019 grant application is a "non-substantive 


change," Metro Transit shall authorize in writing the Subrecipient to implement the change, and a formal 
amendment to this Grant Agreement shall not be required. 


 
 
 
 
 







Article V: Assurance of Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Disability 
 


SUBRECIPIENT, in accordance with 49 CFR Parts 27, 37, and 38, agrees that it will comply with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), the Rehabilitation Act and all U. S. Department of Transportation regulations relating to 
enforcement of each Act.  
 


Article VI:  City Terms and Conditions 
 


A. NON-DISCRIMINATION. 
In the performance of work under this Contract, the Contractor agrees not to discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment because of race, religion, marital status, age, color, sex, handicap, national origin or 
ancestry, income level or source of income, arrest record or conviction record, less than honorable discharge, physical 
appearance, sexual orientation, gender identity, political beliefs or student status. Contractor further agrees not to 
discriminate against any subcontractor or person who offers to subcontract on this Contract because of race, religion, 
color, age, disability, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity or national origin. 


 
Article VII: FTA Terms and Conditions 


 
Federal Financial Assistance and Federal Changes:  80% of the total cost of the deliverables described in the Contract will be 
financed with Federal monies from the Federal Transit Act of 1964, as amended. 


 
A. No Government Obligation to Third Parties.   SUBRECIPIENT agrees that it will comply the U.S. Department 


of Transportation regulations relating to contractual liability of the Federal Government to third parties as follows: 
 


CITY and SUBRECIPIENT acknowledge and agree that, notwithstanding any concurrence by the Federal 
Government in or approval of the solicitation or award of the underlying Contract, absent the express consent by 
the Federal Government, the Federal Government is not a party to this Contract and shall not be subject to any 
obligations or liabilities to CITY, SUBRECIPIENT, or any other party (whether or not party to the Contract) 
pertaining to any matter resulting from the underlying Contract.   


 
SUBRECIPIENT agrees to include the above clause in each subcontract financed in whole or in part with Federal 
assistance provide by FTA.  It is further agreed that the clause shall not be modified, except to identify the 
subcontractor who will be subject to its provisions. 


 
B. Incorporation of FTA Terms.  The provisions in this section include, in part, certain standard terms and 


conditions required by USDOT/FTA, whether or not expressly set forth in these provisions.  All contractual 
provisions required by USDOT/FTA, as set forth in FTA Circular 4220.1F or any subsequent amendments are 
hereby incorporated by reference.  Anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding, all USDOT/FTA mandated 
terms shall be deemed to control in the event of a conflict with other provisions contained in this Contract.  
SUBRECIPIENT shall not perform any act, fail to perform any act, or refuse to comply with CITY requests, 
which would cause CITY to be in violation of the USDOT/FTA terms and conditions. 


 
SUBRECIPIENT agrees that it will comply at all times with 49 CFR Part 18; U. S. Department of Transportation 
regulations relating to applicable FTA regulations, policies, procedures and directives, including without 
limitation those listed directly or by reference in the Agreement Form FTA MA (25) dated October 2018,  between 
CITY and U. S. Department of Transportation/Federal Transit Administration (USDOT/FTA), as they may be 
amended or promulgated from time to time during the term of this contract.  SUBRECIPIENT’s failure to so 
comply shall constitute a material breach of this contract.   
 
These grant agreements and FTA Circular 4220.1F, "Third Party Contracting," are available for examination at 
the Office of the Transit Finance Manager, 1245 East Washington Avenue, Suite 201, Madison, WI  53703-3052, 
608/267-8766 (voice), 608/267-8778 (fax) or wblock@cityofmadison.com.  
 


C. Compliance with Local, State and Federal Laws.  The services and/or equipment provided shall be in 
compliance with all requirements of the laws and regulations of CITY of Madison, the State of Wisconsin and 
the United States of America. 







 
D. Ethics:   
 


1. Prohibited Interest:  SUBRECIPIENT guarantees that no employee, officer, or agent during his or her tenure 
or one (1) year thereafter has any interest, direct or indirect, in this Contract or the proceeds thereof.  Such a 
conflict would also arise when any employee, officer or agent's family member or partner or organization 
that employs, or is about to employ any of the above, has a financial or other interest in this Contract or the 
proceeds thereof. 


 
2. Interest of Members of or Delegates to Congress:  SUBRECIPIENT guarantees that he or she has not offered 


or given to any member of, or delegate to the Congress of the United States, any share or part of this Contract 
or to any benefit arising therefrom. 


 
3. Covenant Against Gratuities: SUBRECIPIENT guarantees that he or she has not offered or given gratuities 


(in the form of entertainment, gifts, or otherwise) to any employee, officer or agent of CITY with a view 
toward securing favorable treatment in the awarding, amending, or evaluating performance of the Contract. 


 
4. Collusive Agreements: SUBRECIPIENT guarantees that the Contract submitted is not a product of collusion 


with any other Recipient and no effort has been made to fix any overhead, profit or cost element of any 
Contract price.   


 
5. Program Fraud and False or Fraudulent Statements and Related Acts.:    


 
a.   SUBRECIPIENT acknowledges that the provisions of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986, 


as amended, 31 U.S.C. § § 3801 et seq. and U.S. DOT regulations, "Program Fraud Civil Remedies," 49 
C.F.R. Part 31, apply to its actions pertaining to this Project. Upon execution of the underlying Contract, 
SUBRECIPIENT certifies 41or affirms the truthfulness and accuracy of any statement it has made, it 
makes, it may make, or causes to be made, pertaining to the underlying contract or the FTA assisted 
project for which this contract work is being performed. In addition to other penalties that may be 
applicable, SUBRECIPIENT further acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be made, a false, 
fictitious, or fraudulent claim, statement, submission, or certification, the Federal Government reserves 
the right to impose the penalties of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986 on SUBRECIPIENT 
to the extent the Federal Government deems appropriate. 


 
b.   SUBRECIPIENT also understands and acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be made, a false, 


fictitious, or fraudulent claim, statement, submission, or certification to the Federal Government under 
a Contract connected with a project that is financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance originally 
awarded by FTA under the authority of 49 U.S.C. § 5307, the Government reserves the right to impose 
the penalties of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 and 49 U.S.C. § 5307(n)(1) on SUBRECIPIENT, to the extent the 
Federal Government deems appropriate. 


 
E.  Civil Rights - SUBRECIPIENT shall comply with and ensures the compliance of all contractors and 


subcontractors with the following requirements: 
 


1. Nondiscrimination - In accordance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d, 
section 303 of the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §  6102, section 202 of the 
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. § 12132, and Federal transit law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, 
SUBRECIPIENT agrees that it will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 
because of race, color, creed, national origin, sex, age, or disability.  In addition, SUBRECIPIENT agrees to 
comply with applicable Federal implementing regulations and other implementing requirements FTA may 
issue. 


 
2. Equal Employment Opportunity - The following equal employment opportunity requirements apply to the 


underlying Contract: 
 







a.    Race, Color, Creed, National Origin, Sex - In accordance with Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, as 
amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e, and Federal transit laws at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, SUBRECIPIENT agrees to 
comply with all applicable equal employment opportunity requirements of U.S. Department of Labor 
(U.S. DOL) regulations, "Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs, Equal Employment 
Opportunity, Department of Labor," 41 C.F.R. Parts 60 et seq., (which implement Executive Order No. 
11246, "Equal Employment Opportunity," as amended by Executive Order No. 11375, "Amending 
Executive Order 11246 Relating to Equal Employment Opportunity," 42 U.S.C. § 2000e note), and with 
any applicable Federal statutes, executive orders, regulations, and Federal policies that may in the future 
affect activities undertaken in the course of the Project. SUBRECIPIENT agrees to take affirmative 
action to ensure that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated during employment, 
without regard to their race, color, creed, national origin, or sex.  Such action shall include, but not be 
limited to, the following: employment, upgrading, demotion or transfer, recruitment or recruitment 
advertising, layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, 
including apprenticeship. In addition, SUBRECIPIENT agrees to comply with any implementing 
requirements FTA may issue.  


 
b. Age - In accordance with section 4 of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended, 


29 U.S.C. § § 621 through 634 and Federal transit law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, SUBRECIPIENT agrees to 
refrain from discrimination against present and prospective employees for reason of age. In addition, 
SUBRECIPIENT agrees to comply with any implementing requirements FTA may issue and with 
implementing regulations of the U.S. Equal Opportunity Commission (U.S. EEOC), 29 CFR, Part 1625. 


 
c.    Disabilities - In accordance with section 102 of the Americans with Disabilities Act, as amended, 42 


U.S.C. § 12112, SUBRECIPIENT agrees that it will comply with the requirements of U.S. Equal 
Employment Opportunity Commission, "Regulations to Implement the Equal Employment Provisions 
of the Americans with Disabilities Act," 29 C.F.R. Part 1630, pertaining to employment of persons with 
disabilities. In addition, SUBRECIPIENT agrees to comply with any implementing requirements FTA 
may issue. 


 
d.    Solicitations for Subcontracts, Including Procurements of Materials and Equipment:  


In all solicitations, either by competitive bidding or negotiation made by SUBRECIPIENT for work to 
be performed under a subcontract, including procurements of materials or leases of equipment, each 
potential contractor, subcontractor or supplier shall be notified by SUBRECIPIENT of 
SUBRECIPIENT's obligations under this Contract and the Regulations relative to non-discrimination on 
the grounds of race, color, creed, age, disability, sex or national origin. 


 
e.    Information and Reports:  SUBRECIPIENT shall provide all information and reports required by the 


Federal Regulations or directives issued pursuant thereto, and shall permit access to its books, records, 
accounts, other sources of information and its facilities as may be determined by CITY or the USDOT-
/FTA to be pertinent to ascertain compliance with such Regulations, orders, and instructions.  Where any 
information required of a Recipient is in the exclusive possession of another who fails or refuses to 
furnish this information, SUBRECIPIENT shall so certify to CITY or to the USDOT/FTA, as appro-
priate, and shall set forth what efforts it has made to obtain the information. 


 
f. Incorporation of Provisions:  SUBRECIPIENT shall include the provisions of this entire section entitled 


“Civil Rights” in every contract and subcontract, including procurements of materials and leases of 
equipment, unless exempt by the Regulations, or directives issued pursuant thereto.  SUBRECIPIENT 
shall take such action with respect to any subcontract or procurement as CITY or the USDOT/FTA may 
direct as a means of enforcing non-compliance. Provided, however, that in the event a Recipient becomes 
involved in, or is threatened with litigation with a contractor, subcontractor or supplier as a result of such 
direction, SUBRECIPIENT may request CITY to enter into such litigation to protect the interest of the 
United States. 


 
g.   Penalties:  Failure by SUBRECIPIENT to carry out these requirements is a material breach of the 


Contract, which may result in the withholding of payments to SUBRECIPIENT under the contract until 
SUBRECIPIENT complies; cancellation, termination or suspension of this Contract; ineligibility for 







future Contracts; or such other remedy as CITY or USDOT/FTA deems appropriate in order to assure 
compliance with applicable civil rights standards as required by law.  


 
F. Disadvantaged Business Enterprise:     
 


The requirements of 49 C.F.R. Part 26 and CITY's USDOT/FTA approved Disadvantaged Business Enterprise 
(D.B.E.) Program are incorporated in this Contract by reference.  
 
The Contractor shall maintain compliance with “DBE Approval Certification” CER 8.7 throughout the period of 
Contract performance. The requirements of § 1101(b) of SAFETEA – LU, Title  23 U.S.C. § 101, note, 49 C.F.R. 
Part 26 and the City's USDOT/FTA approved Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (D.B.E.) Program are 
incorporated in this Contract by reference.  
 


 
1. Policy.  It is the policy of the U.S. Department of Transportation that disadvantaged business enterprises as 


defined in 49 CFR Part 26 shall have the opportunity to participate in the performance of Contracts financed 
in whole or in part with Federal funds under this Agreement.  Consequently, the DBE requirements of 49 
CFR § 18.36(e) Contracting with Small and Minority Firms, Women’s Business Enterprise and Labor 
Surplus Area Firms apply to this Contract. 


 
2. Obligation.  SUBRECIPIENT and its contractors and subcontractors shall not discriminate on the basis of 


race, color, national origin, or sex in the performance of this contract.  SUBRECIPIENT shall carry out 
applicable requirements of 49 C.F.R. Part 26 in the award and administration of any subcontracts entered 
into in its performance of this contract.  Each subcontract the Contractor signs with a Subcontractor must 
include the assurance in this paragraph and the penalty provision in Paragraph c below. 


 
3. Penalty.  Failure by SUBRECIPIENT or its contractor and subcontractor to carry out these requirements is a 


material breach of this Contract, which may result in the termination of this Contract or such other remedy 
as CITY deems appropriate. 


 
G. Labor Protection:  SUBRECIPIENT agrees to comply with applicable transit employee protective requirements, 


terms, and conditions determined by the U. S. Secretary of Labor to be fair and equitable to protect the interests 
of employees employed under this contract and to meet the employee protective requirements as of 49 U.S.C.  
A5333(b), and U. S. DOL guidelines at 29 C.F.R. Part 215, and any amendments thereto.  


 
H. Government-wide Debarment & Suspension Non-procurement:  SUBRECIPIENT agrees to comply with and 


shall assure subcontractors compliance with the requirements of Executive Order 12549 and 12689, "Debarment 
and Suspension," 31 U.S.C. § 6101 note, and U.S. DOT regulations, “Nonprocurement Suspension and 
Debarment,” 2 C.F.R. Part 1200, which adopt and supplement the provisions of U.S. Office of Management and 
Budget FTA Master Agreement, which prohibits FTA Recipients and Subcontractors from knowingly contracting 
for goods and services from organizations that have been suspended or debarred from receiving Federally-assisted 
contracts.  SUBRECIPIENT agrees to, and assures that its sub contractors will, review the “Excluded Parties 
Listing System” at http://www.sam.gov before entering into any third party contract or subagreement. 
SUBRECIPIENT shall submit the certification attached as Attachment B with this Contract.  


 
Furthermore, SUBRECIPIENT agrees, to provide and to require subcontractors at every tier to agree to provide, 
CITY with immediate written notice if it learns that its submitted certification, which was not erroneous when 
submitted, has become erroneous by reasons of changed circumstances.  Written notice shall be sent to Wayne 
Block, Transit Finance Manager, 1245 East Washington Avenue, Suite 201, Madison, WI  53703-3052. 


 
 
I. Environmental Requirements: 
 


1. Recycled Products:  SUBRECIPIENT agrees that it will comply with 42 USC § 6962 et seq., and 40 CFR 
Part 247, and Executive Order 12873; U. S. Department of Transportation regulations relating to recycled 
products.  This requirement applies to all Contracts designated by the EPA, when CITY or Subrecipient 







procures $10,000 or more of such items in the fiscal year, or when the cost of such items purchased during 
the previous fiscal year were $10,000, using federal funds. 


 
Violations shall be reported to USDOT/FTA and to the United States Environmental Protection Agency 
Assistant Administrator for Enforcement. 


 
      J.         Pre-award and Post Delivery Audit Requirements 


 
1.  CERTIFICATIONS REQUIRED 


 
SUBRECIPIENT and selected Contractor shall comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5323(j) and FTA's implementing 
regulation at 49 C.F.R. Part 663 and Part 661 and shall submit all necessary certifications and documentation, 
as required, with its Offer and prior to vehicle acceptance, including but not limited to the following:  
SUBRECIPIENT understands and agrees that to the extent the provisions of 49 U.S.C. § 5323(j), as amended 
by SAFETEA-LU conflict with FTA’s implementing regulations as currently promulgated, the provisions of 
49 U.S.C. § 5323(j), as amended, prevail. 


 
2.  FEDERAL MOTOR VEHICLE SAFETY STANDARDS (FMVSS) 


 
SUBRECIPIENT shall submit 1) manufacturer's FMVSS self-certification sticker information that the 
vehicle complies with relevant FMVSS at the time of award and at the time of the post award audit, or 
2) manufacturer's certified statement that the contracted buses will not be subject to FMVSS regulations. 


 
3.  PURCHASERS REQUIREMENTS CERTIFICATION 


 
SUBRECIPIENT and selected Contractor shall submit all documentation requested by CITY in order to 
satisfy the following Federal requirements in 49 CFR 663. 


 
a. Pre-Award Purchasers Requirements Certification 


The Pre-Award purchaser’s requirements certification is a certification that SUBRECIPIENT keeps on 
file that: 


 
(1) The rolling stock SUBRECIPIENT is contracting for is the same product described in 


SUBRECIPIENT’s solicitation specifications. 
 


(2) SUBRECIPIENT and (if selected) Contractor is the responsible manufacturer with the capability to 
produce a vehicle that meets the Procuring Agency’s specifications set forth in the Procuring 
Agency solicitation. 


 
b.  Post-Award Purchasers Requirements Certification 


 
The Post-Award purchaser’s requirements certification is a certification SUBRECIPIENT keeps on file 
that: 


 
(1) Except for procurements covered under paragraph (c), in this section, a resident inspector (other 


than an agent or employee of the manufacturer) was at the manufacturing site throughout the period 
of manufacture of the rolling stock to be purchased and monitored and completed a report on the 
manufacture of such rolling stock.  Such a report, at a minimum, shall (1) provide accurate records 
of all vehicle construction activities; and  


 
(2)  Address how the construction and operation of the vehicles fulfills the contract specifications. 


 
(3) After reviewing the report required under paragraph (a), of this section, and visually inspecting and 


road testing the delivered vehicles, the vehicles meet the contract specifications. 
 







c.  For procurements of ten or fewer buses, or any number of primary manufacturer standard production 
and unmodified vans, after visually inspecting and road testing the vehicles, the vehicles meet the 
contract   specifications.  


 
The selected contractor shall submit all Post Award Audit Documents, as listed herein, to SUBRECIPIENT 
prior to the vehicle acceptance of each annual shipment.  Failure to provide these documents, within this 
timeframe, may result in a reasonable retention amount being withheld by the Procuring Agency in 
subsequent shipments, to insure satisfactory performance with this requirement.   


  
Article VIII: Safety Requirements 


 
All materials, equipment, and supplies acquired through this Contract by SUBRECIPIENT, must comply fully with all 
safety requirements as set forth in law or rule by the State of Wisconsin and all applicable OSHA Standards. 


 
Article IX: Termination 


 
A.        In the event Subrecipient shall default in any of the covenants, agreements, commitments, or conditions 


herein contained, and any such default shall continue unremedied for a period of ten (10) days after written notice 
thereof to Subrecipient, CITY may, at its option and in addition to all other rights and remedies which it may have 
at law or in equity against Subrecipient, including expressly the specific enforcement hereof, forthwith have the 
cumulative right to immediately terminate this contract and all rights of Subrecipient under this contract. 


 
B.        Notwithstanding paragraph A., above, CITY may in its sole discretion and without any reason terminate this 


agreement at any time by furnishing SUBRECIPIENT with ten (10) days' written notice of termination. In the 
event of termination under this subsection, CITY will pay for all work completed by SUBRECIPIENT and 
accepted by CITY  


 
Article X: Privacy Act 


 
SUBRECIPIENT agrees to comply with, and assures the compliance of its employees with, the information restrictions 
and other applicable requirements of the Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C. § 552a. Among other things, SUBRECIPIENT 
agrees to obtain the express consent of the Federal Government before SUBRECIPIENT or its employees operate a system 
of records on behalf of the Federal Government. SUBRECIPIENT understands that the requirements of the Privacy Act, 
including the civil and criminal penalties for violation of that Act, apply to those individuals involved, and that failure to 
comply with the terms of the Privacy Act may result in termination of the underlying contract. 
 
SUBRECIPIENT also agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract to administer any system of records on 
behalf of the Federal Government financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. 
 


Article XI: Attachments 
 
All attachments to this Contract are incorporated herein by annexation (Attachment A and B). 


  







 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands at Madison, Wisconsin. 
 
 


  SUBRECIPIENT 


        
  (Type or Print Name of Contracting Entity) 


  By:  
   (Signature) 


     
   (Print Name and Title of Person Signing) 


   Date:       
   
   
   
   CITY OF MADISON, WISCONSIN 


a municipal corporation 
    


   By:  
    Satya Rhodes-Conway, Mayor 


     
  Date:  
 
Approved: 


  


     


  By:  
David P. Schmiedicke, Finance Director   Maribeth Witzel-Behl, City Clerk 


     
Date:   Date:  
   


Approved as to Form: 
   


Eric T. Veum, Risk Manager  Michael P. May, City Attorney 


Date:   Date:  
   


 
  







 
 


Attachment A 
 


2019 Section 5310 Capital Assistance Grant 
 


City of Stoughton 
 


The City of Stoughton offers a shared-ride taxi program open to the residents of Stoughton through a contract 
with a private taxi service provider. The City of Stoughton currently owns two accessible minivans but is in need 
of another. About 30,000 rides per year are taken on the taxi system, the majority of whom are seniors or people 
with disabilities. The shared‐ride taxi system is important to the community and is used for important trips to and 
from work, shopping, entertainment, medical appointments, and education. 


 
 
 
Quantity   Item Description    Unit Price        Total Price 
 
     1               Accessible Min-Van    $37,000.            $37,000. 
 
           Subtotal A      $37,000. 
               


Federal Share (80%)         $29,600. 
 
 
 


 
 







Attachment B 
 


DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION CERTIFICATION   
 
Instructions for Certification: 
 
1. By signing this Contract, the prospective sub-grantee or sub-recipient is providing the signed certification set out below.  
 
2. The inability of a person to provide the certification required below will not necessarily result in denial of participation 
in this covered transaction.  The prospective participant shall submit an explanation of why it cannot provide the 
certification set out below.  The certification or explanation will be considered in connection with the department or 
agency’s determination whether to enter into this transaction.  However, failure of the prospective primary participant to 
furnish a certification shall disqualify such person from participation in this transaction. 
 
3. The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when the department 
or agency determined to enter into this. If it is later determined that the prospective primary participant knowingly rendered 
an erroneous certification, in addition to other remedies available to the Federal Government, the department or agency 
may terminate this transaction for cause or default. 
 
4. The prospective primary participant shall provide immediate written notice to the department or agency to which this 
proposal is submitted if at any time the prospective primary participant learns that its certification was erroneous when 
submitted or has become erroneous by reason of changed circumstances. 
 
5. The terms "covered transaction," "debarred," "suspended," "ineligible," "lower tier covered transaction," "participant," 
"person," "primary covered transaction," "principal," "proposal," and "voluntarily excluded," as used in this clause, have 
the meanings set out in the Definitions and Coverage sections of rules implementing Executive Order 12549. You may 
contact the department or agency to which this proposal is submitted for assistance in obtaining a copy of those regulations. 
 
6. The prospective primary participant agrees by submitting this proposal that, should the proposed covered transaction be 
entered into, it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered transaction with a person who is proposed for 
debarment under 48 CFR part 9, subpart 9.4, debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from 
participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized by in writing by the department or agency entering into this 
transactions. 
 
7. The prospective primary participant further agrees by submitting this proposal that it will include this clause titled 
"Certification regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion - Lower Tier Covered 
Transaction", provided by the department or agency entering into this covered transaction, without modification, in all 
lower tier covered transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions. 
 
8. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective participant in a lower tier covered 
transaction that it is not proposed for debarment under 48 CFR part 9, subpart 9.4, debarred, suspended, ineligible, or 
voluntarily excluded from the covered transaction, unless it knows that the certification is erroneous. A participant may 
decide the method and frequency by which it determines the eligibility of its principals. Each participant agrees to review 
the “Excluded Parties Listing System” at http://www.sam.gov, before entering into any third party contract or 
subagreement. 
 
9. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of system of records in order to render 
in good faith the certification required by this clause. The knowledge and information of a participant is not required to 
exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent person in the ordinary course of business dealings. 
 
10. Except for transactions authorized under Paragraph 6 of these instructions, if a participant in a covered transaction 
knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is proposed for debarment under 48 CFR part 9, 
subpart 9.4, suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction, in addition to 
other remedies available to the Federal Government, the department or agency may terminate this transaction for cause or 
default. 







DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION CERTIFICATION - PRIMARY- (continued) 
 
The prospective primary participant certifies, by submission of this Proposal, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that 
neither it nor its "principals," as defined in 2. C.F.R. Part 180.995: 
 
Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from covered 
transactions by any Federal department or agency; 
 
Have not within a three-year period preceding this proposal been convicted of or had a civil judgment rendered against 
them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a 
public (Federal, State or local) transaction or contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal or State antitrust 
statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false 
statements, or receiving stolen property. 
 
Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charges by a governmental entity (Federal, State or local) 
with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (2) of this certification. 
 
Have not within a three-year period preceding this application/proposal had one or more public transactions (Federal, State, 
local) terminated for cause or default. 
 
If the prospective primary participant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this certification, such prospective 
primary participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal, and indicate that it has done so, by placing an "X" in the 
following space: ____.     
          
Furthermore, the Participant certifies that it will provide immediate written notice to CITY if, at any time during the course 
of the proposed contract, it learns that this certification was erroneous when submitted or has been erroneous by reason of 
changed circumstances. 
 
THE PARTICIPANT, CERTIFIES OR AFFIRMS THE TRUTHFULNESS AND ACCURACY OF EACH 
STATEMENT OF ITS CERTIFICATION AND EXPLANATION, IF ANY. IN ADDITION, THE PARTICIPANT 
UNDERSTANDS AND AGREES THAT THE PROVISIONS OF 31 U.S.C. §§ 3801 ET SEQ. APPLY TO THIS 
CERTIFICATION AND EXPLANATION, IF ANY. 
 
 
 
        ___________________________________________ 
        Signature and title of Authorized Official 
 
The undersigned chief legal counsel for City of Stoughton hereby certifies City of Stoughton has authority under state 
and local law to comply with the subject assurance and that the certification above has been legally made. 
 
 


_____________________________________________ 
   Signature of Subrecipient’s Attorney 
 


_____________________________________________ 
   Date 
 


 





		15a-R-77-2019 - Section 5310 Grant Acceptance.pdf

		15b-2019 Capital Assistance Grant Agreement - Stoughton.pdf






  


CITY OF STOUGHTON, 381 E. Main Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 


An ordinance relating to excavation or obstructions within the public right-of-way 


 


Committee Action:    N/A 


Fiscal Impact:       N/A 


File Number: O-19-2019 First Reading: May 28th, 2019 


Second Reading:  May 28th, 2019 


 


 


 
 


RECITALS 


 


A. Occupancy and excavation of public rights-of-way cause costs to residents and the City, 


including to administer such projects, and to repair roadways. 


 


B. The City seeks to impose reasonable regulations on placing and maintaining equipment 


within rights-of-way, to further the public health, safety and welfare, and to 


complement the regulatory roles of state and federal agencies. 


 


NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin, 


does ordain as follows: 


 


ORDINANCE 


 


1. Section 64-9 of the Code of Ordinances is amended as described in Exhibit A.  


 


2. This ordinance shall take effect upon passage and publication pursuant to law. 


 


The above ordinance was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Stoughton at a 


regular meeting held on ___________, 2019. 


 


 


APPROVED:  


 


       


Tim Swadley, Mayor  


 


ATTEST:  


 


       


Holly Licht, City Clerk  


 


 


 


Published  ___ 


 







  


EXHIBIT A: REVISED ORDINANCE ON EXCAVATIONS IN RIGHT-OF-WAY 


 


 


Sec. 64-9 – Street and right-of-way use. 


 


(a) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to provide uniform, comprehensive standards and 


regulations regarding street openings, encumbrances obstructions, temporary commercial 


street signs, private property in street rights-of-way, and the procedure for requesting 


approval to improve or vacate alleys and rights-of-way. 


 


(b) Street opening Excavation in the right-of-way and encumbrance obstruction permits. 


 


(1) A permit issued by city representatives shall be required for the following: 


 


a. Excavation in any public right-of-way. For the purposes of this Chapter, “right-


of-way” means the surface and space above and below the entire width of an 


improved or unimproved public roadway, highway, street, bicycle lane, terrace, 


shoulder, side slope, and public sidewalk in which the city has an interest, including 


other dedicated rights-of-way for travel purposes. 


 


b. Any obstruction or encumbrance of a public right-of-way., for more than 


two hours. A dumpster is an example of an obstruction. Any object or act 


located within the right-of-way, or that could obstruct use of the right-of-way, 


for more than two hours, is an obstruction. Obstructions include, but are not 


limited to, utility boxes, vehicles and dumpsters. 


 


 *** 


 


(2) Exceptions. Subsection (a) shall not apply to the following: 


 


a. Signs, clocks or awnings attached to a building which project not more than 


three feet into the public right-of-way and which do not extend below any 


point nine feet above the sidewalk or sixteen feet above a street or alley. 


 


b. Public utility encumbrances. 


 


c. b. Goods, wares, merchandise or fixtures being loaded or unloaded which do 


not extend more than three feet on the sidewalk, provided such goods, wares, 


etc., do not remain thereon for more than two hours. 


 


d. c. Sandwich board signs regulated under subsection (f). 


 


e. d. Private property installed adjacent to streets in the street right-of-way, 


regulated under subsection (g). 


 


(e) Persons with facilities in the right-of-way pursuant to a special event permit 


from the city.  







  


(f) Persons required by the city to maintain trees in the right-of-way between their 


property and the street curb or pavement. 


 


(g) Vehicles lawfully parked in the right-of-way. 


 


(h) Brush piles lawfully located on the terrace in the right-of-way. 


 


(i) Garbage cans lawfully placed in the right-of-way for collection. 


 


(3) Conditions of occupancy. 


 


a. No obstruction or encumbrance shall cover more than 1/3 of any street or 


alley. 


 


b. Any excavation, or obstruction, or encumbrance shall be protected by a 


temporary fence or barrier at least three feet high and at night shall be lighted 


by yellow flashing beacons. In the case of an excavation, yellow flashing 


beacons shall be placed at each end and as often as every 50 feet along the 


length thereof. 


 


*** 


 


 (i)  Application.  


(1) Application for a permit under subsections (b) and (g) shall be made to the Street 


Superintendent director of public works on a form prescribed by the street superintendent 


director of public works. Applications and under subsections (e) and (f) shall be made to 


the department of planning and development on a form prescribed by the department of 


planning and development.  


(2) The applicant shall pay all fees required by the form, and agree to comply with all 


requirements imposed by the form and this Code.  


(3) Application information, and any other information required by the city, shall be 


updated within fifteen days of a change to such information.  


(4) The city staff shall process the application and issue a permit if the application and 


circumstances satisfy the standards of the subsection, other applicable building code 


provisions, and safety and other standards developed or to be developed by such Dthe 


applicable department.  


(5) No permit shall be issued if the proposed work would impair the public health, safety 


or welfare. 


(6) Persons denied a permit shall be given notice of and the reasons for such denial, and 


may appeal the denial to the city's public works committee, pursuant to the administrative 


review procedures of chapter 224.  


*** 


(k) Termination. 


 


Any permit granted hereunder may be terminated by the issuer, either the department of  







  


planning and development or street superintendent for any violation of the conditions of 


the permit or this chapter, and in any event 


 


(1) Permits shall terminate at the end of three months from the date of issuance for 


excavation permits under subsection (b) and as required under individual permit for permits 


under subsections (e), (f) and (g). 


 


(2) Notwithstanding subsection (1), the permit issuer may revoke, suspend, or refuse to 


extend permits on any of the following grounds: 


 


a. Issuance of a permit for the requested date would interfere with an exhibition, 


celebration, festival or other event; 


b. Misrepresentation of any fact relevant to the permit; 


c. Failure to maintain required insurance; 


e. The proposed or actual activity is contrary to the public health, safety or 


welfare; 


f. The proposed or actual activity conflicts with applicable ordinances or other 


regulations concerning the right-of-way; or 


g. Any other failure to comply with any conditions of the permit or this chapter. 


  


(3) Any person aggrieved by a decision of the permit issuer revoking, suspending, or 


refusing to extend a permit may appeal such a decision to the city's public works 


committee, pursuant to the administrative review procedures of chapter 2.  


*** 


(m)   Penalty. 


 


Any person who violates this ordinance or fails to comply with the provisions of this 


ordinance shall be subject to a forfeiture of not less than one hundred twenty dollars 


($120) nor more than six hundred dollars ($600). Each day such violation or failure to 


comply continues shall be considered a separate offense. 


 








CITY OF STOUGHTON, 381 E. MAIN STREET, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Approving an application form and permit form for Permits to Excavate in the Public Right-of-Way. 


 
Committee Action: 


 
N/A 


 
Fiscal Impact: 


 
 


 
File Number: 


 
R-78-2019 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
May 28, 2019 


 


The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows: 


 


RECITALS 


 


A. The City of Stoughton (the “City”) is amending the procedures required to apply for a Street 


opening and obstruction permit under its Code of Ordinances § 64-9 (b).  


B. The City has drafted an application form, attached as Exhibit A, which will comply with the 


new Code procedures, while protecting the public health, safety and welfare.  


C. The City has also drafted a permit form, attached as Exhibit B, which will comply with the 


new Code procedures, while protecting the public health, safety and welfare. 
 


RESOLUTION 


 


The Common Council of the City of Stoughton hereby approves the application form and permit 


form for use by the City. All applicants for a permit to excavate in the public right-of-way must 


complete the application form. Upon approval of any such application, the City must complete the 


permit form. The Public Works and Utilities directors may collectively make such changes to the 


permit and application forms as are necessary to further the purposes of Code § 64-9, and to comply 


with applicable laws. 


 
 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote       


  


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


  


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote       
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RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Resolution Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to adopt a policy relating to attending 


City meetings via remote access  


 


Committee Action:  Community Affairs and Council Policy approved 5-0 on February 5, 2019 


 


Fiscal Impact: None 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


   
File Number: 


 
R-79-2019 Date Introduced:  May 28, 2019  


 
WHEREAS, the Community Affairs and Council Policy Committee met on March 19, 2018 to 


discuss allowing attendance and participation in City meetings via an electronic means; and  


 


WHEREAS, Community Affairs and Council Policy recommended 4-0 to adopt a policy to 


prohibit attending and participating in City meetings via telephone, conference call, video 


conference call or any other media, and  


 


WHEREAS, the Council provided recommended that the Policy should allow attending meetings 


virtually in some circumstances and direct the Committee to revise the policy; now 


 


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the Council approve 


the City of Stoughton Policy Relating to attending City meetings via remote access 


 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 
 


 


 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     


 


 







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
COMMON COUNCIL POLICY 


ATTENDING CITY MEETINGS VIA REMOTE ACCESS 
 


Attendance or participation by an elected City official or appointed citizen member via telephone, 


conference call, video conference call or any other electronic media shall be permitted for standing/non-


standing committees if reasonable arrangements can be made.  The committee member attending the 


meeting via remote access shall be permitted to vote and will count towards the quorum of the 


meeting. Only one member of each committee may participate in the meeting via remote access.  


Participation via remote access for Planning Commission, the Redevelopment Authority for City Council 


shall be prohibited. Members must be physically present in order to attend or participate in Planning 


Commission, Redevelopment Authority and City Council. Planning Commission members may 


participate via remote access only for discussion purposes; they may not vote or count towards the 


quorum.  If a member is unable to attend a City meeting, they must contact the City Clerk or the 


Chairperson of the committee to notify him/her of the absence by noon on the day of the meeting.  
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City of Stoughton, 381 E Main Street, Stoughton WI  53589 


 


 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Resolution Ordering a Special Election for Aldermanic District 4 


 


 


 


  
File Number: 


 
R-80-2019 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
May 28, 2019 


 


WHEREAS, Nicole Wiessinger resigned from her position as District 4 Alder of  the City of 


Stoughton on January 2, 2019 which thereby creates a vacancy pursuant to §17.03(4)(c), Wis. 


Stats.; and 


WHEREAS,  the Common Council voted on February 12, 2019 to fill the vacancy by 


appointment of the Common Council until a special election could be held in April 2020 as 


authorized by §17.23(1)(a), Wis. Stats; and  


WHEREAS, the elected alder will serve until the term ends in April 2021  


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that a special election be 


held in April 2020 for Aldermanic District 4 to serve the remaining term until April 2021 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 
 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     
 








Meeting of:  COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON 


Date//Time:  Tuesday, May 14, 2019 @ 7:00 p.m.   


Location:  Council Chambers (2nd Floor of Public Safety Building) 


   321 South Fourth Street, Stoughton, Wisconsin 


Members: Mayor Tim Swadley, Matt Bartlett, Sid Boersma, Phil Caravello, Ozzie Doom, 


Ben Heili, Regina Hirsch, Greg Jenson, Jean Ligocki,  Tom Majewski, Lisa 


Reeves, Timothy Riley, and Brett Schumacher  


 


CALL TO ORDER 


 


Roll Call, Communications, and Presentations:  


Mayor Swadley called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.  


 


Clerk Licht called the roll and noted there were 11 alders present. Riley arrived at 7:03 p.m.  


 


Mayor Swadley announced that there would be an open house for the New City Hall and Public Works 


buildings on June 13th, 5:00 p.m.-7:00 p.m.  


  


Majewski said that he would like to form an ad hoc committee for the property located on HWY 138. 


He added he would like to have an ad hoc committee for architectural review board.  He would like 


alders send him goals for 2019 by the next council meeting.  


 


Mayor Swadley presented the following proclamations: Syttende Mai Proclamation; American Legion 


Poppy Proclamation; National Police Week Proclamation; Municipal Clerk Week Proclamation; Public 


Works Week Proclamation; Skilled Nursing Care Week  


 


TIF 101 Presentation was moved to end of the agenda. 


 


Minutes and Reports: the following minutes were entered into the record.  


Planning Commission (4/8/19); Finance Committee (4/9/19); Public Safety (3/27/19); Food Pantry 


(2/21/19); RDA (4/10/19, 4/16/19, 4/25/19); Tree Commission (4/11/19); CA CP (2/5/19)  


 


 


Public Comment Period:  


Matt Griffey, 1740 E Main St., Suite B, spoke regarding anti-bullying efforts he would like to see in the 


City. He would like to see the City and business together to speak about the matter.  


 


Peggy Veregin, 225 N. Monroe St., spoke in support of R-69-2019, R-70-2019, and R-71-2019. She 


said that the Landmarks Commission had previously approved the local landmark designations, but they 


were never approved by council.  


 


Sharon Mason-Boersma, 243 E. McKinley St., spoke regarding a narcan training event at the EMS 


building.  She announced that Stoughton Area Resource Team will have a gala event at the Field 


Reserve later this spring.  


 


  


 







Roger Springman, 812 Kreideman, spoke regarding the Riverfront development process. The RDA had 


6 responses from the REFI.  


 


CONSENT AGENDA 


A. April 23, 2019 Council Minutes 


B. R-63-2019- Resolution Authorizing and directing the proper City official (s) to issue Operator 


Licenses  


C. R-64-2019- Confirming the Mayor’s Citizen appointment of Jon Lewis to the Rivers & Trails 


Task Force 


D. March 2019 Treasurers Report 


 


Motion by Jenson, second by Bartlett to approve the consent agenda. Motion carried 12-0. 


 


OLD BUSINESS 


None 


 


NEW BUSINESS 


 


PUBLIC HEARING:  to consider special assessments for the improvement of curb and gutter, 


retaining walls, sidewalks, driveway aprons, carriage walks, drainage improvements/storm sewer 


connections, hand railing, sanitary sewer and water main extensions for the 2019 Street 


Reconstruction Project 


 


Planning Director Scheel gave an overview of the 2019 Street Reconstruction Projects.  


 


The public hearing opened at 7:30 p.m.  


 


Jim Blouin, 600 W Main St., said that there is nothing wrong with the sidewalk on either side of 


his property and he didn’t believe that it needed to be replaced.  


 


The public hearing closed at 7:32 p.m.  


 


R-65-2019- Resolution authorizing improvements and levying special assessments against 


benefited property in the City of Stoughton for the improvement of curb and gutter, retaining 


walls, sidewalks, driveway aprons, carriage walks, drainage improvements/storm sewer 


connections, hand railing, sanitary sewer and water main extensions for the 2019 Street 


Reconstruction Project  


 


Motion by Schumacher, second by Hirsch to approve R-65-2019 Resolution authorizing 


improvements and levying special assessments against benefited property in the City of 


Stoughton for the improvement of curb and gutter, retaining walls, sidewalks, driveway aprons, 


carriage walks, drainage improvements/storm sewer connections, hand railing, sanitary sewer 


and water main extensions for the 2019 Street Reconstruction Project. Hirsh addressed the 


concern of lead pipe laterals. Boersma said he would like to have an expert come and address 


this problem to the council in the near future. Motion carried 12-0.  


 







R-66-2019- Approving an extra-territorial jurisdictional (ETJ) land division (CSM) request by 


Dale Beske for property located at 1345 Tower Drive, Town of Dunkirk, Dane County, 


Wisconsin.  


 


Motion by Caravello, second by Riley to approve R-66-2019 Approving an extra-territorial 


jurisdictional (ETJ) land division (CSM) request by Dale Beske for property located at 1345 


Tower Drive, Town of Dunkirk, Dane County, Wisconsin. Motion carried 12-0.  


 


R-67-2019- Approving a Certified Survey Map (CSM) at 409 Lowell Street which is owned by 


the Paul Rockwell, Dane County, Wisconsin.  


 


Motion by Caravello, second by Schumacher to approve R-67-2019 Approving a Certified 


Survey Map (CSM) at 409 Lowell Street which is owned by the Paul Rockwell, Dane County, 


Wisconsin. Motion carried 12-0. 


 


R-68-2019- Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to enter into an agreement with GRG 


Playcscapes for the design and installation of a natural/adventure playground at Criddle Park  


 


Motion by Schumacher, second by Jenson to approve R-68-2019 Authorizing and directing the proper 


City official(s) to enter into an agreement with GRG Playcscapes for the design and installation of a 


natural/adventure playground at Criddle Park. Motion carried 12-0. 


 


R-69-2019- Officially designating the building historically known as the Turner and Atkinson Tobacco 


Warehouse at 515 E. Main Street (also known as Seventh Street) as a Local Landmark in the City of 


Stoughton  


 


Motion by Ligocki, second by Majweski to approve R-69-2019 Officially designating the building 


historically known as the Turner and Atkinson Tobacco Warehouse at 515 E. Main Street (also known 


as Seventh Street) as a Local Landmark in the City of Stoughton. Motion carried 12-0. 


 


R-70-2019-Officially designating the house historically known as the Era H. and Harriet Grout Gerald 


House at 118 N. Page Street as a Local Landmark in the City of Stoughton, WI   


 


Motion by Ligocki, second by Majewksi to approve R-70-2019 Officially designating the house 


historically known as the Era H. and Harriet Grout Gerald House at 118 N. Page Street as a Local 


Landmark in the City of Stoughton, WI. Motion carried 12-0. 


 


R-71-2019-Officially designating the building located at 148-154 E. Main Street, historically known as 


the Hans Peterson Building as a Local Landmark in the City of Stoughton, WI  


 


Motion by Ligocki, second by Majewski to approve R-71-2019 Officially designating the building 


located at 148-154 E. Main Street, historically known as the Hans Peterson Building as a Local 


Landmark in the City of Stoughton, WI. Motion carried 12-0. 


  


O-14-2019- Amending Chapter 70-180 of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code; relating to No 


Parking 3:00 a.m. to 5:00 a.m. by creating subsection 4  







 


Jenson read O-14-2019 for the first reading.  It will be back before the Council on May 28, 2019.  


         


O-15-2019-Amending Chapter 70-176 (78) of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code; relating to 


parking restrictions on Hoel Avenue  


 


Jenson read O-15-2019 for the first reading. It will be back before the Council on May 28, 2019. 


 


O-16-2019-Amending Chapter 70-176 (79) of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code; relating to 


parking restrictions on Otteson Drive between Hoel Avenue and Jens Court 


 


Jenson read O-16-2019 for the first reading. It will be back before the Council on May 28, 2019.   


 


O-17-2019-Amending Chapter 70-176 of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code; Creating Sub Section 


(77) relating to parking restrictions on the west side of Hults Road 


 


Jenson read O-17-2019 for the reading. It will be back before the Council on May 28, 2019.  


 


O-18-2019-Amending Section 6-2, Relating to the Keeping of Honey Bees and Chickens; 


Regulation of Animals  


 


Hirsch read O-18-2019 for the first reading. She added that it should always reference honey 


bees. She noted that in Section 2 should also mention sections (b) (c ) and (d).  


 


Motion by Majewski, second by Hirsch to waive the rules to vote on the ordinance after the first 


reading. Motion carried 12-0. 


 


Motion by Hirsch, second by Heili to approve O-18-2019 Amending Section 6-2, Relating to the 


Keeping of Honey Bees and Chickens; Regulation of Animals with the amendments listed above. 


Motion carried 12-0. 


 


R-72-2019-Approving registration forms for Chicken and Bee Keeping  


 


The council directed that this item go on the agenda for the June CA/CP meeting.  


 


Adjournment:  


Motion by Jenson, second by Heili to adjourn at 8:43 p.m. Motion carried 12-0. 


 


Respectfully Submitted,  


Holly Licht, City Clerk  








 


WHEREAS the City Clerk’s office has received an application for an Operator’s License from 


the following applicants: 


 


Name      Place of Business 


  Lydia Ganser     Food Pantry-Citgo 


Hassamudin Hakimi    Food Pantry-Citgo 


Heather Heritage    Lon’s Tailgaters 


Kristi Huberd     Food Pantry-Citgo 


Dennis Markuson    Kwik Trip #967 


Heather O’Donnell    Lon’s Tailgaters 


Mikayla Roddendorf    Kwik Trip #967 


Jody Runden     Walgreens 


Belinda Suby     BP-W. Main St.    


 


WHEREAS, the Police Chief and City Clerk have reviewed and approved the issuance of an 


Operator Licenses to said applicants, now therefore 


 


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the proper city 


official(s) be hereby authorized and directed to issue Operator Licenses to the above named 


applicants. 


 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 


 


 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     


 


 
RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to issue Operator Licenses to various applicants. 


 
Committee 


Action: 


 
N/A 


Fiscal Impact: N/A 


 
File Number: R-73-2019 


 
Date Introduced:   May 28, 2019 








DRAFT STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, May 20, 2019 – 5:00 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI 
Page No.  1 


Location:   Edmund T. Malinowski Board Room 


 Stoughton Utilities Administration Office 


 600 South Fourth Street 


 Stoughton, Wisconsin, 53589 


Members Present: Citizen Member Kym Ackerman, Alderperson Ben Heili, Alderperson Regina 


Hirsch, Alderperson Greg Jenson, Mayor Tim Swadley 


Excused: Citizen Member David Erdman, Citizen Member John Kallas 


Absent: None 


Others Present: Ms. Megan Cahill of Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP, Stoughton Director of 


Finance & Comptroller Jamin Friedl, Stoughton Utilities Assistant Director Brian 


Hoops, Alderperson Brett Schumacher, Stoughton Utilities Director Jill Weiss, 


Stoughton Assistant Director of Finance & City Treasurer Ryan Wiesen 


Call to Order:  Stoughton Utilities Director Jill Weiss called the regular Stoughton Utilities Committee Meeting 


to order at 5:00 p.m. 


Utilities Committee Consent Agenda:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed the Stoughton Utilities 


Committee consent agenda items.  Discussion followed.   


Motion by Jenson, the motion seconded by Heili, to approve the following consent agenda items as presented:  


a. Draft Minutes of the April 15, 2019 Regular Utilities Committee Meeting 


b. Stoughton Utilities April Payments Due List Report 


c. Stoughton Utilities March Financial Summary 


d. Stoughton Utilities March Statistical Report 


e. Stoughton Utilities April Activities Report 


f. Communications 


The motion carried unanimously 5 to 0. 


Election of the Utilities Committee Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson:  Motion by Jenson to nominate 


Erdman to the position of Stoughton Utilities Committee Chairperson.  Discussion followed.  The motion carried 


unanimously 5 to 0. 


Motion by Jenson to nominate Swadley to the position of Stoughton Utilities Committee Vice-Chairperson.  


Discussion followed.  The motion carried unanimously 5 to 0.   


Election of the Utilities Committee Liaison and Alternate Liaison to the Stoughton Common Council:  


Motion by Jenson to nominate Hirsch to the position of Utilities Committee Liaison to the Stoughton Common 


Council.  Discussion followed.  The motion carried unanimously 5 to 0. 


Motion by Hirsch to nominate Heili to the position of Alternate Liaison to the Stoughton Common Council.  


Discussion followed.  The motion carried unanimously 5 to 0. 



bhoops

Highlight
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Location:   Edmund T. Malinowski Board Room 


 Stoughton Utilities Administration Office 


 600 South Fourth Street 


 Stoughton, Wisconsin, 53589 


Members Present: Citizen Member Kym Ackerman, Citizen Member David Erdman, Alderperson 


Regina Hirsch, Citizen Member John Kallas, Alderperson Pat O’Connor, Mayor 


Tim Swadley 


Excused: Alderperson Matt Bartlett 


Absent: None 


Others Present: Stoughton Director of Finance & Comptroller Jamin Friedl, CPA, Stoughton Utilities 


Assistant Director Brian Hoops, Stoughton Utilities Director Jill Weiss 


Call to Order:  Utilities Committee Chairperson David Erdman called the regular Stoughton Utilities Committee 


Meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. 


Utilities Committee Consent Agenda:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed the Stoughton Utilities 


Committee consent agenda items.  A status update was provided on customer collections and the end of the 


cold weather electric disconnection moratorium.  Discussion followed.   


Motion by O’Connor, the motion seconded by Hirsch, to approve the following consent agenda items as 


presented:  


a. Draft Minutes of the March 26, 2019 Regular Utilities Committee Meeting 


b. Stoughton Utilities March Payments Due List Report 


c. Stoughton Utilities February Financial Summary 


d. Stoughton Utilities February Statistical Report 


e. Stoughton Utilities March Activities Report 


f. Communications 


The motion carried unanimously 6 to 0. 


Status of the Utilities Committee recommendation(s) to the Stoughton Common Council:  Stoughton 


Utilities staff presented and discussed the following items from the Stoughton Utilities Committee that were 


approved and/or placed on file by the Stoughton Common Council: 


Business: 


1. Licensing Agreement for Communications Attachments to Utility Poles Between City of Stoughton 


and MCImetro Access Transmission Services Corp. 


2. Approval of the 2019 Water Infrastructure Reconstruction Project 


3. Approval of the 2019 Sanitary Sewer Infrastructure Reconstruction Project 


4. Appointment of Jill M. Weiss, P.E. as Director to the WPPI Energy Board of Directors 


Consent Agenda: 


1. Minutes of the February 18, 2019 Regular Utilities Committee Meeting 







STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, April 15, 2019 – 5:00 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI 
Page No.  2 


2. Stoughton Utilities February Payments Due List Report 


3. Stoughton Utilities January Financial Summary 


4. Stoughton Utilities January Statistical Report 


Stoughton Utilities Proposed Electric and Water Tax Stabilization Dividends:  Stoughton Utilities and City 


of Stoughton staff presented and discussed the annual tax stabilization dividends.  The history of the annual 


dividends was discussed, as well as the calculation methodology.  Staff informed the committee that the 


recommendation of the Finance Department and Stoughton Utilities is to approve an electric utility tax 


stabilization dividend of $27,902, and to not approve a water utility tax stabilization dividend due to insufficient 


utility earnings and cash flow.  Discussion followed.   


Motion by Erdman, the motion seconded by Kallas, to approve the electric tax-stabilization dividend of $27,902, 


to present the dividend to the Stoughton Common Council, and to direct staff to discontinue the practice of 


issuing dividends in future years.    


Motion by Swadley, the motion seconded by O’Connor, to amend the original motion to remove the direction to 


discontinue the practice of issuing dividends in future years.  The motion failed on a tie 3 to 3, with Ackerman, 


Erdman, and Kallas voting no. 


The motion as originally read carried 4 to 2, with Hirsch and O’Connor voting no. 


Stoughton Electric Utility Annual Report filed with the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin:  


Stoughton Utilities and City of Stoughton staff presented and discussed the Stoughton Electric Utility Annual 


Report filed with the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin.  Discussion followed. 


Stoughton Water Utility Annual Report filed with the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin:   


Stoughton Utilities and City of Stoughton staff presented and discussed the Stoughton Water Utility Annual 


Report filed with the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin.  Discussion followed. 


Utilities Committee future agenda items:  Staff informed the committee that upcoming topics include the 


presentation of the 2018 financial audit report and management letter by Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP; and 


discussions regarding funding assistance programs for the replacement of privately-owned lead water services, 


including a future ordinance mandating such replacement; and the resumption of periodic tours of utility facilities 


as weather allows.  Swadley thanked O’Connor for his time serving on the Utilities Committee, and discussed 


his planned appointments to the Committee and the committee’s reorganization at the May meeting.  Hirsch 


requested a future discussion on changes occurring in the electric industry relating to renewables, storage, and 


distributed generation, and how Stoughton Utilities will adapt to such changes. 


Adjournment:  Motion by O’Connor, the motion seconded by Kallas, to adjourn the regular Stoughton Utilities 


Committee Meeting at 5:45 p.m.  The motion carried unanimously 6 to 0. 


Respectfully submitted 


Brian R. Hoops 


Stoughton Utilities Assistant Director 
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7430Company:


VO for check batch: 308935/VO for check batch: 


308935


EP001786 516 WELLS FARGO BANK4/4/2019  74,182.73


WPPI-Renewable Energy/WPPI-Renewable 


Energy/WPPI-Buy Back Solar Credit/WPPI-Buy 


Back Solar Credit/WPPI-Large Power/WPPI-Large 


Power/WPPI-Support Services/WPPI-Support 


Services/WPPI-Support Services/WPPI-Support 


Services/WPPI-Support Services/More...


HC001787 009 WPPI4/8/2019  830,845.24


First Data-April Ach/First Data-April Ach/First 


Data-April Ach/First Data-April Ach/First Data-April 


Ach/First Data-April Ach/First Data-April Ach/First 


Data-April Ach


HC001788 421 FIRST DATA CHARGES4/30/2019  30.52


Charter Comm-April Ach/Charter Comm-April 


Ach/Charter Comm-April Ach/Charter Comm-April 


Ach/Charter Comm-April Ach/Charter Comm-April 


Ach/Charter Comm-April Ach/Charter Comm-April 


Ach


HC001789 547 Charter Communications-Ach4/30/2019  422.03


Gordon Flesch-April Ach/Gordon Flesch-April 


Ach/Gordon Flesch-April Ach/Gordon Flesch-April 


Ach/Gordon Flesch-April Ach/Gordon Flesch-April 


Ach/Gordon Flesch-April Ach/Gordon Flesch-April 


Ach


HC001790 856 GORDON FLESCH COMPANY, INC.4/30/2019  546.31


Delta Dental - April Ach/Delta Dental - April 


Ach/Delta Dental - April Ach/Delta Dental - April 


Ach/Delta Dental - April Ach/Delta Dental - April Ach


HC001791 001 Delta Dental - Ach4/30/2019  2,719.64


TDS Metrocom - April Ach/TDS Metrocom - April 


Ach/TDS Metrocom - April Ach/TDS Metrocom - 


April Ach/TDS Metrocom - April Ach/TDS Metrocom 


- April Ach/TDS Metrocom - April Ach/TDS 


Metrocom - April Ach


HC001792 007 TDS Metrocom - Ach4/30/2019  459.60


EBC - April Ach/EBC - April Ach/EBC - April 


Ach/EBC - April Ach/EBC - April Ach/EBC - April 


Ach/EBC - April Ach/EBC - April Ach


HC001793 002 Employee Benefits Corp - Ach4/30/2019  742.20


AT&T-April Ach/AT&T-April Ach/AT&T-April 


Ach/AT&T-April Ach


HC001794 952 AT&T4/30/2019  155.20
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Us Cellular - April Ach/Us Cellular - April Ach/Us 


Cellular - April Ach/Us Cellular - April Ach/Us 


Cellular - April Ach/Us Cellular - April Ach/Us 


Cellular - April Ach/Us Cellular - April Ach


HC001795 004 Us Cellular - Ach4/30/2019  698.62


Alliant Energy - April Ach/Alliant Energy - April 


Ach/Alliant Energy - April Ach/Alliant Energy - April 


Ach/Alliant Energy - April Ach/Alliant Energy - April 


Ach/Alliant Energy - April Ach/Alliant Energy - April 


Ach/Alliant Energy - April Ach/More...


HC001796 003 Alliant Energy - Ach4/30/2019  2,805.37


Federal Taxes-April Ach/Federal Taxes-April 


Ach/Federal Taxes-April Ach/Federal Taxes-April 


Ach/Federal Taxes-April Ach/Federal Taxes-April 


Ach/Federal Taxes-April Ach/Federal Taxes-April 


Ach


HC001797 025 Payroll Federal Taxes- Ach4/30/2019  36,176.73


A T C Company - April Ach/A T C Company - April 


Ach


HC001798 014 A T C Company - Ach4/30/2019  6,846.00


Client Analysis-April Ach/Client Analysis-April 


Ach/Client Analysis-April Ach/Client Analysis-April 


Ach/Client Analysis-April Ach/Client Analysis-April 


Ach/Client Analysis-April Ach/Client Analysis-April 


Ach


HC001799 020 Wells Fargo Bank-Ach4/30/2019  12,067.55


State Taxes-April Ach/State Taxes-April Ach/State 


Taxes-April Ach/State Taxes-April Ach


HC001800 008 Payroll  State Taxes - Ach4/30/2019  7,118.39


Dept of Rev - April Ach/Dept of Rev - April Ach/Dept 


of Rev - April Ach/Dept of Rev - April Ach


HC001801 010 WI Dept. of Revenue Taxpayment-Ach4/30/2019  15,337.12


Pitney Bowes - April Ach/Pitney Bowes - April 


Ach/Pitney Bowes - April Ach/Pitney Bowes - April 


Ach/Pitney Bowes - April Ach/Pitney Bowes - April 


Ach/Pitney Bowes - April Ach/Pitney Bowes - April 


Ach


HC001802 318 PITNEY-BOWES INC-PURCHASE POWER4/30/2019  7,575.00


M Drake-Customer Refund/M Drake-Customer 


Refund


VC023642 545 KEVIN DRAKE4/3/2019 -77.39


Ipswitch-Network monitor/Ipswitch-Network 


monitor/Ipswitch-Network monitor/Ipswitch-Network 


monitor/Ipswitch-Network monitor/Ipswitch-Network 


monitor


CK026219 031 IPSWITCH INC4/4/2019  9,110.50


Boardman Clark-ATG Agre/Boardman Clark-ATG 


Agre


CK026220 058 BOARDMAN CLARK  LLP4/4/2019  183.00
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Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-TrenchingCK026221 290 MID-WEST TREE & EXCAVATION, INC4/4/2019  175.00


Strand-19 Utility Const/Strand-19 Utility 


Const/Strand-19 Utility Const/Strand-19 Utility 


Const


CK026222 448 STRAND ASSOCIATES INC.4/4/2019  7,417.86


M Drake-Customer Refund/M Drake-Customer 


Refund


CK026223 545 KEVIN DRAKE4/4/2019  77.39


EFI INC-Exit Signs/EFI INC-Exit SignsCK026224 979 EFI INC4/4/2019  78.38


WI SCTF-Support/WI SCTF-SupportCK026225 133 WISCONSIN SCTF4/4/2019  456.77


Inkworks-Annual Wa Report/Inkworks-Annual Wa 


Report/Inkworks-Supplies/Inkworks-Supplies/Inkwor


ks-Inserts/Inkworks-Inserts/Inkworks-Supplies/Inkw


orks-Supplies/Inkworks-Supplies/Inkworks-Supplies


CK026226 166 INKWORKS, INC.4/10/2019  2,036.30


Border States-Inventory/Border 


States-Inventory/Border States-Inventory/Border 


States-Inventory/Border States-Supplies/Border 


States-Supplies


CK026227 327 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY4/10/2019  5,081.17


S Crowley-Customer Refund/S Crowley-Customer 


Refund


CK026228 464 SEAN CROWLEY4/10/2019  591.60


El Testing-New Sleeves/El Testing-New SleevesCK026229 324 ELECTRICAL TESTING LAB., LLC.4/10/2019  463.36


Resco-Transformers/Resco-Transformers/Resco-In


ventory/Resco-Inventory/Resco-Supplies/Resco-Su


pplies


CK026230 400 RESCO4/10/2019  8,318.70


Wright Tree-Tree Trimming/Wright Tree-Tree 


Trimming/Wright Tree-Tree Trimming/Wright 


Tree-Tree Trimming


CK026231 489 WRIGHT TREE SERVICE4/10/2019  6,657.31


Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Tre


nching/Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Trenching/Midw


est-Trenching/Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Trenchin


g


CK026232 290 MID-WEST TREE & EXCAVATION, INC4/10/2019  1,853.50


WI DNR - Operator Certificate/WI DNR - Operator 


Certificate


CK026233 956 WI DNR - OPERATOR CERTIFICATION SS/74/10/2019  45.00
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City Stoton-Apr Retirement/City Stoton-Apr 


Retirement/City Stoton-Apr Retirement/City 


Stoton-Apr Retirement/City Stoton-Apr 


Retirement/City Stoton-Apr Retirement


CK026234 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON4/17/2019  18,530.26


WI SCTF-Support/WI SCTF-SupportCK026235 133 WISCONSIN SCTF4/17/2019  456.77


Elec Testing-Glove Tests/Elec Testing-Glove 


Tests/Elec Testing-Sleeve Tests/Elec 


Testing-Sleeve Tests


CK026236 324 ELECTRICAL TESTING LAB., LLC.4/17/2019  393.50


Border States-Supplies/Border 


States-Inventory/Border States-Inventory/Border 


States-Supplies


CK026237 327 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY4/17/2019  2,766.00


Resco-Inventory/Resco-Inventory/Resco-Inventory/


Resco-Inventory/Resco-Inventory/Resco-Inventory


CK026238 400 RESCO4/17/2019  1,106.00


Insights-Fuel/Insights-Fuel/Insights-Fuel/Insights-Fu


el/Insights-Fuel/Insights-Fuel


CK026239 451 INSIGHT FS4/17/2019  2,614.21


GLS Utility-March Locates/GLS Utility-March 


Locates/GLS Utility-March Locates/GLS 


Utility-March Locates/GLS Utility-March 


Locates/GLS Utility-March Locates


CK026240 727 GLS UTILITY LLC4/17/2019  4,049.25


Harvest Farms-Emb Credits/Harvest Farms-Emb 


Credits/Harvest Farms-Emb Credits/Harvest 


Farms-Emb Credits


CK026241 084 HARVEST FARMS, LLC4/17/2019  20,240.00


LW Allen-Final Pay Req/LW Allen-Final Pay ReqCK026242 207 L.W. ALLEN, INC.4/17/2019  67,780.00


Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Tre


nching/Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Trenching/Midw


est-Trenching/Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Trenchin


g


CK026243 290 MID-WEST TREE & EXCAVATION, INC4/17/2019  1,511.50


Municipal-19 Member Dues/Municipal-19 Member 


Dues


CK026244 313 MUNICIPAL ENVIRONMENTAL GROUP4/17/2019  1,391.06


Wright-Tree Trimming/Wright-Tree 


Trimming/Wright-Tree Trimming/Wright-Tree 


Trimming


CK026245 489 WRIGHT TREE SERVICE4/17/2019  6,259.00


Vining Sparks-Safekeeping/Vining 


Sparks-Safekeeping


CK026246 584 VINING SPARKS IBG, L.P.4/17/2019  240.00
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City Stoton-Water Tower Rental/City Stoton-Vehicle 


Maint.


CK026247 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON4/17/2019  47,566.91


Utiltity-Qtr Tower/Utiltity-Qtr TowerCK026248 362 UTILITY SERVICE CO., INC4/24/2019  7,301.66


A Bollom-Customer Refund/A Bollom-Customer 


Refund


CK026249 844 ANN BOLLOM4/24/2019  50.81


K Hermanson-Customer Refund/K 


Hermanson-Customer Refund


CK026250 921 KEVIN HERMANSON4/24/2019  198.09


Resco-Transformers/Resco-TransformersCK026251 400 RESCO4/24/2019  8,556.00


Rosenbaum-Hydro Excavation/Rosenbaum-Hydro 


Excavation


CK026252 405 ROSENBAUM CRUSHING & EXCAV.4/24/2019  140.00


Strand-19 Utility Const/Strand-19 Utility 


Const/Strand-General Eng/Strand-General 


Eng/Strand-Uniroyal/Strand-Uniroyal/Strand-Scada/


Strand-Scada/Strand-19 Utility Const/Strand-19 


Utility Const


CK026253 448 STRAND ASSOCIATES INC.4/24/2019  2,437.13


G Mason-Customer Refund/G Mason-Customer 


Refund


CK026254 536 GARY MASON4/24/2019  22.27


A Jensen-Customer Refund/A Jensen-Customer 


Refund/A Jensen-Customer Refund/A 


Jensen-Customer Refund/A Jensen-Customer 


Refund/A Jensen-Customer Refund/A 


Jensen-Customer Refund/A Jensen-Customer 


Refund


CK026255 471 ANGELA JENSEN4/24/2019  407.51


Forster-Cracked Cts/Forster-Scada 


Assist/Forster-Scada Assist/Forster-Tech 


Assist/Forster-Cracked Cts/Forster-Tech 


Assist/Forster-Roundabout/Forster-Roundabout


CK101811 157 FORSTER ELEC. ENG.,INC.4/4/2019  2,230.00


Great West-April A Def Comp/Great West-April A 


Def Comp


CK101812 463 GREAT-WEST4/4/2019  2,617.00


N Shore Bk-Apr A Def Comp/N Shore Bk-Apr A Def 


Comp


CK101813 731 NORTH SHORE BANK FSB-DEFERRED COMP.4/4/2019  450.00


K Kind-Customer Refund/K Kind-Customer 


Refund/K Kind-Customer Refund/K Kind-Customer 


Refund


CK101814 801 KATHRYN KIND4/11/2019  66.00


Hanson Pest-Pest Maint.CK101815 310 HANSON PEST MANAGEMENT4/18/2019  28.00
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Great West-Apr B Def Comp/Great West-Apr B Def 


Comp


CK101816 463 GREAT-WEST4/18/2019  2,617.00


CDW Gvt-Proff Services/CDW Gvt-Proff 


Services/CDW Gvt-Firewall Upgrades/CDW 


Gvt-Firewall Upgrades/CDW Gvt-Firewall 


Upgrades/CDW Gvt-Firewall Upgrades/CDW 


Gvt-Proff Services/CDW Gvt-Proff Services/CDW 


Gvt-Proff Services/CDW Gvt-Proff Services/More...


CK101817 604 CDW GOVERNMENT4/18/2019  7,960.00


N Shore Bk-Apr B Def Comp/N Shore Bk-Apr B Def 


Comp


CK101818 731 NORTH SHORE BANK FSB-DEFERRED COMP.4/18/2019  450.00


Company Total  1,251,632.63







Date:


Time:


User:


Thursday, April 04, 2019


10:28AM


SGUNSOLUS


Stoughton Utilities


Posting Preview Report


{PSSPurchCard.RefNbr} =  '0000000097'Select By:


Account Sub Amount ProjecMerchantVendor ID Post Date Emp IDCompany Description


Import ID: 009010 Import # : 0000000097


-305.96143 000000  - LAWMENS DISTRIBUTION LLC553 03/29/2019REFUNDED 69707430


 302.88833 000000  - NCL OF WISCONSIN INC830 03/04/2019LAB SUPPLIES 83007460


 32.43107.14 000000 190303XX - 1SPEE-DEE DELIVERY SERVICE937 03/11/2019PARADISE POND TESTING 83007460


 1,450.00833 000000  - ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTING907 03/12/2019TOXICITY TESTING 83007460


 16.42107.14 000000 190303XX - 1SPEE-DEE DELIVERY SERVICE937 03/18/2019PARADISE POND TESTING 83007460


 168.00833 000000  - NORTHERN LAKE SERVICE, IN974 03/20/2019MERCURY TEST 83007460


 287.00833 000000  - NORTHERN LAKE SERVICE, IN974 03/25/2019PLANT SAMPLES 83007460


 156.00107.14 000000 190303XX - 1NORTHERN LAKE SERVICE, IN974 03/25/2019PARADISE POND TESTING 83007460


 30.00833 000000  - BADGER WATER390 03/29/2019LAB WATER 83007460


 1,093.17920 000000  - AUTOGRAPH MAYFLOWER894 03/01/2019Training Expense - Lodging - APPA Legislative Rally 52507430


 99.00143 000000  - DIGICERT INC757 03/04/2019SSL CERTIFICATE - PHONE SYSTEM CUCM - INVALID DOMAIN - WILL BE REFUNDED 52507430


 31.90921 000000  - MSFT   E04007NZ7O836 03/04/2019SOFTWARE LICENSING - HOSTED O365 - MONTHLY 52507430


 11.60921 000000  - MSFT   E04007NZ7O836 03/04/2019SOFTWARE LICENSING - HOSTED O365 - MONTHLY 52507450


 14.50851 000000  - MSFT   E04007NZ7O836 03/04/2019SOFTWARE LICENSING - HOSTED O365 - MONTHLY 52507460


 54.45921 000000  - DIGICERT INC757 03/04/2019SSL CERTIFICATE - PHONE SYSTEM - SUCUCM01 52507430


 19.80921 000000  - DIGICERT INC757 03/04/2019SSL CERTIFICATE - PHONE SYSTEM - SUCUCM01 52507450


 24.75851 000000  - DIGICERT INC757 03/04/2019SSL CERTIFICATE - PHONE SYSTEM - SUCUCM01 52507460


 99.00143 000000  - DIGICERT INC757 03/04/2019SSL CERTIFICATE - PHONE SYSTEM CUXN - INVALID DOMAIN - WILL BE REFUNDED 52507430


 54.45921 000000  - DIGICERT INC757 03/04/2019SSL CERTIFICATE - PHONE SYSTEM - SUUCXN01 52507430


 19.80921 000000  - DIGICERT INC757 03/04/2019SSL CERTIFICATE - PHONE SYSTEM - SUUCXN01 52507450


 24.75851 000000  - DIGICERT INC757 03/04/2019SSL CERTIFICATE - PHONE SYSTEM - SUUCXN01 52507460


 56.67903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 03/05/2019Credit card processing - MyAccount Online 52507430


 20.40903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 03/05/2019Credit card processing - MyAccount Online 52507450


 27.20840 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 03/05/2019Credit card processing - MyAccount Online 52507460


 9.08233 001099  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 03/05/2019Credit card processing - MyAccount Online 52507430


 39.72903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 03/05/2019Credit card processing - Desktop and recurring 52507430


 14.30903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 03/05/2019Credit card processing - Desktop and recurring 52507450


 19.06840 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 03/05/2019Credit card processing - Desktop and recurring 52507460


 6.37233 001099  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 03/05/2019Credit card processing - Desktop and recurring 52507430


 29.46921 000000  - CDW GOVT #RJF5832604 03/06/2019PHONE WALL MOUNT X1 52507430


 10.71921 000000  - CDW GOVT #RJF5832604 03/06/2019PHONE WALL MOUNT X1 52507450


 13.41851 000000  - CDW GOVT #RJF5832604 03/06/2019PHONE WALL MOUNT X1 52507460


 123.02921 000000  - CDW GOVT #RJF5003604 03/06/2019REPLACEMENT PHONE - FILING ROOM 52507430


 44.73921 000000  - CDW GOVT #RJF5003604 03/06/2019REPLACEMENT PHONE - FILING ROOM 52507450


 55.93851 000000  - CDW GOVT #RJF5003604 03/06/2019REPLACEMENT PHONE - FILING ROOM 52507460


 2.74921 000000  - PAYPAL  ONEUP-BINS969 03/06/2019Software license - Bins 52507430


 0.99921 000000  - PAYPAL  ONEUP-BINS969 03/06/2019Software license - Bins 52507450


 1.26851 000000  - PAYPAL  ONEUP-BINS969 03/06/2019Software license - Bins 52507460


 59.49920 000000  - BANUSHI'S724 03/11/2019MEETING EXPENSE - JWEISS INTRODUCTION 52507430


 21.63920 000000  - BANUSHI'S724 03/11/2019MEETING EXPENSE - JWEISS INTRODUCTION 52507450


 27.06850 000000  - BANUSHI'S724 03/11/2019MEETING EXPENSE - JWEISS INTRODUCTION 52507460


 49.44921 000000  - AMZN MKTP US MW03T2OQ1422 03/11/2019TELEPHONE WALL MOUNTS X2 52507430
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 17.98921 000000  - AMZN MKTP US MW03T2OQ1422 03/11/2019TELEPHONE WALL MOUNTS X2 52507450


 22.48851 000000  - AMZN MKTP US MW03T2OQ1422 03/11/2019TELEPHONE WALL MOUNTS X2 52507460


 478.61921 000000  - CDW GOVT #RLF4396604 03/13/2019LAPTOP - JWEISS 52507430


 174.04921 000000  - CDW GOVT #RLF4396604 03/13/2019LAPTOP - JWEISS 52507450


 217.56851 000000  - CDW GOVT #RLF4396604 03/13/2019LAPTOP - JWEISS 52507460


 3,971.88921 000000  - CDW GOVT #RLV9812604 03/15/2019SOFTWARE LICENSING - MS OFFICE 2019 - 20 LICENSES - PERPETUAL 52507430


 1,444.32921 000000  - CDW GOVT #RLV9812604 03/15/2019SOFTWARE LICENSING - MS OFFICE 2019 - 20 LICENSES - PERPETUAL 52507450


 1,805.40851 000000  - CDW GOVT #RLV9812604 03/15/2019SOFTWARE LICENSING - MS OFFICE 2019 - 20 LICENSES - PERPETUAL 52507460


 153.92921 000000  - HPE NA_ HP PARTS STORE786 03/18/2019SERVER HARDWARE REPLACEMENT - FANS X3 52507430


 55.97921 000000  - HPE NA_ HP PARTS STORE786 03/18/2019SERVER HARDWARE REPLACEMENT - FANS X3 52507450


 69.98851 000000  - HPE NA_ HP PARTS STORE786 03/18/2019SERVER HARDWARE REPLACEMENT - FANS X3 52507460


 40.39921 000000  - CBI EASEUS SOFTWARE994 03/18/2019SOFTWARE LICENSING - EASEUS DATA RECOVERY - PERPETUAL 52507430


 14.69921 000000  - CBI EASEUS SOFTWARE994 03/18/2019SOFTWARE LICENSING - EASEUS DATA RECOVERY - PERPETUAL 52507450


 18.37851 000000  - CBI EASEUS SOFTWARE994 03/18/2019SOFTWARE LICENSING - EASEUS DATA RECOVERY - PERPETUAL 52507460


 4.04921 000000  - ARROW.COM&VERICAL.COM994 03/28/2019SPARE FUSES FOR INET RADIOS - X6 52507430


 1.47921 000000  - ARROW.COM&VERICAL.COM994 03/28/2019SPARE FUSES FOR INET RADIOS - X6 52507450


 1.85851 000000  - ARROW.COM&VERICAL.COM994 03/28/2019SPARE FUSES FOR INET RADIOS - X6 52507460


 959.57921 000000  - CDW GOVT #RQS9240604 03/29/2019SERVER HARDWARE REPLACEMENT - BARRACUDA EMAIL ARCHIVE 52507430


 348.93921 000000  - CDW GOVT #RQS9240604 03/29/2019SERVER HARDWARE REPLACEMENT - BARRACUDA EMAIL ARCHIVE 52507450


 436.19851 000000  - CDW GOVT #RQS9240604 03/29/2019SERVER HARDWARE REPLACEMENT - BARRACUDA EMAIL ARCHIVE 52507460


 12.14107.14 000000 190055XX - 1FASTENAL COMPANY01148 03/05/2019WASHERS 52007430


 34.30932 000000  - AMZN MKTP US MI4SJ3SJ2422 03/11/2019MISC SUPPLIES 52007430


 14.66588 000000  - AMZN MKTP US MI4SJ3SJ2422 03/11/2019MISC SUPPLIES 52007430


 193.03594 000000  - AMZN MKTP US MW4506AX0422 03/20/2019TOOLS 52007430


 47.05593 000000  - AMZN MKTP US MW7U80ZF2422 03/21/2019TOOLS 52007430


 19.57594 000000  - STOUGHTON LUMBER CO436 03/25/2019LANDSCAPING ADHESIVE 52007430


 8.85652 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 03/01/2019CHEMICAL PUMP TUBE 84007450


 14.99633 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 03/08/2019BOOSTER 7 VALVE 84007450


 100.00934 000000  - BP#8161960BLUEMKES BP AM994 03/12/2019FUEL FOR TRUCK 12 87007430


 9.99933 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 03/29/2019TRUCK 3 REPAIRS 87007450


 9.49633 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 03/29/2019PIPE THREADING/CAP 87007450


 156.75920 000000  - GISCI994 03/07/2019GISP Certification Renewal - Annual 43007430


 57.00920 000000  - GISCI994 03/07/2019GISP Certification Renewal - Annual 43007450


 71.25850 000000  - GISCI994 03/07/2019GISP Certification Renewal - Annual 43007460


 693.57107.14 000000 190901XX - 1HYDRO DESIGNS354 03/04/2019CROSS CONNECTIONS 74007450


 26.00642 000000  - WI STATE HYGIENE LAB675 03/05/2019FLOURIDE ANALYSIS 74007450


 872.04641 000000  - HAWKINS INC309 03/25/2019CHEMICALS 74007450


 8.48633 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 03/26/2019WELL 7 PUMP REPAIR PARTS 74007450


 159.04833 000000  - THE UPS STORE 3617164 03/04/2019WET TESTING 87107460


 1.99833 000000  - KWIK TRIP  73900007393994 03/04/2019ICE FOR SAMPLES 87107460


 20.37831 000000  - 663 STOUGHTON BUMPER TO B626 03/08/2019JET VAC WAX 87107460


 10.04834 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 03/13/2019PAINT SUPPLIES 87107460


 5.56831 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 03/21/2019JET VAC PARTS 87107460


 71.64831 000000  - WIEDENBECK INC883 03/25/2019MANHOLE LIFT 87107460
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 1.99833 000000  - KWIK TRIP  73900007393994 03/01/2019WET TESTING 82007460


 343.45834 000000  - H&H INDUSTRIES087 03/13/2019MAIN PLANT BOILER REPAIRS 82007460


 420.00834 000000  - H&H INDUSTRIES087 03/15/2019SCREENING ROOM HEATER REPAIRS 82007460


 69.99831 000000  - AMZN MKTP US MW0BZ9L90422 03/15/2019TWO WAY RADIOS 82007460


 39.90831 000000  - PAYPAL  SALES741969 03/15/2019JET VAC COUPLERS 82007460


 7.49851 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 03/20/2019OUTLET PLUG 82007460


 587.18833 000000  - NATIONAL FILTER -ME994 03/20/2019GBT PRESS BELT 82007460


 382.79834 000000  - FIRST SUPPLY LLC #2010550 03/21/2019PLANT BOILER PARTS 82007460


 31.49827 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 03/28/2019MISC SUPPLIES 82007460


 210.54833 000000  - PAYPAL  LANCECONSTR969 03/29/2019LIMIT SWITCH 82007460


 21.73920 000000  - TLF STOUGHTON FLORAL445 03/06/2019Welcome plant for office - JWeiss 36807430


 7.90920 000000  - TLF STOUGHTON FLORAL445 03/06/2019Welcome plant for office - JWeiss 36807450


 9.88850 000000  - TLF STOUGHTON FLORAL445 03/06/2019Welcome plant for office - JWeiss 36807460


 10.22642 000000  - UPS 1ZG194WT0323247542824 03/07/2019SHIPPING OF WATER SAMPLES 36807450


 47.02921 000000  - STAPLS7214726659000001352 03/11/2019KITCHEN, JANITORIAL, AND CONFERENCE ROOM SUPPLIES 36807430


 17.10921 000000  - STAPLS7214726659000001352 03/11/2019KITCHEN, JANITORIAL, AND CONFERENCE ROOM SUPPLIES 36807450


 21.38851 000000  - STAPLS7214726659000001352 03/11/2019KITCHEN, JANITORIAL, AND CONFERENCE ROOM SUPPLIES 36807460


 34.86921 000000  - STAPLS7214792580000001352 03/11/2019GENERAL OFFICE SUPPLIES 36807430


 12.55921 000000  - STAPLS7214792580000001352 03/11/2019GENERAL OFFICE SUPPLIES 36807450


 16.73851 000000  - STAPLS7214792580000001352 03/11/2019GENERAL OFFICE SUPPLIES 36807460


 5.59233 001099  - STAPLS7214792580000001352 03/11/2019GENERAL OFFICE SUPPLIES 36807430


 39.13921 000000  - STAPLS7214726525000001352 03/11/2019GENERAL OFFICE SUPPLIES 36807430


 14.08921 000000  - STAPLS7214726525000001352 03/11/2019GENERAL OFFICE SUPPLIES 36807450


 18.78851 000000  - STAPLS7214726525000001352 03/11/2019GENERAL OFFICE SUPPLIES 36807460


 6.27233 001099  - STAPLS7214726525000001352 03/11/2019GENERAL OFFICE SUPPLIES 36807430


 45.64921 000000  - STAPLS7214726841000001352 03/11/2019GIS MAPPING PRINTER SUPPLIES 36807430


 16.59921 000000  - STAPLS7214726841000001352 03/11/2019GIS MAPPING PRINTER SUPPLIES 36807450


 20.76851 000000  - STAPLS7214726841000001352 03/11/2019GIS MAPPING PRINTER SUPPLIES 36807460


 20.72921 000000  - STAPLS7214793219000001352 03/11/2019JANITORIAL AND CONFERENCE ROOM SUPPLIES 36807430


 7.53921 000000  - STAPLS7214793219000001352 03/11/2019JANITORIAL AND CONFERENCE ROOM SUPPLIES 36807450


 9.44851 000000  - STAPLS7214793219000001352 03/11/2019JANITORIAL AND CONFERENCE ROOM SUPPLIES 36807460


 10.22642 000000  - UPS 1ZG194WT0311614453824 03/14/2019SHIPPING OF WATER SAMPLES 36807450


 46.99921 000000  - STAPLS7214726525000002352 03/18/2019BILLPRINT PAPER SUPPLIES 36807430


 16.91921 000000  - STAPLS7214726525000002352 03/18/2019BILLPRINT PAPER SUPPLIES 36807450


 22.55851 000000  - STAPLS7214726525000002352 03/18/2019BILLPRINT PAPER SUPPLIES 36807460


 7.54233 001099  - STAPLS7214726525000002352 03/18/2019BILLPRINT PAPER SUPPLIES 36807430


 10.42921 000000  - KWIK TRIP  73900007393994 03/20/2019Conference room supplies 36807430


 3.79921 000000  - KWIK TRIP  73900007393994 03/20/2019Conference room supplies 36807450


 4.75851 000000  - KWIK TRIP  73900007393994 03/20/2019Conference room supplies 36807460


 10.22642 000000  - UPS 1ZG194WT0327807555824 03/21/2019SHIPPING OF WATER SAMPLES 36807450


 45.90932 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 03/14/2019CHAINSAW PARTS 69607430


 39.98932 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 03/14/2019CHAINSAW OIL 69607430


 69.99932 000000  - STOUGHTON LUMBER CO436 03/15/2019CHAINSAW REPAIRS 69607430


 16.25593 000000  - KWIK TRIP  73900007393994 03/15/2019GAS FOR CHAINSAWS 69607430
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 20.99921 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 03/14/2019CLOCK 52967430


 11.48594 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 03/14/2019SPLICING KNIVES 52967430


 300.00926 000000  - HOFFMAN BOOTS398 03/07/2019SAFETY BOOTS 69307430


 63.57143 000000  - HOFFMAN BOOTS398 03/07/2019SAFETY BOOTS 69307430


 495.00597 000000  - MUNICIPAL ELECTRIC UTILIT089 03/12/2019MEUW METER SCHOOL 52757430


 190.00597 000000  - RADISSON HOTEL894 03/22/2019METER SCHOOL 52757430


 178.99932 000000  - REVERE ELECTRIC SUPPLY CO994 03/18/2019REPAIRS TO JILLS OFFICE 69807430


 65.09932 000000  - REVERE ELECTRIC SUPPLY CO994 03/18/2019REPAIRS TO JILLS OFFICE 69807450


 81.37834 000000  - REVERE ELECTRIC SUPPLY CO994 03/18/2019REPAIRS TO JILLS OFFICE 69807460


 30.63834 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 03/26/2019HOSE AND CLAMPS 87407460


 300.00926 000000  - HOFFMAN BOOTS398 03/15/2019SAFETY BOOTS 69407430


 65.66143 000000  - HOFFMAN BOOTS398 03/15/2019SAFETY BOOTS 69407430


 46.49933 000000  - KWIK TRIP  39000003905894 03/22/2019GAS 69407430


 222.50593 000000  - HAMPTON INN   EAU CLAIRE894 03/26/2019HOTEL FOR SCHOOL 69407430


 222.50594 000000  - HAMPTON INN   EAU CLAIRE894 03/26/2019HOTEL FOR SCHOOL 69407430


 305.96143 000000  - LAWMENS DISTRIBUTION LLC553 03/18/2019REFUNDED 69707430


 141.00595 000000  - STOUGHTON LUMBER CO436 03/22/2019CONCRETE BLOCK FOR XFMR 69707430


 13.07921 000000  - AMAZON PRIME422 03/01/2019MEMBERSHIP FEE 40007430


 98.81926 000000  - CINTAS 446809 03/04/2019UNIFORM CLEANING 40007430


 17.74926 000000  - CINTAS 446809 03/04/2019UNIFORM CLEANING 40007450


 12.28854 000000  - CINTAS 446809 03/04/2019UNIFORM CLEANING 40007460


 5,050.35934 000000  - UTILITY SALES & SERV269 03/08/2019TRUCK 16 REPAIRS/MAINTENANCE 40007430


 98.81926 000000  - CINTAS 446809 03/11/2019UNIFORM CLEANING 40007430


 17.74926 000000  - CINTAS 446809 03/11/2019UNIFORM CLEANING 40007450


 12.28854 000000  - CINTAS 446809 03/11/2019UNIFORM CLEANING 40007460


 280.50932 000000  - IN  SUNDANCE BIOCLEAN, IN322 03/12/2019JANITORIAL 40007430


 102.00932 000000  - IN  SUNDANCE BIOCLEAN, IN322 03/12/2019JANITORIAL 40007450


 127.50834 000000  - IN  SUNDANCE BIOCLEAN, IN322 03/12/2019JANITORIAL 40007460


 98.81926 000000  - CINTAS 446809 03/18/2019UNIFORM CLEANING 40007430


 17.74926 000000  - CINTAS 446809 03/18/2019UNIFORM CLEANING 40007450


 12.28854 000000  - CINTAS 446809 03/18/2019UNIFORM CLEANING 40007460


 586.85932 000000  - GENERAL HEATING AND AC900 03/20/2019ADMIN HVAC 40007430


 213.40932 000000  - GENERAL HEATING AND AC900 03/20/2019ADMIN HVAC 40007450


 266.75834 000000  - GENERAL HEATING AND AC900 03/20/2019ADMIN HVAC 40007460


 98.81926 000000  - CINTAS 446809 03/25/2019UNIFORM CLEANING 40007430


 17.74926 000000  - CINTAS 446809 03/25/2019UNIFORM CLEANING 40007450


 12.28854 000000  - CINTAS 446809 03/25/2019UNIFORM CLEANING 40007460


 680.40588 000000  - AMER PUBLIC POWER ASSO439 03/27/2019ERELIABIILITY TRACKER SUBSCRIPTION 40007430


 34.14583 000000  - UPS 1ZD4W91T0316028841824 03/04/2019GLOVE TESTING 41007430


 14.25583 000000  - UPS ADJ00210185320991824 03/04/2019GLOVE TESTING 41007430


 96.25932 000000  - MONONA PLUMBING331 03/06/2019SPRINKLER TESTING 41007430


 35.00932 000000  - MONONA PLUMBING331 03/06/2019SPRINKLER TESTING 41007450


 43.75834 000000  - MONONA PLUMBING331 03/06/2019SPRINKLER TESTING 41007460


 26,446.14232 001099  - STUART C IRBY355 03/07/2019ELECTRIC INVENTORY 41007430
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 1,910.80232 001099  - STUART C IRBY355 03/08/2019ELECTRIC INVENTORY 41007430


 95.20596 000000  - LAMP RECYCLERS119 03/08/2019HID 41007430


 158.39932 000000  - LAMP RECYCLERS119 03/08/2019MISC 41007430


 7,125.21232 001099  - STUART C IRBY355 03/14/2019ELECTRIC INVENTORY 41007430


 29.99593 000000  - AMZN MKTP US MI8WS9RO2422 03/15/2019EAR PLUGS 41007430


 29.99594 000000  - AMZN MKTP US MI8WS9RO2422 03/15/2019EAR PLUGS 41007430


 978.85232 001099  - STUART C IRBY355 03/15/2019ELECTRIC INVENTORY 41007430


 333.00593 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 03/15/2019HOT LINE CLAMP 41007430


 435.60232 001099  - CRESCENT ELECTRIC 017134 03/15/2019ELECTRIC INVENTORY 41007430


 384.00232 001099  - CRESCENT ELECTRIC 017134 03/15/2019ELECTRIC INVENTORY 41007430


 4,550.00232 001099  - CREE LIGHTING484 03/20/2019ELECTRIC INVENTORY 41007430


 43.18932 000000  - CRESCENT ELECTRIC 087134 03/21/2019ADMIN BLDG BREAKER 41007430


 15.70932 000000  - CRESCENT ELECTRIC 087134 03/21/2019ADMIN BLDG BREAKER 41007450


 19.64834 000000  - CRESCENT ELECTRIC 087134 03/21/2019ADMIN BLDG BREAKER 41007460


 181.00232 001099  - CREE LIGHTING484 03/21/2019ELECTRIC INVENTORY 41007430


 69.00934 000000  - CAPITAL EQUIPMENT994 03/28/2019FORKLIFT MAINT 41007430


 600.00232 001099  - STUART C IRBY355 03/28/2019ELECTRIC INVENTORY 41007430


 74,182.73Total:







Stoughton Utilities 
Financial Summary 


March 2019 YTD 
 


Highlights/Concerns 
 
I have no concerns with the utility’s financial status. The following items are meant to 
illustrate significant changes in the financial summary from the prior-YTD period. 
 
Overall Summary: 
YTD 2019 net income is coming in 8%, or $34,000, lower than YTD 2018. This is mostly 
due to expensing the entire year’s insurance coverage in the first quarter in 2019 
compared to amortizing it over the year in 2018. 
 
Electric Summary: 
Operating revenues were 2.2%, or $80,400 lower, than YTD 2018 but were mostly 
offset by lower purchase power costs. The majority of the decrease in sales revenue 
comes from residential customers and large commercial/industrial customers. YTD kWh 
sold has increased by 0.9 million, or 2.5%, which shows that demand for power has not 
waned.    
 
Non-power operating expenses were up $32,500. However, the increase is entirely due 
to the insurance expense timing issue. Taking out the insurance expense issue, non-
operating expenses declined so far in 2019 but are expected to exceed the prior year at 
year-end given the additional depreciation expense and other increased operating 
expenses. The YTD net change in net income was a decrease of $64,729 to $238,069. 
The main cause of the net change in net income after removing the insurance and 
deprecation impact is mainly due to a gain on the sale of a digger derrick in 2018. 
 
The rate of return is currently 0.30% compared to 0.75% at this point in time in 2018. 
Unrestricted cash balances are $5.1 million (4.1 months of sales). 
 
Water Summary: 
Operating revenues were up $60,406, or 11.8%, from prior YTD due to the October 
2018 rate increase. Total gallons sold YTD has only increased by 80,000 gallons or 
0.08%. Residential sales are up 17% or $36,900. Industrial sales are up 21.2% or 
$13,500. Operating expenses were up 6.8% YTD or $30,600. About half of the added 
cost is from a phone/firewall upgrade and the other half is from the insurance 
amortization issue.   
 
The rate of return is currently 0.88% compared to 0.60% at this point in time in 2018. 
Unrestricted cash balances are $0.31 million (1.7 months of sales). 
 
 







 
 
Wastewater Summary: 
Operating revenue YTD was $511,699 and about equal with YTD 2018. Expenses were 
$451,413, up $28,055 from the prior year. $23,000 of this expense is from the insurance 
amortization issue and the rest is mostly from extra depreciation.  
 
Unrestricted cash balances are $1.4 million (9.0 months of sales). Unrestricted cash will 
be needed for the future capital investment needs of the wastewater utility.  
 
Submitted by: 
Ryan Wiesen 


 







Electric Water Wastewater Combined


Assets


Cash & Investments 6,250,143$         1,464,954$         3,134,348$         10,849,445$       


Customer A/R 1,424,983           236,254              201,344              1,862,581           


Other A/R 42,481                 -                      4                          42,486                 


Other Assets 1,168,732           339,596              240,097              1,748,426           


Plant in Service 29,943,736         15,861,159         30,649,340         76,454,235         


Accumulated Depreciation (14,025,477)        (5,486,827)          (12,008,134)        (31,520,438)        


Plant in Service - CIAC 3,694,784           7,962,587           -                      11,657,371         


Accumulated Depreciation-CIAC (1,842,529)          (2,226,591)          -                      (4,069,121)          


Construction Work in Progress 216,702              49,555                 77,260                 343,517              


GASB 68 Deferred Outflow 584,707              199,447              221,465              1,005,619           


Total Assets 27,458,262$       18,400,134$       22,515,725$       68,374,122$       


Liabilities + Net Assets


Accounts Payable 78,572$              64,911$              45,194$              188,677$            


Payable to City of Stoughton 597,150              529,704              -                      1,126,854           


Interest Accrued -                      16,593                 45,414                 62,008                 


Other Liabilities 391,286              76,251                 94,779                 562,316              


Long-Term Debt 4,501,552           2,646,313           4,534,264           11,682,129         


Net Assets 21,255,877         14,850,970         17,566,184         53,673,030         


GASB 68 Deferred Inflow 633,826              215,392              229,890              1,079,108           


Total Liabilities + Net Assets 27,458,262$       18,400,134$       22,515,725$       68,374,122$       


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Balance Sheets


 As of March 31, 2019







 Electric  Water  Wastewater  Total 


Operating Revenue:


Sales 3,448,871$              554,503$                 476,982$                 4,480,357$              


Other 46,270                      16,195                      34,717                      97,181                      


   Total Operating Revenue: 3,495,141$              570,697$                 511,699$                 4,577,538$              


Operating Expense:


Purchased Power 2,545,945                -                             -                             2,545,945                


Expenses (Including Taxes) 489,413                    243,327                    236,412                    969,152                    


PILOT 114,999                    109,500                    -                             224,499                    


Depreciation 297,450                    127,191                    215,001                    639,642                    


   Total Operating Expense: 3,447,807$              480,018$                 451,413$                 4,379,238$              


     Operating Income 47,334$                    90,679$                    60,286$                    198,300$                 


Non-Operating Income 220,380                    21,272                      44,536                      286,187                    


Non-Operating Expense (29,644)                     (11,499)                     (27,750)                     (68,893)                     


      Net Income 238,069$                 100,452$                 77,072$                    415,594$                 


 Electric  Water  Wastewater  Total 


Operating Revenue:


Sales 3,524,551$              494,048$                 487,395$                 4,505,994$              


Other 50,992                      16,243$                    19,873$                    87,108                      


   Total Operating Revenue: 3,575,543$              510,291$                 507,268$                 4,593,102$              


Operating Expense:


Purchased Power 2,614,503                -                             -                             2,614,503                


Expenses (Including Taxes) 479,049                    216,579                    211,609                    907,237                    


PILOT 111,999                    109,500                    -                             221,499                    


Depreciation 278,274                    123,300                    211,749                    613,323                    


   Total Operating Expense: 3,483,825$              449,379$                 423,358$                 4,356,562$              


     Operating Income 91,718$                    60,912$                    83,910$                    236,540$                 


Non-Operating Income 243,836                    14,559                      30,841                      289,236                    


Non-Operating Expense (32,756)                     (12,774)                     (30,675)                     (76,205)                     


      Net Income 302,798$                 62,697$                    84,076$                    449,571$                 


March 31, 2018


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Year-to-Date Combined Income Statement


March 31, 2019


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Year-to-Date Combined Income Statement







 


Electric Water


Operating Income (Regulatory) 47,334$              90,679$              


Average Utility Plant in Service 29,451,187         15,751,097         


Average Accumulated Depreciation (13,702,961)        (5,337,530)          


Average Materials and Supplies 231,625              39,032                


Average Regulatory Liability (99,724)               (154,030)             


Average Customer Advances (66,587)               -                      


Average Net Rate Base 15,813,541$       10,298,569$       


March 2019 Rate of Return 0.30% 0.88%


March 2018 Rate of Return 0.75% 0.60%


December 2018 Rate of Return 4.99% 3.91%


Authorized Rate of Return 5.00% 5.00%


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Rate of Return


Year-to-Date March 2019







Electric March 2019


Unrestricted (4.1 months sales) 5,073,845$           


Bond Reserve 460,722$              


Redemption Fund (P&I) 10,125$                


Depreciation 25,000$                


Designated 680,451$              


Total 6,250,143$           


Water March 2019


Unrestricted (1.7 months sales) 307,121$              


Bond Reserve 252,000$              


Redemption Fund (P&I) 271,736$              


Depreciation 25,000$                


Designated 609,097$              


Total 1,464,954$           


Wastewater March 2019


Unrestricted (9.0 months sales) 1,429,813             


DNR Replacement 1,162,458             


Redemption Fund (P&I) 417,455                


Depreciation 33,283                  


Designated 91,339                  


Total 3,134,348             


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Cash and Investments Summary


 As of March 31, 2019


$5,073,845 , 81%


$460,722 , 7%


$10,125 , 0%


$25,000 , 1%


$680,451 , 11%


Electric Cash - March 2019


Unrestricted (4.1 months sales) Bond Reserve Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation Designated


$307,121 , 21%


$252,000 , 17%


$271,736 , 18%


$25,000 , 2%


$609,097 , 42%


Water Cash - March 2019


Unrestricted (1.7 months sales) Bond Reserve Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation Designated


1,429,813 , 46%


1,162,458 , 37%


417,455 , 13%
33,28
3 , 1%


91,339 , 3%


Wastewater Cash - March 2019


Unrestricted (9.0 months sales) DNR Replacement
Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation
Designated







Total Sales Total KwH Total Sales Total KwH Demand Demand
2018 KwH Purchased 2018 2019 KwH Purchased 2019 Peak 2018 Peak 2019


January 12,609,523 13,204,183 12,752,096 13,363,141 24,195 26,165


February 11,167,697 11,394,593 11,560,908 11,896,849 22,984 23,038


March 11,302,081 11,305,664 11,641,186 11,972,418 20,886 23,235


April


May


June


July


August


September


October


November


December


TOTAL 35,079,301 35,904,440 35,954,190 37,232,408


Total Sales Total Gallons Total Sales Total Gallons Max Daily High Max Daily Highs
2018 Gallons Pumped 2018 2019 Gallons Pumped 2019 2018 2019


January 35,560,000 44,660,000 36,143,000 39,813,000 1,668,000 1,466,000


February 33,594,000 41,438,000 33,948,000 36,797,000 1,711,000 1,443,000


March 36,877,000 40,980,000 36,020,000 38,991,000 1,449,000 1,419,000


April


May


June


July


August


September


October


November


December


TOTAL 106,031,000 127,078,000 106,111,000 115,601,000


Total Sales Total Treated Total Sales Total Treated Precipitation Precipitation
2018 Gallons Gallons 2018 2019 Gallons Gallons 2019 2018 2019


January 25,668,000 31,460,000 24,591,000 36,827,000 2.15 3.10


February 23,717,000 30,781,000 23,125,000 33,032,000 3.54 3.19


March 25,915,000 28,544,000 25,549,000 43,136,000 0.75 0.96


April


May


June


July


August


September


October


November


December


TOTAL 75,300,000 90,785,000 73,265,000 112,995,000 6.44 7.25


2019 Statistical Worksheet


STOUGHTON  UTILITIES


Electic


Water


Wastewater
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CITY OF STOUGHTON, 381 E. Main Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


Amending Chapter 70-180 of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code; relating to No Parking 3:00 a.m. to 5:00 


a.m.by creating subsection 4. 


Committee Action:    Public Safety committee recommends  


Fiscal Impact:       N/A 


File Number: O-14-2019 First Reading:   


Second Reading:  


May 14, 2019 


May 28, 2019 


 


          The Common Council of the City of Stoughton do ordain as follows: 


 


         Sec. 70-180. - No parking 3:00 a.m. to 5:00 a.m. 


No person shall park, stop or leave standing any vehicle whether attended or unattended between the hours of          


3:00 a.m. and 5:00 a.m. on any day, on any of the following streets or parts of streets or parking lots:  


(1) On the north or south sides of Main Street between the railroad crossing and Page Street.  


 


(2) Municipal parking lot located on the west side of the 300 block of South Fourth Street. 


 


(3)  On both sides of the 200 blocks and 300 blocks of South Water Street, South Division Street, Forrest 


Street and Fourth Street.  


 


(4) The municipal parking lot at the northeast corner of E. Main Street and Forrest Street.  


  


 


 


Dates 


 


Council Adopted:   


 


Mayor Approved:             


       Timothy Swadley, Mayor 


Published:    


 


Attest:              


        Holly Licht, City Clerk 


 


 


 
 








CITY OF STOUGHTON, 381 E. Main Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


Amending Chapter 70-176 (78) of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code; relating to parking restrictions on Hoel 


Avenue. 


Committee Action:    Public Safety committee recommends  


Fiscal Impact:       N/A 


File Number: O-15-2019 First Reading:  


Second Reading:  


May 14, 2019 


May 28, 2019 


 


The Common Council of the City of Stoughton do ordain as follows: 


 


Section 1. Sec. 70-176 (78) of the City of Stoughton Code of Ordinances is amended as follows:  


 


         Sec. 70-176. - Parking prohibited at all times. 


No person shall park, stop or leave standing any vehicle, except temporarily for the purpose of and while 


actually engaged in loading or unloading or in receiving or discharging passengers and while the vehicle is 


attended by a licensed operator so that it may be moved promptly in case of an emergency or to avoid 


obstruction of traffic, upon any of the following highways or parts of highways:  


(78) On the west side of Hoel Avenue 103 feet north from Valberg Drive.  


 


 


Section 2. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its date of publication. 


 


 


Dates 


 


Council Adopted:   


 


Mayor Approved:             


       Tim Swadley, Mayor 


Published:    


 


Attest:              


        Holly Licht, City Clerk 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 








CITY OF STOUGHTON, 381 E. Main Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


Amending Chapter 70-176 (79) of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code; relating to parking restrictions on 


Otteson Drive between Hoel Avenue and Jens Court. 


Committee Action:    Public Safety committee recommends  


Fiscal Impact:       N/A 


File Number: O- 16-2019 First Reading:  


Second Reading:  


 May 14, 2019 


 May 28, 2019  


 


The Common Council of the City of Stoughton do ordain as follows: 


 


Section 1. Sec. 70-176 (79) of the City of Stoughton Code of Ordinances is amended as follows:  


 


         Sec. 70-176. - Parking prohibited at all times. 


No person shall park, stop or leave standing any vehicle, except temporarily for the purpose of and while 


actually engaged in loading or unloading or in receiving or discharging passengers and while the vehicle is 


attended by a licensed operator so that it may be moved promptly in case of an emergency or to avoid 


obstruction of traffic, upon any of the following highways or parts of highways:  


(79) On the north side of Otteson Drive from Hoel Avenue to Jens Court.  


 


 


 


Section 2. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its date of publication. 


 


 


Dates 


 


Council Adopted:   


 


Mayor Approved:             


       Tim Swadley, Mayor 


Published:    


 


Attest:              


        Holly Licht, City Clerk 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 








CITY OF STOUGHTON, 381 E. Main Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


Amending Chapter 70-176 of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code; Creating Sub Section (77) relating to 


parking restrictions on the west side of Hults Road. 


Committee Action:    Public Safety committee recommends  


Fiscal Impact:       N/A 


File Number: O-17-2018 First Reading:  


Second Reading:  


May 14, 2019 


May 28, 2019 


 


1. The Common Council of the City of Stoughton do ordain as follows: 


 


Amend Sec. 70-176 Parking Prohibited at all times. To create Sub Section (77) relating to parking 


restrictions on the west side of Hults Road. 


 


          Sec. 70-176. - Parking prohibited at all times. 


No person shall park, stop or leave standing any vehicle, except temporarily for the purpose of and while 


actually engaged in loading or unloading or in receiving or discharging passengers and while the vehicle is attended 


by a licensed operator so that it may be moved promptly in case of an emergency or to avoid obstruction of traffic, 


upon any of the following highways or parts of highways:  


 


(77) On west side of Hults Road.  


 


 


2. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its date of publication. 


 


 


Dates 


 


Council Adopted:   


 


Mayor Approved:             


       Timothy Swadley, Mayor 


Published:    


 


Attest:              


        Holly Licht, City Clerk 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 








 
City of Stoughton, 207 S. Forrest St., Stoughton WI  53589 


 


 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Resolution Authorizing and Directing the proper city official(s) to acknowledge receipt of  the 2018 City 


of Stoughton Audit 


 


Committee Action:         Finance Committee meets May 28, 2019 


 


 


 


 
File Number: 


 
R-74-2019 


 
Date Introduced: May 28, 2019 


 


WHEREAS, Baker Tilly Virchow Krause LLP has prepared the City of Stoughton Audit Report 


for 2018, and 


WHEREAS, your Finance Committee met on May 28, 2019 to acknowledge receipt of the 2018 


City of Stoughton Audit and consider the adoption of the corresponding resolution, now 


therefore 


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the proper city 


official(s) be hereby authorized and directed to acknowledge receipt of the 2018 City of 


Stoughton Audit. 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 
 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     
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REQUIRED COMMUNICATION OF INTERNAL CONTROL RELATED MATTERS 
IDENTIFIED IN THE AUDIT TO THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 







1 


To the City Council 
City of Stoughton 
Stoughton, Wisconsin 


In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the City of Stoughton as of and for the year 
ended December 31, 2018, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, we considered its internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing our 
auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the 
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of its internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of its internal control. 


A separate report on Internal Control was issued to the Utility Commission. The information contained in that 
report is not included with this report. 


Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph and was not 
designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies and, therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 
However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be 
material weaknesses. 


A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. We consider the following 
deficiencies in the city’s internal control to be material weaknesses: 


> Internal Control Over Financial Reporting


> Internal Control Environment


This communication is intended solely for the information and use of the city management, the city council, and 
others within the organization and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these 
specified parties.  


Madison, Wisconsin 
May 3, 2019 


Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP trading as Baker Tilly is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members 
of which are separate and independent legal entities. © 2018 Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP
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Auditing standards require that we perform procedures to obtain an understanding of your government 
and its internal control environment as part of the annual audit. This includes an analysis of significant 
transaction cycles and an analysis of the city’s year-end financial reporting process and preparation of 
your financial statements. 
 
 
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING  
 
Properly designed systems of internal control provides your organization with the ability to process and 
record accurate monthly and year end transactions and prepare annual financial reports. 
 
Our audit includes a review and evaluation of the city’s internal controls relating to financial reporting. 
Common attribute of a properly designed system of internal control for financial reporting is as follows: 
 


> Material misstatements are identified and corrected during the normal course of duties. 


Our evaluation of the city’s internal controls relating to financial reporting has identified a control 
deficiency that is considered a material weakness. 
 
Material misstatements in the general ledger were identified during the financial audit. 
 
This level of internal control over financial reporting can be a difficult task for governments that operate 
with only enough staff to process monthly transactions and reports, and often rely on their auditors to 
prepare certain year-end audit entries.  
 
 
INTERNAL CONTROL ENVIRONMENT 
 
A properly designed system of internal control includes adequate staffing as well as policies and 
procedures to properly segregate duties. This includes systems that are designed to limit the access or 
control of any one individual to your government’s assets or accounting records, and to achieve a higher 
likelihood that errors or irregularities in the city’s accounting processes would be discovered by your staff 
in a timely manner.  
 
At this time, due to staffing and financial limitations, the city does not have proper internal controls in 
place to achieve adequate segregation of duties. As a result, errors or irregularities could occur as part of 
the financial process that may not be discovered by the city. Therefore, we are reporting a material 
weakness related to the city’s internal control environment.  
 
There are also certain controls that are not currently in place related to significant transaction cycles. As a 
result, there is a risk that erroneous or unauthorized transactions or misstatements could occur without 
the knowledge of management or the governing body. Our recommendations for strengthening controls 
are listed below. 
 


CONTROLS OVER PROPERTY TAXES 
 
Bank reconciliations should be performed by someone independent of the tax collection process. 
 
We recommend that a designated employee review the segregation of duties, risks, and these potential 
controls and determine whether additional controls should be implemented. This determination should 
take into consideration a cost/benefit analysis. 







 


 


OTHER COMMUNICATIONS TO THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
 







 


3 


 
TWO WAY COMMUNICATION REGARDING YOUR AUDIT  
 
As part of our audit of your financial statements, we are providing communications to you throughout the 
audit process. Auditing requirements provide for two-way communication and are important in assisting 
the auditor and you with more information relevant to the audit. 
 
As this past audit is concluded, we use what we have learned to begin the planning process for next 
year’s audit. It is important that you understand the following points about the scope and timing of our 
next audit: 
 


a. We address the significant risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, through 
our detailed audit procedures. 


b. We will obtain an understanding of the five components of internal control sufficient to assess the 
risk of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to error or fraud, and to 
design the nature, timing, and extent of further audit procedures. We will obtain a sufficient 
understanding by performing risk assessment procedures to evaluate the design of controls 
relevant to an audit of financial statements and to determine whether they have been 
implemented. We will use such knowledge to:  


 Identify types of potential misstatements. 


 Consider factors that affect the risks of material misstatement. 


 Design tests of controls, when applicable, and substantive procedures. 


We will not express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or 
compliance with laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts or grant programs.  


c. The concept of materiality recognizes that some matters, either individually or in the aggregate, 
are important for fair presentation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles while other matters are not important. In performing the audit, we are 
concerned with matters that, either individually or in the aggregate, could be material to the 
financial statements. Our responsibility is to plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance that material misstatements, whether caused by errors or fraud, are detected. 


d. Your financial statements contain components, as defined by auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of American, which we also audit. 


 
We are very interested in your views regarding certain matters. Those matters are listed here: 
 


a. We typically will communicate with your top level of management unless you tell us otherwise. 


b. We understand that the city council has the responsibility to oversee the strategic direction of 
your organization, as well as the overall accountability of the entity. Management has the 
responsibility for achieving the objectives of the entity. 


c. We need to know your views about your organization’s objectives and strategies, and the related 
business risks that may result in material misstatements. 


d. Which matters do you consider warrant particular attention during the audit, and are there any 
areas where you request additional procedures to be undertaken? 


e. Have you had any significant communications with regulators or grantor agencies? 


f. Are there other matters that you believe are relevant to the audit of the financial statements? 
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TWO WAY COMMUNICATION REGARDING YOUR AUDIT (cont.) 
 
Also, is there anything that we need to know about the attitudes, awareness, and actions of the city 
concerning: 
 


a. The city’s internal control and its importance in the entity, including how those charged with 
governance oversee the effectiveness of internal control? 


b. The detection or the possibility of fraud? 
 
We also need to know if you have taken actions in response to developments in financial reporting, laws, 
accounting standards, governance practices, or other related matters, or in response to previous 
communications with us. 
 
With regard to the timing of our audit, here is some general information. If necessary, we may do 
preliminary audit work during the months of October-December, and sometimes early January. Our final 
fieldwork is scheduled during the spring to best coincide with your readiness and report deadlines. After 
fieldwork, we wrap up our audit procedures at our office and may issue drafts of our report for your 
review. Final copies of our report and other communications are issued after approval by your staff. This 
is typically 6-12 weeks after final fieldwork, but may vary depending on a number of factors. 
 
Keep in mind that while this communication may assist us with planning the scope and timing of the 
audit, it does not change the auditor’s sole responsibility to determine the overall audit strategy and the 
audit plan, including the nature, timing, and extent of procedures necessary to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence. 
 
We realize that you may have questions on what this all means, or wish to provide other feedback. We 
welcome the opportunity to hear from you. 
 
 







 


 


COMMUNICATION OF OTHER CONTROL DEFICIENCIES, RECOMMENDATIONS 
AND INFORMATIONAL POINTS TO MANAGEMENT THAT ARE NOT 


MATERIAL WEAKNESSES OR SIGNIFICANT DEFICIENCIES 
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PRIOR YEAR POINT 
 
 COLLATERAL FOR BANK DEPOSITS (PER 12/31/08 LETTER)  


Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 40 requires disclosures about various 
risks associated with the city’s deposits and investments. These disclosures can be found in Note IV.A of 
the financial statements.  
 
One of the required disclosures is custodial credit risk. Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of 
a financial institution failure, the city’s deposits may not be returned. To address this risk, the city has 
collateral agreements with its primary bank to cover deposits in excess of the FDIC limits. However, a 
portion of the city’s deposits and investments was exposed to custodial credit risk because the collateral 
was insufficient to cover all city deposits. In addition, the current collateral agreement in place with the 
city’s primary bank allows for the collateral to be held in the trust department of this bank. GASB No. 40 
states that this type of custodial arrangement exposes the city to greater risk than if the collateral was 
held by an independent third party custodian. 
 
We recommend that the city evaluate its current collateral situation to determine if adjustments are desired. 
 
  Status (12/31/18) 


A total of $4,386,025 of deposits and investments were exposed to some level of custodial credit risk as 
of December 31, 2018. 
 
 
INFORMATIONAL POINTS 
 
 DECENTRALIZED CASH COLLECTIONS  


As part of our annual audit process, we focus our efforts on the primary accounting systems, internal 
controls, and procedures used by the city. This is in keeping with our goal to provide an audit opinion 
which states that the financial statements of the city are correct in all material respects. 
 
In some cases, the primary system of accounting procedures and controls of the city are supported by 
smaller systems which are decentralized, and reside within a department or outside location. Specifically, 
for the City of Stoughton, there are departments that collect cash and periodically remit those collections 
to city hall. Examples include the recreation department and senior center, among others. 
 
Generally, the more centralized a function is, the easier it is to design and implement accounting controls 
that provide some level of checks and balances. That is because you are able to divide certain tasks over 
the people available to achieve some segregation of duties. For those tasks that are decentralized, it is 
usually very difficult to provide for proper segregation of duties. Therefore, with one person being involved 
in most or all aspects of a transaction, you lose the ability to rely on the controls to achieve the 
safeguarding of assets and reliability of financial records. 
 
As auditors, we are required to communicate with you on a variety of topics. We believe it is appropriate 
to make sure that you are informed about the risks that can occur with decentralized cash collections. 
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INFORMATIONAL POINTS (cont.) 
 
 CONTROLS OVER INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 
 
As part of our audit, we evaluated the information technology controls as they relate to financially 
significant applications. Our procedures primarily focused on documenting and evaluating general 
computer controls, including: 
 


 Logical access to data and applications 
 Change and incident management 
 Systems development and deployment 
 Data backup and recovery 


 
The following points contain suggestions for strengthening internal controls in these areas. 
 


 Passwords should be changed every 90 days, require a minimum of 6 characters, require strong 
(complex) passwords, and password history should be remembered so users can’t reuse recent 
(3-6) previous passwords. Additionally, users should lock after 3-5 failed login attempts. 


 Back-ups should be stored offsite or in a fire proof location. 
 
We recommend that a designated employee review the risks and these potential controls and determine 
whether additional controls should be implemented. This determination should take into consideration a 
cost / benefit analysis.  
 


CYBER SECURITY MANAGEMENT 
 
The sources of cyber threats continue to grow in number and sophistication. We have seen social 
engineering, including email phishing, and ransomware attacks cause disruption and monetary losses in 
the government landscape. Cybersecurity controls are imperative and may be of several different types: 
 


> Preventative – activities that make attacks more difficult such as user access and password 
controls 


> Detective – activities conducted to discover security incidents such as automated or manual 
reviews of firewall and server logs 


> Responsive – activities performed once an incident has been identified such as a communication 
plan 


Step one in determining which types of controls are best suited for your government is completing a data 
classification. This process includes identifying what types of data exist, determining data location, and 
measuring costs associated with the loss of data (i.e. – operational downtime, regulatory fines, or civil 
lawsuits). This information will help management and those charged with governance be able to evaluate 
the cost-benefit of control implementation. Even if your government has chosen to obtain cyber liability 
insurance to mitigate risk, the data classification remains an important exercise to help evaluate the policy 
coverage, pricing, and what, if any, exposure remains outside of your policy.    
 
Data classification is only one piece of a sustainable cyber security management plan. We have 
professionals dedicated to cyber security and information technology risk to assist with your cyber 
security questions, assessments, and programs. 
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INFORMATIONAL POINTS (cont.) 


 
GOVERNMENT FRAUD PREVENTION AND DETECTION: NOW IS THE TIME TO ACT 
 


When it comes to preventing and detecting fraud in government, being proactive is critical. In fact, 
government is the third most likely industry to be impacted by fraud. According to the audit standards, the 
primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those charged with 
governance of the entity and management. To get started, your government should conduct a fraud risk 
assessment to identify where and how fraud might occur and what individuals may be in a position to 
commit fraud. Once you’ve identified your entity’s fraud risk areas, the next step is to develop a fraud risk 
assessment and investigation policy.  
 
As you begin your fraud risk assessment or develop tools to prevent and detect fraud, it is important to 
keep in mind the following information provided by the Association of Certified Fraud Examiners: 
 


> Misappropriation of assets accounts for 87 percent of fraud 


> The primary internal control weaknesses observed are lack of internal controls, lack of 
management review, override of existing internal controls and poor tone at the top. 


> A tip is by far the most common detection method of fraud followed by internal audit and then 
management review. Consider providing and promoting a reporting mechanism for tips in your 
government.  
 


> The professional requirements and objectives of a financial audit are different than a forensic 
audit. Due to the nature of a financial audit, less than 10 percent of frauds have been discovered 
as a result of a financial audit conducted by an independent accounting firm. 


 
Performing a fraud risk assessment will help determine what risks exist, how existing controls apply to 
those risks and where there are opportunities to enhance controls or accept the risk. We recommend 
your government consider preforming one and periodically updating it. We are available to assist you with 
this process.  
 


GOVERNMENT FRAUD PREVENTION AND DETECTION: VENDOR FRAUD 


Vendor fraud poses a unique threat to governments. Due to the public and transparent nature of 
operations, government entities have an increased susceptibility for this type of criminal activity. Since 
governments publish a significant amount of information online — for example, meeting minutes, which 
often contain vendor names, contract amounts and project status — it is easier for fraudsters to create 
falsified documents. 
 
Fraud specialists have noted recent fraud cases where criminals falsified vendor change requests for 
legitimate vendors, including company addresses and bank account information for Electronic Fund 
Transfers (EFT). When governments unwittingly process these fraudulent changes, the perpetrators can 
collect payments on legitimate and approved vendor invoices — while legitimate vendors go unpaid. 
Preventing vendor fraud completely may be impossible; however, governments can go a long way 
towards protecting themselves by taking appropriate safety and control measures. 
  
Help ensure your vendor transactions are secure and authentic by: 
 


> Performing a risk assessment that focuses on vendor accounts payable activities.  


> Periodically revisiting your control activities. 


> Educate your employees on potential fraud schemes. 


> Identify which vendors may be high-risk targets.  
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INFORMATIONAL POINTS (cont.) 


 
GOVERNMENT FRAUD PREVENTION AND DETECTION: VENDOR FRAUD (cont.) 


Our fraud experts are also available to assist with your fraud risk questions, assessments, and programs.  
 


GASB UPDATES 
 
The Government Accounting Standard Board (GASB) has been very active in recent years, issuing new 
standards at a fast pace. Over the next few years, your government will have many new standards to 
evaluate and implement. Here are the standards which may impact you in the next year: 
 


 GASB 83 provides accounting and financial reporting for asset retirement obligations, effective 
for reporting periods beginning on or after June 15, 2018 


 GASB 84 improves guidance regarding the identification of fiduciary activities and how they 
should be reported, effective for reporting periods beginning on or after December 15, 2018 


 GASB 88 improves certain disclosures related to debt, including direct borrowings and 
placements, effective for reporting periods beginning on or after June 15, 2018 


 GASB 90 clarifies accounting and financial reporting for majority equity interests, effective for 
reporting periods beginning on or after December 15, 2018  


 
Other GASB pronouncements on the horizon, while the implementation dates are in the near term these 
are anticipated to have significant impacts on many government financial statements: 
 


 GASB 87 improves accounting and financial reporting for leases, effective for reporting periods 
beginning on or after December 15, 2019 


 GASB 89 provides guidance for accounting for interest cost incurred before the end of a 
constriction period, effective for reporting periods beginning on or after December 15, 2019 


 
Looking even further ahead, the Technical Agenda, below, outlines significant areas GASB is currently 
working on: 
 


 Conceptual Framework 
 Disclosure 
 Recognition 


 Major Projects 
 Financial Reporting Model 
 Revenue and Expense Recognition 
 Public-Private Partnerships  


 Practice Issues 
 Conduit Debt 
 Deferred Compensation Plans 
 Secured Overnight Financing Rate 
 Subscription-Based IT arrangements 
 Implementation Guidance 


 Pre-Agenda Research 
 Going Concern 
 Compensated Absences 
 Prior-Period Adjustments, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections 


Through our firm involvement on AICPA committees, Baker Tilly follows these developments closely so 
that we can help you prepare for the changes as they evolve. This participation also allows us to share 
with GASB the experiences and perspectives of our clients to potentially influence the direction of future 
projects. 
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INFORMATIONAL POINTS (cont.) 


 
GASB UPDATES (cont.) 
 


Full lists of projects, as well as many resources, are available on GASB’s website which is located at 
www.gasb.org.. 
 


RESOURCES FOR STATE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT BOARDS 
 
Expectations and accountability are at all-time high and the knowledge required to be an effective board 
member is substantial. As a benefit to our clients, we have compiled a number of resources dedicated to 
educating state and local government board members. Go to our Board Governance Resource Center at 
www.bakertilly.com/board‐governance for more information.  
 
The Resource Center includes the following: 


Podcasts 
 


1. Managing cyber threats: Developing a sustainable cybersecurity program to address your unique 
risks 


2. Understanding utility finances 
3. Benefits of a fraud risk assessment 
4. Financial ratios and benchmarks 
5. Fund balance and other financial policies 


 
Articles 
 


1. Securitization of deposits and investments 
2. Five easy internal controls your government should implement 
3. Fund balance levels: What works for your government? 
4. The importance of smart spending cuts 


 
We encourage you to subscribe to our complimentary newsletter “Government Connection” to stay 
abreast of the latest issues impacting state and local governments. You can do so by clicking on the 
“subscribe” button and indicating “State and Local Government” as an area of interest on the subscription 
form. Also, if you or your board members have suggested topics to feature on our Board Governance 
webpage or Government Connection newsletter, we invite you to submit your ideas in person or online. 
 


UPCOMING LEASE STANDARD 
 
In June 2017, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued new guidance to establish 
a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the 
right to use an underlying asset. This standard is effective for fiscal years ending on or after December 
31, 2020. Statement No. 87, Leases, requires recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases 
that were previously classified as operating leases and recognize as inflows of resources or outflow of 
resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. 
 
Under the new standard, a lease is defined as a contract that conveys control of the right to use another 
entity’s nonfinancial asset (underlying asset) as specified in the contract for a period of time in an 
exchange or exchange-like transaction. Control is defined by 1) the right to obtain the present service 
capacity from the use of the underlying asset and 2) the right to determine the nature and manner of use 
of the underlying asset. Any contract that meets this definition should be accounted for under the lease 
guidance, unless specifically excluded in this statement. Leases include contracts that, although not 
explicitly identified as leases, meet the above definition of a lease. 
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INFORMATIONAL POINTS (cont.) 


 
UPCOMING LEASE STANDARD (cont.) 


 
There are some exemptions outlined in the standard including, intangible assets, service concession 
arrangements and supply contracts. 
 
We recommend the city review this standard and start planning how this will affect your financial 
reporting. An inventory of all contracts that might meet the definition of a lease should be started. The 
contract listing should include key terms of the contracts such as: 
 


 Description of contract 


 Underlying asset  


 Contract term  


 Options for extensions and terminations  


 Service components, if any 


 Dollar amount of lease  
 
In addition, the City of Stoughton should begin to establish a lease policy to address the treatment of 
common lease types, including a dollar threshold for each lease. We are available to discuss this further 
and help you develop an action plan.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 


 


REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS BY THE AUDITOR TO THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 


 







Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP trading as Baker Tilly is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members 
of which are separate and independent legal entities. © 2018 Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP
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To the City Council 
City of Stoughton 
Stoughton, Wisconsin 


Thank you for using Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP as your auditor. 


We have completed our audit of the financial statements of the City of Stoughton for the year ended 
December 31, 2018 and have issued our report thereon dated May 3, 2019. This letter presents 
communications required by our professional standards. 


OUR RESPONSIBILITY UNDER AUDITING STANDARDS GENERALLY ACCEPTED IN THE UNITED 


STATES OF AMERICA 


The objective of a financial statement audit is the expression of an opinion on the financial statements. We 
conducted the audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. 
These standards require that we plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable, rather than absolute, 
assurance about whether the financial statements prepared by management with your oversight are free of 
material misstatement, whether caused by error or fraud. Our audit included examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. Our audit does not relieve management or the city council of their responsibilities. 


As part of the audit we obtained an understanding of the entity and its environment, including internal control, 
sufficient to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements and to design the nature, 
timing and extent of further audit procedures. The audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal 
control or to identify deficiencies in internal control. 


OTHER INFORMATION IN DOCUMENTS CONTAINING AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 


Our responsibility does not extend beyond the audited financial statements identified in this report. We do not 
have any obligation to and have not performed any procedures to corroborate other information contained in 
client prepared documents, such as official statements related to debt issues. 


 PLANNED SCOPE AND TIMING OF THE AUDIT


We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to you in our 
management letter about planning matters dated May 16, 2018, and our meeting with the finance committee 
and council on May 22, 2018. 


 QUALITATIVE ASPECTS OF THE ENTITY’S SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRACTICES 


  Accounting Policies 


Management is responsible for selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. In accordance with the 
terms of our engagement letter, we will advise management about the appropriateness of accounting policies 
and their application. The significant accounting policies used by the City of Stoughton are described in Note I 
to the financial statements. We noted no transactions entered into by the City of Stoughton during the year that 
were both significant and unusual, and of which, under professional standards, we are required to inform you, 
or transactions for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. 
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 QUALITATIVE ASPECTS OF THE ENTITY’S SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRACTICES (cont.) 
 
  Accounting Estimates 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based 
on management's knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future 
events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial 
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those 
expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements were: 
 


1. Management’s estimate of the allowance for uncollectible EMS receivables is based on historical 
collections.  


2. Management’s estimate of the net pension asset and related deferred outflows and inflows of 
resources is based on technical information obtained from the Wisconsin Retirement System. 


3. Management’s estimate of useful lives of capital assets. 


4. Management’s estimate of the firemen’s pension liability and related deferred outflows and inflows 
is based on an actuarial study. 
 


We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates in determining that they 
are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
  Financial Statement Disclosures 
 
The disclosures in the notes to the financial statements are neutral, consistent, and clear. 
 
 DIFFICULTIES ENCOUNTERED IN PERFORMING THE AUDIT 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing our audit. 
 
 CORRECTED AND UNCORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS 
 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatement identified during the audit, 
other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. 
 
A summary of uncorrected financial statement misstatements (A) follows this required communication.  
 
Management has determined that their effects are immaterial to the financial statements taken as a whole. The 
following is a summary of material financial statement misstatements (audit adjustments): 
 
   Amount 
   
 Transfer debt refunding to TIF 7  $ 4,241,700
 Set up retirement internal service fund  347,587
 Record capital assets contributions for storm  481,166
 
In addition, we prepare GASB No. 34 conversion entries which are summarized in the “Reconciliation of the 
Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Net Position” and the “Reconciliation of the 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the 
Statement of Activities” in the financial statements. 
 
(A) Related to post employment benefits and an unrecorded accounts payable. 
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DISAGREEMENTS WITH MANAGEMENT 
 
For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, 
whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter that 
could be significant to the financial statements or the auditors’ report. We are pleased to report that no such 
disagreements arose during the course of our audit. 
 
 CONSULTATIONS WITH OTHER INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters. If a consultation involves application of an accounting principle to the governmental unit’s financial 
statements or a determination of the type of auditors’ opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our 
professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has 
all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 
 
 MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATIONS 
 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter. This letter follows this required communication. 
 
 INDEPENDENCE  
 
We are not aware of any relationships between Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP and the city that, in our 
professional judgment, may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence. 
 
Relating to our audit of the financial statements of the City of Stoughton for the year ended December 31, 2018, 
Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP hereby confirms that we are, in our professional judgment, independent with 
respect to the city in accordance with the Code of Professional Conduct issued by the American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants. We provided no services to the city other audit services provided in connection 
with the audit of the current year's financial statements and nonaudit services which in our judgment do not 
impair our independence: 
 


 Financial Statement Preparation 


 Adjusting Journal Entries 


 Compiled TIF Financial Statements 


 Compiled Regulatory Reports 


 Maintenance of capital asset records 


 Accounting assistance 


 Municipal advisory service 
 
None of these nonaudit services constitute an audit under generally accepted auditing standards, including 
Government Auditing Standards. 
 
 OTHER AUDIT FINDINGS OR ISSUES 
 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the City of Stoughton’s auditors. However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 
condition to our retention. 
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 OTHER MATTERS 
 
We applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the 
basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic 
financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
RSI. 
 
We were engaged to report on the supplementary information which accompanies the financial statements but 
is not RSI. With respect to the supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of management and 
evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to determine that the information 
complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of 
preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation 
to our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the 
underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements 
themselves. 
 
 RESTRICTION ON USE 
 
This information is intended solely for the use of the city council and management and is not intended to be, 
and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. We welcome the opportunity to discuss 
the information included in this letter and any other matters. Thank you for the opportunity to work with you. 
 
 


 
 
Madison, Wisconsin 
May 3, 2019 
 
 







 


 


SUMMARY OF UNCORRECTED FINANCIAL STATEMENT MISSTATEMENTS 
 







Total Total Change in
Total Assets/ Total Liabilities/ Net Position/ Expenses/ Net Position/


Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows Fund Balances Expenditures Fund Balances


Governmental Activities 28,752                     (898,551)              869,799             869,799          869,799             


Business-Type Activities 10,058                     (258,359)              248,301             248,301          248,301             


General Fund -                               -                           -                         (35,200)           (35,200)              


Water 1,885                       (46,917)                45,032               45,032            45,032               


Wastewater 1,953                       (48,623)                46,670               46,670            46,670               


Electric 5,654                       (140,750)              135,095             135,095          135,095             


Remaining Funds 566                          (22,069)                21,504               21,504            21,504               


City of Stoughton
SUMMARY OF UNCORRECTED FINANCIAL STATEMENT MISSTATEMENTS


December 31, 2018


Financial Statements Effect -
Debit (Credit) to Financial Statement Total







 


 


MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATIONS 



















23. In regards to the nonattest services performed by you listed below, we have 1) accepted all management
responsibility; 2) designated an individual with suitable skill, knowledge, or experience to oversee the services;
3) evaluated the adequacy and results of the services performed, and 4) accepted responsibility for the results
of the services.


a. Financial statement preparation
b. Adjusting journal entries
c. Compiled TIF financial statements
d. Compiled regulatory reports
e. Maintance of capital asset records
f. Accounting assistance
g. Municipal advisory


None of these nonattest services constitute an audit under generally accepted auditing standards, including
Government Auditing Standards.


24. The City of Stoughton has satisfactory title to all owned assets, and there are no liens or encumbrances on
such assets nor has any asset been pledged as collateral.


25. The City of Stoughton has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material
effect on the financial statement in the event of noncompliance.


26. There are no component units that should be disclosed in the financial statements. There are no joint ventures
with an equity interest, and we have properly disclosed all other joint ventures and other related organizations.


27. The financial statements properly classify all funds and activities.


28. All funds that meet the quantitative criteria in GASB Statement No. 34 and No. 37 for presentation as major are
identified and presented as such and all other funds that are presented as major are particularly important to
financial statement users.


29. Components of net position (net investment in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted) and components of
fund balance (nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned and unassigned) are properly classified and, if
applicable, approved.


30. The City of Stoughton has no derivative financial instruments such as contracts that could be assigned to
someone else or net settled, interest rate swaps, collars or caps.


31. Provisions for uncollectible receivables, if any, have been properly identified and recorded.


32. Expenses have been appropriately classified in or allocated to functions and programs in the statement of
activities, and allocations have been made on a reasonable basis.


33. Revenues are appropriately classified in the statement of activities within program revenues and general
revenues.


34. Interfund, internal, and intra-entity activity and balances have been appropriately classified and reported.


35. Deposits and investments are properly classified, valued, and disclosed (including risk disclosures,
collateralization agreements, valuation methods, and key inputs, as applicable).


36. Capital assets, including infrastructure and intangible assets, are properly capitalized, reported, and, if
applicable, depreciated/amortized. Any known impairments have been recorded and disclosed.











 Actual data was derived from current and prior years audited financial statements


This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, the board/council, and others within the organization, and is not intended to be, and should 
not be, used by anyone other than the specified parties.


© 2019 Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP


Carla A. Gogin, CPA, Partner


CITY OF STOUGHTON


Ten Terrace Ct, PO Box 7398, Madison, WI 53707-7398 USA
Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP


Presented By:


May 28, 2019


REPORT TO THE CITY COUNCIL







Nonspendable 2018
    includes fund balance amounts that cannot be spent either because they are not in spendable form or 
    because legal or contractural requirements require them to remain intact. 1,159,444$ 


Assigned
    includes spendable fund balance amounts that are intended to be used for specific purposes that are not
    considered restricted or committed.  1,206,970 


Unassigned
    includes residual positive fund balance within the general fund which has not been classified within the other
    above mentioned categories.  3,884,355 


     Total General Fund Balance 6,250,769$ 


CITY OF STOUGHTON
2018 FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS


DETAILS OF GENERAL FUND BALANCE
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2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
  Unrestricted Fund Balance 3,947,569                 4,269,500                 4,434,514                 4,862,797                 5,091,325                 
    Expenditures 8,477,043                 8,525,735                 8,890,260                 9,095,032                 9,577,938                 


% of operating revenues 46.57% 50.08% 49.88% 53.47% 53.16%


GFOA recommended range for % of operating revenues: no less than 2 months of GF operating revenues


Reference values for the population range: 10,000 to 17,500 generated from 2014-2017 Baker Tilly municipal client data for Wisconsin.
The City's policy is to maintain unassigned general fund balance within a range of 20% to 25% of general fund annual budgeted expenditures.
The unassigned general fund balance at year-end was $3,523,093 or 26.83% of general fund budgeted expenditures. The city includes deficit fund balances for 
Opera House, Economic Development and Redevelopment Authority within this unassigned general fund balance calculation.


CITY OF STOUGHTON


ANALYSIS OF GENERAL FUND BALANCE


2018 FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS
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2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
CITY OF STOUGHTON
City 17,285,084$              16,545,527$              20,681,106$              21,992,572$              32,483,453$              
Utilities 1,560,601                  2,553,436                  2,240,027                  2,490,351                  2,109,381                  
  Subtotal 18,845,685                19,098,963                22,921,133                24,482,923                34,592,834                
  Less: Fund equity available for debt (216,537)                    (169,228)                    (3,427,418)                 (480,476)                    (562,002)                    


    TOTAL 18,629,148$              18,929,735$              19,493,715$              24,002,447$              34,030,832$              


Population 12,646                       13,039                       13,067                       12,834                       12,854                       
G.O. Debt Capacity 45,654,025$              47,713,100$              50,039,825$              53,277,055$              58,163,075$              


G.O. debt  per capita 1,473$                       1,452$                       1,492$                       1,870$                       2,647$                       
% of debt limit 41% 40% 39% 45% 59%


2014-2016 Reference values for the population range: 10,000 to 17,500 taken from MunicpalFacts18 publication by the Wisconsin Policy Forum, 2018.


NOTE: The City has a debt policy to maintain total outstanding general obligation debt at 4% or less of equalized value. The City's outstanding
             general obligation debt was at 3.0%.


CITY OF STOUGHTON
2018 FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS


GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT OUTSTANDING
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2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Total Debt Service
Principal 2,174,479$                2,284,557$                2,544,421$                2,593,534$                2,869,119$                
Interest 449,980                     486,630                     554,501                     478,487                     688,873                     


    TOTAL 2,624,459$                2,771,187$                3,098,922$                3,072,021$                3,557,992$                


Total Non-Capital Expenditures
Total governmental funds expenditures* 16,828,266$              16,853,121$              22,034,495$              19,370,890$              28,405,707$              
  Less: capital outlay (3,654,793)                 (3,555,740)                 (7,760,873)                 (4,994,448)                 (12,841,539)               


    TOTAL NON-CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 13,173,473$              13,297,381$              14,273,622$              14,376,442$              15,564,168$              


% of debt service to
  non-capital expenditures 19.92% 20.84% 21.71% 21.37% 22.86%


* excludes refunded principal


2014 2015 2016 2017
Bond rating agencies recommended % 20.00% 20.00% 20.00% 20.00%


High - Reference: 58.78% 59.17% 45.45% 32.23%
Median - Reference: 18.80% 20.67% 25.18% 21.10%


Low - Reference: 15.94% 4.23% 16.76% 0.02%


Reference values for the population range: 10,000 to 17,500 generated from 2014-2017 Baker Tilly municipal client data for Wisconsin.


ANALYSIS OF DEBT SERVICE - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS


CITY OF STOUGHTON
2018 FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS
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2014 % 2015 % 2016 % 2017 % 2018 %
CITY OF STOUGHTON
Taxes 7,374,779$         66% 7,630,400$         65% 7,968,616$         66% 8,154,172$         65% 8,564,436$         66%
Intergovernmental 1,606,752           14% 1,629,581           14% 1,651,832           14% 1,749,196           14% 1,684,947           13%
Regulation and Compliance* 345,829              3% 423,975              4% 472,986              4% 449,980              4% 568,574              4%
Special Assessments 11,711                0% 12,875                0% 12,855                0% 13,600                0% 16,717                0%
Public Charges for Services 1,302,212           12% 1,371,253           12% 1,393,649           12% 1,431,359           11% 1,429,250           11%
Investment Income & Miscellaneous 551,150              5% 669,147              6% 549,511              5% 657,326              5% 729,986              6%


    TOTAL 11,192,433$       100% 11,737,231$       100% 12,049,449$       100% 12,455,633$       100% 12,993,910$       100%


* Regulation and Compliance included Licenses and permits, fines, forfeitures and penalties, and intergovernmental charges for services.


CITY OF STOUGHTON
2018 FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
2018 FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS


2018 GENERAL & DEBT SERVICE FUND REVENUES
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2014 % 2015 % 2016 % 2017 % 2018 %
Total Expenditures
General Government 1,483,909$         13% 1,501,376$         13% 1,843,239$         15% 1,660,722$         14% 1,852,615$         14%
Public Safety 3,613,383           33% 3,786,470           33% 3,814,855           32% 3,884,807           32% 4,094,906           31%
Public Works 1,997,518           18% 1,977,034           18% 1,995,483           17% 2,034,622           17% 2,060,491           16%
Parks, Rec. & Education 1,382,233           12% 1,260,855           11% 1,236,683           10% 1,514,881           12% 1,569,926           12%
Debt Service** 2,624,459           24% 2,771,187           25% 3,098,922           26% 3,072,021           25% 3,557,992           27%


    TOTAL 11,101,502$       100% 11,296,922$       100% 11,989,182$       100% 12,167,053$       100% 13,135,930$       100%


**Excludes debt refunding


CITY OF STOUGHTON
2018 FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS


GENERAL & DEBT SERVICE FUND EXPENDITURES
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**Excludes debt refunding


Total Expenditures:  $13,135,930


CITY OF STOUGHTON
2018 FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS
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2014 % 2015 % 2016 % 2017 % 2018 %
CITY OF STOUGHTON
Total Assets/Deferred Outflows 54,087,531$         62,052,502$          68,723,740$         71,169,015$         83,158,717$          
Total Liabilities/Deferred Inflows 29,182,985           33,557,185            40,676,462           42,404,086           51,399,463            


Net investment in capital assets 18,744,830           75% 20,218,136            71% 19,120,712           68% 18,683,527           65% 21,358,159            67%
Restricted net position 1,626,071             7% 2,484,622              9% 1,969,261             7% 3,226,847             11% 4,600,716              14%
Unrestricted net position 4,533,645             18% 5,792,559              20% 6,887,305             25% 6,854,555             24% 5,800,379              19%


Total Net Position 24,904,546$         100% 28,495,317$          100% 27,977,278$         100% 28,764,929$         100% 31,759,254$          100%


Net Position as a % of Total Assets 46% 46% 41% 40% 38%


  Over time, increases or decreases in net assets may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating.


CITY OF STOUGHTON
2018 FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS


ANALYSIS OF NET POSITION - GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
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CITY OF STOUGHTON TIF District No. 3 % TIF District No. 4 % TIF District No. 5 % TIF District No. 6 % TIF District No. 7 % TIF District No. 8 %
Sources of funds
TIF increment 5,229,881$                   37% 2,467,435$           33% 30,147$                1% -$                                        0% 657,976$                     7% -$                          0%
Exempt computer aid 26,237                          0% 55,795                  1% 119,985                5% -                                          -                                  -                            0%
Intergovernmental -                                   0% 89,415                  1% 350,000                14% -                                          0% -                                  0% -                            0%
Developer guarantees 48,586                          0% 43,902                  1% 130,168                6% -                                          0% -                                  0% -                            0%
Public charges for services 12,942                          0% -                            0% -                            0% -                                          0% -                                  0% -                            0%
Contribution from other district 742,340                        5% 1,405,024             19% -                            0% -                                          0% -                                  0% -                            0%
Transfers from other funds 181,304                        1% -                            0% 100,000                4% -                                          0% -                                  0% -                            0%
Investment income 59,843                          0% 140,909                2% 4,182                    0% -                                          0% 24,072                         0% -                            0%
Land sales 1,383,920                     10% 550                       0% 116,616                5% -                                          0% -                                  0% -                            0%
Miscellaneous revenues 148,244                        1% 0% 1,000                    0% 21,945                                 4% -                                  0% -                            0%
Premium on long term debt -                                   0% -                            0% -                            0% -                                          0% 160,820                       2% -                            0%
Long-term debt issued 6,257,496                     44% 3,160,750             43% 1,498,750             64% 505,000                               96% 8,865,000                    91% 426,250                 100%


    TOTAL 14,090,793$                 100% 7,363,780$           100% 2,350,848$           100% 526,945$                             100% 9,707,868$                  100% 426,250$               100%


Uses of Funds
Capital expenditures 5,571,359$                   41% 2,033,433$           33% 2,696,159$           92% 565,002$                             86% 4,444,071$                  47% 176,297$               86%
Revolving loan fund -                                   0% 50,000                  1% -                            0% -                                          0% -                                  0% -                            0%
Administration (in house) -                                   0% 70,139                  1% -                            0% -                                          0% 32,511                         0% -                            0%
Professional services 141,706                        1% 293,836                5% 48,607                  2% 29,787                                 5% 6,912                           0% 29,655                   14%
Department of Revenue Fees 150                              0% 150                       0% 1,150                    0% 150                                     0% 150                              0% 1,000                     0%
Developer Payments 16,091                          0% -                            0% -                            0% -                                          0% -                                  0% -                            0%
Contribution to other district 1,106,252                     8% -                            0% -                            0% -                                          0% -                                  0% -                            0%
Debt issuance costs 20,162                          0% 26,075                  0% 18,157                  1% 3,374                                  1% 102,678                       1% -                            0%
Interest on advance -                                   0% -                            0% 96,965                  3% -                                          0% -                                  0% -                            0%
Interest on long-term debt 1,397,008                     10% 796,573                13% 45,082                  2% 14,676                                 2% 155,851                       2% -                            0%
Principal on long-term debt 5,413,234                     40% 2,960,750             48% 32,811                  1% 45,000                                 7% 4,775,000                    50% -                            0%


    TOTAL 13,665,962$                 100% 6,230,956$           100% 2,938,931$           100% 657,989$                             100% 9,517,173$                  100% 206,952$               101%


TIF Fund Balance (Deficit)  - December 31, 2018 424,831$                      1,132,824$           (588,083)$             (131,044)$                           190,695$                     219,298$               


Calculation of Net Cost Recoverable through TIF Increments


Long term debt outstanding 844,262                        200,000                1,465,939             460,000                               4,090,000                    426,250                 
Less/Add: TIF Fund Balance (Deficit) - December 31, 2018 (424,831)                      (1,132,824)            588,083                131,044                               (190,695)                      (219,298)                


    Net cost recoverable (recovered) through TIF
          increments - December 31, 2018 419,431$                      (932,824)$             2,054,022$           591,044$                             3,899,305$                  206,952$               


Creation date: January 1, 1993 January 1, 1999 January 1, 2010 January 1, 2015 January 1, 2015 January 1, 2018
Last date to incur  project costs: November 24, 2014 March 23, 2021 March 12, 2032 September 29, 2030 November 11, 2029 July 24, 2040


Last year to collect increment: 2020 2026 2037 2036 2035 2046


CITY OF STOUGHTON
2018 FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS


HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF TAX INCREMENTAL FINANCING DISTRICTS 
FROM THE DATES OF CREATION THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT


To the City Council
City of Stoughton
Stoughton, Wisconsin


Report on the Financial Statements


We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, as
of and for the year ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the City of Stoughton's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.


Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements


Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.


Auditors' Responsibility


Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.


An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the City of Stoughton's preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Stoughton's
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.


We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.
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Opinions


In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the City of Stoughton,  Wisconsin, as of December 31, 2018 and the respective
changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.


Other Matters


Required Supplementary Information


Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the required supplementary
information as listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the
basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do
not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.


Supplementary Information


Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City of Stoughton's basic financial statements. The supplementary information as listed in the table
of contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves,
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. In our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated in all material respects, in relation to the
basic financial statements as a whole.


Madison, Wisconsin
May 3, 2019
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CITY OF STOUGHTON 


 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 


(Unaudited) 


As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 
 
 
 


Management of the City of Stoughton offer readers of the City of Stoughton's financial statements this 
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City of Stoughton for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2018. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction 
with the city's financial statements. 


 


FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 


A successful city manages its limited resources to provide the best goods and services to its residents. 
Prudent financial management of a city’s financial assets seeks to both maximize the value of current 
goods and services while also planning for future needs, wants and opportunities. Management presents 
this analysis with a view to the current period and the future. 
 


 Net positon increased $5.7 million, or 6.9%, in 2018 to $88.3 million from $82.6 million in 2017. 
This indicates that 2018 operating and non-operating activities improved the city’s financial status.  
 


 Net investment in capital assets increased by $7.0 million, or 12.3%, in 2018. The majority of the 
capital asset addition is from building a new electric substation and a new public works 
building/garage. This indicates that the city invested significant financial resources in its 
infrastructure to meet the future needs of residents and businesses.  


 
 Unrestricted net position decreased in 2018 by $2.8 million, or 15.1%, to $15.9 million. The 


decrease is a direct result of the increased capital investment and is not from operating or non-
operating activities. The unrestricted net position was still a healthy 45% of 2018 expenses, which 
indicates the city’s ability to meet current expenses as well as provide support for future capital 
expenditures.  


 
 The city's governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $14.2 million at year-end. $2.8 


million of the fund balance was unassigned and able to fund future city expenditures. The remainder 
of the fund balance was nonspendable, restricted, committed or assigned for various purposes.  


 
 Long-term bonds and notes outstanding increased by $4.0 million to $46.2 million at the end of 


2018. The additional debt was incurred to fund the larger than normal capital additions in 2018.  


 


OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 


This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the city's basic financial 
statements. These financial statements consist of two parts: Management's Discussion and Analysis (this 
section) and the basic financial statements. The basic financial statements include two kinds of 
statements that present different views of the city: 
 


 The first two statements are government-wide financial statements that provide both long-term and 
short-term information about the city's overall financial status. 
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.) 
 


 
 The remaining statements are fund financial statements that focus on individual parts of city 


government, reporting the city's operations in more detail than the government-wide statements. 
 
These financial statements also include notes that explain some of the information in the financial 
statements and provide more detailed data. The statements are followed by a section of required 
supplementary information that further explains and supports the information in the financial statements. 
 
The government-wide statements report information about the city as a whole using accounting methods 
similar to those used by private-sector companies. The statement of net position includes all of the 
government’s assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources. All of 
the current year’s revenues and expenses are accounted for in the statement of activities regardless of 
when cash is received or paid. 
 
The two government-wide statements report the city’s net position and how they have changed. Net 
position – the city’s assets plus deferred outflows of resources less liabilities and deferred inflows of 
resources – is one way to measure the city’s financial health, or position. Over time, increases or 
decreases in the city’s net position are an indicator of whether its financial health is improving or 
deteriorating. To assess the overall health of the city you need to consider additional nonfinancial factors 
such as changes in the city’s property tax base and the condition of the city’s roads and other 
infrastructure. 
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the government’s net position changed 
during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying 
event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of the cash flows. Thus, revenue and 
expenses reported in this statement for some items will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods. 
 
A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been 
segregated for specific activities or objectives. The city, like other state and local governments, uses fund 
accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the 
funds of the city can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary 
funds. 
 
Governmental Funds – Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the 
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows 
and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end 
of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing 
requirements. 
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing 
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing 
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between 
governmental funds and governmental activities. 
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.) 
 


 
The city maintains thirty-six individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the 
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balances for the general fund, debt service fund, and construction fund, all of which are 
considered to be major funds. Data from the other governmental funds are combined into a single, 
aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these nonmajor governmental funds is provided 
in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report. 
 
The city adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general fund. A budgetary comparison statement 
has been provided for the general fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget. 
 
Proprietary Funds – The city maintains five different proprietary funds, all of which are enterprise funds. 
Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the 
government-wide financial statements. Proprietary fund financial statements present the same type of 
information as the government-wide financial statements, only in more detail. 
 
Internal Service Fund – The internal service fund is used to account for and report the financing of goods 
or services provided by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the city, on a cost-
reimbursement basis. 
 
Fiduciary Funds – Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside 
the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because 
the resources of those funds are not available to support the city’s own programs. The accounting used 
for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements – The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 
Other Information – In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, required 
supplementary information presents a detailed budgetary comparison schedule for the general fund to 
demonstrate compliance with the budget, followed by the city’s pension related information. The 
combining statements referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor governmental funds are presented 
immediately following the required supplementary information. 
 


 


FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE 
 


 
An analysis of the city’s financial position begins with a review of the Statement of Net Position and the 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position. These two statements report the city’s 
net position and changes therein. It should be noted that the financial position could also be affected by 
nonfinancial factors, including economic conditions, population growth and new regulations. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (cont.) 
 


 
A summary of the city’s Statement of Net Position is presented below. 
 


Table 1
Condensed Statement of Net Position


2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Current and other assets 29,870,075$   28,870,637$      14,878,017$     16,865,979$      44,748,092$    45,736,616$    
Capital assets 51,209,090     39,997,596        57,361,213       54,404,271        108,570,303    94,401,867      


Total Assets 81,079,165     68,868,233        72,239,230       71,270,250        153,318,395    140,138,483    


Pension related amounts 2,079,552       2,300,782          679,881            733,202             2,759,433        3,033,984        
Total Deferred Outflows
of Resources 2,079,552       2,300,782          679,881            733,202             2,759,433        3,033,984        


Long-term liabilities 35,580,848     29,774,727        12,907,057       14,845,278        48,487,905      44,620,005      
Other liabilities 2,668,525       1,304,824          2,698,474         3,024,711          5,366,999        4,329,535        


Total Liabilities 38,249,373     31,079,551        15,605,531       17,869,989        53,854,904      48,949,540      


Unearned revenue 10,987,696     10,338,371        -                        -                        10,987,696      10,338,371      
Pension related amounts 2,162,394       986,164             759,394            310,056             2,921,788        1,296,220        


Total Deferred Inflows
  of Resources 13,150,090     11,324,535        759,394            310,056             13,909,484      11,634,591      


Net investment in 
capital assets 21,358,159     18,683,527        43,606,545       39,343,187        64,491,804      57,442,764      


Restricted 4,600,716       3,226,847          3,295,342         3,150,246          7,896,058        6,377,093        
Unrestricted 5,800,379       6,854,555          9,652,299         11,329,974        15,925,578      18,768,479      


Total Net Position 31,759,254$   28,764,929$      56,554,186$     53,823,407$      88,313,440$    82,588,336$    


Governmental Business Type Totals
Activities Activities


 
The largest portion of the city’s net position (73.0%) reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, 
buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment, and infrastructure), less any debt used to acquire 
those assets that is still outstanding. The city uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; 
consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the city’s investment in its 
capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this 
debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot generally be 
liquidated to pay these liabilities. 
 
An additional portion of the city’s net position (8.9%) represents resources that are subject to external 
restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net position (18.1%) may be 
used to meet the government’s ongoing obligation to citizens and creditors. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (cont.) 
 


 
A summary of the city’s Statement of Activities is presented below. 
 


Table 2
Condensed Statement of Revenues,


Expenses and Changes in Net Position


2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
REVENUES
Program Revenues


Charges for services 3,194,280$      3,153,669$     20,500,400$       20,698,407$     23,694,680$       23,852,076$   
Operating grants and 
   contributions 1,751,419        1,970,337       53,730                39,527              1,805,149           2,009,864       
Capital grants and


contributions 2,192,906        871,798          1,148,641           826,708            3,341,547           1,698,506       
General Revenues


Property taxes 9,603,316        9,035,500       -                          -                       9,603,316           9,035,500       
Other taxes 137,688           138,899          -                          -                       137,688              138,899          
Intergovernmental 1,025,797        952,028          -                          -                       1,025,797           952,028          
Other 986,150           696,717          189,176              159,538            1,175,326           856,255          
      Total Revenues 18,891,556      16,818,948     21,891,947         21,724,180       40,783,503         38,543,128     


EXPENSES
General government 2,053,284        1,707,389       -                          -                       2,053,284           1,707,389       
Public safety 4,677,585        5,985,472       -                          -                       4,677,585           5,985,472       
Public works 4,110,559        2,949,608       -                          -                       4,110,559           2,949,608       
Culture, education and
   recreation 3,527,824        4,840,325       -                          -                       3,527,824           4,840,325       
Conservation and development 939,747           1,045,047       -                          -                       939,747              1,045,047       
Water -                       -                      1,478,914           1,547,915         1,478,914           1,547,915       
Wastewater -                       -                      1,902,959           1,958,873         1,902,959           1,958,873       
Electric -                       -                      14,278,273         14,392,196       14,278,273         14,392,196     
EMS -                       -                      602,256              466,301            602,256              466,301          
Storm sewer -                       -                      579,275              692,035            579,275              692,035          
Interest and fiscal charges 907,723           591,872          -                          -                       907,723              591,872          


     Total Expenses 16,216,722      17,119,713     18,841,677         19,057,320       35,058,399         36,177,033     


Income Before Transfers 2,674,834        (300,765)         3,050,270           2,666,860         5,725,104           2,366,095       


Transfers 319,491           247,837          (319,491)             (247,837)          -                          -                      


Change in Net Position 2,994,325        (52,928)           2,730,779           2,419,023         5,725,104           2,366,095       


 Beginning Net Position 28,764,929      28,817,857     53,823,407         51,404,384       82,588,336         80,222,241     


ENDING NET POSITION 31,759,254$    28,764,929$   56,554,186$       53,823,407$     88,313,440$       82,588,336$   


Governmental Business Type
Activities Activities Totals
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (cont.) 
 


 
As previously noted, the Statement of Net Position shows the change in financial position of net position. 
The specific nature or source of these changes then becomes more evident in the Statement of 
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position as shown above in Table 2.  
 
Governmental Activities – Revenues 
 
Governmental activities increased the city’s net position by $2,994,325. The increase is due primarily to 
increased public works capital grants and contributions and decreased public safety and public works 
expenses. 
 
Program revenues are those revenues that can be directly related to a particular activity, whereas general 
revenues represent revenues that are not directly related to one specific function. General revenues 
include state aids and investment income. Charges for services are primarily made up of licenses, 
permits, public charges for services such as library, garbage, recycling, park, and recreation fees. 
Operating grants are mainly from state resources received for highway maintenance and recycling 
programs. Capital grants fluctuate annually and are received to assist the city in capital asset purchases. 
 
Property taxes are the largest revenue source for the governmental activities accounting for 51% of total 
revenues. 
 


Governmental Activities by Revenue Source 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (cont.) 


 
 
Governmental Activities – Expenses 
 
Governmental activities expenses are broken down into various functions. General government includes 
administrative type costs including Council, Clerk, Human Resources, Finance, Legal and Assessment 
services. Costs associated with the city's Police Department and Fire services are shown within the public 
safety function. The public works function includes expenses for street and sidewalk maintenance, winter 
and forestry operations, and refuse and recycling efforts. Health and human services include the senior 
center, parks, recreation, cemetery and cable television. Conservation and development are the 
expenses of the planning department and TIF funds. 
 
 Governmental Activities Expenses Shown by Function 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (cont.) 
 


 
Business Type Activities 
 
Business-type activities increased the City of Stoughton's net position by $2,730,779. The electric utility 
accounted for 29.7%, the water utility accounted for 23.4%, the wastewater accounted for 18.5% and 
storm sewer accounted for 25.7% of the net increase. 
 
As shown on the following chart, the major source of revenues for the business-type activities is charges 
for services; other revenues include grants, contributions and investment income. 
 


Revenues by Source - Business Type Activities 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (cont.) 
 


 
Operating Expenses and Revenues - Business-type Activities 
 


 
 
Governmental Funds 
 
The focus of the City of Stoughton’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, 
outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the city’s 
financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of the 
government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
At December 31, 2018, the city’s governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $14,196,336. 
Approximately 19.7% of this amount, $2,803,157, constitutes the unassigned fund balance, which is 
available to meet the city’s current and future needs. An additional $10,188,860 is included in the restricted, 
committed, or assigned category which has been designated for specific projects or expenditures. The 
remaining $1,204,319 is nonspendable for prepaid expenditures, long-term receivables, noncurrent assets, 
or other investments. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (cont.) 
 


 


General Fund 
 
The city’s general fund is the chief operating fund of the city. Total fund balance in the general fund 
increased $371,470 or 6.3%. The increase is primarily due to investment income and miscellaneous 
revenues exceeding budgeted amounts. See the following General Fund Budgetary Highlights section for 
further details. 
 
The city has a formal minimum fund balance policy. That policy is to maintain an unassigned general fund 
balance within a range of 20% to 25% of general fund annual budgeted expenditures. The unassigned 
general fund balance at year-end including deficits in funds potentially funded by the General Fund was 
$3,523,092 or 26.83% of 2018 general fund budgeted expenditures. 
 
Debt Service Fund 
 
The city’s debt service fund accounts for the accumulation of resources for, and payment of, general long-
term debt principal, interest and related costs. The fund balance at the end of 2018 was $562,002, which 
is an increase of $81,526 from the prior year. The increase is mainly due to premium on new debt 
issuance. 
 
Construction Capital Projects Fund 
 
The city’s construction capital projects fund accounts for the funds accumulated for the purpose of 
obtaining capital assets or for capital projects and other expenditures that are unique and are not normal 
operating or maintenance type expenditures reportable within the general fund or other governmental 
funds. The total fund balance as of December 31, 2018 is $2,653,595. $2,587,344 of this is assigned for 
the completion of projects that were begun but were not fully complete by year-end and the remaining 
$66,251 is restricted. 
 
Outlay – Capital Projects Fund 
 
The city’s outlay fund accounts for the funds accumulated for the purpose of obtaining capital equipment 
and other capital assets. $373,768 of the fund balance is restricted and the remaining $80,132 is 
assigned. 
 
Tax Incremental District No. 7 
 
TID No. 7 was created in 2015. The entire fund balance of $190,695, which decreased $898,954 in 
2018, is restricted for future TID 7 projects. 
 
Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
 
Fund balance of all other governmental funds is $4,085,375, an increase of $241,884 from the prior year. 
 
Proprietary Funds 
 
The City of Stoughton’s proprietary fund financial statements provide the same type of information found 
in the government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. Factors concerning the finances of these 
funds have already been addressed in the discussion of the city’s business-type activities. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (cont.) 
 


 
Internal Service Fund 
 
In December 2011, the city paid off its Wisconsin Retirement System Unfunded Actuarial Accrued 
Liability. The city borrowed money from the Electric Utility to pay off its portion of liability. This advance 
has been recorded in the Retirement Fund, which is an Internal Service Fund that the city created for this 
purpose. The internal service fund had a deficit of $296,088 as of December 31, 2018, which represents 
the amount to be paid to the Electric Utility and funded through future years’ charges to governmental 
funds.  


 


GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 
 


 
The General Fund budget had total appropriations, including those for transfers out, of $13,128,988. Actual 
expenditures and transfers out were $13,447,850, resulting in a $318,862 unfavorable variance. Total 
revenues and other sources were $13,819,320, $699,629 more than the budget. Further details can be found 
in the budget to actual section of this report and the city’s year-end budget to actual report. 


 


CAPITAL ASSETS 
 


 
At the end of 2018, the city had invested a total of $108,570,303 in capital assets. This investment in 
capital assets includes land, buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment, and infrastructure. 
 


Table 3


Capital Assets


2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017


Land and other assets


   not being depreciated 20,168,555$      12,413,292$    1,319,233$         3,436,585$      21,487,788$      15,849,877$      


Buildings & improvements 17,708,322        15,865,366      1,240,308           1,240,308        18,948,630        17,105,674        


Machinery & equipment 11,373,741        10,731,759      941,588              842,543           12,315,329        11,574,302        


Infrastructure 32,255,881        30,586,683      -                          -                       32,255,881        30,586,683        


Utility plant -                         -                       89,698,369         83,352,170      89,698,369        83,352,170        


      Total Capital Assets 81,506,499        69,597,100      93,199,498         88,871,606      174,705,997      158,468,706      


Less: Accumulated depreciation (30,297,409)       (29,599,504)     (35,838,285)        (34,467,335)     (66,135,694)       (64,066,839)       


NET CAPITAL ASSETS 51,209,090$      39,997,596$    57,361,213$       54,404,271$    108,570,303$    94,401,867$      


Governmental Business Type Totals


Activities Activities
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CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.) 
 


 
Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following: 
 
Governmental Activities 
 


 Infrastructure reconstruction projects of sidewalks throughout the city and street reconstruction.  
 Various equipment purchases. 
 A new public works building, garage, cold storage building and salt storage building totaling over 


82,000 square feet. 
 
Business-type Activities 
 


 Business-type activities capital assets increased mainly due to additions and replacements to utility 
plant and a new electric substation being built and coming online in 2018. 


 
 


LONG-TERM DEBT 
 


 
At December 31, 2018, the city had $46,245,431 of long-term bonds and notes outstanding, which is a 
$3,981,794 increase from 2017. $11,652,597 of this is revenue debt and the rest relates to general 
obligation issues. In accordance with Wisconsin Statutes, total general obligation indebtedness of the city 
may not exceed 5% of the equalized value of taxable property within the city's jurisdiction. The debt limit as 
of December 31, 2018 was $58,163,075. Total general obligation debt outstanding at year end was 
$34,592,834. Therefore, the city was at 59% of the legal debt limit. 
 
The city has a debt policy to maintain total outstanding general obligation debt at 4% or less of the 
equalized value. The city’s outstanding general obligation debt was at 3.0%. 
 


 


CURRENTLY KNOWN FACTS/ECONOMIC CONDITIONS 
 


 
All currently known facts and economic conditions were considered in preparing the 2019 city budget. 
None of these conditions are anticipated to change the overall financial position of the city. 
 


 


REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 
 


 
The financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, investors and creditors with a general 
overview of the city’s finances. If you have questions about this report or need any additional information, 
contact the City of Stoughton Finance Director. 
 







CITY OF STOUGHTON


STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
As of December 31, 2018


Governmental
Activities


Business-type
Activities Totals


ASSETS
Cash and investments $ 14,727,298 $ 9,086,660 $ 23,813,958
Receivables (net) 11,799,137 2,503,240 14,302,377
Internal balances 843,113 (843,113) -
Inventories and prepaid items 44,875 265,781 310,656
Investment in mutual insurance company 257,805 - 257,805
Restricted cash and investments - 2,975,148 2,975,148
Restricted net  pension asset 1,072,050 375,018 1,447,068
Other assets - 515,283 515,283
Land held for resale 1,125,797 - 1,125,797
Capital Assets


Capital assets not being depreciated 20,168,555 1,319,233 21,487,788
Capital assets net of depreciation 31,040,535 56,041,980 87,082,515


Total Assets 81,079,165 72,239,230 153,318,395


DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related amounts 2,079,552 679,881 2,759,433


Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 2,079,552 679,881 2,759,433


LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 1,711,196 984,999 2,696,195
Accrued liabilities and deposits 692,380 266,071 958,451
Other liabilities 264,949 22,086 287,035
Liabilities Payable from Restricted Assets


Current portion of revenue bonds - 1,370,494 1,370,494
Accrued interest - 54,824 54,824


Noncurrent Liabilities
Due within one year 3,215,602 397,289 3,612,891
Due in more than one year 32,365,246 12,509,768 44,875,014


Total Liabilities 38,249,373 15,605,531 53,854,904


DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unearned revenue 10,987,696 - 10,987,696
Pension related amounts 2,162,394 759,394 2,921,788


Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 13,150,090 759,394 13,909,484


NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 21,358,159 43,606,545 64,491,804
Restricted for


Debt service 125,367 1,771,679 1,897,046
Firemen pension 808,960 - 808,960
Pension 1,072,050 375,018 1,447,068
Equipment replacement - 1,148,645 1,148,645
TID activities 2,001,158 - 2,001,158
Library 250,762 - 250,762
Impact fees 286,045 - 286,045
Grants and loans 56,374 - 56,374


Unrestricted 5,800,379 9,652,299 15,925,578


TOTAL NET POSITION $ 31,759,254 $ 56,554,186 $ 88,313,440


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


Program Revenues


Functions/Programs Expenses
Charges for


Services


Operating
Grants and


Contributions


Capital 
Grants and


Contributions


Governmental Activities
General government $ 2,053,284 $ 178,093 $ 225,653 $ -
Public safety 4,677,585 693,025 157,561 55,034
Public works 4,110,559 1,265,679 569,702 2,137,872
Culture, recreation and education 3,527,824 1,004,112 783,601 -
Conservation and development 939,747 53,371 1,000 -
Interest and fiscal charges 907,723 - 13,902 -


Total Governmental Activities 16,216,722 3,194,280 1,751,419 2,192,906


Business-type Activities
Water 1,478,914 2,121,101 - 386,101
Wastewater 1,902,959 2,055,876 - 321,665
Electric 14,278,273 15,145,613 - 280,064
EMS 602,256 568,426 26,551 -
Storm sewer 579,275 609,384 27,179 160,811


Total Business-type Activities 18,841,677 20,500,400 53,730 1,148,641


Total $ 35,058,399 $ 23,694,680 $ 1,805,149 $ 3,341,547


General Revenues
Taxes


Property taxes, levied for general purposes
Property taxes, levied for TIF districts
Other taxes


Intergovernmental revenues not restricted to specific programs
Investment income
Miscellaneous


Total General Revenues
Transfers


Change in net position


NET POSITION - Beginning of Year


NET POSITION - END OF YEAR


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Net (Expenses) Revenues and Changes in Net Position


Governmental
Activities


Business-type
Activities Totals


$ (1,649,538) $ - $ (1,649,538)
(3,771,965) - (3,771,965)


(137,306) - (137,306)
(1,740,111) - (1,740,111)


(885,376) - (885,376)
(893,821) - (893,821)


(9,078,117) - (9,078,117)


- 1,028,288 1,028,288
- 474,582 474,582
- 1,147,404 1,147,404
- (7,279) (7,279)
- 218,099 218,099
- 2,861,094 2,861,094


(9,078,117) 2,861,094 (6,217,023)


8,513,196 - 8,513,196
1,090,120 - 1,090,120


137,688 - 137,688
1,025,797 - 1,025,797


427,902 166,508 594,410
558,248 22,668 580,916


11,752,951 189,176 11,942,127
319,491 (319,491) -


2,994,325 2,730,779 5,725,104


28,764,929 53,823,407 82,588,336


$ 31,759,254 $ 56,554,186 $ 88,313,440


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
As of December 31, 2018


General Debt Service


Construction
Capital
Projects Outlay


ASSETS
Cash and investments $ 4,596,406 $ 252,222 $ 3,055,999 $ 1,251,300
Receivables (net)


Taxes 9,797,434 - - -
Delinquent personal property taxes 10,042 - - -
Accounts 98,672 - - -
Special assessments - - - -
Delinquent special assessments 7,495 - - -
Loans - - - -


Due from other funds 941,692 309,780 25,005 5,007
Advances to other funds 816,719 - - -
Other investments 257,805 - - -
Prepaid items - - - -


TOTAL ASSETS $ 16,526,265 $ 562,002 $ 3,081,004 $ 1,256,307


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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TIF District
No. 7 Capital


Projects


Nonmajor
Governmental


Funds Totals


$ 179,969 $ 5,391,402 $ 14,727,298


526,673 775,068 11,099,175
- - 10,042


46,627 18,242 163,541
- 468,884 468,884
- - 7,495
- 50,000 50,000
- - 1,281,484
- - 816,719
- - 257,805
- 44,875 44,875


$ 753,269 $ 6,748,471 $ 28,927,318


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
As of December 31, 2018


General Debt Service


Construction
Capital
Projects Outlay


LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES


Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 278,409 $ - $ 427,409 $ 802,407
Accrued liabilities 188,257 - - -
Deposits 17,139 - - -
Other liabilities - - - -
Due to other funds 10,311 - - -
Due to other governments 1,512 - - -
Advances from other funds - - - -


Total Liabilities 495,628 - 427,409 802,407


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 9,779,868 - - -
Unavailable revenues - - - -


Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 9,779,868 - - -


Fund Balances
Nonspendable for prepaid items - - - -
Nonspendable for non-current interfunds 884,102 - - -
Nonspendable for delinquent items 17,537 - - -
Nonspendable for other investments 257,805 - - -
Restricted - 562,002 66,251 373,768
Committed - - - -
Assigned 1,206,970 - 2,587,344 80,132
Unassigned (deficit) 3,884,355 - - -


Total Fund Balances 6,250,769 562,002 2,653,595 453,900


TOTAL LIABILITIES,
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND
BALANCES $ 16,526,265 $ 562,002 $ 3,081,004 $ 1,256,307


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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TIF District
No. 7 Capital


Projects


Nonmajor
Governmental


Funds Totals


$ - $ 201,459 $ 1,709,684
- 14,958 203,215


2,391 33,000 52,530
- 264,949 264,949
- 131,972 142,283
- - 1,512
- 816,719 816,719


2,391 1,463,057 3,190,892


526,673 681,155 10,987,696
33,510 518,884 552,394


560,183 1,200,039 11,540,090


- 44,875 44,875
- - 884,102
- - 17,537
- - 257,805


190,695 3,129,094 4,321,810
- 1,004,547 1,004,547
- 988,057 4,862,503
- (1,081,198) 2,803,157


190,695 4,085,375 14,196,336


$ 753,269 $ 6,748,471 $ 28,927,318


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION


As of December 31, 2018


Total Fund Balances - Governmental Funds $ 14,196,336


Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are
different because:


Capital assets used in governmental funds are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds. See Note II. A. 51,209,090


Land held for resale. 1,125,797


Some receivables that are not currently available are reported as unavailable
revenues in the fund financial statements but are recognized as revenue when
earned in the government-wide statements. 552,394


The net pension asset and liability do not relate to current financial resources and
are not reported in the governmental funds. (320,111)


Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions do not relate to current financial
resources and are not reported in the governmental funds. 2,079,552


Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions do not relate to current financial
resources and are not reported in the governmental funds. (2,162,394)


Internal service funds are reported in the statement of net position as governmental
activities. (296,088)


Some liabilities, including long-term debt, are not due and payable in the current
period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. See Note  II. A. (34,625,322)


NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES $ 31,759,254


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


General Debt Service


Construction
Capital
Projects Outlay


REVENUES
Taxes $ 8,564,436 $ - $ - $ -
Intergovernmental 1,671,045 13,902 - 45,004
Licenses and permits 292,448 - - -
Fines, forfeitures and penalties 168,454 - - -
Public charges for services 1,429,250 - - -
Intergovernmental charges for services 58,889 48,783 - -
Special assessments 16,717 - - -
Investment income 189,555 - 160,607 -
Miscellaneous revenues 530,241 10,190 - -


Total Revenues 12,921,035 72,875 160,607 45,004


EXPENDITURES
Current


General government 1,852,615 - - -
Public safety 4,094,906 - - -
Public works 2,060,491 - - -
Culture, recreation and education 1,569,926 - - -
Conservation and development - - - -


Capital Outlay - - 2,222,984 8,906,566
Debt Service


Principal - 7,644,119 - -
Interest and fiscal charges - 688,873 - -


Total Expenditures 9,577,938 8,332,992 2,222,984 8,906,566


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures 3,343,097 (8,260,117) (2,062,377) (8,861,562)


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Debt issued - 45,000 - 8,450,000
Premium on debt - 230,235 - -
Sales of fixed assets - - - 60,535
Transfers in 898,285 8,066,408 167,320 200,000
Transfers out (3,869,912) - - -


Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (2,971,627) 8,341,643 167,320 8,710,535


Net Change in Fund Balances 371,470 81,526 (1,895,057) (151,027)


FUND BALANCES - Beginning of Year (as
restated) 5,879,299 480,476 4,548,652 604,927


FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR $ 6,250,769 $ 562,002 $ 2,653,595 $ 453,900


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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TIF District
No. 7 Capital


Projects


Nonmajor
Governmental


Funds Totals


$ 415,963 $ 755,261 $ 9,735,660
- 421,712 2,151,663
- - 292,448
- - 168,454
- 813,251 2,242,501
- - 107,672
- 148,646 165,363


4,678 73,062 427,902
- 485,810 1,026,241


420,641 2,697,742 16,317,904


- 45,983 1,898,598
- 31,378 4,126,284
- - 2,060,491
- 2,200,663 3,770,589


10,443 64,862 75,305
679,308 1,032,681 12,841,539


- - 7,644,119
56,752 18,157 763,782


746,503 3,393,724 33,180,707


(325,862) (695,982) (16,862,803)


4,090,000 775,000 13,360,000
151,700 - 381,935


- - 60,535
- 1,015,019 10,347,032


(4,814,792) (852,153) (9,536,857)
(573,092) 937,866 14,612,645


(898,954) 241,884 (2,250,158)


1,089,649 3,843,491 16,446,494


$ 190,695 $ 4,085,375 $ 14,196,336


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
 AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS


TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds $ (2,250,158)
  
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:


Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of net position
the cost of these assets is capitalized and they are depreciated over their estimated useful lives
and reported as depreciation expense in the statement of activities.


Capital outlay is reported as an expenditure in the fund financial statements but is capitalized
in the government-wide financial statements 12,841,539


Some items reported as capital outlay were not capitalized (1,221,048)
Depreciation is reported in the government-wide financial statements (1,890,206)
Net book value of assets retired (165,979)


Contributed capital assets are reported as revenues in the government-wide financial statements. 2,137,872


Capital assets contributed to business-type activities are reported as capital outlay in the fund
financial statements. (490,684)


Receivables not currently available are reported as revenue when collected or currently available in
the fund financial statements but are recognized as revenue when earned in the government-wide
financial statements.


Special assessments 309,364
Guaranteed increment revenue 33,510
Lease activity (19,128)


Debt issued provides current financial resources to governmental funds, but issuing debt increases
long-term liabilities in the statement of net position. Repayment of debt principal is an expenditure
in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net
position.


Debt issued (13,360,000)
Principal repaid 7,644,119


Governmental funds report debt premiums and discounts as other financing sources (uses) or
expenditures. However, in the statement of net position, these are reported as additions to or
deductions from long-term debt. These are allocated over the period the debt is outstanding in the
statement of activities and are reported as interest expense.


Premium on debt issued (355,014)
Amortization 29,739


Some expenses in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial resources
and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in the governmental funds. 


Compensated absences 73,172
Net pension asset 1,233,913
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions (221,230)
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions (1,176,230)
Accrued interest on debt (200,601)


Internal service funds are used by management to charge self insurance costs to individual funds.
The change in net position of the internal service fund reported with governmental activities. 41,375


CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES $ 2,994,325


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
As of December 31, 2018


Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds


Water Wastewater Electric


ASSETS
Current Assets


Cash and investments $ 348,735 $ 1,569,653 $ 5,612,885
Receivables


Other receivables 239,136 218,853 1,507,815
Interest receivable 1,247 5,876 19,412
Current portion of special assessments 29,026 19,905 -


Due from other funds 39,866 27,760 7,274
Current portion of advance to other funds - - 43,646
Inventories 39,203 - 206,300
Prepaid items 7,845 3,572 8,861
Restricted Assets


Redemption account - current 219,171 313,374 497,953
Total Current Assets 924,229 2,158,993 7,904,146


Noncurrent Assets
Restricted Assets


Reserve account 252,000 - 460,722
Depreciation account 25,000 33,283 25,000
Equipment replacement - 1,148,645 -
Net pension asset 70,127 72,762 210,998


Capital Assets
Land and land rights 430,131 - 344,364
Construction in progress 28,458 59,171 208,793
Plant in service 23,280,490 30,338,077 32,713,826
Property held for future use - - 229,097
Less: Accumulated depreciation (7,499,746) (11,793,102) (15,391,673)


Other Assets
Special assessments 174,155 119,431 -
Preliminary survey and investigation 24,798 26,492 18,647
Plant and maintenance reserve account 189,499 - 518,953
Sick leave reserve account 76,246 91,339 132,863
Advance to other funds - - 252,442
Investment in ATC - - 416,294
Non-utility property (net of amortization) 22,078 - 6,974


Total Noncurrent Assets 17,073,236 20,096,098 20,147,300


Total Assets 17,997,465 22,255,091 28,051,446


DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related amounts 127,795 134,712 379,474


Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 127,795 134,712 379,474


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Business-type Activities -
Enterprise Funds


Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds Totals


Governmental
Activities -


Internal
Service Fund


$ 546,487 $ 8,077,760 $ -


168,384 2,134,188 -
- 26,535 -
- 48,931 -


44,001 118,901 -
- 43,646 -
- 245,503 -
- 20,278 -


- 1,030,498 -
758,872 11,746,240 -


- 712,722 -
- 83,283 -
- 1,148,645 -


21,131 375,018 -


9,986 784,481 -
9,233 305,655 -


5,547,872 91,880,265 -
- 229,097 -


(1,153,764) (35,838,285) -


- 293,586 -
- 69,937 -
- 708,452 -
- 300,448 -
- 252,442 -
- 416,294 -
- 29,052 -


4,434,458 61,751,092 -


5,193,330 73,497,332 -


37,900 679,881 -


37,900 679,881 -


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
As of December 31, 2018


Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds


Water Wastewater Electric


LIABILITIES 
Current Liabilities


Accounts payable $ 14,298 $ 38,772 $ 899,665
Accrued liabilities 11,055 13,309 95,339
Public benefits - - 22,086
Deposits - - 125,435
Due to other funds 425,078 26,927 496,317
Current portion of general obligation debt 51,000 34,000 -
Current portion of advance - - -
Liabilities Payable from Restricted Assets


Current portion of revenue bonds 314,173 436,321 620,000
Accrued interest 7,006 18,939 28,879


Total Current Liabilities 822,610 568,268 2,287,721


Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-Term Debt


Customer advances for construction - - 62,383
Revenue bonds payable 1,988,159 3,883,944 4,410,000
Unamortized debt premium 22,981 - 91,552
General obligation debt payable 321,000 214,000 -


Compensated absences 76,246 91,338 132,863
Advances from other funds - - -


Total Noncurrent Liabilities 2,408,386 4,189,282 4,696,798


Total Liabilities 3,230,996 4,757,550 6,984,519


DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related amounts 143,740 143,137 428,593


Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 143,740 143,137 428,593


NET POSITION (DEFICIT)
Net investment in capital assets 13,542,020 14,035,881 12,982,855
Restricted for


Debt service 489,165 327,718 954,796
Equipment replacement - 1,148,645 -
Pension 70,127 72,762 210,998


Unrestricted (deficit) 649,212 1,904,110 6,869,159


TOTAL NET POSITION (DEFICIT) $ 14,750,524 $ 17,489,116 $ 21,017,808


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Business-type Activities -
Enterprise Funds


Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds Totals


Governmental
Activities -


Internal
Service Funds


$ 32,264 $ 984,999 $ -
20,933 140,636 -


- 22,086 -
- 125,435 -


309,780 1,258,102 -
312,289 397,289 -


- - 43,646


- 1,370,494 -
- 54,824 -


675,266 4,353,865 43,646


- 62,383 -
- 10,282,103 -
- 114,533 -


1,177,092 1,712,092 -
38,210 338,657 -


- - 252,442
1,215,302 12,509,768 252,442


1,890,568 16,863,633 296,088


43,924 759,394 -


43,924 759,394 -


3,045,789 43,606,545 -


- 1,771,679 -
- 1,148,645 -


21,131 375,018 -
229,818 9,652,299 (296,088)


$ 3,296,738 $ 56,554,186 $ (296,088)


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds


Water Wastewater Electric


OPERATING REVENUES $ 2,121,101 $ 2,055,876 $ 15,136,031


OPERATING EXPENSES
Operation and maintenance 969,181 959,399 13,060,056
Depreciation 460,342 820,778 1,108,163


Total Operating Expenses 1,429,523 1,780,177 14,168,219


Operating Income 691,578 275,699 967,812


NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment income 18,984 29,344 104,218
Interest and fiscal charges (51,176) (122,782) (120,579)
Miscellaneous expenses (4,280) - 2,827
Interest subsidy - - -
Amortization of premium 6,065 - 17,280
Miscellaneous revenue 3,601 - 19,067
Intergovernmental grants - - -


Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) (26,806) (93,438) 22,813


Income Before Contributions and Transfers 664,772 182,261 990,625


CONTRIBUTIONS AND TRANSFERS
Contributions in aid of construction 386,101 321,665 280,064
Capital contributions - city 18,284 - -
Transfers in - - -
Transfers out (429,611) - (460,564)


Total Contributions and Transfers (25,226) 321,665 (180,500)


Change in Net Position 639,546 503,926 810,125


NET POSITION (DEFICIT) - Beginning of Year 14,110,978 16,985,190 20,207,683


NET POSITION (DEFICIT) - END OF YEAR $ 14,750,524 $ 17,489,116 $ 21,017,808


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Business-type Activities -
Enterprise Funds


Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds Totals


Governmental
Activities -


Internal
Service Fund


$ 1,177,810 $ 20,490,818 $ 51,499


942,470 15,931,106 -
198,190 2,587,473 -


1,140,660 18,518,579 -


37,150 1,972,239 51,499


13,962 166,508 -
(40,871) (335,408) (10,124)


- (1,453) -
9,018 9,018 -


- 23,345 -
- 22,668 -


44,712 44,712 -
26,821 (70,610) (10,124)


63,971 1,901,629 41,375


160,811 1,148,641 -
472,400 490,684 -
80,000 80,000 -


- (890,175) -
713,211 829,150 -


777,182 2,730,779 41,375


2,519,556 53,823,407 (337,463)


$ 3,296,738 $ 56,554,186 $ (296,088)


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds


Water Wastewater Electric


CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Received from customers $ 2,130,556 $ 2,056,987 $ 15,109,693
Received from municipality for services - - -
Received for street lighting - - 112,941
Paid to suppliers for goods and services (648,177) (608,225) (12,371,601)
Paid to employees for services (381,881) (381,881) (766,572)


Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities 1,100,498 1,066,881 2,084,461


CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investments sold and matured 2,113 218,872 604,190
Investment income 27,206 64,590 90,085
Investments purchased - (230,805) (456,292)
Dividends from ATC - - 17,216


Net Cash Flows From Investing Activities 29,319 52,657 255,199


CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Paid to municipality for tax equivalent (420,305) - (394,626)
Received from municipality principal on Wisconsin Retirement


UAAL advance - - 41,375
Received from municipality interest on Wisconsin Retirement


UAAL advance - - 10,124
Transfers to/from other funds (6,260) - (27,975)
Paid to utilities principal on Wisconsin Retirement UAAL advance - - -
Paid to utilities interest on Wisconsin Retirement UAAL advance - - -
Advances from other funds - - -


Net Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities (426,565) - (371,102)


CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING
ACTIVITIES


Debt retired (369,415) (458,702) (610,000)
Interest paid (52,040) (124,889) (122,707)
Special assessments received 236,757 162,362 -
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (516,872) (522,517) (2,852,965)
Capital contributions received 18,284 24,120 397,782


Net Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities (683,286) (919,626) (3,187,890)


Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 19,966 199,912 (1,219,332)


CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of Year 633,433 2,105,399 4,946,611


CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR $ 653,399 $ 2,305,311 $ 3,727,279


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Business-type Activities -
Enterprise Funds


Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds Totals


Governmental
Activities -


Internal Service
Fund


$ 1,185,877 $ 20,483,113 $ -
- - 51,499
- 112,941 -


(378,042) (14,006,045) -
(548,417) (2,078,751) -
259,418 4,511,258 51,499


- 825,175 -
13,962 195,843 -


- (687,097) -
- 17,216 -


13,962 351,137 -


- (814,931) -


- 41,375 -


- 10,124 -
80,000 45,765 -


- - (41,375)
- - (10,124)


34,035 34,035 -
114,035 (683,632) (51,499)


(295,970) (1,734,087) -
(47,117) (346,753) -


- 399,119 -
(410,892) (4,303,246) -


27,179 467,365 -
(726,800) (5,517,602) -


(339,385) (1,338,839) -


885,872 8,571,315 -


$ 546,487 $ 7,232,476 $ -


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds


Water Wastewater Electric


RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH
FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES


Operating income $ 691,578 $ 275,699 $ 967,812
Nonoperating revenue (expense) 3,601 - 25,552
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income to Net Cash Flows


From Operating Activities
Depreciation 460,342 820,778 1,108,163
Depreciation charged to other funds 28,826 - 63,900


Changes in assets, deferred outflows, liabilities and deferred
inflows


Customer accounts receivable (18,871) 8,181 109,007
Other accounts receivable 1,578 (7,856) (56,575)
Due from other funds 621 (17,439) 2,908
Due to other funds (24,506) - (1,543)
Inventories 2,198 - (52,801)
Prepaid items (5,153) (209) (459)
Accounts payable (18,724) 23,771 (42,105)
Accrued wages (1,361) - -
Compensated absences (22,991) (33,295) (43,618)
Customer deposits - - 5,711
Other current liabilities - (1,694) (22,898)
Public benefits - - 972
Pension related deferrals and liabilities 3,360 (1,055) 20,435


NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ 1,100,498 $ 1,066,881 $ 2,084,461


RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS TO THE
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUNDS


Cash and investments $ 614,480 $ 1,660,992 $ 6,264,701
Restricted cash and investments


Redemption account 219,171 313,374 497,953
Reserve account 252,000 - 460,722
Depreciation account 25,000 33,283 25,000
Replacement account - 1,148,645 -
Total Cash and Investments 1,110,651 3,156,294 7,248,376
Less:  Noncash equivalents (457,252) (850,983) (3,521,097)


  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $ 653,399 $ 2,305,311 $ 3,727,279


NONCASH CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Unrealized loss on investments $ (17,486) $ (43,263) $ (35,729)


Contributed capital assets $ 386,101 $ 297,545 $ 5,747


ATC earnings allocated $ - $ - $ 9,618


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Business-type Activities -
Enterprise Funds


Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds Totals


Governmental
Activities -


Internal Service
Fund


$ 37,150 $ 1,972,239 $ 51,499
26,551 55,704 -


198,190 2,587,473 -
- 92,726 -


1,128 99,445 -
25,378 (37,475) -


(44,990) (58,900) -
- (26,049) -
- (50,603) -
- (5,821) -


8,890 (28,168) -
- (1,361) -


5,264 (94,640) -
- 5,711 -


(530) (25,122) -
- 972 -


2,387 25,127 -


$ 259,418 $ 4,511,258 $ 51,499


$ 546,487 $ 9,086,660 $ -


- 1,030,498 -
- 712,722 -
- 83,283 -
- 1,148,645 -


546,487 12,061,808 -
- (4,829,332) -


$ 546,487 $ 7,232,476 $ -


$ - $ -


$ 633,211 $ -


$ - $ -


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
AGENCY FUND


As of December 31, 2018


Agency Fund


ASSETS
Cash and Investments $ 14,822,570
Tax roll receivable 1,654,516


TOTAL ASSETS $ 16,477,086


LIABILITIES
Due to other taxing units $ 16,477,086


TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 16,477,086


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES


The accounting policies of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin conform to accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America as applicable to governmental units. The accepted standard-
setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles is the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).


A. REPORTING ENTITY


This report includes all of the funds of the city. The reporting entity for the city consists of the primary
government and its component unit. Component units are legally separate organizations for which the
primary government is financially accountable or other organizations for which the nature and significance
of their relationship with the primary government are such that their exclusion would cause the reporting
entity's financial statements to be misleading. The primary government is financially accountable if (1) it
appoints a voting majority of the organization's governing body and it is able to impose its will on that
organization, (2) it appoints a voting majority of the organization's governing body and there is a potential
for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the
primary government, (3) the organization is fiscally dependent on and there is a potential for the
organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the primary
government. Certain legally separate, tax exempt organizations should also be reported as a component
unit if all of the following criteria are met: (1) the economic resources received or held by the separate
organization are entirely or almost entirely for the direct benefit of the primary government, its component
units, or its constituents; (2) the primary government or its component units, is entitled to, or has the ability
to access, a majority of the economic resources received or held by the separate organization; and (3) the
economic resources received or held by an individual organization that the primary government, or its
component units, is entitled to, or has the ability to otherwise access, are significant to the primary
government.


Component units are reported using one of two methods, discrete presentation or blending. Generally,
component units should be discretely presented in a separate column in the financial statements. A
component unit should be reported as part of the primary government using the blending method if it
meets any one of the following criteria: (1) the primary government and the component unit have
substantively the same governing body and a financial benefit or burden relationship exists, (2) the
primary government and the component unit have substantively the same governing body and
management of the primary government has operational responsibility for the component unit, (3) the
component unit serves or benefits, exclusively or almost exclusively, the primary government rather than
its citizens, or (4) the total debt of the component unit will be paid entirely or almost entirely from resources
of the primary government.


Blended Component Units


The Stoughton Redevelopment Authority (RDA) serves all the citizens of the primary (or city) government
and is governed by a board of seven Commissioners. The rates for user charges and bond issuance
authorizations are approved by the primary government's council and the primary government is legally
obligated to provide resources in case there are deficiencies in debt service payments and resources are
not available from other remedies. The Authority is reported as a special revenue fund. The Authority does
not issue separate financial statements.  
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


Government-Wide Financial Statements


The statement of net position and statement of activities display information about the reporting
government as a whole. They include all funds of the reporting entity except for fiduciary funds. The
statements distinguish between governmental and business-type activities. Governmental activities
generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange revenues.
Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties for goods or
services. Likewise, the primary government is reported separately from certain legally separate
component units for which the primary government is financially accountable.


The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or
segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a
specific function or segment. The city does not allocate indirect expenses to functions in the statement of
activities. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly
benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment, and 2) grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function
or segment. Taxes and other items not included among program revenues are reported as general
revenues. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program
revenues.


Fund Financial Statements


Financial statements of the city are organized into funds, each of which is considered to be a separate
accounting entity. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts,
which constitute its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, net
position/fund balance, revenues, and expenditures/expenses. 


Funds are organized as major funds or nonmajor funds within the governmental and proprietary
statements. An emphasis is placed on major funds within the governmental and proprietary categories. A
fund is considered major if it is the primary operating fund of the city or meets the following criteria:


a. Total assets/deferred outflows of resources, liabilities/deferred inflows of resources, revenues,
or expenditures/expenses of that individual governmental or enterprise fund are at least 10% of
the corresponding total for all funds of that category or type, and 


b. The same element of the individual governmental or enterprise fund that met the 10% test is at
least 5% of the corresponding total for all governmental and enterprise funds combined.


c. In addition, any other governmental or enterprise fund that the city believes is particularly
important to financial statement users may be reported as a major fund.


Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds,
even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual
governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund
financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)


Fund Financial Statements (cont.)


The city reports the following major governmental funds:


General Fund - accounts for the city's primary operating activities. It is used to account for and
report all financial resources except those accounted for and reported in another fund.


Debt Service Fund - used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted,
committed, or assigned to expenditure for the payment of general long-term debt principal,
interest, and related costs, other than TID or enterprise debt.


Construction capital project fund - used to account for and report financial resources that are
restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditures for capital outlays, including the
acquisition or construction of capital facilities and other capital assets.


Outlay capital project fund - used to account for and report financial resources that are
restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditures for capital outlays, including the
acquisition of capital equipment and other capital assets.


Tax Incremental District (TID) No. 7 Capital Projects Fund - used to account for and report
financial resources that are restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditures outlined in the
TID project plan.


The city reports the following major enterprise funds:


Water Utility - accounts for operations of the water system
Wastewater Utility - accounts for operations of the wastewater system
Electric Utility - accounts for operations of the electric system


The city reports the following nonmajor governmental and enterprise funds:


Special Revenue Funds - used to account for and report the proceeds of specific revenue
sources that are restricted or committed to expenditures for specified purposes (other than debt
service or capital projects).


Library Food Pantry
Ambulance Landmarks
Opera House Fire Department Special
Opera House Repair Senior Center Wood Shop
Township Outreach Senior Center Special
Tourism Economic Development
Seniors in Need Redevelopment Authority
CDBG Special Assessments
Cemetery K9 Unit
Revolving loan fund Tree Commission
Firemen's Pension Fund
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)


Fund Financial Statements (cont.)


The city reports the following nonmajor governmental and enterprise funds: (cont.)


Capital Projects Funds - used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted,
committed, or assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, including the acquisition or
construction of capital facilities and other capital assets.


Fire Equipment TIF District No. 3
Park Acquisition TIF District No. 4
River Trail TIF District No. 5
Building Maintenance TIF District No. 6
Equipment Replacement TIF District No. 8


Enterprise Funds - used to account for and report any activity for which a fee is charged to
external uses for goods or services, and must be used for activities which meet certain debt or
cost recovery criteria.


EMS Storm Sewer


In addition, the city reports the following fund types:


Internal Service Fund - used to account for and report the financing of goods or services
provided by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the city, or to other
governmental units, on a cost-reimbursement basis.


Retirement fund


Agency Fund - used to account for and report assets held by the city in a trustee capacity or as
an agent for individuals, private organizations, and/or other governmental units.


Tax Collections Fund
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION


Government-Wide Financial Statements


The government-wide statement of net position and statement of activities are reported using the
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of
accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability is
incurred or economic asset used. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from
exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized when the exchange takes place. Property taxes
are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Taxes receivable for the following year
are recorded as receivables and deferred inflows. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as
soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider are met. Special assessments are recorded as
revenue when earned. Unbilled receivables are recorded as revenues when services are provided.


As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial
statements. Exceptions to this general rule are charges between the city's water, wastewater, and electric
utilities and various other functions of the government. Elimination of these charges would distort the
direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions concerned.


Fund Financial Statements


Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when they are both
measurable and available. Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter
to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the city considers revenues to be
available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures are
recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for unmatured interest on long-term debt,
claims, judgments, compensated absences, and pension expenditures, which are recorded as a fund
liability when expected to be paid with expendable available financial resources.


Property taxes are recorded in the year levied as receivables and deferred inflows. They are recognized
as revenues in the succeeding year when services financed by the levy are being provided.


Intergovernmental aids and grants are recognized as revenues in the period the city is entitled the
resources and the amounts are available. Amounts owed to the city which are not available are recorded
as receivables and unavailable revenues. Amounts received before eligibility requirements (excluding time
requirements) are met are recorded as liabilities. Amounts received in advance of meeting time
requirements are recorded as deferred inflows.


Special assessments are recorded as revenues when they become measurable and available as current
assets. Annual installments due in future years are reflected as receivables and unavailable revenues.
Delinquent special assessments being held by the county are reported as receivables and unavailable
revenues.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION (cont.)


Fund Financial Statements (cont.)


Revenues susceptible to accrual include property taxes, miscellaneous taxes, public charges for services,
special assessments and interest. Other general revenues such as fines and forfeitures, inspection fees,
recreation fees, and miscellaneous revenues are recognized when received in cash or when measurable
and available under the criteria described above. 


Proprietary and fiduciary fund financial statements (other than agency funds) are reported using the
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as described previously in
this note. Agency funds follow the accrual basis of accounting, and do not have a measurement focus.


The proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the
water, wastewater, storm sewer, electric utility funds and EMS fund are charges to customers for sales
and services. Special assessments are recorded as receivables and contribution revenue when levied.
Operating expenses for proprietary funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses,
and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as
nonoperating revenues and expenses.


All Financial Statements


The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.


D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY


1. Deposits and Investments


For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the city considers all highly liquid investments with an initial
maturity of three months or less when acquired to be cash equivalents.


Investment of city funds is restricted by Wisconsin state statutes. Available investments are limited to:


a. Time deposits in any credit union, bank, savings bank or trust company. 


b. Bonds or securities of any county, city, drainage district, technical college district, village, town, or
school district of the state. Also, bonds issued by a local exposition district, a local professional
baseball park district, a local professional football stadium district, a local cultural arts district, the
University of Wisconsin Hospitals and Clinics Authority, or the Wisconsin Aerospace Authority.
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NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)


1. Deposits and Investments (cont.)


c. Bonds or securities issued or guaranteed by the federal government.


d. The local government investment pool.


e. Any security maturing in seven years or less and having the highest or second highest rating
category of a nationally recognized rating agency.


f. Securities of an open-end management investment company or investment trust, subject to
various conditions and investment options.


g. Repurchase agreements with public depositories, with certain conditions.


The city has adopted an investment policy. That policy follows the state statute for allowable investments,
and does not address the risks disclosed in Note IV.A.


Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties. Fair values are based on methods and inputs as outlined in
Note IV.A.No investments are reported at amortized cost. Adjustments necessary to record investments at
fair value are recorded in the operating statement as increases or decreases in investment income.
Investment income on commingled investments of municipal accounting funds is allocated based on
average balances. The difference between the bank statement balance and carrying value is due to
outstanding checks and/or deposits in transit.


The Wisconsin Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) is part of the State Investment Fund (SIF), and
is managed by the State of Wisconsin Investment Board. The SIF is not registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, but operates under the statutory authority of Wisconsin Chapter 25. The SIF
reports the fair value of its underlying assets annually. Participants in the LGIP have the right to withdraw
their funds in total on one day's notice. At December 31, 2018, the fair value of the city 's share of the
LGIP's assets was substantially equal to the amount as reported in these statements.


PMA Financial Network, Inc. is the administrator for the Wisconsin Investment Series Cooperative
(WISC). The investment manager for WISC is PMA Financial Network, Inc. The WISC is not registered
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, but does operate in a manner consistent with Rule 2a7 of
the Investment Company Act of 1940. Investments in WISC are valued at WISC’s share price, the price
for which the investments could be sold. At December 31, 2018 the city's share of the WISC's assets was
substantially equal to the amount reported in these statements.


See Note IV. A. for further information. 


2. Receivables  


Property taxes are levied in December on the assessed value as of the prior January 1. In addition to
property taxes for the city, taxes are collected for and remitted to the state and county governments as
well as the local school district and technical college district. Taxes for all state and local governmental
units billed in the current year for the succeeding year are reflected as receivables and due to other taxing
units on the accompanying statement of assets and liabilities - agency fund.
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NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)


2. Receivables (cont.)


Property tax calendar - 2018 tax roll:


Lien date and levy date December 2018
Tax bills mailed December 2018
Payment in full, or January 31, 2019
First installment due January 31, 2019
Second installment due July 31, 2019
Personal property taxes in full January 31, 2019
Tax sale - 2018 delinquent real estate taxes October 2021


Accounts receivable have been shown net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts. Delinquent real
estate taxes as of July 31 are paid in full by the county, which assumes the collection thereof. No provision
for uncollectible accounts receivable has been made for the water, wastewater, and electric utilities
because they have the right by law to place substantially all delinquent bills on the tax roll, and other
delinquent bills are generally not significant. 


During the course of operations, transactions occur between individual funds that may result in amounts
owed between funds. Short-term interfund loans are reported as "due to and from other funds." Long-term
interfund loans (noncurrent portion) are reported as "advances from and to other funds." Interfund
receivables and payables between funds within governmental activities are eliminated in the statement of
net position. Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type
activities are reported in the governmental-wide financial statements as internal balances.


In the governmental fund financial statements, advances to other funds are offset equally by a
nonspendable fund balance account which indicates that they do not constitute expendable available
financial resources and, therefore, are not available for appropriation or by a restricted fund balance
account, if the funds will ultimately be restricted when the advance is repaid.


It is the city's policy to record unavailable revenue for the net amount of the receivable balance. As loans
are repaid, revenue is recognized. When new loans are made from the repayments, expenditures are
recorded. Interest received from loan repayments is recognized as revenue when received in cash. Any
unspent loan repayments at year end are presented as restricted fund balance in the fund financial
statements.


3. Inventories and Prepaid Items  


Governmental fund inventory items are charged to expenditure accounts when purchased. Year-end
inventory was not significant. Proprietary fund inventories are generally used for construction and/or for
operation and maintenance work. They are not for resale.   They are valued at cost based on weighted
average, and charged to construction and/or operation and maintenance expense when used.
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NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)


3. Inventories and Prepaid Items (cont.)


Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as
prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.


4. Restricted Assets  


Mandatory segregations of assets are presented as restricted assets. Such segregations are required by
bond agreements and other external parties. Current liabilities payable from these restricted assets are so
classified. The excess of restricted assets over current liabilities payable from restricted assets will be
used first for retirement of related long-term debt. The remainder, if generated from earnings, is shown as
restricted net position.


5. Capital Assets  


Government-Wide Statements


Capital assets, which include property, plant and equipment, are reported in the government-wide financial
statements. Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial cost of more than
$5,000 for general capital assets and $15,000 for infrastructure assets, and an estimated useful life in
excess of one year. All capital assets are valued at historical cost, or estimated historical cost if actual
amounts are unavailable. Donated capital assets are recorded at their estimated acquisition value at the
date of donation. 


Additions to and replacements of capital assets of business-type activities are recorded at original cost,
which includes material, labor, overhead, and an allowance for the cost of funds used during construction
when significant. For tax-exempt debt, the amount of interest capitalized equals the interest expense
incurred during construction netted against any interest revenue from temporary investment of borrowed
fund proceeds. No interest was capitalized during the current year. The cost of renewals and betterments
relating to retirement units is added to plant accounts. The cost of property replaced, retired or otherwise
disposed of, is deducted from plant accounts and, generally, together with removal costs less salvage, is
charged to accumulated depreciation.


Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is recorded as an allocated expense in the statement of
activities, with accumulated depreciation reflected in the statement of net position. Depreciation is
provided over the assets' estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. The range of estimated
useful lives by type of asset is as follows:


Buildings 15-75 Years
Land Improvements 15-30 Years
Machinery and Equipment 3-15 Years
Utility System 5-100 Years
Infrastructure 30-75 Years
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NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)


5. Capital Assets (cont.)


Fund Financial Statements


In the fund financial statements, capital assets used in governmental fund operations are accounted for as
capital outlay expenditures of the governmental fund upon acquisition. Capital assets used in proprietary
fund operations are accounted for the same way as in the government-wide statements.


6.  Land Held for Resale 


Land held for resale consists of land and improvements and is valued at cost of acquisition, demolition,
and site improvement. 


7.  Other Assets  


These accounts include costs related to the utility's investment in American Transmission Company
("ATC") and non-utility property.


The electric utility is a member of ATC. ATC was formed by approximately 25 utilities to plan, construct,
maintain, monitor and own electric transmission facilities in Wisconsin. The utility owns less than 1/2 of 1
percent of ATC. The investment earns dividends quarterly, some of which is paid in cash and some of
which is required to be reinvested. From time to time, the utility has the option to contribute additional
funds to maintain their proportionate share of ownership. The asset is valued at net asset value per share
which is equal to original cost plus additional contributions and reinvested dividends and approximates fair
value.


The water and electric utilities have plant and maintenance reserve accounts.  Monthly deposits are made
into this account and made available for routine capital projects and other large operating expenses.


The water, wastewater, and electric utilities have sick leave reserve accounts. Upon retirement, these
funds are used for insurance coverage for utility employees.


Non-Utility Property


Electric utility non-utility property consists of the city dam with a balance of $84,212 and leasehold rental
property with a balance of $91,458 at December 31, 2018. Water utility non-utility property consists of a
park shelter with a balance of $107,000 at December 31, 2018. The costs are being amortized on a
straight-line basis over their useful life.
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NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)


8.  Deferred Outflows of Resources 


A deferred outflow of resources represents a consumption of net position/fund balance that applies to a
future period and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until that future
time.


9. Compensated Absences  


Under terms of employment, employees are granted sick leave and vacations in varying amounts. Only
benefits considered to be vested are disclosed in these statements. 


All vested vacation and sick leave pay is accrued when incurred in the government-wide  and proprietary
fund financial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in governmental funds only if they have
matured, for example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements, and are payable with
expendable resources. 


Payments for vacation and sick leave will be made at rates in effect when the benefits are used.
Accumulated vacation and sick leave balances at December 31, 2018 are determined on the basis of
current salary rates and include salary related payments.


The city provides post-employment health insurance benefits for all eligible employees who chose to
convert accumulated sick leave benefits to post-employment health insurance. The benefits are based on
contractual agreements with employee groups, local ordinances, or employee benefit policies.  Employees
may convert 100% of accumulated sick leave to pay for health care premiums. The cost of those
premiums is recognized as an expenditure as the premiums are paid. The entire cost is paid by the city.
Funding for those costs is provided out of the general fund. Total expenditures for premiums during the
year were $95,313. Four participants were eligible during 2018 to receive benefits. There is no amount
outstanding at year end to be paid in the future. The city does not incur an implicit rate subsidy on these
benefits.


10. Long-Term Obligations   


All long-term obligations to be repaid from governmental and business-type resources are reported as
liabilities in the government-wide statements. The long-term obligations consist primarily of notes and
bonds payable and accrued compensated absences.


Long-term obligations for governmental funds are not reported as liabilities in the fund financial
statements. The face value of debts (plus any premiums) are reported as other financing sources and
payments of principal and interest are reported as expenditures. The accounting in proprietary funds is the
same as it is in the government-wide statements.


For the government-wide statements and proprietary fund statements, bond premiums and discounts are
amortized over the life of the issue using the effective interest method. The balance at year end is shown
as an increase or decrease in the liability section of the statement of net position.
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D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)


10. Long-Term Obligations (cont.)


The city has a debt policy to maintain total outstanding general obligation debt of 4% or less of the
equalized value of taxable property within the city's jurisdiction. The city's total outstanding general
obligation debt was at 2.97%.


11. Deferred Inflows of Resources  


A deferred inflow of resources represents an acquisition of net position/fund balance that applies to a
future period and therefore will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that future time.


12.  Equity Classifications  


Government-Wide Statements


Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components:


a. Net investment in capital assets - Consists of capital assets including restricted capital assets,
net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances (excluding unspent
debt proceeds) of any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the
acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets.


b. Restricted net position - Consists of net position with constraints placed on their use either by 1)
external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other
governments or, 2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.


c. Unrestricted net position - All other net positions that do not meet the definitions of "restricted" or
"net investment in capital assets."


The net position section includes an adjustment for capital assets owned by the business-type activities
column, but financed by the debt of the governmental activities column. The amount is a reduction of "net
investment in capital assets", and an increase in "unrestricted" net position, shown only in the total
column. A reconciliation of this adjustment is as follows:


Governmental
Activities


Business-type
Activities Adjustment Total


Net investment in capital assets $ 21,358,159 $ 43,606,545 $ (472,900) $ 64,491,804
Unrestricted 5,800,379 9,652,299 472,900 15,925,578


When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the city's policy to use
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.


35







CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)


12.  Equity Classifications (cont.)


Fund Statements


Governmental fund balances are displayed as follows:


a.  Nonspendable - Includes fund balance amounts that cannot be spent either because they are
not in spendable form or because legal or contractual requirements require them to be
maintained intact.


b.  Restricted - Consists of fund balances with constraints placed on their use either by 1) external
groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or
2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.


c.  Committed - Includes fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific purposes that are
internally imposed by the government through formal action of the highest level of decision
making authority. Fund balance amounts are committed through a formal action (resolution) of
the City Council. This formal action must occur prior to the end of the reporting period, but the
amount of the commitment, which will be subject to the constraints, may be determined in the
subsequent period. Any changes to the constraints imposed require the same formal action of
the City Council that originally created the commitment.


d.  Assigned - Includes spendable fund balance amounts that are intended to be used for specific
purposes that do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. The City
Council has, by resolution, adopted a financial policy authorizing the finance director to assign
amounts for a specific purpose. Assignments may take place after the end of the reporting
period.


e.  Unassigned - Includes residual positive fund balance within the general fund which has not been
classified within the other above mentioned categories. Unassigned fund balance may also
include negative balances for any governmental fund if expenditures exceed amounts restricted,
committed, or assigned for those purposes.


Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in the government-wide statements.


The city considers restricted amounts to be spent first when both restricted and unrestricted fund balance
is available unless there are legal documents / contracts that prohibit doing this, such as in grant
agreements requiring dollar for dollar spending. Additionally, the city would first use committed, then
assigned, and lastly unassigned amounts of unrestricted fund balance when expenditures are made.
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D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)


12.  Equity Classifications (cont.)


Fund Statements (cont.)


The city has a formal minimum fund balance policy. That policy is to maintain an unassigned general fund
balance within a range of 20% to 25% of general fund annual budgeted expenditures. The unassigned
general fund balance at year end was $3,523,093 or 26.83% of 2018 general fund budgeted expenditures.
The unassigned balance for this calculation includes deficit fund balances for Opera House ($285,304),
Economic Development ($8,109) and Redevelopment Authority ($67,849).


See Note IV. G. for further information.


13.  Pension  


For purposes of measuring the net pension (asset) liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position
of the Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS) and additions to/deductions from WRS' fiduciary net position
have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by WRS. For this purpose, benefit
payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.


14.  Basis for Existing Rates  


Current water rates were approved by the PSCW effective May 1, 2016.


Current electric rates were approved by the PSCW on April 1, 2017.


Current wastewater rates were approved by the utilities committee effective January 1, 2015.


NOTE II - RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 


A. EXPLANATION OF CERTAIN DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCE


SHEET AND THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION


The governmental fund balance sheet includes a reconciliation between fund balance - total governmental
funds and net position - governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of net
position. The details of this reconciliation include the following items.
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NOTE II - RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)


A. EXPLANATION OF CERTAIN DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCE


SHEET AND THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (cont.)


Capital assets used in governmental funds are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in
the funds.


Capital assets not being depreciated $ 20,168,555
Capital assets, net of depreciation 31,040,535


Combined Adjustment for Capital Assets $ 51,209,090


Long-term liabilities applicable to the city's governmental activities are not due and payable in the current
period, and accordingly, are not reported as fund liabilities. Interest on long-term debt is not accrued in
governmental funds, but rather is recognized as an expenditure when due. All liabilities-both current and
long-term-are reported in the statement of net position.


Bonds and notes payable $ 32,483,453
Compensated absences 1,214,793
Accrued interest 436,635
Unamortized debt premium 490,441


Combined Adjustment for Long-Term
Liabilities $ 34,625,322


NOTE III - STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY  


A. BUDGETARY INFORMATION


A budget has been adopted for the general, opera house, library, EMS and storm sewer funds. A budget
has not been formally adopted for any other funds. Wisconsin Statute 65.90 requires that an annual
budget be adopted for all funds.


B. EXCESS EXPENDITURES AND OTHER FINANCING USES OVER APPROPRIATIONS  


Funds
Budgeted


Expenditures
Actual


Expenditures


Excess
Expenditures Over


Budget


Opera House $ 936,420 $ 944,679 $ 8,259
Library 842,956 898,883 55,927


The city controls expenditures at the object level. Some individual line items experienced expenditures
which exceeded appropriations. The detail of those items can be found in the city's year-end budget to
actual report.
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NOTE III - STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY (cont.)


C. DEFICIT BALANCES  


Generally accepted accounting principles require disclosure of individual funds that have deficit balances
at year end.


As of December 31, 2018, the following individual funds held a deficit balance:


Fund Amount Reason


Special revenue - Opera House $ 240,429 Expenditures in excess of revenues
Special revenue - Economic


Development
8,109 Expenditures in excess of revenues


Special revenue - Redevelopment
Authority


67,849 Expenditures in excess of revenues


Capital projects - River Trail 809 Expenditures in excess of revenues
Capital projects - TIF District No. 5 588,083 Expenditures in excess of revenues
Capital projects - TIF District No. 6 131,044 Expenditures in excess of revenues


TIF district deficits are anticipated to be funded with future incremental taxes levied over the life of the
districts, which is 27 years for the districts created before October 1, 1995, and 23 years for districts
created thereafter through September 30, 2004. Beginning October 1, 2004, the life of new districts varies
by type of district (20-27 years) and may be extended in some cases. Other fund deficits are anticipated to
be funded with future contributions, general tax revenues, or long-term borrowing.


D. LIMITATIONS ON THE CITY'S TAX LEVY  


Wisconsin law limits the city's future tax levies. Generally the city is limited to its prior tax levy dollar
amount (excluding TIF Districts), increased by the greater of the percentage change in the city's equalized
value due to new construction or zero percent. Changes in debt service from one year to the next are
generally exempt from this limit with certain exceptions. The city is required to reduce its allowable levy by
the estimated amount of fee revenue it collects for certain services, if those services were funded in 2013
by the property tax levy. Levies can be increased above the allowable limits if the amount is approved by
referendum.


39







CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS  


A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS


The city's deposits and investments at year end were comprised of the following:


Carrying
Value


Statement
Balances Associated Risks


Deposits $ 4,918,355 $ 5,539,453 Custodial credit
US agencies - explicitly guaranteed 247,840 247,840 Custodial credit, interest


rate
US agencies - implicitly guaranteed 948,941 948,941 Credit, custodial credit,


concentration of credit,
interest rate


LGIP 1,327,470 1,327,469 Credit
Certificates of deposit - non-negotiable 1,658,533 1,654,955 Custodial credit
State and local bonds 991,945 991,945 Credit, custodial credit,


concentration of credit,
interest rate


Wisconsin Investment Series Cooperative 25,626,828 21,676,400 Credit
Mutual funds - bond funds 47,672 47,672 Credit, interest rate
Certificates of deposits - negotiable 1,898,241 1,898,241 Credit, custodial credit,


concentration of credit,
interest rate


Cash on hand 3,945,851 - N/A


Total Deposits and Investments $ 41,611,676 $ 34,332,916


Reconciliation to financial statements


Per statement of net position
Unrestricted cash and investments $ 23,813,958
Restricted cash and investments 2,975,148


Per statement of assets and liabilities -
agency fund


Agency Fund 14,822,570


Total Deposits and Investments $ 41,611,676


Deposits in each local and area bank are insured by the FDIC in the amount of $250,000 for time and
savings accounts (including NOW accounts) and $250,000 for demand deposit accounts (interest-bearing
and noninterest-bearing). In addition, if deposits are held in an institution outside of the state in which the
government is located, insured amounts are further limited to a total of $250,000 for the combined amount
of all deposit accounts.Deposits in the credit union are insured by the National Credit Union Administration
in the amount of $250,000 for all share draft accounts and $250,000 for all share certificate and regular
share accounts.
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NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (cont.)


Bank accounts and credit unions are also insured by the State Deposit Guarantee Fund in the amount of
$400,000. However, due to the nature of this fund, recovery of material principal losses may not be
significant to individual municipalities. This coverage has not been considered in computing custodial
credit risk.


The Securities Investor Protection Corporation (SIPC), created by the Securities Investor Protection Act of
1970, is an independent government-sponsored corporation (not an agency of the U.S. government).


SIPC membership provides account protection up to a maximum of $500,000 per customer, of which
$100,000 may be in cash. $500,000 of the city's investments are covered by SIPC. 


The city maintains collateral agreements with its banks. At December 31, 2018, the banks had pledged
various government securities in the amount of $6,596,256 to secure the city's deposits.


The city categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally
accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair
value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs
are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.


The valuation methods for recurring fair value measurements are as follows:


 Market approach


December 31, 2018


Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total


US agencies $ - $ 1,196,781 $ - $ 1,196,781
State and local bonds - 991,945 - 991,945
Certificates of deposit - negotiable - 1,898,241 - 1,898,241


Total $ - $ 4,086,967 $ - $ 4,086,967


Custodial Credit Risk 


Deposits


Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a financial institution failure, the city's deposits may not
be returned to the city.


As of December 31, 2018, $299,058 of the city's total bank balances were exposed to custodial credit risk
as follows:


Uninsured and uncollateralized $ 299,058
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A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (cont.)


Custodial Credit Risk (cont.)


Investments


For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the
city will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession
of an outside party.


U.S. Agencies


Neither insured nor registered and held by counterparty $ 1,196,781


State and local bonds


Neither insured nor registered and held by counterparty $ 991,945


Certificates of deposit - negotiable


Neither insured nor registered and held by counterparty $ 1,898,241


Credit Risk 


Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.


As of December 31, 2018, the city's investments were rated as follows:


Investment Type
Standard &


Poors


Moody's
Investors
Services Morning-Star


U.S. Agencies implicitly guaranteed AAA Aaa
Certificates of deposit - negotiable AAA - BBB+ Aaa - A1
Mutual Fund - Fidelity Puritan 5 star
State and local bonds AA Aa1 - Aa2
Wisconsin Investment Series Cooperative AAAm


The city also held investments in the following external pool which is not rated:


Local Government Investment Pool
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (cont.)


Interest Rate Risk


Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the value of an investment.


As of December 31, 2018, the city's investments were as follows:


Maturity (In Years)


Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1-3 3 or more


Mutual funds $ 47,672 $ 47,672 $ - $ -
US agencies explicitly guaranteed 247,840 - - 247,840
US agencies implicitly guaranteed 948,941 - - 948,941
State and local bonds 991,945 - - 991,945
Certificates of deposit - negotiable 1,898,241 735,620 1,162,621 -


Totals $ 4,134,639 $ 783,292 $ 1,162,621 $ 2,188,726


See Note I.D.1. for further information on deposit and investment policies.


B. RECEIVABLES  


All receivables, except $17,537 in general fund, $174,155 in water utility, $119,431 in wastewater utility
and $518,884 in nonmajor funds are expected to be collected within one year.


Receivables of the enterprise funds are reported net of uncollectible amounts. Total uncollectible amounts
related to the current period are as follows:


Uncollectibles related to ambulance receivables (non-major enterprise
fund - EMS) $ 125,042


Total Uncollectibles of the Current Fiscal Year $ 125,042


43







CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


B. RECEIVABLES (cont.)


Governmental funds report unavailable or unearned revenue in connection with receivables for revenues
that are not considered to be available to liquidate liabilities of the current period. Property taxes levied for
the subsequent year are not earned and cannot be used to liquidate liabilities of the current period.
Governmental funds also defer revenue recognition in connection with resources that have been received,
but not yet earned. At the end of the current fiscal year, the various components of unavailable revenue
and unearned revenue reported in the governmental funds were as follows:


Unearned Unavailable


Property taxes receivable for subsequent year $ 10,987,696 $ -
Special assessments not yet due - 468,884
Guaranteed increment receivable - 33,510
Loans receivable - 50,000


Total Unearned/Unavailable Revenue for
Governmental Funds $ 10,987,696 $ 552,394


C. RESTRICTED ASSETS  


The following represent the balances of the restricted assets:


Long-Term Debt Accounts


Redemption - Used to segregate resources accumulated for debt service payments over the
next twelve months.


Reserve - Used to report resources set aside to make up potential future deficiencies in
the redemption account.


Depreciation - Used to report resources set aside to fund plant renewals and replacement or
make up potential future deficiencies in the redemption account.


Equipment Replacement Account


The Wastewater utility established an equipment replacement account to be used for significant
mechanical equipment replacement as required by the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources.


Net Pension Asset


Restricted assets have been reported in connection with the net pension asset balance since this balance
must be used to fund employee benefits.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


C. RESTRICTED ASSETS (cont.)


Following is a list of restricted assets at December 31, 2018: 


Restricted
Assets


Liabilities
Payable from


Restricted
Assets


Restricted Net
Position


Bond redemption account $ 1,030,498 $ 54,824 $ 975,674
Bond reserve account 712,722 - 712,722
Bond depreciation account 83,283 - 83,283
Equipment replacement account 1,148,645 - 1,148,645
Net pension asset - business-type


activities 375,018 - 375,018


Total $ 3,350,166 $ 54,824 $ 3,295,342


D. CAPITAL ASSETS  


Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2018, was as follows:


Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions


Ending
Balance


Governmental Activities
Capital assets not being


depreciated/amortized
Land $ 9,428,987 $ - $ 130,000 $ 9,298,987
Construction in progress 1,607,886 9,190,113 1,304,850 9,493,149
Inexhaustible portion of streets 1,376,419 - - 1,376,419


Total Capital Assets Not Being
Depreciated/Amortized 12,413,292 9,190,113 1,434,850 20,168,555


Capital assets being depreciated
Buildings and improvements 15,865,366 1,842,956 - 17,708,322
Machinery and equipment 10,731,759 1,052,228 410,246 11,373,741
Streets 17,931,971 2,131,997 598,272 19,465,696
Sidewalks 5,164,189 355,235 32,867 5,486,557
Street lighting 227,551 - - 227,551
Bridges 845,989 - - 845,989
Storm sewers 5,412,012 - 186,895 5,225,117
Traffic signals 411,974 - - 411,974
Dams 592,997 - - 592,997


Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 57,183,808 5,382,416 1,228,280 61,337,944


Total Capital Assets 69,597,100 14,572,529 2,663,130 81,506,499
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


D. CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.)
Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions


Ending
Balance


Governmental Activities (cont.)
Less:  Accumulated


depreciation/amortization for
Buildings and improvements $ (7,035,483) $ (398,938) $ - $ (7,434,421)
Machinery and equipment (7,164,206) (535,507) 374,267 (7,325,446)
Streets (9,404,650) (641,539) 598,272 (9,447,917)
Sidewalks (2,879,756) (173,996) 186,895 (2,866,857)
Street lighting (47,227) (3,034) - (50,261)
Bridges (210,606) (11,280) - (221,886)
Storm sewers (2,625,029) (109,683) 32,867 (2,701,845)
Traffic signals (179,177) (10,299) - (189,476)
Dams (53,370) (5,930) - (59,300)


Total Accumulated
Depreciation/Amortization (29,599,504) (1,890,206) 1,192,301 (30,297,409)


Net Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 27,584,304 3,492,210 35,979 31,040,535


Total Governmental
Activities Capital Assets,
Net of Accumulated
Depreciation $ 39,997,596 $12,682,323 $ 1,470,829 $ 51,209,090


Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows:


Governmental Activities
General government $ 139,478
Public safety 338,494
Public works, which includes the depreciation of infrastructure 1,164,325
Culture, recreation and education 247,909


Total Governmental Activities Depreciation Expense $ 1,890,206
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


D. CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.)


Business-type Activities


Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions


Ending
Balance


Water
Capital assets not being depreciated


Land and land rights $ 430,131 $ - $ - $ 430,131
Construction in progress 5,693 25,557 2,792 28,458


Total Capital Assets Not Being
Depreciated 435,824 25,557 2,792 458,589


Capital assets being depreciated
Source of supply 595,730 - - 595,730
Pumping 1,513,266 - - 1,513,266
Treatment 90,763 - - 90,763
Transmission and distribution 19,477,451 851,053 87,963 20,240,541
General 846,274 - 6,084 840,190


Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 22,523,484 851,053 94,047 23,280,490


Total Capital Assets 22,959,308 876,610 96,839 23,739,079


Less:  Accumulated depreciation for
Source of supply (386,989) (17,276) - (404,265)
Pumping (1,272,293) (33,113) - (1,305,406)
Treatment (89,077) (437) - (89,514)
Transmission and distribution (4,444,314) (365,153) 93,497 (4,715,970)
General (917,490) (73,185) 6,084 (984,591)


Total Accumulated  Depreciation (7,110,163) (489,164) 99,581 (7,499,746)


Net Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 15,413,321 361,889 (5,534) 15,780,744


Net Water Capital Assets $ 15,849,145 $ 387,446 $ (2,742) $ 16,239,333
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


D. CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.)


Business-type Activities (cont.)


Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions


Ending
Balance


Wastewater
Capital assets not being depreciated


Construction in progress $ 59,092 $ 59,171 $ 59,092 $ 59,171
Total Capital Assets Not Being


Depreciated 59,092 59,171 59,092 59,171


Capital assets being depreciated
Collection system 11,807,679 739,021 1,206 12,545,494
Collection system pumping 733,519 25,251 7,274 751,496
Treatment and disposal 15,614,022 22,442 4,909 15,631,555
Administrative and general assets 1,377,331 32,201 - 1,409,532


Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 29,532,551 818,915 13,389 30,338,077


Total Capital Assets 29,591,643 878,086 72,481 30,397,248


Less: Accumulated depreciation for
Wastewater (10,994,875) (820,779) 22,552 (11,793,102)


Total Accumulated Depreciation (10,994,875) (820,779) 22,552 (11,793,102)


Net Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 18,537,676 (1,864) (9,163) 18,544,975


Net Wastewater Capital
Assets $ 18,596,768 $ 57,307 $ 49,929 $ 18,604,146
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


D. CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.)


Business-type Activities (cont.)


Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions


Ending
Balance


Electric
Capital assets not being depreciated


Land and land rights $ 220,797 $ 123,567 $ - $ 344,364
Construction in progress 2,358,222 - 2,149,429 208,793
Property held for future use 352,664 - 123,567 229,097


Total Capital Assets Not Being
Depreciated 2,931,683 123,567 2,272,996 782,254


Capital assets being depreciated
Transmission 15,019 - - 15,019
Distribution 24,837,545 3,894,690 269,056 28,463,179
Administrative and general assets 4,107,520 935,946 807,838 4,235,628


Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 28,960,084 4,830,636 1,076,894 32,713,826


Total Capital Assets 31,891,767 4,954,203 3,349,890 33,496,080


Less:  Accumulated depreciation for
Transmission (19,366) - - (19,366)
Distribution (12,204,392) (961,439) 275,788 (12,890,043)
Administrative and general assets (3,065,714) (210,627) 794,077 (2,482,264)


Total Accumulated Depreciation (15,289,472) (1,172,066) 1,069,865 (15,391,673)


Net Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 13,670,612 3,658,570 7,029 17,322,153


Net Electric Capital Assets $ 16,602,295 $ 3,782,137 $ 2,280,025 $ 18,104,407
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


D. CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.)


Business-type Activities (cont.)


Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions


Ending
Balance


Stormwater
Capital assets not being


depreciated/amortized
Land $ 9,986 $ - $ - $ 9,986
Construction in progress - 9,233 - 9,233


Total Capital Assets Not Being
Depreciated/Amortized 9,986 9,233 - 19,219


Capital assets being depreciated
Storm Sewer 2,336,051 1,029,925 - 3,365,976


Total Capital Assets Being depreciated 2,336,051 1,029,925 - 3,365,976


Total Capital Assets 2,346,037 1,039,158 - 3,385,195


Less:  Accumulated depreciation for
Storm Sewer (194,893) (112,200) - (307,093)


Total Accumulated Depreciation (194,893) (112,200) - (307,093)


Net Capital Assets Being
depreciated 2,141,158 917,725 - 3,058,883


Net Stormwater Capital
Assets $ 2,151,144 $ 926,958 $ - $ 3,078,102
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


D. CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.)


Business-type Activities (cont.)


Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions


Ending
Balance


EMS
Capital assets being depreciated


Buildings and improvements $ 1,240,308 $ - $ - $ 1,240,308
Equipment 842,543 216,296 117,251 941,588


Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 2,082,851 216,296 117,251 2,181,896


Less:  Accumulated depreciation for
Buildings and improvements (305,012) (25,226) - (330,238)
Equipment (572,920) (60,764) 117,251 (516,433)


Total Accumulated Depreciation (877,932) (85,990) 117,251 (846,671)


Net Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 1,204,919 130,306 - 1,335,225


Net Other Enterprise Capital
Assets $ 1,204,919 $ 130,306 $ - $ 1,335,225


Business-type Capital Assets, Net
of Accumulated Depreciation $ 54,404,271 $ 5,284,154 $ 2,327,212 $ 57,361,213


Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows:


Business-type Activities
Water $ 460,342
Wastewater 820,778
Electric 1,108,163
Storm sewer 112,200
EMS 85,990


Total Business-type Activities Depreciation Expense $ 2,587,473


Depreciation expense may be different from business-type activity capital asset additions because of joint
metering, salvage, cost of removal, internal allocations, or cost associated with the disposal of assets.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


E. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, ADVANCES AND TRANSFERS   


Interfund Receivables/Payables


The following is a schedule of interfund receivables and payables including any overdrafts on pooled cash
and investment accounts:


Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount


Amount Not
Due Within One


Year


General River Trail $ 809 $ 809
General Redevelopment authority 66,574 66,574
General Electric Utility 432,589 -
General Water Utility 423,351 -
General Water Utility 1,727 -
General Wastewater Utility 1,922 -
General Electric Utility 14,720 -
Construction Wastewater Utility 25,005 -
Debt Service EMS 309,780 -
Outlay Electric Utility 5,007 -
Storm sewer Electric Utility 44,001 -
Electric Utility General 7,274 -
Water Utility General 1,552 -
Water Utility Special Assessments 38,314 -
Wastewater Utility General 1,485 -
Wastewater Utility Special Assessments 26,275 -


1,400,385


Less:  Fund eliminations (113,384)


Less:  Government-wide eliminations (147,800)


Less:  Interfund advances (296,088)


Total Internal Balances - Government-Wide Statement of
Net Position $ 843,113


Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount


Governmental Activities Business-type Activities $ 1,214,101
Business-type Activities Governmental Activities (370,988)


Total Government-Wide Financial Statements $ 843,113
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


E. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, ADVANCES AND TRANSFERS (cont.)


Interfund Receivables/Payables (cont.)


The principal purpose of these interfunds is to fund ongoing operations.  All remaining balances resulted
from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and services are provided or reimbursable
expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and (3) payments between
funds are made.


Advances


The general fund is advancing funds to the TIF District Nos. 5 and 6 capital project funds. The amount
advanced is determined by the deficiency of revenues over expenditures and other financing sources
since the district's inception. A repayment schedule has not been established.


In December 2011, the Electric Utility provided an advance to the Internal Service Fund for the purpose of
full payment of the Wisconsin Retirement System Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability. The Internal
Service Fund will repay the Electric Utility over a period of fourteen years at 3%. A repayment schedule
has been established.


The following is a schedule of interfund advances:


Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount


Amount Not
Due Within One


Year


General Fund TIF District No. 5 $ 676,320 $ 676,320
General Fund TIF District No. 6 140,399 140,399
Electric Utility Internal service fund 296,088 252,442


Total - Fund Financial Statements 1,112,807


Less:  Fund eliminations (816,719)


Total - Interfund Advances $ 296,088


Internal Service Fund Advance


Years Principal Interest


2019 $ 43,646 $ 8,883
2020 46,007 7,573
2021 48,459 6,193
2022 51,006 4,739
2023 53,651 3,209
2024-2025 53,319 1,778


Totals $ 296,088 $ 32,375
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


E. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, ADVANCES AND TRANSFERS (cont.)


Advances (cont.)


For the statement of net position, interfund advances which are owed within the governmental activities or
business-type activities are netted and eliminated.


Transfers


The following is a schedule of interfund transfers:


Fund Transferred To Fund Transferred From Amount Principal Purpose


General Tourism $ 8,110 Room tax revenue
Debt service TIF District No. 5 77,893 Payments on TIF District debt
Debt service TIF District No. 6 59,676 Payments on TIF District debt


General Water utility 429,611
Payment in lieu of taxes and


dividend


General Electric utility 460,564
Payment in lieu of taxes and


dividend
Debt service General 2,574,893 Payments on non-TID debt
Debt service TIF District No. 3 436,379 Payments on TIF District debt
Debt service TIF District No. 4 102,775 Payments on TIF District debt
Debt Service TIF District No. 7 4,814,792 Payments on TIF  District debt
Redevelopment authority General 10,000 Fund operations
Construction Park Acquisition 17,320 Fund capital projects
EMS General 80,000 Fund operations
Library General 599,288 Fund annual operations
Landmarks General 5,000 Fund operations
Opera house General 171,231 Fund operations
Outlay General 200,000 Fund capital projects
Economic Development General 10,000 Fund Operations
Construction Special assessments 150,000 Fund capital projects
Equipment Replacement General 219,500 Fund capital projects


Total - Fund Financial Statements 10,427,032


Less:  Fund eliminations (9,456,857)


Less:  Government-wide eliminations (160,000)


Capital assets contributions from governmental
activities to business-type activities (490,684)


Total Transfers - Government-Wide Statement
of Activities $ 319,491
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


E. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, ADVANCES AND TRANSFERS (cont.)


Transfers (cont.)


Fund Transferred To Fund Transferred From Amount


Governmental Activities Business-type Activities $ 890,175
Business-type Activities Governmental Activities (570,684)


Total Government-wide Financial Statements $ 319,491


Generally, transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that collects them to the fund that the
budget requires to expend them, (2) move receipts restricted to debt service from the funds collecting the
receipts to the debt service fund, and (3) use unrestricted revenues collected in the general fund to
finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations.


F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS  


Long-term obligations activity for the year ended December 31, 2018, was as follows:


Beginning
Balance Increases Decreases


Ending
Balance


Amounts Due
Within One


Year


Governmental Activities
Bonds and Notes Payable


General obligation debt $ 21,992,572 $ 13,360,000 $ 2,869,119 $ 32,483,453 $ 3,215,602
Bond anticipation notes 4,775,000 - 4,775,000 - -
(Discounts)/Premiums 165,166 355,014 29,739 490,441 -


Sub-totals 26,932,738 13,715,014 7,673,858 32,973,894 3,215,602


Other Liabilities
Compensated absences


(Note I.D.9) 1,287,965 23,532 96,704 1,214,793 -
Net pension liability (Note V.A) 285,293 - 285,293 - -
Fire pension liability


(Note V. F.) 1,268,731 161,785 38,355 1,392,161 -


Total Other Liabilities 2,841,989 185,317 420,352 2,606,954 -


Total Governmental
Activities Long-Term
Liabilities $ 29,774,727 $ 13,900,331 $ 8,094,210 $ 35,580,848 $ 3,215,602
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


Beginning
Balance Increases Decreases


Ending
Balance


Amounts Due
Within One


Year


Business-type Activities
Bonds and Notes Payable


General obligation debt $ 2,490,351 $ - $ 380,970 $ 2,109,381 $ 397,289
Revenue bonds 13,005,714 - 1,353,117 11,652,597 1,370,494
Unamortized premium on


bonds 137,879 - 23,346 114,533 -


Sub-totals 15,633,944 - 1,757,433 13,876,511 1,767,783


Other Liabilities
Vested compensated


absences 433,297 73,558 168,198 338,657 -
Net pension liability 102,514 - 102,514 - -
Customer advances for


construction 28,641 297,959 264,217 62,383 -


Total Other Liabilities 564,452 371,517 534,929 401,040 -


Total Business-type
Activities Long-Term
Liabilities $ 16,198,396 $ 371,517 $ 2,292,362 $ 14,277,551 $ 1,767,783


In accordance with Wisconsin Statutes, total general obligation indebtedness of the city may not exceed
5% of the equalized value of taxable property within the city's jurisdiction. The debt limit as of December
31, 2018, was $58,163,075. Total general obligation debt outstanding at year end was $34,592,834. 
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


General Obligation Debt 


All general obligation notes and bonds payable are backed by the full faith and credit of the city. Notes and
bonds in the governmental funds will be retired by future property tax levies or tax increments
accumulated by the debt service fund. Business-type activities debt is payable by revenues from user fees
of those funds or, if the revenues are not sufficient, by future tax levies.


Governmental Activities


General Obligation Debt
Date of
Issue


Final
Maturity


Interest
Rates


Original
Indebtedness


Balance
December 31,


2018


2009 General Obligation
Refunding Notes 4/14/09 3/1/19 1.60 - 3.85 $ 5,060,000 $ 230,000


2010 General Obligation
Notes 4/13/10 3/1/20 1.25 - 4.40 3,000,000 830,000


2010 General Obligation
Refunding Bonds 4/13/10 3/1/20 1.00 - 3.25 3,095,000 710,000


2012 General Obligation
Notes 4/15/12 3/1/22 0.40 - 2.00 2,759,000 985,619


2013 State Trust Fund
Loan 6/23/13 3/15/20 2.75 1,400,000 424,262


2014 General Obligation
Notes 6/1/14 4/1/24 2.00 - 2.25 2,755,000 1,650,000


2015 General Obligation
Notes 7/9/15 4/1/25 2.00 - 2.25 1,545,000 1,150,000


2016 General Obligation
Notes 5/26/16 4/1/26 3.25 - 3.75 5,830,000 5,420,000


2016 State Trust Fund
Loan 12/28/16 3/15/36 3.5 850,000 823,572


2017 General Obligation
Notes 6/8/17 4/1/27 2.00 - 3.00 7,085,000 6,900,000


2018 General Obligation
Bonds 4/26/18 4/1/38 2.00 - 4.00 12,585,000 12,585,000


2018 General Obligation
Notes 4/26/18 4/1/28 3.20 - 4.00 775,000 775,000


Total Governmental Activities - General Obligation Debt $ 32,483,453
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


General Obligation Debt (cont.)


Business-type Activities


General Obligation Debt
Date of
Issue


Final
Maturity


Interest
Rates


Original
Indebtedness


Balance
December 31,


2018


2010 General Obligation
Notes 4/13/10 3/1/20 1.25 - 4.40% $ 1,015,000 $ 265,000


2012 General Obligation
Notes 4/15/12 3/1/22 0.40 - 2.00 661,000 299,381


2014 General Obligation
Notes 6/1/14 4/1/24 2.00 - 2.25 280,000 180,000


2015 General Obligation
Notes 7/9/15 4/1/25 2.00 - 2.25 1,180,000 840,000


2017 General Obligation
Notes 6/8/17 4/1/27 2.00 - 3.00 575,000 525,000


Total Business-type Activities - General Obligation Debt $ 2,109,381


Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:


Governmental Activities Business-type Activities
General Obligation Debt General Obligation Debt


Years Principal Interest Principal Interest


2019 $ 3,215,602 $ 1,009,784 $ 397,289 $ 46,143
2020 3,411,095 746,617 403,635 35,096
2021 2,641,014 681,630 270,007 26,754
2022 2,698,832 626,975 260,906 21,166
2023 2,523,587 566,626 247,544 15,264
2024-2028 10,599,047 1,884,068 530,000 17,645
2029-2033 4,089,308 885,198 - -
2034-2038 3,304,968 255,130 - -


Totals $ 32,483,453 $ 6,656,028 $ 2,109,381 $ 162,068


Revenue Debt


Business-type activities revenue bonds are payable only from revenues derived from the operation of the
water, wastewater and electric utilities. 
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F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


Revenue Debt (cont.)


The utilities have pledged future  revenues to repay revenue bonds issued in between 1999-2016.
Proceeds from the bonds provided financing for the utility construction, improvements, and additions. The
bonds are payable solely from utility revenues and are payable through 2036. Annual principal and interest
payments on the bonds are expected to require 2%, 11%, and 15% respectively of electric, water, and
wastewater gross revenues. The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is
$13,352,491. Principal and interest paid for the current year and total customer gross revenues were
$1,638,047 and $19,475,136, respectively.


Revenue debt payable at December 31, 2018, consists of the following:


Business-type Activities Revenue Debt


Date of
Issue


Final
Maturity


Interest
Rates


Original
Indebtedness


Balance
December 31,


2018


Water Utility


2010 Water Utility Revenue
Bonds 1/27/10 5/1/29 2.67% $ 575,018 $ 367,332


2016 Water Utility Revenue
Bonds 5/26/16 5/1/26 1.00 - 2.75 2,520,000 1,935,000


Total Water Utility 2,302,332
Wastewater Utility


1999 Wastewater Utility
Clean Water Fund Loan 12/22/99 5/1/19    3.049% 623,465 41,324


2000 Wastewater Utility
Clean Water Fund Loan 7/12/00 5/1/20 3.049 1,116,259 144,697


2003 Wastewater Utility
Clean Water Fund Loan 9/10/03 5/1/23 2.766 1,670,624 509,864


2007 Wastewater Utility
Clean Water Fund Loan 6/27/07 5/1/27 2.475 1,539,762 850,303


2014 Wastewater Utility
Clean Water Fund Loan 11/1/14 5/1/34 2.625 3,305,713 2,774,077


Total Wastewater Utility 4,320,265
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F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


Revenue Debt (cont.)


Business-type Activities Revenue Debt (cont.)


Date of
Issue


Final
Maturity


Interest
Rates


Original
Indebtedness


Balance
December 31,


2018


Electric Utility


2013 Electric Utility
Revenue Bonds 4/1/13 4/1/23 2.00 - 2.25% $ 3,170,000 $ 1,625,000


2016 Electric Utility
Revenue Bonds 5/26/16 4/1/36 2.00 - 3.00 4,005,000 3,405,000


Total Electric Utility 5,030,000


Total Business-type Activities - Revenue Debt $ 11,652,597


Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:


Business-type Activities
Revenue Debt


Years Principal Interest


2019 $ 1,370,494 $ 256,850
2020 1,405,628 228,086
2021 1,346,722 199,390
2022 1,361,502 170,606
2023 1,401,540 140,842
2024-2028 2,431,828 469,098
2029-2033 1,675,805 211,728
2034-2036 659,078 23,294


Totals $ 11,652,597 $ 1,699,894


Other Debt Information  


Estimated payments of compensated absences and the fire pension liability are not included in the debt
service requirement schedules. The compensated absences liability and the fire pension liability
attributable to governmental activities will be liquidated primarily by the general fund. 
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F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


Other Debt Information (cont.)


A statutory mortgage lien upon the city's system and any additions, improvements and extensions thereto
is created by Section 66.0621 of the Wisconsin Statutes as provided for in the ordinances creating the
revenue bond issue. The city's system and the earnings of the system remain subject to the lien until
payment in full of the principal and interest on the bonds.


The water and electric mortgage revenue bond ordinances require segregation of the proceeds of the
bond issues and the creation and continual funding of several funds from operating revenues. The city
was in compliance with funding requirements in all material respects at December 31, 2017.


Current Refunding


On April 26, 2018, the city issued $12,585,000 in general obligation bonds with an average coupon rate of
2-4% to refund $4,775,000 of outstanding 2015 Note Anticipation Notes with an average coupon rate of
1.25%. The remaining proceeds were used on capital projects.


G. NET POSITION/FUND BALANCES


Net position reported on the government wide statement of net position at December 31, 2018, includes
the following:


Governmental Activities


Net Investment in Capital Assets
Land $ 9,298,987
Construction in progress 9,493,149
Inexhaustible portion of streets 1,376,419
Other capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 31,040,535
Less:  Related long-term debt outstanding (excluding unspent capital related


debt proceeds) (29,850,931)


Total Net Investment in Capital Assets $ 21,358,159
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G. NET POSITION/FUND BALANCES (cont.)


Governmental Funds


Governmental fund balances reported on the fund financial statements at December 31, 2018, include the
following:


General
Fund


Debt
Service Construction Outlay


TIF District
No. 7


Nonmajor
Funds Totals


Fund Balances


  Nonspendable:
Delinquent items $ 17,537 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 17,537
Prepaid items - - - - - 44,875 44,875
Noncurrent


interfunds 884,102 - - - - - 884,102
CVMIC equity 257,805 - - - - - 257,805


Sub-total 1,159,444 - - - - 44,875 1,204,319


 Restricted for:
Debt service - 562,002 - - - - 562,002
Library - - - - - 250,762 250,762
Parks - - - - - 286,045 286,045
TID activities - - - - 190,695 1,776,953 1,967,648
Capital projects - - 66,251 373,768 - 6,374 446,393
Firemen pension - - - - - 808,960 808,960


Sub-total - 562,002 66,251 373,768 190,695 3,129,094 4,321,810


  Committed to:
Senior center wood


shop - - - - - 5,090 5,090
Food pantry - - - - - 170,611 170,611
Landmarks - - - - - 3,322 3,322
Fire department


special - - - - - 32,701 32,701
Ambulance - - - - - 16,923 16,923
Opera house repair - - - - - 6,608 6,608
Township outreach - - - - - 9,008 9,008
Tourism - - - - - 23,824 23,824
Seniors in need - - - - - 54,108 54,108
Senior center


special - - - - - 458,241 458,241
Capital projects - - - - - 170,542 170,542
K9 Unit - - - - - 17,322 17,322
Tree commission - - - - - 2,795 2,795
Cemetery - - - - - 33,452 33,452


Sub-total - - - - - 1,004,547 1,004,547
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G. NET POSITION/FUND BALANCES (cont.)


Governmental Funds (cont.)


General
Fund


Debt
Service Construction Outlay


TIF District
No. 7


Nonmajor
Funds Totals


Assigned to:
Safety camp $ 28,336 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 28,336
Youth gift 19,421 - - - - - 19,421
Bryant grant 101,049 - - - - - 101,049
Pool sinking fund 19,659 - - - - - 19,659
Shop with a cop 6,146 - - - - - 6,146
Tree plantings


developer 18,165 - - - - - 18,165
Police federal grants 4,299 - - - - - 4,299
Paul kraby memorial 1,076 - - - - - 1,076
Utility payment in


lieu of taxes 855,940 - - - - - 855,940
Liability insurance


loss 70,000 - - - - - 70,000
Virgin lake


boardwalk 409 - - - - - 409
Buddy bags 46 - - - - - 46
Arts council 1,799 - - - - - 1,799
Buddy benches 625 - - - - - 625
Fire equipment - - - - - 20,453 20,453
Equipment


replacement - - - - - 427,155 427,155
Building


replacement - - - - - 540,449 540,449
Capital Projects - - 2,587,344 - - - 2,587,344
Outlay - - - 80,132 - - 80,132
Budget


appropriation 80,000 - - - - - 80,000


Sub-total 1,206,970 - 2,587,344 80,132 - 988,057 4,862,503


  Unassigned (deficit): 3,884,355 - - - - (1,081,198) 2,803,157


Total Fund
Balances $ 6,250,769 $ 562,002 $ 2,653,595 $ 453,900 $ 190,695 $ 4,085,375 $ 14,196,336


Business-type Activities


Net Investment in Capital Assets
Land $ 784,481
Construction in progress 305,655
Other capital assets, net of depreciation 56,271,077
Less:  Long-term debt outstanding (13,761,978)
Plus:  Unspent capital related debt proceeds 121,843
Less: Unamortized debt premium (114,533)


Total Net Investment in Capital Assets $ 43,606,545
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NOTE V - OTHER INFORMATION 


A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM


Plan description. The WRS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan. WRS
benefits and other plan provisions are established by Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. Benefit terms
may only be modified by the legislature. The retirement system is administered by the Wisconsin
Department of Employee Trust Funds (ETF). The system provides coverage to all eligible State of
Wisconsin, local government and other public employees. All employees, initially employed by a
participating WRS employer on or after July 1, 2011, and expected to work at least 1200 hours a year and
expected to be employed for at least one year from employee’s date of hire are eligible to participate in the
WRS. 


ETF issues a standalone Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR), which can be found at
http://etf.wi.gov/publications/cafr.htm.


Vesting. For employees beginning participation on or after January 1, 1990, and no longer actively
employed on or after April 24, 1998, creditable service in each of five years is required for eligibility for a
retirement annuity. Participants employed prior to 1990 and on or after April 24, 1998, and prior to July 1,
2011, are immediately vested. Participants who initially became WRS eligible on or after July 1, 2011,
must have five years of creditable service to be vested. 


Benefits provided. Employees who retire at or after age 65 (54 for protective occupation employees, 62
for elected officials and State executive participants, if hired on or before 12/31/2016) are entitled to
receive an unreduced retirement benefit. The factors influencing the benefit are: (1) final average
earnings, (2) years of creditable service, and (3) a formula factor.


Final average earnings is the average of the participant's three highest years' earnings. Creditable service
is the creditable current and prior service expressed in years or decimal equivalents of partial years for
which a participant receives earnings and makes contributions as required. The formula factor is a
standard percentage based on employment category.


Employees may retire at age 55 (50 for protective occupation employees) and receive reduced benefits.
Employees terminating covered employment before becoming eligible for a retirement benefit may
withdraw their contributions and forfeit all rights to any subsequent benefits. 


The WRS also provides death and disability benefits for employees.
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A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)


Post-retirement adjustments. The Employee Trust Funds Board may periodically adjust annuity
payments from the retirement system based on annual investment performance in accordance with s.
40.27, Wis. Stat. An increase (or decrease) in annuity payments may result when investment gains
(losses), together with other actuarial experience factors, create a surplus (shortfall) in the reserves, as
determined by the system’s consulting actuary. Annuity increases are not based on cost of living or other
similar factors. For Core annuities, decreases may be applied only to previously granted increases. By
law, Core annuities cannot be reduced to an amount below the original, guaranteed amount (the “floor”)
set at retirement. The Core and Variable annuity adjustments granted during recent years are as follows:


Year
Core Fund
Adjustment


Variable Fund
Adjustment


2008 6.6% 0%


2009 (2.1) (42)


2010 (1.3) 22


2011 (1.2) 11


2012 (7.0) (7)


2013 (9.6) 9


2014 4.7 25


2015 2.9 2


2016 0.5 (5)


2017 2.0 4.0


Contributions. Required contributions are determined by an annual actuarial valuation in accordance with
Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The employee required contribution is one-half of the actuarially
determined contribution rate for General category employees and Executives and Elected Officials.
Starting on January 1, 2016, the Executives and Elected Officials category merged into the General
Employee category. Required contributions for protective employees are the same rate as general
employees. Employers are required to contribute the remainder of the actuarially determined contribution
rate. The employer may not pay the employee required contribution unless provided for by an existing
collective bargaining agreement.


During the reporting period, the WRS recognized $508,566 in contributions from the city.


Contribution rates for the plan year reported as of December 31, 2018 are:


Employee Category Employee Employer


General (Executives & Elected Officials) 6.8% 6.8%


Protective with Social Security 6.8% 10.6%


Protective without Social Security 6.8% 14.9%
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A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)


Pension Asset, Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions


At December 31, 2018, the city reported an asset of $1,447,068 for its proportionate share of the net
pension asset. The net pension asset was measured as of December 31, 2017, and the total pension
liability used to calculate the net pension asset was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December
31, 2016 rolled forward to December 31, 2017. No material changes in assumptions or benefit terms
occurred between the actuarial valuation date and the measurement date. The city’s proportion of the net
pension asset was based on the city’s share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the
contributions of all participating employers. At December 31, 2017, the city’s proportion was
0.04873732%, which was an increase of 0.00168697% from its proportion measured as of December 31,
2016.


For the year ended December 31, 2018, the city recognized pension expense of $646,580.


At December 31, 2018, the city reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resourcesrelated to pensions from the following sources:


Deferred
Outflows of
Resources


Deferred
Inflows of


Resources


Differences between expected and actual experience $ 1,838,537 $ 860,006


Changes in assumptions 285,912 -


Net differences between projected and actual earnings on
pension plan investments - 1,988,861


Changes in proportion and differences between employer
contributions and proportionate share of contributions - 42,494


Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 533,009 -


Totals $ 2,657,458 $ 2,891,361
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A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)


$533,009 reported as deferred outflows related to pension resulting from the WRS Employer’s
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension
liability (asset) in the year ended December 31, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resourcesrelated to pension will be recognized in pension expense as
follows:


Year Ended 
December 31:


Deferred Outflows
of Resources and
Deferred Inflows of


Resources (net)


2019 $ 141,199


2020 (26,991)


2021 (505,382)


2022 (379,184)


2023 3,442


Actuarial assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2017 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:


Actuarial Valuation Date: December 31, 2016


Measurement Date of Net Pension Liability (Asset): December 31, 2017


Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Normal


Asset Valuation Method: Fair Value


Long-Term Expected Rate of Return: 7.2%


Discount Rate: 7.2%


Salary Increases:


    Inflation


    Seniority/Merit


3.2%


0.2% - 5.6%


Mortality: Wisconsin 2012 Mortality Table


Post-retirement Adjustments*: 2.1%


* No post-retirement adjustment is guaranteed. Actual adjustments are based on recognized investment
return, actuarial experience and other factors. 2.1% is the assumed annual adjustment based on the
investment return assumption and the post-retirement discount rate.
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A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)


Actuarial assumptions are based upon an experience study conducted in 2015 using experience from
2012 – 2014 The total pension liability for December 31, 2017 is based upon a roll-forward of the liability
calculated from the December 31, 2016 actuarial valuation. 


Long-term expected return on plan assets. The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan
investments was determined using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected
future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are
developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected
rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation
percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real
rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:


Core Fund Asset Class
Current Asset
Allocation %


Long-Term
Expected


Nominal Rate
of Return %


Long-Term
Expected


Real Rate of
Return %


Global Equities    50%    8.2%    5.3%


Fixed Income 24.5 4.2 1.4


Inflation Sensitive Assets 15.5 3.8 1.0


Real Estate 8 6.5 3.6


Private Equity/Debt 8 9.4 6.5


Multi-Asset 4 6.5 3.6


Total Core Fund 110 7.3 4.4


Variable Fund Asset Class


U.S Equities 70 7.5 4.6


International Equities 30 7.8 4.9


Total Variable Fund 100 7.9 5.0


New England Pension Consultants Long Term US CPI (Inflation) Forecast: 2.75%
Asset Allocations are managed within established ranges, target percentages may differ from actual monthly
allocations
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A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)


Single discount rate.  A single discount rate of 7.20% was used to measure the total pension liability.
This single discount rate was based on the expected rate of return on pension plan investments of 7.20%
and a long term bond rate of 3.31%. Because of the unique structure of WRS, the 7.20% expected rate of
return implies that a dividend of approximately 2.1% will always be paid. For purposes of the single
discount rate, it was assumed that the dividend would always be paid. The projection of cash flows used to
determine this single discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current
contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between
actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on these assumptions, the pension
plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments
(including expected dividends) of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return
on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the
total pension liability.


Sensitivity of the city’s proportionate share of the net pension asset to changes in the discount
rate. The following presents the city’s proportionate share of the net pension (asset)/liability calculated
using the discount rate of 7.20 percent, as well as what the city’s proportionate share of the net pension
(asset)/liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.20
percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.20 percent) than the current rate: 


1% Decrease to
Discount Rate


(6.20%)
Current Discount


Rate (7.20%)


1% Increase to
Discount Rate


(8.20%)
City’s proportionate share of the net
pension (asset)/liability $3,744,061 $(1,447,068) $(5,392,488)


Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position
is available in separately issued financial statements available at http://etf.wi.gov/publications/cafr.htm.


At December 31, 2018, the city reported a payable to the pension plan which represents contractually
required contributions outstanding as of the end of the year.


B. RISK MANAGEMENT  


The city is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, or destruction of assets;
errors and omissions; workers compensation; and health care of its employees. The city participates in a
public entity risk pool called CVMIC to provide coverage for losses from theft of, damage to, or destruction
of assets and workers compensation. However, other risks, such as (torts; theft of, damage to, or
destruction of assets; errors and omission; workers compensation; and health care of its employees) are
accounted for and financed by the city in the general fund.
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B. RISK MANAGEMENT (cont.)


Public Entity Risk Pool


Wisconsin Municipal Insurance Commission (WMIC)
Cities and Villages Mutual Insurance Company (CVMIC)


The WMIC is an intergovernmental cooperation commission created by contract under Section 66.30 of
the Wisconsin Statutes. It was created in August, 1987 for the purpose of facilitating the organization,
establishment and capitalization of the CVMIC, and has numerous cities and villages as members.


The CVMIC is a municipal mutual insurance company established on September 14, 1987 under Section
611.23 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The CVMIC provides liability insurance coverage to the cities and
villages which make up the membership of the WMIC.


The CVMIC is self-insured up to a maximum of $2,000,000 of each insurance risk. Losses paid by CVMIC
plus administrative expenses will be recovered through premiums to the participating pool of
municipalities. The city's share of such losses is approximately 1%.


Management of each organization consists of a board of directors or officers comprised of representatives
elected by each of three classes of participants based on population. The city does not exercise any
control over the activities of the agencies beyond the election of the officers and board.


Financial statements of WMIC and CVMIC can be obtained directly from CVMIC's offices.


The initial investment in WMIC is refundable upon withdrawal from the commission and has been reported
at the original amount of $257,805 in the general fund.


The city pays an annual premium to CVMIC for its general liability insurance, which provides coverage up
to $5,000,000 per occurrence, less the city's retained liability. The city's retained liability is limited to
$25,000 per occurrence and an annual aggregate limit of $100,000. An actuarially determined estimate for
outstanding losses and incurred but not reported losses is recorded in CVMIC's balance sheet in liability
reserves.


C. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  


Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental Accounting
Standards Board pronouncements are met. The liability and expenditure for claims and judgments are
only reported in governmental funds if it has matured. Claims and judgments are recorded in the
government-wide statements and proprietary funds as expenses when the related liabilities are incurred.


From time to time, the city is party to various pending claims and legal proceedings. Although the outcome
of such matters cannot be forecasted with certainty, it is the opinion of management and the city attorney
that the likelihood is remote that any such claims or proceedings will have a material adverse effect on the
city's financial position or results of operations. 
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C. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (cont.)


The city has received federal and state grants for specific purposes that are subject to review and audit by
the grantor agencies. Such audits could lead to requests for reimbursements to the grantor agency for
expenditures disallowed under terms of the grants. Management believes such disallowances, if any,
would be immaterial.


The city has active construction projects as of December 31, 2018. Work that has been completed on
these projects but not yet paid for (including contract retainages) is reflected as accounts payable and
expenditures.


Long-Term Contracts - WPPI Energy


The electric utility is one of 51 WPPI Energy member municipalities located throughout the State of
Wisconsin. On December 1, 1989, each initial WPPI Energy member commenced purchasing electric
service from WPPI Energy under a long-term Power Supply Contract for Participating Members (long-term
contract). Under the long-term contract, WPPI Energy is obligated to provide and sell, and each member
is obligated to take and pay for, the electric power and energy required for the operation of each member's
electric utility. 


The long-term contract requires all WPPI Energy members to pay for power and energy requirements
supplied or made available by WPPI Energy at rates sufficient to cover WPPI Energy's revenue
requirement including power supply costs, administrative expenses and debt service. WPPI Energy's
subsequent year's operating budget and rates are approved annually by its Board of Directors, consisting
of representatives from each member. The members have agreed to charge rates to retail customers
sufficient to meet their WPPI Energy obligations. The long-term contract provides that all payments to
WPPI Energy constitute operating expenses of the utility payable from any operating and maintenance
fund established for that system.


Forty-nine members, representing approximately 98% of WPPI Energy's existing load, have long-term
contracts through December 31, 2055. The remaining two members have long-term contracts through
December 31, 2037.


WPPI Energy's outstanding debt service obligation to be paid by its members through their wholesale
power charges through the remainder of the long-term contract was $342 million as of December 31,
2018.


D. SUBSEQUENT EVENT  


On April 24, 2019 the city issued general obligation promissory notes in the amount of $7,430,000 with an
interest rate of 2.125 to 4%%. This amount will be used for TID and city capital projects.
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E. EFFECT OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ON CURRENT-PERIOD FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  


The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has approved the following:


 Statement No. 83, Certain Asset Retirement Obligations


 Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities


 Statement No. 87, Leases


 Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, Including Direct Borrowings and Direct


Placements


 Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction


Period


 Statement No. 90, Majority Equity Interests - an amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and


No. 61


When they become effective, application of these standards may restate portions of these financial
statements.


F. FIREMEN'S PENSION PLAN  


Plan description. The city reports a single-employer defined benefit pension plan for fire department
employees (the "Plan"). Management of the Plan is vested in the Firemen's Pension Board. No assets
have been accumulated in a trust for payment of these benefits. 


Benefits provided. The plan is administered by the Firemen's Pension Board and provides pension
benefits to fire department employees. The amount paid to retirees each year is based on the years of
service at the time of retirement and the position the retiree held while a member of the department. 


Plan membership. At December 31, 2018, the plan's membership consisted of:


Retirees and beneficiaries 29


Inactive, non-retired members -


Active members 36


Total 65
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F. FIREMEN'S PENSION PLAN (cont.)


The city paid $40,282 for pension benefits as they came due during the reporting period. The city has
accumulated assets to pay for these benefits; however, the arrangement does not meet the definition of a
trust under GASB Statement No. 73. The specific criteria that are not met include:


> Contributions from employers and nonemployer contributing entities to the pension plan and
earnings on those contributions are irrevocable.


> Pension plan assets are legally protected from the creditors of employers, nonemployer 
contributing entities, the pension plan administrator and plan members


Changes in total pension liability. The city's change in total pension liability for the year ended
December 31, 2018 was as follows:


Total Pension
Liability


Beginning of Year Balance $ 1,268,731


Service cost 41,400
Interest on total pension liability 48,805
Changes of assumptions 71,580
Benefit payments (38,355)


End of Year Balance $ 1,392,161


Assumptions. The total pension liability was determined using the following actuarial assumptions,
applied to all periods included in the measurement:


Measurement Date: December 31, 2017


Actuarial Valuation Date: December 31, 2016


Inflation: 2.3%


Salary Changes: 10% in 2018, 2.3 thereafter


Discount Rate: 3.44%


Source of Discount Rate: Bond Buyer GO 20-Year Municipal Bond Index


Source of Mortality Assumptions: Wisconsin 2012 Mortality table


Dates of Experience Studies: Experience study conducted using WRS
experience from 2012-2014
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2018


NOTE V - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.)


F. FIREMEN'S PENSION PLAN (cont.)


Sensitivity of the total pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The following is a sensitivity
analysis of the total pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The table below presents the pension
liability of the District calculated using the current discount rate of 3.44% as well as what the total pension
liability would be if it were to be calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (2.44%)
or 1 percentage point higher (4.44%) that the current rate:


1% Decrease 
Current Discount


Rate 1% Increase 


Total pension liability $ 1,641,065 $ 1,392,161 $ 1,197,108


Pension expense, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the city recognized pension expense of $94,285.


At December 31, 2018, the city reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions from the following sources:


Deferred
Outflows of
Resources


Deferred
Inflows of


Resources


Changes in assumptions $ 61,693 $ 30,427


Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 40,282 -


Totals $ 101,975 $ 30,427


$40,282 reported as deferred outflows related to pension resulting from the WRS Employer’s contributions
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability (asset)
in the year ended December 31, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and deferred inflows
of resources related to pension will be recognized in pension expense as follows:


Year Ended 
December 31:


Deferred
Outflows and


Deferred Inflows
of Resources


(net)


2019 $ 4,080


2020 4,080


2021 4,080


2022 4,080


2023 4,080


Thereafter 10,866
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


DETAILED SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND


For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


Budgeted Amounts


Original Final Actual
Variance with
Final Budget


REVENUES


TAXES
Taxes $ 8,562,687 $ 8,562,687 $ 8,564,436 $ 1,749


INTERGOVERNMENTAL REVENUES
Intergovernmental 1,713,998 1,799,651 1,671,045 (128,606)


LICENSES AND PERMITS
Business and occupational licenses 36,800 36,800 42,357 5,557
Dog and cat licenses 4,000 4,000 3,651 (349)
Building permits 164,700 164,700 246,440 81,740


Total Licenses and Permits 205,500 205,500 292,448 86,948


FINES, FORFEITURES AND
PENALTIES


Fines, forfeitures and penalties 121,000 121,000 168,454 47,454


PUBLIC CHARGES FOR SERVICES
Public charges for services 1,405,434 1,405,434 1,429,250 23,816


INTERGOVERNMENTAL CHARGES
Intergovernmental charges for


services 60,000 60,000 58,889 (1,111)


SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS
Special assessments 10,000 10,000 16,717 6,717


INVESTMENT INCOME
Investment income 30,000 30,000 189,555 159,555


MISCELLANEOUS
Miscellaneous revenues 378,419 386,419 530,241 143,822


Total Revenues 12,487,038 12,580,691 12,921,035 340,344


See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to required supplementary information.
75







CITY OF STOUGHTON


DETAILED SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND


For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


Budgeted Amounts


Original Final Actual
Variance with
Final Budget


EXPENDITURES


GENERAL GOVERNMENT
Council/Board $ 47,005 $ 47,005 $ 45,697 $ 1,308
Legislative support 101,386 101,386 99,222 2,164
Judicial 57,381 57,381 54,049 3,332
Administrator 223,872 223,872 207,620 16,252
Treasury 849,549 899,549 810,260 89,289
Legal 110,500 110,500 138,063 (27,563)
Personnel 171,913 171,913 164,275 7,638
General buildings/plant/hall 65,707 65,707 59,194 6,513
Assessment of property 47,500 47,500 47,475 25
Contingency 80,000 80,000 47,895 32,105
Other general government 49,620 49,620 158,857 (109,237)
Health insurance - - 20,008 (20,008)


Total General Government 1,804,433 1,854,433 1,852,615 1,818


PUBLIC SAFETY
Police 3,045,638 3,045,638 3,193,546 (147,908)
Fire protection 541,585 541,585 531,931 9,654
Inspection 325,934 325,934 369,429 (43,495)


Total Public Safety 3,913,157 3,913,157 4,094,906 (181,749)


PUBLIC WORKS
Highway and street maintenance and


construction 105,116 105,116 107,224 (2,108)
Highway and street maintenance for


local 1,149,186 1,163,186 1,079,167 84,019
Snow and ice control 70,000 70,000 66,393 3,607
Other sanitation 715,000 715,000 714,385 615
Buildings and grounds operations 127,344 127,344 93,322 34,022


Total Public Works 2,166,646 2,180,646 2,060,491 120,155


CULTURE, RECREATION AND
EDUCATION


Parks 207,533 200,173 222,650 (22,477)
Recreation facilities 497,959 497,959 542,403 (44,444)
Community center 455,780 496,376 443,732 52,644
Other culture 347,436 333,150 314,233 18,917
School year recreation 35,000 35,000 40,147 (5,147)
Cable television 6,000 6,000 6,761 (761)


Total Culture, Recreation and
Education 1,549,708 1,568,658 1,569,926 (1,268)


Total Expenditures 9,433,944 9,516,894 9,577,938 (61,044)


See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to required supplementary information.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


DETAILED SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND


For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


Budgeted Amounts


Original Final Actual
Variance with
Final Budget


Excess of revenues over
expenditures $ 3,053,094 $ 3,063,797 3,343,097 $ 279,300


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
(USES)


Transfers in 959,000 539,000 898,285 359,285
Transfers out (4,032,094) (3,612,094) (3,869,912) (257,818)


Total Other Financing Sources
(Uses) (3,073,094) (3,073,094) (2,971,627) 101,467


Net Change in Fund Balance (20,000) (9,297) 371,470 380,767


FUND BALANCE - Beginning of Year 5,879,299 5,879,299 5,879,299 -


FUND BALANCE - END OF YEAR $ 5,859,299 $ 5,870,002 $ 6,250,769 $ 380,767


See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to required supplementary information.
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Proportionate
Share of the Net Plan Fiduciary


Proportion Proportionate Pension Liability (Asset) Net Position
of the Net Share of the as a Percentage as a Percentage


Fiscal Pension Net Pension Covered of Covered of the Total
Year Ending Liability (Asset) Liability (Asset) Payroll Payroll Pension Liability


12/31/18 0.04873732% (1,447,068)$        6,542,867$     22.12% 102.93%
12/31/17 0.04705035% 387,807              6,226,372       6.23% 99.12%
12/31/16 0.04597674% 747,113              6,169,077       12.11% 98.20%
12/31/15 0.04486493% (1,102,005)          5,696,627       19.34% 102.74%


Contributions in
Relation to the Contributions


Contractually Contractually Contribution as a Percentage
Fiscal Required Required Deficiency Covered of Covered


Year Ending Contributions Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll


12/31/18 533,009$                       533,009$            -$                    6,864,764$                      7.76%
12/31/17 511,909                         511,909              -                      7,308,112                        7.00%
12/31/16 461,771                         461,771              -                      7,032,737                        6.57%
12/31/15 465,913                         465,913              -                      6,169,077                        7.55%


For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY (ASSET) - 


SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS - WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM


CITY OF STOUGHTON


WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to the required supplementary information.
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Difference
Interest on Between Expected


Fiscal Beginning Total Pension Changes in and Actual Changes of Benefit Ending
Year Ending Balance Service Cost Liability Benefit Terms Experience Assumptions Payments Balance


12/31/18 1,268,731$     41,400$          48,805$          -$                  -$                         71,580$          (38,355)$        1,392,161$     
12/31/17 1,259,717       42,477            45,829           -                    -                           (42,041)           (37,251)          1,268,731       


Total Pension
Liability as a


Percentage of
Fiscal Total Pension Covered Covered


Year Ending Liability Payroll Payroll


12/31/18 1,392,161$    102,773$             1355%


12/31/17 1,268,731      93,830                 1352%


For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY


SCHEDULE OF COVERED PAYROLL


CITY OF STOUGHTON


FIREMEN'S PENSION PLAN
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


FIREMEN'S PENSION PLAN


See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to the required supplementary information.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


BUDGETARY INFORMATION


Budgetary information is derived from the annual operating budget and is presented using the same basis
of accounting for each fund as described in Note I. C.


Department heads submit budget requests by mid-August. The mayor and finance director produce the
executive budget, which is reviewed with the finance committee in mid-September. The city council then
reviews the budget and holds a public hearing. Council adoption of the budget follows the public hearing,
usually in November. Department heads have the authority to make budget transfers within their own
department, except for wage accounts and capital outlay items. Council action is required for adjustments
to wage and outlay accounts, and to change a department's total budget.


Appropriations lapse at year end unless specifically carried over. There were no carryovers to the following
year.  Budgets are adopted at the department level of expenditure. 


WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM


The amounts determined for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end and occurred
within the fiscal year.


The city is required to present the last ten years of data; however accounting standards allow the
presentation of as many years as are available until ten fiscal years are presented.


Changes in benefit terms. There were no changes of benefit terms for any participating employer in the
Wisconsin Retirement System.


Changes in assumptions. There were no changes in assumptions.


FIREMEN'S PENSION PLAN


The amounts determined for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end and occurred
within the fiscal year.


The city is required to present the last ten years of data; however, accounting standards allow the
presentation of as many years as are available until ten fiscal years are presented.


Changes in benefit terms. There were no changes of benefit terms


Changes in assumptions. There were no changes in assumptions.


See independent auditors' report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS


As of December 31, 2018


Special Revenue Funds


Library Ambulance Opera House
Opera House


Repair


ASSETS
Cash and investments $ 265,036 $ 17,144 $ 37,506 $ 6,608
Receivables (net)


Taxes - - - -
Accounts - - - -
Special assessments - - - -
Loans - - - -


Prepaid items - - 44,875 -


TOTAL ASSETS $ 265,036 $ 17,144 $ 82,381 $ 6,608


LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES


Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 3,317 $ 134 $ 54,073 $ -
Accrued liabilities 10,957 87 3,788 -
Deposits - - - -
Other liabilities - - 264,949 -
Due to other funds - - - -
Advances from other funds - - - -


Total Liabilities 14,274 221 322,810 -


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues - - - -
Unavailable revenues - - - -


Total Deferred Inflows of Resources - - - -


Fund Balances (Deficit)
Nonspendable - - 44,875 -
Restricted 250,762 - - -
Committed - 16,923 - 6,608
Assigned - - - -
Unassigned (deficit) - - (285,304) -


Total Fund Balances (deficit) 250,762 16,923 (240,429) 6,608


TOTAL LIABILITIES,
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND
BALANCES $ 265,036 $ 17,144 $ 82,381 $ 6,608
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Special Revenue Funds


Township
Outreach Tourism Seniors in Need Food Pantry Landmarks


Fire Department
Special


$ 9,134 $ 22,007 $ 56,113 $ 175,207 $ 4,822 $ 33,201


- - - - - -
- 18,171 - - - -
- - - - - -
- - - - - -
- - - - - -


$ 9,134 $ 40,178 $ 56,113 $ 175,207 $ 4,822 $ 33,201


$ - $ 16,354 $ 2,005 $ 4,596 $ 1,500 $ 500
126 - - - - -


- - - - - -
- - - - - -
- - - - - -
- - - - - -


126 16,354 2,005 4,596 1,500 500


- - - - - -
- - - - - -
- - - - - -


- - - - - -
- - - - - -


9,008 23,824 54,108 170,611 3,322 32,701
- - - - - -
- - - - - -


9,008 23,824 54,108 170,611 3,322 32,701


$ 9,134 $ 40,178 $ 56,113 $ 175,207 $ 4,822 $ 33,201


82







CITY OF STOUGHTON


COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS


As of December 31, 2018


Special Revenue Funds


Senior Center
Wood Shop


Senior Center
Special


Economic
Development


Redevelop-
ment Authority


ASSETS
Cash and investments $ 5,133 $ 458,696 $ 24,891 $ -
Receivables (net)


Taxes - - - -
Accounts - - - -
Special assessments - - - -
Loans - - - -


Prepaid items - - - -


TOTAL ASSETS $ 5,133 $ 458,696 $ 24,891 $ -


LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES


Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 43 $ 455 $ - $ 1,275
Accrued liabilities - - - -
Deposits - - 33,000 -
Other liabilities - - - -
Due to other funds - - - 66,574
Advances from other funds - - - -


Total Liabilities 43 455 33,000 67,849


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues - - - -
Unavailable revenues - - - -


Total Deferred Inflows of Resources - - - -


Fund Balances (Deficit)
Nonspendable - - - -
Restricted - - - -
Committed 5,090 458,241 - -
Assigned - - - -
Unassigned (deficit) - - (8,109) (67,849)


Total Fund Balances (deficit) 5,090 458,241 (8,109) (67,849)


TOTAL LIABILITIES,
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND
BALANCES $ 5,133 $ 458,696 $ 24,891 $ -
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Special Revenue Funds


Special
Assessments CDBG K9 Unit


Tree
Commission Cemetery


Revolving
Loan Fund


Firemen's
Pension Fund


$ 141,218 $ 6,374 $ 17,322 $ 2,724 $ 33,452 $ - $ 808,960


100,108 - - - - - -
- - - 71 - - -


468,884 - - - - - -
- - - - - 50,000 -
- - - - - - -


$ 710,210 $ 6,374 $ 17,322 $ 2,795 $ 33,452 $ 50,000 $ 808,960


$ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -


64,589 - - - - - -
- - - - - - -


64,589 - - - - - -


6,195 - - - - - -
468,884 - - - - 50,000 -
475,079 - - - - 50,000 -


- - - - - - -
- 6,374 - - - - 808,960


170,542 - 17,322 2,795 33,452 - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -


170,542 6,374 17,322 2,795 33,452 - 808,960


$ 710,210 $ 6,374 $ 17,322 $ 2,795 $ 33,452 $ 50,000 $ 808,960
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS


As of December 31, 2018


Capital Projects Funds


Fire
Equipment


Park
Acquisition River Trail


TIF District
No. 3


ASSETS
Cash and investments $ 20,453 $ 286,045 $ - $ 457,546
Receivables (net)


Taxes - - - 475,729
Accounts - - - -
Special assessments - - - -
Loans - - - -


Prepaid items - - - -


TOTAL ASSETS $ 20,453 $ 286,045 $ - $ 933,275


LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES


Liabilities
Accounts payable $ - $ - $ - $ 32,715
Accrued liabilities - - - -
Deposits - - - -
Other liabilities - - - -
Due to other funds - - 809 -
Advances from other funds - - - -


Total Liabilities - - 809 32,715


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues - - - 475,729
Unavailable revenues - - - -


Total Deferred Inflows of Resources - - - 475,729


Fund Balances (Deficit)
Nonspendable - - - -
Restricted - 286,045 - 424,831
Committed - - - -
Assigned 20,453 - - -
Unassigned (deficit) - - (809) -


Total Fund Balances (deficit) 20,453 286,045 (809) 424,831


TOTAL LIABILITIES,
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND
BALANCES $ 20,453 $ 286,045 $ - $ 933,275
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Capital Projects Funds


TIF District
No. 4


TIF District
No. 5


TIF District
No. 6


TIF District
No. 8


Equipment
Replacement


Building
Maintenance


Total
Nonmajor


Governmental
Funds


$ 1,132,935 $ 88,350 $ 33,111 $ 231,387 $ 449,162 $ 566,865 $ 5,391,402


174,694 - 24,537 - - - 775,068
- - - - - - 18,242
- - - - - - 468,884
- - - - - - 50,000
- - - - - - 44,875


$ 1,307,629 $ 88,350 $ 57,648 $ 231,387 $ 449,162 $ 566,865 $ 6,748,471


$ 111 $ 113 $ 23,756 $ 12,089 $ 22,007 $ 26,416 $ 201,459
- - - - - - 14,958
- - - - - - 33,000
- - - - - - 264,949
- - - - - - 131,972
- 676,320 140,399 - - - 816,719


111 676,433 164,155 12,089 22,007 26,416 1,463,057


174,694 - 24,537 - - - 681,155
- - - - - - 518,884


174,694 - 24,537 - - - 1,200,039


- - - - - - 44,875
1,132,824 - - 219,298 - - 3,129,094


- - - - - - 1,004,547
- - - - 427,155 540,449 988,057
- (588,083) (131,044) - - - (1,081,198)


1,132,824 (588,083) (131,044) 219,298 427,155 540,449 4,085,375


$ 1,307,629 $ 88,350 $ 57,648 $ 231,387 $ 449,162 $ 566,865 $ 6,748,471
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCES


NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


Special Revenue Funds


Library Ambulance
Opera
House


Opera
House
Repair


REVENUES
Taxes $ - $ - $ - $ -
Intergovernmental 222,274 - - -
Public charges for services 28,064 - 756,786 -
Special assessments - - - -
Investment income 3,600 - 18 108
Miscellaneous revenues 83,949 10,504 5,836 -


Total Revenues 337,887 10,504 762,640 108


EXPENDITURES
Current


General government - - - -
Public safety - 8,313 - -
Culture, recreation and education 898,883 - 944,679 -
Conservation and development - - - -


Capital Outlay - - - -
Debt Service


Interest and fiscal charges - - - -
Total Expenditures 898,883 8,313 944,679 -


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (560,996) 2,191 (182,039) 108


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Debt issued - - - -
Transfers in 599,288 - 171,231 -
Transfers out - - - -


Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 599,288 - 171,231 -


Net Change in Fund Balances 38,292 2,191 (10,808) 108


FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - Beginning of Year 212,470 14,732 (229,621) 6,500


FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - END OF YEAR $ 250,762 $ 16,923 $ (240,429) $ 6,608


87







Special Revenue Funds


Township
Outreach Tourism


Seniors in
Need Food Pantry Landmarks


Fire
Department


Special
Senior Center
Wood Shop


$ - $ 81,104 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
5,745 - - - - - -


- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- - 410 877 27 380 -


2,500 - 22,400 80,950 - 22,792 3,131
8,245 81,104 22,810 81,827 27 23,172 3,131


- - - - - - -
- - - - - 16,907 -


5,036 72,993 14,452 83,421 5,964 - 1,743
- - - - - - -
- - - - - 9,209 -


- - - - - - -
5,036 72,993 14,452 83,421 5,964 26,116 1,743


3,209 8,111 8,358 (1,594) (5,937) (2,944) 1,388


- - - - - - -
- - - - 5,000 - -
- (8,110) - - - - -
- (8,110) - - 5,000 - -


3,209 1 8,358 (1,594) (937) (2,944) 1,388


5,799 23,823 45,750 172,205 4,259 35,645 3,702


$ 9,008 $ 23,824 $ 54,108 $ 170,611 $ 3,322 $ 32,701 $ 5,090
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCES


NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


Special Revenue Funds


Senior
Center
Special


Economic
Development


Redevelop-
ment


Authority
Special


Assessments


REVENUES
Taxes $ - $ - $ - $ -
Intergovernmental - - - -
Public charges for services - - - -
Special assessments - - - 148,646
Investment income 12,239 392 450 10,886
Miscellaneous revenues 9,950 6,344 - -


Total Revenues 22,189 6,736 450 159,532


EXPENDITURES
Current


General government - - - -
Public safety - - - -
Culture, recreation and education 8,535 - - -
Conservation and development - 9,104 42,607 -


Capital Outlay - - - -
Debt Service


Interest and fiscal charges - - - -
Total Expenditures 8,535 9,104 42,607 -


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures 13,654 (2,368) (42,157) 159,532


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Debt issued - - - -
Transfers in - 10,000 10,000 -
Transfers out - - - (150,000)


Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) - 10,000 10,000 (150,000)


Net Change in Fund Balances 13,654 7,632 (32,157) 9,532


FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - Beginning of Year 444,587 (15,741) (35,692) 161,010


FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - END OF
YEAR $ 458,241 $ (8,109) $ (67,849) $ 170,542
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Special Revenue Funds Capital Projects Funds


CDBG K9 Unit
Tree


Commission Cemetery
Revolving
Loan Fund


Firemen's
Pension


Fund
Fire


Equipment
Park


Acquisition


$ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - 11,777
- - - - - - - -
- - - 627 - 9,530 152 4,841
- 6,251 974 - - 4,920 - 48,564
- 6,251 974 627 - 14,450 152 65,182


- - - - - - - -
- 6,158 - - - - - -
- - - 226 - - - 164,731
- - 525 - - - - -
- - - - - - - -


- - - - - - - -
- 6,158 525 226 - - - 164,731


- 93 449 401 - 14,450 152 (99,549)


- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - (17,320)
- - - - - - - (17,320)


- 93 449 401 - 14,450 152 (116,869)


6,374 17,229 2,346 33,051 - 794,510 20,301 402,914


$ 6,374 $ 17,322 $ 2,795 $ 33,452 $ - $ 808,960 $ 20,453 $ 286,045
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCES


NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


Capital Projects Funds


River Trail
TIF District


No. 3
TIF District


No. 4
TIF District


No. 5


REVENUES
Taxes $ - $ 491,691 $ 182,466 $ -
Intergovernmental - 3,302 1,734 188,657
Public charges for services - 16,624 - -
Special assessments - - - -
Investment income - 3,149 19,058 2,778
Miscellaneous revenues - - - 20,373


Total Revenues - 514,766 203,258 211,808


EXPENDITURES
Current


General government - - - -
Public safety - - - -
Culture, recreation and education - - - -
Conservation and development - - - 113


Capital Outlay - 33,625 5,187 649,860
Debt Service


Interest and fiscal charges - - - 18,157
Total Expenditures - 33,625 5,187 668,130


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures - 481,141 198,071 (456,322)


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Debt issued - - - 348,750
Transfers in - - - -
Transfers out - (436,379) (102,775) (77,893)


Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) - (436,379) (102,775) 270,857


Net Change in Fund Balances - 44,762 95,296 (185,465)


FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - Beginning of Year (809) 380,069 1,037,528 (402,618)


FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - END OF YEAR $ (809) $ 424,831 $1,132,824 $ (588,083)
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Capital Projects Funds


TIF District
No. 6


TIF District
No. 8


Equipment
Replacement


Building
Maintenance


Total
Nonmajor


Governmental
Funds


$ - $ - $ - $ - $ 755,261
- - - - 421,712
- - - - 813,251
- - - - 148,646
- - 2,410 1,130 73,062
- - - 156,372 485,810
- - 2,410 157,502 2,697,742


- - - 45,983 45,983
- - - - 31,378
- - - - 2,200,663


1,814 10,699 - - 64,862
8,171 196,253 130,376 - 1,032,681


- - - - 18,157
9,985 206,952 130,376 45,983 3,393,724


(9,985) (206,952) (127,966) 111,519 (695,982)


- 426,250 - - 775,000
- - 219,500 - 1,015,019


(59,676) - - - (852,153)
(59,676) 426,250 219,500 - 937,866


(69,661) 219,298 91,534 111,519 241,884


(61,383) - 335,621 428,930 3,843,491


$ (131,044) $ 219,298 $ 427,155 $ 540,449 $ 4,085,375
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
NONMAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS


As of December 31, 2018


Storm Sewer EMS


Total Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds


ASSETS
Current Assets


Cash and investments $ 223,243 $ 323,244 $ 546,487
Receivables 44,430 123,954 168,384
Due from other funds 44,001 - 44,001


Total Current Assets 311,674 447,198 758,872


Noncurrent Assets
Capital Assets


Land 9,986 - 9,986
Construction in progress 9,233 - 9,233
Property and equipment 3,365,976 2,181,896 5,547,872
Less: Accumulated depreciation (307,093) (846,671) (1,153,764)


Restricted Assets
Net pension asset - 21,131 21,131


Total Noncurrent Assets 3,078,102 1,356,356 4,434,458


Total Assets 3,389,776 1,803,554 5,193,330


DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related amounts - 37,900 37,900


Total Deferred Outflows of Resources - 37,900 37,900


LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities


Accounts payable 26,252 6,012 32,264
Accrued liabilities 9,767 11,166 20,933
Due to other funds - 309,780 309,780
Current portion of general obligation debt 182,289 130,000 312,289


Total Current Liabilities 218,308 456,958 675,266


Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-Term Debt


General obligation debt payable 1,042,092 135,000 1,177,092
Compensated absences - 38,210 38,210


Total Liabilities 1,260,400 630,168 1,890,568


DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related amounts - 43,924 43,924


Total Deferred Inflows of Resources
- 43,924 43,924


NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 1,975,564 1,070,225 3,045,789
Restricted for


Pension - 21,131 21,131
Unrestricted 153,812 76,006 229,818


TOTAL NET POSITION $ 2,129,376 $ 1,167,362 $ 3,296,738
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
NONMAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


Storm Sewer EMS


Total Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds


OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services $ 609,384 $ 568,426 $ 1,177,810


Total Operating Revenues 609,384 568,426 1,177,810


OPERATING EXPENSES
Operation and maintenance 438,376 504,094 942,470
Depreciation expense 112,200 85,990 198,190


Total Operating Expenses 550,576 590,084 1,140,660


Operating Income (Loss) 58,808 (21,658) 37,150


NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment income 11,116 2,846 13,962
Interest and fiscal charges (28,699) (12,172) (40,871)
Interest subsidy - 9,018 9,018
Intergovernmental grants 27,179 17,533 44,712


Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 9,596 17,225 26,821


Net Income (Loss) Before Contributions and
Transfers 68,404 (4,433) 63,971


CONTRIBUTIONS AND TRANSFERS
Contributions in aid of construction 160,811 - 160,811
Capital contributions - city 472,400 - 472,400
Transfers in - 80,000 80,000


Total Contributions and Transfers 633,211 80,000 713,211


Change in Net Position 701,615 75,567 777,182


NET POSITION - Beginning of Year 1,427,761 1,091,795 2,519,556


NET POSITION - END OF YEAR $ 2,129,376 $ 1,167,362 $ 3,296,738
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
NONMAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


Storm Sewer EMS


Total Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds


CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Received from customers $ 565,522 $ 620,355 $ 1,185,877
Paid to suppliers for goods and services (176,729) (201,313) (378,042)
Paid to employees for services (240,407) (308,010) (548,417)


Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities 148,386 111,032 259,418


CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment income 11,116 2,846 13,962


Net Cash Flows From Investing Activities 11,116 2,846 13,962


CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING
ACTIVITIES


Transfers - 80,000 80,000
Advances from other funds - 34,035 34,035


Net Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities - 114,035 114,035


CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES


Debt retired (170,970) (125,000) (295,970)
Interest paid (33,217) (13,900) (47,117)
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (405,947) (4,945) (410,892)
Construction grant received 27,179 - 27,179


Net Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing
Activities (582,955) (143,845) (726,800)


Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (423,453) 84,068 (339,385)


CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of Year 646,696 239,176 885,872


CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR $ 223,243 $ 323,244 $ 546,487
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Storm Sewer EMS


Total Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds


RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES


Operating income (loss) $ 58,808 $ (21,658) $ 37,150
Nonoperating revenue - 26,551 26,551
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income (Loss) to Net


Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Depreciation 112,200 85,990 198,190


Changes in assets, deferred outflows, liabilities and
deferred inflows


Customer accounts receivable 1,128 - 1,128
Other accounts receivable - 25,378 25,378
Due from other funds (44,990) - (44,990)
Compensated absences - 5,264 5,264
Accounts payable 18,986 (10,096) 8,890
Other current liabilities 2,254 (2,784) (530)
Pension related deferrals and liabilities - 2,387 2,387


NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES $ 148,386 $ 111,032 $ 259,418


RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION


Cash and investments $ 223,243 $ 323,244 $ 546,487


  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $ 223,243 $ 323,244 $ 546,487


NONCASH CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING
ACTIVITIES


City contributed assets $ 472,400 $ - $ 472,400


Developer contributed assets $ 160,811 $ - $ 160,811
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ACCOUNTANTS' COMPILATION REPORT 


To the City Council 
City of Stoughton 
Stoughton, Wisconsin 


Management is responsible for the accompanying Balance Sheet, Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project 
Revenues and Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments and Historical Summary of Sources, Uses, 
and Status of Funds of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7, and 
No. 8 (“the districts”) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018 and from the date of creation through 
December 31, 2018, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. We have performed a compilation engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for 
Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. We did not audit or review the financial statements nor were 
we required to perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the information provided by 
management. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on 
these financial statements. 


As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the transactions of the districts and do not purport 
to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the City of Stoughton as of December 31, 2018, and the 
changes in its financial position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 


Management has omitted the management’s discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the financial statements. Such 
missing information, although not a required part of the financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economical, or historical context.  


Madison, Wisconsin 
April 9, 2019 


Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP trading as Baker Tilly is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members 
of which are separate and independent legal entities. © 2018 Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP







CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 3


COMPILED
BALANCE SHEET


As of December 31, 2018


Capital
Projects


Fund


ASSETS
    Cash and investments 457,546$      
    Taxes receivable 475,729        


            TOTAL ASSETS 933,275$      


LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCE
    Liabilities
       Accounts payable 32,715$        


          Total Liabilities 32,715          


    Deferred Inflows of Resources
       Unearned revenues 475,729$      


          Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 475,729        


    Fund Balance
       Restricted 424,831        


              TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCE 933,275$      


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 3


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF PROJECT COSTS, PROJECT REVENUES,


AND NET COST TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH TAX INCREMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2018


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


PROJECT COSTS
    Capital expenditures -$                   5,571,359$    
    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 760                141,706         
    Department of Revenue fees 150                150                
    Developer payments 16,091           16,091           
    Debt issuance cost -                     20,162           
    Interest on long-term debt 27,718           1,397,008      
    Contributions to other districts -                     1,106,252      


        Total Project Costs 44,719           8,252,728      


PROJECT REVENUES
    Tax increments 491,691         5,229,881      
    Exempt computer aid 3,302             26,237           
    Developer guarantees -                     48,586           
    Public charges for services -                     12,942           
    Contribution from other district -                     742,340         
    Transfer from other funds -                     181,304         
    Investment income 3,149             59,843           
    Land sales -                     1,383,920      
    Miscellaneous revenues -                     148,244         


        Total Project Revenues 498,142         7,833,297      


            NET COST (RECOVERED) TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
              TIF INCREMENTS - DECEMBER 31, 2018 (453,423)$      419,431$       


RECONCILIATION OF RECOVERABLE COSTS
    General obligation debt 844,262$       
    Fund balance (424,831)        


 
            NET COSTS TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
              TAX INCREMENTS – DECEMBER 31, 2018 419,431$       


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 3


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF SOURCES, USES, AND STATUS OF FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2018


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


SOURCES OF FUNDS
    Tax increments 491,691$       5,229,881$    
    Exempt computer aid 3,302             26,237           
    Developer guarantees -                     48,586           
    Public charges for services -                     12,942           
    Contribution from other district -                     742,340         
    Transfers from other funds -                     181,304         
    Investment income 3,149             59,843           
    Land sales -                     1,383,920      
    Miscellaneous revenues -                     148,244         
    Long-term debt issued -                     6,257,496      


        Total Sources of Funds 498,142         14,090,793    


USES OF FUNDS
    Capital expenditures -                     5,571,359      
    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 760                141,706         
    Department of Revenue fees 150                150                
    Developer payments 16,091           16,091           
    Debt issuance cost -                     20,162           
    Contribution to other district -                     1,106,252      
    Interest on long-term debt 27,718           1,397,008      
    Principal on long-term debt 408,661         5,413,234      


        Total Uses of Funds 453,380         13,665,962    


            Excess of Sources of Funds over Uses of Funds 44,762           424,831         


    BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 380,069         -                     


             ENDING FUND BALANCE 424,831$       424,831$       


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 4


COMPILED
BALANCE SHEET


As of December 31, 2018


Capital
Projects


Fund


ASSETS
Cash and investments 1,132,935$    
Taxes receivable 174,694         


            TOTAL ASSETS 1,307,629$    


LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, 
AND FUND BALANCE


Liabilities
Accounts payable 111$              


Total Liabilities 111                


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 174,694         


Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 174,694         


Fund Balance
Restricted 1,132,824      


TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCE 1,307,629$    


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 4


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF PROJECT COSTS, PROJECT REVENUES,


AND NET COST RECOVERED THROUGH TAX INCREMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2018


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


PROJECT COSTS
    Capital expenditures -$                   2,033,433$    
    Administration (in-house) -                     70,139           
    Department of Revenue fees 150                150                
    Revolving loan fund -                     50,000           
    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 5,037             293,836         
    Debt issuance costs -                     26,075           
    Interest on long-term debt 7,775             796,573         


        Total Project Costs 12,962           3,270,206      


PROJECT REVENUES
    Tax increments 182,466         2,467,435      
    Exempt computer aid 1,734             55,795           
    Intergovernmental -                     89,415           
    Contribution from other districts -                     1,405,024      
    Investment income 19,058           140,909         
    Sale of property -                     550                
    Developer guarantees -                     43,902           


        Total Project Revenues 203,258         4,203,030      


            NET COST (RECOVERED) THROUGH
              TIF INCREMENTS - DECEMBER 31, 2018 (190,296)$      (932,824)$      


RECONCILIATION OF RECOVERED COSTS
    General obligation debt 200,000$       
    Fund balance (1,132,824)     


 
            NET COSTS RECOVERED THROUGH
              TAX INCREMENTS – DECEMBER 31, 2018 (932,824)$      


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 4


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF SOURCES, USES, AND STATUS OF FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2018


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


SOURCES OF FUNDS
    Tax increments 182,466$       2,467,435$    
    Exempt computer aid 1,734             55,795           
    Intergovernmental -                     89,415           
    Contribution from other districts -                     1,405,024      
    Investment income 19,058           140,909         
    Sale of property -                     550                
    Developer guarantees -                     43,902           
    Long-term debt issued -                     3,160,750      


        Total Sources of Funds 203,258         7,363,780      


USES OF FUNDS
    Capital expenditures -                     2,033,433      
    Administration (in-house) -                     70,139           
    Department of Revenue fees 150                150                
    Revolving loan fund -                     50,000           
    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 5,037             293,836         
    Debt issuance costs -                     26,075           
    Interest on long-term debt 7,775             796,573         
    Principal on long-term debt 95,000           2,960,750      


        Total Uses of Funds 107,962         6,230,956      


            Excess of Sources of Funds over Uses of Funds 95,296           1,132,824      


    BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 1,037,528      -                     


             ENDING FUND BALANCE 1,132,824$    1,132,824$    


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 5


COMPILED
BALANCE SHEET


As of December 31, 2018


Capital
Projects


Fund


ASSETS
Cash and investments 88,350$      


            TOTAL ASSETS 88,350$      


LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE
    Liabilities
      Accounts payable 113$           


Advance from city general fund 676,320      


            Total Liabilities 676,433      


    Fund Balance
        Unassigned (deficit) (588,083)     


               TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 88,350$      


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 5


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF PROJECT COSTS, PROJECT REVENUES,


AND NET COST TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH TAX INCREMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2018


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


PROJECT COSTS
   Capital expenditures 647,049$       2,696,159$    


    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 1,774             48,607           
    Department of Revenue fees 1,150             1,150             
   Interest on advances -                     96,965           


    Debt issuance costs 18,157           18,157           
    Interest on long-term debt 45,082           45,082           


        Total Project Costs 713,212         2,906,120      


PROJECT REVENUES
    Tax increments -                     30,147           
    Transfer from other funds -                     100,000         
    Exempt computer aid 38,657           119,985         
    Intergovernmental 150,000         350,000         
    Developer guarantees 20,373           130,168         
    Investment income 2,778             4,182             
    Land sales -                     116,616         
    Miscellaneous revenues -                     1,000             


        Total Project Revenues 211,808         852,098         


            NET COST TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
              TIF INCREMENTS - DECEMBER 31, 2018 501,404$       2,054,022$    


RECONCILIATION OF RECOVERABLE COSTS
    General obligation debt 1,465,939$    
    Add: Fund balance deficit 588,083         


 
            NET COSTS TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
              TAX INCREMENTS – DECEMBER 31, 2018 2,054,022$    


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 5


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF SOURCES, USES, AND STATUS OF FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2018


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


SOURCES OF FUNDS 
    Tax increments -$                   30,147$            
    Transfers from other funds -                     100,000            
    Exempt computer aid 38,657           119,985            
    Intergovernmental 150,000         350,000            
    Developer guarantees 20,373           130,168            
    Investment income 2,778             4,182                
    Land sales -                     116,616            
    Miscellaneous revenues -                     1,000                
    Long-term debt issued 348,750         1,498,750         


        Total Sources of Funds 560,558         2,350,848         


USES OF FUNDS 
    Capital expenditures 647,049         2,696,159         
    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 1,774             48,607              
    Department of Revenue fees 1,150             1,150                
    Interest on advance -                     96,965              
    Debt issuance costs 18,157           18,157              
    Interest on long-term debt 45,082           45,082              
    Principal on long-term debt 32,811           32,811              


        Total Uses of Funds 746,023         2,938,931         


            Excess (Deficiency) of Sources of Funds over Uses of Funds (185,465)        (588,083)           


    BEGINNING FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT) (402,618)        -                        


             ENDING FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT) (588,083)$      (588,083)$         


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 6


COMPILED
BALANCE SHEET


As of December 31, 2018


Capital
Projects


Fund


ASSETS


    Cash and investments 33,111$        
    Taxes receivable 24,537          


            TOTAL ASSETS 57,648$        


LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT)
    Liabilities
       Accounts payable 23,756$        
       Advances from city general fund 140,399        


          Total Liabilities 164,155        


    Deferred Inflows of Resources
       Unearned revenues 24,537          


          Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 24,537          


    Fund Balance
        Unassigned (deficit) (131,044)       


              TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT) 57,648$        


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 6


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF PROJECT COSTS, PROJECT REVENUES,


AND NET COST TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH TAX INCREMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2018


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


PROJECT COSTS
    Capital expenditures -$                   565,002$       
    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 9,835             29,787           
    Department of Revenue fees 150                150                
    Debt issuance cost -                     3,374             
    Interest on long-term debt 14,676           14,676           


        Total Project Costs 24,661           612,989         


PROJECT REVENUES
    Miscellaneous revenues -                     21,945           


        Total Project Revenues -                     21,945           


            NET COST RECOVERABLE THROUGH
              TIF INCREMENTS - DECEMBER 31, 2018 24,661$         591,044$       


RECONCILIATION OF RECOVERABLE COSTS
    General obligation debt 460,000$       
    Add: Fund balance deficit 131,044         


 
            NET COSTS TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
              TAX INCREMENTS – DECEMBER 31, 2018 591,044$       


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 6


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF SOURCES, USES, AND STATUS OF FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2018


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


SOURCES OF FUNDS
    Miscellaneous revenues -$                   21,945$         
    Long-term debt issued -                     505,000         


        Total Sources of Funds -                     526,945         


USES OF FUNDS
    Capital expenditures -                     565,002         
    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 9,835             29,787           
    Department of Revenue fees 150                150                
    Debt issuance cost -                     3,374             
    Interest on long-term debt 14,676           14,676           
    Principal on long-term debt 45,000           45,000           


        Total Uses of Funds 69,661           657,989         


            (Deficiency) of Sources of Funds over Uses of Funds (69,661)          (131,044)        


    BEGINNING FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT) (61,383)          -                     


             ENDING FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT) (131,044)$      (131,044)$      


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 7


COMPILED
BALANCE SHEET


As of December 31, 2018


Capital
Projects


Fund


ASSETS
    Cash and investments 179,969$      
    Tax roll receivable 526,673        
    Accounts receivable 46,627          


            TOTAL ASSETS 753,269$      


LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCE
    Liabilities
       Accounts payable and deposits 2,391$          


          Total Liabilities 2,391            


    Deferred Inflows of Resources
       Unearned revenues 526,673        
       Unavailable revenues 33,510          


          Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 560,183        


    Fund Balance
       Restricted 190,695        


              TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,  
                 AND FUND BALANCE 753,269$      


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
14







CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 7


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF PROJECT COSTS, PROJECT REVENUES,


AND NET COST TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH TAX INCREMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2018


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


PROJECT COSTS
    Capital expenditures 679,308$       4,444,071$    
    Administration (in-house) 8,833             32,511           
    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 1,460             6,912             
    Department of Revenue fees 150                150                
    Debt issuance costs 56,752           102,678         
    Interest on Long-Term Debt 39,792           155,851         


        Total Project Costs 786,295         4,742,173      


PROJECT REVENUES
    Tax Increments 415,963         657,976         
    Premium on long-term debt 151,700         160,820         
    Investment income 4,678             24,072           


        Total Project Revenues 572,341         842,868         


            NET COST TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
              TIF INCREMENTS - DECEMBER 31, 2018 213,954$       3,899,305$    


RECONCILIATION OF RECOVERABLE COSTS
    Long-term debt  4,090,000$    
    Fund balance (190,695)        


 
            NET COSTS TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
              TAX INCREMENTS – DECEMBER 31, 2018 3,899,305$    


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 7


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF SOURCES, USES, AND STATUS OF FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2018


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


SOURCES OF FUNDS
    Tax increments 415,963$       657,976$       
    Investment income 4,678             24,072           
    Premium on long-term debt 151,700         160,820         
    Long-term debt issued 4,090,000      8,865,000      


        Total Sources of Funds 4,662,341      9,707,868      


USES OF FUNDS
    Capital expenditures 679,308         4,444,071      
    Administration (in-house) 8,833             32,511           
    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 1,460             6,912             
    Department of Revenue fees 150                150                
    Debt issuance cost 56,752           102,678         
    Interest on long-term debt 39,792           155,851         
    Principal on long-term debt 4,775,000      4,775,000      


        Total Uses of Funds 5,561,295      9,517,173      


            Excess (deficiency) of Sources of Funds 
              over uses of Funds (898,954)        190,695         


    BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 1,089,649      -                     


             ENDING FUND BALANCE 190,695$       190,695$       


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 8


COMPILED
BALANCE SHEET


As of December 31, 2018


Capital
Projects


Fund


ASSETS
    Cash and investments 231,387$      


            TOTAL ASSETS 231,387$      


LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE
    Liabilities
       Accounts payable 12,089$        


          Total Liabilities 12,089          


    Fund Balance
       Restricted 219,298        


              TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 231,387$      


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 8


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF PROJECT COSTS, PROJECT REVENUES,


AND NET COST TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH TAX INCREMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018


and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2018


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


PROJECT COSTS
    Capital expenditures 176,297$       176,297$       
    Department of Revenue fees 1,000             1,000             
    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 29,655           29,655           


        Total Project Costs 206,952         206,952         


PROJECT REVENUES -                     -                     


            NET COST TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
              TIF INCREMENTS - DECEMBER 31, 2018 (206,952)$      (206,952)$      


RECONCILIATION OF RECOVERABLE COSTS
    Long-term debt  426,250$       
    Add: Fund balance (219,298)        


 
            NET COSTS TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
              TAX INCREMENTS – DECEMBER 31, 2018 206,952$       


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 8


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF SOURCES, USES, AND STATUS OF FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2018


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


SOURCES OF FUNDS
    Long-term debt issued 426,250$       426,250$       


        Total Sources of Funds 426,250         426,250         


USES OF FUNDS
    Capital expenditures 176,297         176,297         
    Department of Revenue fees 1,000             1,000             


    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 29,655           29,655           


        Total Uses of Funds 206,952         206,952         


            Excess of Sources of Funds over uses of Funds 219,298         219,298         


    BEGINNING FUND BALANCE - - 


             ENDING FUND BALANCE 219,298$       219,298$       


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON 
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICTS NO. 3, NO. 4, NO. 5, NO. 6, NO. 7, AND NO. 8


COMPILED 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 


From the Dates of Creation Through December 31, 2018 


20 


NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 


The accounting policies of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, 
No. 7, and No. 8 (the "districts") conform to accounting principles as applicable to governmental units and 
as defined by Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105. 


The City of Stoughton has implemented accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America to the extent they apply in determining the scope of the activity of Tax Incremental Districts 
No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7, and No. 8. The accompanying financial statements reflect all the 
significant operations of the City of Stoughton’s Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, 
No. 7, and No. 8. The accompanying financial statements do not include the full presentation of the City 
of Stoughton.  


A. DESCRIPTION OF FUND AND ACCOUNT GROUP STRUCTURE


This report contains the financial information of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, 
No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7, and No. 8. The summary statements were prepared from data recorded in the 
following funds and the city’s long-term debt: 


Debt Service Fund 
Capital Projects Fund 


Detailed descriptions of the purpose of these funds and long-term debt can be found in the City of 
Stoughton's basic financial statements. 


The data was consolidated for purposes of this report. Therefore, the amounts shown in the 
accompanying statements will not directly correlate with amounts shown in the basic financial statements. 


The districts were created under the provisions of Wisconsin Statute Section 66.1105. The purpose of 
that section is to allow a municipality to recover development and improvements costs in a designated 
area from the property taxes generated on the increased value of the property after the creation date of 
the districts. The tax on the increased value is called a tax increment. 


The statutes allow the districts to collect tax increments until the net project cost has been fully recovered, 
or until 27 years, for TID Nos. 3, 4, 5, and 8, and 20 years for TID Nos. 6 and 7, after the creation date, 
whichever occurs first. Project costs uncollected at the dissolution date are absorbed by the City of 
Stoughton. Project costs may be incurred up to five years before the unextended termination date of the 
districts. 


Original Project Plan 
Creation Last Date to Incur Last Year to 


Date Project Costs Collect Increment 


TID No. 3 1-1-1993 11-24-2014 2020 
TID No. 4 1-1-1999 3-23-2021 2026 
TID No. 5 1-1-2010 3-12-2032 2037 
TID No. 6 1-1-2015 9-29-2030 2036 
TID No. 7 
TID No. 8 


1-1-2015
1-1-2018


11-11-2029
7-24-2040


2035 
2046 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.) 


A. DESCRIPTION OF FUND AND ACCOUNT GROUP STRUCTURE (cont.)


Plan Amendments 
Adoption 


Date


TID No. 3 Amendment No. 1 10-23-2007
TID No. 3 Amendment No. 2 10-23-2012
TID No. 4 Amendment No. 1 9-26-2006
TID No. 4 Amendment No. 2 
TID No. 5 Amendment No. 1 


1-12-2010
7-24-2018


B. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING


The modified accrual basis of accounting was followed in the preparation of these statements. Under the 
modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when susceptible to accrual, i.e., both 
measurable and available. Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter 
to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. Project costs, other than interest on long-term debt, are 
recorded when the related fund liability is incurred. 


District increments are recorded as revenues in the year due. Intergovernmental aids and grants are 
recognized as revenues in the period the related expenditures are incurred, if applicable, or when the city 
is entitled to the aids. 


Special assessments are recorded as revenues when collected. Annual installments due in future years 
are accounted for as receivables and unavailable revenues. There are no special assessments 
receivables as of the date of this report. 


Other general revenues are recognized when received in cash or when measurable and available under 
the criteria described above.  


C. USE OF ESTIMATES


The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.) 


D. MEASUREMENT FOCUS


The measurement focus of all governmental funds is the funds flow concept. Under the funds flow 
concept, sources and uses of financial resources, including capital outlays, debt proceeds and debt 
retirements are reflected in operations. Resources not available to finance expenditures and 
commitments of the current period are recognized as unavailable or unearned revenue or as 
nonspendable fund equity. Liabilities for claims, judgments, compensated absences and pension 
contributions which will not be currently liquidated using expendable available financial resources are 
shown in the long-term debt footnote disclosure. The related expenditures are recognized when the 
liabilities are liquidated. 


E. PROJECT PLAN BUDGETS


The estimated revenues and expenditures of the districts are adopted in the project plans. Those 
estimates are for the entire life of the districts and may not be comparable to interim results presented in 
this report.  


F. LONG-TERM DEBT


Short-term liabilities are recorded as fund liabilities. All other long-term liabilities are shown in the 
long-term debt footnote disclosure.  


Proceeds of long-term debt issues not recorded as fund liabilities are reflected as "Sources of Funds" in 
the operating statement of the recipient fund. Retirement of these issues is reported as expenditure in the 
year in which the debt matures or is repaid, whichever is earlier.  


G. CLAIMS AND JUDGMENTS


Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board pronouncements are met. The liability and expenditure for claims and judgments is only 
reported in governmental funds if it has matured. Claims and judgments are disclosed in the long-term 
debt footnote when the related liabilities are incurred.  


NOTE 2 – CASH AND TEMPORARY INVESTMENTS 


The districts invest their funds in accordance with the provisions of the Wisconsin Statutes 66.0603(1m) 
and 67.11(2). 


Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be exchanged in a 
current transaction between willing parties. No investments are reported at amortized cost. Adjustments 
necessary to record investments at fair value are recorded in the operating statement as increases or 
decreases in investment income. 
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NOTE 2 – CASH AND TEMPORARY INVESTMENTS (cont.) 


The districts, as funds of the city, maintain separate and common cash and investment accounts at the 
same financial institutions utilized by the city. Federal depository insurance and the State of Wisconsin 
Guarantee fund insurance apply to the City of Stoughton as an individual municipality, and, accordingly, 
the amount of insured funds is not determinable for the districts. 


NOTE 3 – LONG-TERM DEBT 


A. GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT


All general obligation notes and bonds payable are backed by the full faith and credit of the City of 
Stoughton. Notes and bonds borrowed to finance the districts' expenditures will be retired by tax 
increments accumulated by the TIF District funds. If those revenues are not sufficient, payments will be 
made by future tax levies or utility revenues, as applicable. 


Original
Amount Balance 


Borrowed Repaid 12-31-18
TIF District No. 3 


03/18/93 Promissory Note – 6.00% $ 189,950 $ 189,950 $ -
10/01/93 Promissory Note – 4.40 – 6.00% 1,980,000 1,980,000 -
05/01/02 Promissory Note – 3.50 – 4.375% 80,483 80,483 -
09/16/02 Refunding Bonds – 3.00 – 3.75% 
06/26/13 State Trust Fund Loan – 2.75% 


1,382,063
1,400,000


 
 


1,382,063
975,738 


-
424,262


06/01/14 Promissory Note – 2.00% 1,225,000 805,000 420,000


Totals $ 6,257,496 $ 5,413,234 $ 844,262


Aggregate maturities of all long-term debt relating to the district are as follows: 


Calendar 
    Year Principal Interest Totals 


2019 $ 419,262 $ 17,967 $ 437,229
2020 425,000 8,029 433,029


Totals $ 844,262 $ 25,996 $ 870,258
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NOTE 3 – LONG-TERM DEBT (cont.) 


A. GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT (cont.)


Original 
Amount Balance 


Borrowed Repaid 12-31-18
TIF District No. 4 


02/23/99 State Trust Fund Loan – 5.25% $ 162,000 $ 162,000 $ -
08/09/00 State Trust Fund Loan – 5.25% 355,080 355,080 -
06/01/01 Promissory Note – 4.10 – 4.60% 1,025,000 1,025,000 -
06/01/01 Promissory Note – 4.10 – 4.60% 154,427 154,427 -
06/15/03 Promissory Note – 3.00 – 3.375% 292,105 292,105  -
06/22/04 State Trust Fund Loan – 4.00% 213,746 213,746 -
04/14/09 Promissory Note – 1.60 – 3.85%    163,392 163,392 -
04/13/10 G.O. Refunding Bonds –


1.00 – 3.25% 795,000 595,000 200,000


Totals $ 3,160,750 $ 2,960,750 $ 200,000


Aggregate maturities of all long-term debt relating to the district are as follows: 


Calendar 
    Year Principal Interest Totals 


2019 $ 100,000 $ 4,800 $ 104,800
2020 100,000 1,625 101,625


Totals $ 200,000 $ 6,425 $ 206,425


Original 
Amount Balance 


Borrowed Repaid 12-31-18
TIF District No. 5 


12/28/16 State Trust Fund Loan – 3.50% $ 850,000 $ 26,428 $ 823,572
06/08/17 G.O. Notes – 2.00 – 3.00% 


 04/26/18       G.O. Notes – 3.25 – 4.00% 
300,000
348,750


 
 


6,383
-
 293,617


348,750


Totals $ 1,498,750 $ 32,811 $ 1,465,939
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NOTE 3 – LONG-TERM DEBT (cont.) 


 
 A.  GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT (cont.) 
 


TIF District No. 5 (cont.) 
 


Aggregate maturities are as follows: 
 


Calendar 
    Year  Principal  Interest  Totals 
      
 2019 $ 53,462 $ 54,199 $ 107,661
 2020 55,475 47,046 102,521
 2021 67,708 45,230 112,938
 2022 111,461 42,389 153,850
 2023 115,700 38,500 154,200
 2024-2028 632,857 129,469 762,326
 2029-2033 254,308 57,960 312,268
     2034-2036 174,968 12,392 187,360


  Totals $ 1,465,939 $ 427,185 $ 1,893,124
 


 Original     
 Amount    Balance 
 Borrowed  Repaid  12-31-18 
TIF District No. 6      
 06/08/2017 Promissory Notes – 2.00 – 3.00% $ 505,000 $ 45,000 $ 460,000


 
Aggregate maturities of all long-term debt relating to the district are as follows: 
 


Calendar 
    Year  Principal  Interest  Totals 
      
 2019 $ 45,000 $ 10,163 $ 55,163
 2020 50,000 9,213 59,213
 2021 50,000 8,213 58,213
 2022 50,000 7,088 57,088
 2023 50,000 5,838 55,838
     2024-2027 215,000 10,169 225,169


  Totals $ 460,000 $ 50,684 $ 510,684
 







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICTS NO. 3, NO. 4, NO. 5, NO. 6, NO. 7, AND NO. 8


COMPILED 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 


From the Dates of Creation Through December 31, 2018 


26 


NOTE 3 – LONG-TERM DEBT (cont.) 


B. NOTE ANTICIPATION NOTES


Original 
Amount Balance 


Borrowed Repaid 12-31-18
TIF District No. 7 


10/21/15 Note Anticipation Notes – 1.250% $ 4,775,000 $ 4,775,000 $ -
     04/26/18     G.O. Bonds – 2.00 -- 4.00% 4,090,000 - 4,090,000


Total $ 8,865,000 $ 4,775,000 $ 4,090,000


Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows: 


Calendar 
    Year Principal Interest Totals 


2019 $ 150,000 $ 183,149 $ 333,149
2020 210,000 123,975 333,975
2021 215,000 119,725 334,725
2022 220,000 114,275 334,275
2023 225,000 107,600 332,600
2024-2028 1,240,000 425,225 1,665,225
2029-2033 1,500,000 176,675 1,676,675
2034 330,000 5,363 335,363


    Totals $ 4,090,000  $ 1,255,987  $ 5,345,987 


Original 
Amount Balance 


Borrowed Repaid 12-31-18
TIF District No. 8 
     04/26/18     G.O. Bonds – 2.00 -- 4.00% $ 426,250 $ - $ 426,250


Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows: 


Calendar 
    Year Principal Interest Totals 


2019 $ - $ 22,927 $ 22,927
2020 - 16,027 16,027
2021 - 16,027 16,027
2022 55,000 14,927 69,927
2023 57,750 12,672 70,422
2024-2028 313,500 28,155 341,655


    Totals $ 426,250 $ 110,735 $ 536,985
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NOTE 4 – ADVANCES FROM/DUE TO CITY GENERAL FUND 


The general fund is advancing funds to TIF Districts No. 5 and No. 6. The amount advanced is 
determined by the deficiency of revenues over expenditures and other financing sources since the 
district's inception. A repayment schedule has not been established.  


NOTE 5 – INCREMENT SHARING


As allowable under TIF statutes, the city may share positive TIF increments. In 1998, and again in 2003, 
the city and joint review board approved sharing increments from TIF District No. 2 (donor district, 
subsequently closed) to TIF District No. 3 (donee district). Such transfers are reflected as recoverable 
costs in the donor district, and as project revenues in the donee district. TIF increment sharing was valid 
for a five-year period, and was extended for an additional five years by the joint review board. Transfers 
between districts are subject to various conditions in the statutes. 


In 2006, the city and joint review board approved sharing increments from TIF District No. 2 (donor 
district, subsequently closed) to TIF District No. 4 (donee district). Transfers were approved to begin in 
2007. State statutes limit the number of years a district may share increments to ten. The increment 
sharing with TIF District No. 4 was allowable for years 2007 through 2009. TIF District No. 2 was closed in 
2009. 


In 2007, the city and joint review board approved sharing increments from TIF District No. 3 (donor 
district) to TIF District No 4 (donee district). Transfers began in 2007 and were valid for a five-year period. 


NOTE 6 – TRANSFERS FROM OTHER FUNDS 


The city has transferred funds to TIF Districts No. 3 and No. 5 to cover deficits over the years. It is the 
intent of the city to have TIF Districts No. 3 and No. 5 repay the general fund for these transfers 
contingent upon future availability of funds. The following is a historical summary of transfers for TIF 
District No. 3: 


1993 $ 30,000 
1997 30,212
1998 104,150
2001 10,451
2002 6,491


    Totals $ 181,304 


The following is a historical summary of transfers for TIF District No. 5: 


2010 $ 100,000 
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NOTE 7 – DEVELOPER AGREEMENTS 


TIF District No. 6 has entered into a developer agreement with North American Fur Auction (“NAFA”) 
where the city shall construct the city improvements and provide a non-cash development incentive, by 
conveying a piece of land in the amount of $377,000. City fulfilled its obligation during 2017.  


TIF District No. 7 has entered into a developer agreement where the TID shall reimburse developer for 
off-site public improvements in the amount of $3,763,230. The city fulfilled its obligation during 2017. 


NOTE 8 – DEVELOPER PAYMENTS


TIF District No. 3 has over-collected TIF guarantee payments from Nelson Global Products, Inc. and has 
recorded a payable for $32,715. No developer payments were made by TIF 4, 5, 6 and 7 for 2018. 


NOTE 9 – GUARANTEED REVENUE


TIF District No. 3 has entered into a development agreement with Nelson Global Products, Inc. (the 
“developer”). The agreement guarantees the city will receive a tax increment equal to the annual 
applicable mill rate multiplied by $3,750,000. The developer shall pay the difference between the 
guaranteed tax increment and the tax increment actually levied. The developer’s guarantee obligation 
shall terminate when the city has collected from the tax increment generated from the district or paid 
under the agreement not less than $320,600, or when TIF District No. 3 has terminated, whichever occurs 
first. As of December 31, 2018, the city has over-collected TIF guarantee payments for $32,715 and has 
recorded a payable to the developer.    


TIF District No. 5 has entered into a development agreement with Movin’ Out Development, LLC (the 
“developer”). The agreement guarantees that the developer shall pay the difference between the 
guaranteed tax increment and the tax increment actually levied. The guarantee obligation shall terminate 
when the city has collected from the tax increment generated from the district or been paid under this 
agreement the full amount of the project costs of not less than $610,753 plus 5 percent interest accruing 
from January 1, 2012. TIF guarantee payment received in 2018 was $20,373. 


TIF District No. 6 has entered into a development agreement with North American Fur Auction (“NAFA”). 
The agreement guarantees the assessed value of NAFA’s property will be not less than $1,100,000, 
$3,500,000 and $5,000,000 by January 1, 2018, 2019 and 2021 respectively. Beginning calendar year 
2019, NAFA shall pay the difference between the guaranteed tax increment on the assessed values and 
the tax increment actually levied. The agreement shall continue until TIF District No. 6 has terminated. 
There was no guarantee payment due or received in 2018. 


TIF District No. 7 has entered into a development agreement with Kettle Park West, LLC (“KPW”). The 
agreement guarantees that beginning in calendar year 2018, the actual tax increment will be sufficient to 
fully pay the annual debt service on city borrowing. The developer shall pay the difference between the 
guaranteed tax increment and the tax increment actually levied. The guarantee obligation shall terminate 
in 2034 or when the TIF District No. 7 has been terminated – whichever is sooner. As of December 31, 
2018, there was a guarantee payment receivable in the amount of $33,510. 
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